Grewii Books ol lalamie Civilization

The Center for Muslim Contribution to Civilization

The Lufe

OF THE

Propbet

Mubammad

VoruMme |

Al-Sira al-Nabawiyya

Ibn Kathir

Transhated by Profesor Trevor Le Gassick

Reviewsd by Dr Ahmed Farecd & &+ =



The Center for Muslim Contribution to Civilization

VoLuME |

Al-Sira al-Nabawwyya

Ibn Kathir

Translated by Professor Trevor Le Gassick

Reviewed by Dr Ahmed Fareed




THE LIFE OF THE PROPHET MUHAMMAD
Vorume [

Published by
Garnet Publishing Limired
8 Southern Court
South Street
Reading
RG1 4085
UK

Copyright © 1998 The Center for Muslim Coniribution to Civilizaton

All rights reserved
No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by
any elecrronic or mechanical means, including information
storage and retrieval systems, without permission in writing
from the publisher, except by a reviewer who may quote
brief passages in a review

ISBN-13: 978-1-85964-142-2
ISBN-10: 1-85964-142-3

First Edition 1998
First Paperback Edition 2000
Reprinted 2002, 2004, 2006

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Dara
A caralogue record for this book is available from the Brirish Library

Printed in Lebanon



CONTENTS

Foreword

About this Series

Center for Muslim Contribution to Civilization: Board of Trustees
Center for Muslim Contribution to Civilization: Board and Advisors
Introduction by Ahmed Fareed

Translator’s Preface

Volume I
The Story of Saba>.
The Story of Rabi% b. Nasr b. AbG Haritha b. Amr b. ‘Amir.
The Story of Tubba Abu Karib Tubban As%d, king of Yemen, with the people
of Medina; how he wished to raid the Holy Sanctuary at Mecca. Then he

dignified and venerated it and covered it with cloth; thus he was the first to do so.

Usurpation of the throne of Yemen by Lakhni‘a Dht Shanatir.

AN ACCOUNT OF HOW RULE IN YEMEN PASSED FROM HIIMYAR AND WAS
TRANSFERRED TO THE BLACK ABYSSINIANS.

AN ACCOUNT OF HOW ABRAHA AL-ASHRAM REBELLED AGAINST, FOUGHT,
AND KILLED ARYAT, AND SO ASSUMED POWER GVER YEMEN.

AN ACCOUNT OF WHY ABRAHA ATTACKED MECCA WITH ELEPHANTS TO PUT
THE KA‘B4 TO WASTE AND HOW (GOD QUICKLY DESTROYED HIM.

AN ACCOUNT OF THE REVERSION OF THE KINGSHIP FROM THE ABYSSINIANS
TO SAYF B. DHU YAZAN THE HIMYARITE, JUST AS THE TWO SOOTHSAYERS HAD
PREDICTED TO RaABI‘A B. NASR, THE LAKHMITE.

AN ACCOUNT OF HOW PERSIAN RULE IN YEMEN ENDED.
The Story of al-Satiriin, King of al-Hadr.

AN ACCOUNT OF THE T AwA4*1F KINGS.

AN ACCOUNT OF THE SONS OF ISHMAEL WHO WERE THE ARABS OF FHIIJAZ, AND

OF THE EVENTS OF THE $%4HILIYYA PERIOD UP TO THE TIME OF THE MISSION.
The Story of Khuri% and an account of ‘Amr b. Lubayy and the worship of
idols in Arab lands.

AN ACCOUNT OF ‘ADNAN, FOREBEAR OF THE ARABS OF THE HiJAZ FROM
WHOM THE LINE GOES DOWN TO THE PROPHET (SAAS).

AN ACCOUNT OF THE GENEALOGICAL ORIGINS OF THE ARABS OF HIJAZ UP TO
CADNAN.

ix
xi
xiii

xv
xxiv

=S

17

18

19

20

28

32
34
37

38

41

50

57



vi THE LIFE OF THE PROPHET MUHAMMAD

AN ACCOUNT OF QURAYSH REGARDING THEIR GENEALOGY, ETYMOLOGY,
AND MERIT. THEY ARE THE TRIBE OF AL-INADR B. KINANA.

AN ACCOUNT OF QUSAYY B. KILAB AND OF HIS PART IN REGAINING
GUARDIANSHIP OVER THE K44 FOR QURAYSH BY TAKING IT FROM
Knuzacs. How QURAYSH GATHERED TOGETHER AT THE HOLY PLACE
WHICH (30D SECURED FOR THE WORSHIPPERS, AFTER HAVING LIVED
SCATTERED AND FRAGMENTED IN THE MOUNTAINS AND HOLLOWS.

AN ACCOUNT OF A VARIETY OF EVENTS THAT OCCURRED IN THE FJAHILIYYA.

SECTION: INFORMATION ABOUT A GROUP OF MEN FAMOUS IN THE
FAHILIYYA.

AN AccouNT OF KHALID B. SINAN THE ‘ABSITE WHO LIVED IN THE
INTER-PROPHET PERIOD AND WHO SOME ALLEGE WAS A PROPHET. BuT Gob
KNOWS BEST.

AN AccOUNT oF HATIM AL-TA%L, A GOOD AND GENEROUS MAN OF THE
FAHILIYYA PERIOD,

AN ACCOUNT OF SOME MATTERS RELATING TQ ‘ARD ALLAH B. JUDAN,

AN ACCOUNT oF IMRU? AL-QAaYS B. HUJR AL-KINDI, AUTHOR OF ONE OF
THE MUALLAQAT ODES,
Some information abour Umayya b. Aba al-Salt al-Thaqafi; he was & pre-Islamic
poet who lived on to the time of Islam.
Bakira the Mork.

AN ACCOUNT OF QUSs B. SAIDA AL-TYADI.
AN ACCOUNT OF ZAYD B. ‘AMR B. NUFAYL, GOD BE PLEASED WITH HIM.

AN ACCOUNT OF SOME OF THE EVENTS THAT OCCURRED IN THE TIME OF
THE FATRA, INCLUDING THE BUILDING OF THE KA4’BA.

AN AccounTt oF KA B. LU2AYY.

AN ACCOUNT OF THE RE-DIGGING OF THE WELL ZAMZAM BY “ABD
AL-MUTTALIB B. HKSHIM, ITS WHEREABOUTS HAVING BEEN LOST FROM
THE PERIOD WHEN JURHUM FILLED AND LEVELLED IT, UP TO HIS OWN
TIME.

AN ACCOUNT OF ‘ABD AL-MUTTALIB’S VOW TO SACRIFICE ONE OF HIS
SONS.

AN ACCOUNT OF “ABD AL-MUTTALIB'S MARRIAGE OF HIS SON ‘ABD ALLAH
TO AMINA BINT WAHRB AT-ZUHRIYYA.

58

65

73

73

73

75

82

83

87
109

101

110

19

119

120

125

127



CONTENTS

THE BOOK OF THE LIFE OF THE MESSENGER OF GOD (SAAS).

AN ACCOUNT OF HIS LIFE STORY, HIS BATTLES AND RAIDS, THE
DELEGATIONS TO HIM, AND HIS NATURAL QUALITIES, HIS VIRTUES, AND
THE FEATURES DISTINGUISHING HIM.
Chapter: An Account of his noble ancestry and the excellence of his high lineage.
Chapter on the Birth of the Messenger of God (SAAS).
A Description of his noble birth (SAAS).
SECTION: ON THE SIGNS THAT OCCURRED ON THE NIGHT OF THE BIRTH
OF THE PROPHET (SAAS).

AN ACCOUNT OF THE SHAKING OF THE PALACE, AND OF THE FALLING OF
THE BALCONIES, THE EXTINGUISHING OF THE FIRES, THE VISIONS OF THE
MAGIAN SUPREME PRIEST, AND OTHER SUCH SIGNS.

AN ACCOUNT OF THE REARING AND SUCKLING OF THE PROPHET (SAAS).

AN ACCOUNT OF THE SUCKLING OF THE PROPHET (SAAS) BY HALIMA,
DAUGHTER OF ABU DDHA’AYE OF THE SA‘D TRIBE, AND OF THE SIGNS OF THE
PROPHETHOOD AND OF BLESSEDNESS APPARENT ON HIM.

SECTION: THE JOURNEY OF THE PROPHET {SAAS), WITH HIS UNCLE ABO

TALIB AWAY TO SYRIA AND ON WHAT TRANSPIRED WITH THE MONK BAHIRA.

The Story of Bahira.

SECTION: ON THE EARLY UPBRINGING AND RAISING OF THE MESSENGER
OF GOD (SAAS) AND HOW GOD CARED FOR HIM AND PROTECTED HIM;
HOW HE HAD BEEN AN ORPHAN AND GOD GAVE HIM A HOME, AND
DESTITUTE AND GOD ENRICHED HIM.

AN ACCOUNT OF HOW THE PROPHET {SAAS) WITNESSED THE WAR KNOWN

AS AL~FIJAR, THE SACRILEGIOUS WAR.

Chapter: How the Messenger of God (SAAS) witnessed the pact of al-fudal.
SECTION: ON THE MARRIAGE OF THE PROPHET (SAAS) TO KHADTJA,
DAUGHTER OF KHUWAYLID B. ASAD B. “ABD AL-‘UZZA B. QUSAYY.
SECTION: ON QURAYSH HAVING REBUILT THE KA‘BA FIVE YEARS BEFORE
THE COMING OF THE PROPHETHOOD.

THE BOOK OF THE APOSTLESHIP OF THE MESSENGER OF

GOD (SAAS) AND AN ACCOUNT OF SOME OF THE PREDICTIVE

SIGNS THEREOF.

AN ACCOUNT OF CERTAIN STRANGE EVENTS RELATING THERETO.
The Story of ‘Amr b. Murra al-Juhani.
The Story of Sayf' b. Dhii Yazan the Himyarite and his foretelling the coming
of the wmmi Prophet.

130

130
130
141
145

151

153
160

161

174
179

180

183
185

189

195

207

223
227

241



viii THE LIFE OF THE PROPHET MUHAMMAD

Chapter on the cries of the spirits, consisting of what words of inspiration the spiriis
gave to the tongues of soothsayers, and which were to be heard by the idols.
Chapter on the manner of the beginning of the revelation io the Messenger of God
(SAAS) and an account of the first revelation to him from the glorious Quran.
A Discussion of the age of the Prophet (SAAS) at the time of kis receiving the mission
and the date thereof.
SECTION: ON PREVENTING THE DEMONS AND EVIL SPIRITS FROM
EAVESDROPPING WHEN THE QUR’AN WAS REVEALED, SO THAT NONE OF THEM
WOULD ACQUIRE ANY OF 1T, EVEN SO MUCH AS A SYLLABLE, AND DELIVER IT
THROUGH THE SPEECH OF HIS HUMAN ASSOCIATES, WHICH WOULD HAVE
LED TO COMPLICATIONS AND CONFUSION OF THE TRUTH.
SECTION: ON THE MANNER IN WHICH THE REVELATION CAME TO THE
MESSENGER OF GOD (SAAS).
SECTION: CONCERNING THE FIRST PERSONS TO ACCEPT ISLAM; ALSO
REFERENCE TO THOSE OF THE COMPANIONS AND OTHERS WHO WERE EARLY
IN BECOMING MUSLIMS.

AN ACCOUNT OF HOW IIAMZA, SON OF ‘ABD AL-MUTTALIB, GOD BE PLEASED
WITH HIM, THE UNCLE OF THE PROPHET (SAAS), ACCEPTED ISLAM.

AN AcCcouNT OF HQW ABU DHARR, (GOD BE PLEASED WITH HIM, CAME TO
ACCEPT ISLAM.

AN ACCOUNT OF THE ACCEPTANCE OF ISLAM BY DIMAD.

Chapier: God's command to his Messenger (SAAS) to announce his mission publm{y
The Story of al- Irashi, the man from Irash.
SECTION: ON THE UNITING OF THE QURAYSH CHIEFS AGAINST THE MESSENGER
OF GOD (SAAS) AND HIS COMPANIONS, AND THEIR MEETING WITH HIS UNCLE
ABU TALIB WHO WAS PROTECTING AND AIDING HIM; THEIR PRESSURE UPON
ABU TALIB TO DELIVER HIM TG THEM, AND HOW HE RESISTED THEM IN THAT
OBJECTIVE, THROUGH THE AID AND STRENGTH OF GOD.
SECTION: CONCERNING THEIR USE OF EXCESSIVE VIOLENCE AGAINST
INDIVIDUAL, POWERLESS MUSLIMS.
SECTION: CONCERNING THE OBJECTIONS PRESENTED BY THE POLYTHEISTS TO
THE MESSENGER OF GOD (SAAS); HOW THEY TROUBLED HIM WITH THEIR
ASKING OF HIM VARIOUS KINDS OF SIGNS AND MIRACLES, AND HOW THIS
WAS DUE TO THEIR OBSTINACY RATHER THAN TO THEIR SEEKING GUIDANCE.

Chapter: The argumentation of the polytheisis against the Messenger of God (5AAS)

and the cogent arguments that refuted them; how within themselves they recognized

the truth, even though they expressed duagreemeﬂr out of stubbornness, envy, malice

and denial

Glossary
Index

245

278
281

301

306

in

323

324

328
330
340

343

346

346

361

in
yn



In the Name of God, the Beneficent, the Merciful

FOREWORD

THE interrelationship and interaction of human cultures and civilizations has
made the contributions of each the common heritage of men in all ages and ail
places. Early Muslim scholars were able to communicate with their Western
counterparts through contacts made during the Crusades; at Muslim universities
and centres of learning in Muslim Spain (al-Andalus, or Andalusia) and Sicily to
which many European students went for education; and at the universities and
centres of learning in Europe itself (such as Salerno, Padua, Montpellier, Paris,
and Oxford), where Islamic works were taught in Latin translations. Among the
Muslim scholars well-known in the centres of learning throughout the world
were al-Razi (Rhazes), Ibn Sina (Avicenna), Ibn Rushd (Averroes), al Khwarizmi
and Tbn Khaldon. Muslim scholars such as these and others produced original
works in many fields. Many of them possessed encyclopaedic knowledge and
distinguished themselves in many disparate ficlds of knowledge.

In view of this, the Center for Muslim Contribution to Civilization was estab-
hshed in order to acquaint non-Mushims with the contributions Tslam has given
to human civilization as a whole. The Great Books of Islamic Civilization Project
attempts to cover the first 800 years of Islam, or what may be called Islam’s
Classical Period. This project aims at making available in English a wide selection
of works representative of Islamic civilization in all its diversity. It is made up
of translations of original Arabic works that were produced in the formative
centuries of Islam, and is meant to serve the needs of a potentially large reader-
ship. Not only the specialist and scholar, but the non-specialist with an interest
in Islam and ies cultural heritage will be able to benefit from the series,
Together, the works should serve as a rich source for the study of the early periods
of Islamic thought.

In selecting the books for the series, the Center took into account all major
areas of Islamic intellectual pursuit that could be represented. Thus the series
includes works not only on better-known subjects such as law, theology,
jurisprudence, history and politics, but also on subjects such as literature, med;i-
cine, astronomy, optics and geography. The specific criteria used to select
individual books were these: that a book should give a faithful and comprehensive
account of its field; and that it should be an authoritative source. The reader
thus has at his disposal virtually a whole library of informative and enlightening
works.

Each book in the series has been translated by a qualified scholar and reviewed
by another expert. While the style of one translation will naturally differ from
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another, the translators have endeavoured, to the extent it was possible, to make
the works accessible to the common reader. As a rule, the use of footnotes has
been kept to a minimum, though a more extensive use of them was necessitated
in some cases.

This series is presented in the hope that it will contribute to a greater under-
standing in the West of the cultural and inteflectual heritage of Islam and will
therefore provide an important means towards greater understanding of today’s
world.

May God Help Us!

Muhammad bin Hamad Al-Thant
Chairman of the Board of Trustees



ABOUT THIS SERIES

THIS series of Arabic works, made available in English translation, represents an
cutstanding selection of important Islamic studies in a variety of fields of knowl-
edge. The works selected for inclusion in this series meet specific criteria. They
are recognized by Muslim scholars as being early and important in their fields, as
works whose importance is broadly recognized by international scholars, and as
having had a genuinely significant impact on the development of human culture.

Readers will therefore see that this series includes a variety of works in the
purely Islamic sciences, such as Qur’an, hadith, theology, prophetic traditions
(sunna), and jurisprudence (figh). Also represented will be books by Muslim
scientists on medicine, astronomy, geography, physics, chemistry, horticuiture,
and other fields.

The work of translating these tests has been entrusted to a group of profes-
sors in the Islamic and Western worlds who are recognized authorities in their
ficlds. It has been deemed appropriate, in order to ensure accuracy and fluency,
that two persons, one with Arabic as his mother tongue and another with
English as his mother tongue, should participate together in the translation and
revision of each text.

This series is distinguished from other similar intercultural projects by its
distinctive objectives and methodology. These works will fill a genuine gap in
the Library of human thought. They will prove extremely useful to all those with
an interest in Islamic culture, its interaction with Western thought, and its
impact on culture throughout the world. They will, it is hoped, fulfil an important
role in enhancing world understanding at a time when there is such evident and
urgent need for the development of peaceful coexistence.

This series is published by the Center for Muslim Contnbutlon to
Civilization, which serves as a research centre under the patronage of H.H.
Sheikh Hamad bin Khalifa al-Thani, Amir of Qatar. It is directed by a Board of
Trustees chaired by H.E. Sheikh Muhammad bin Hamad al-Thani, the former
Minister of Education of Qatar. The Board is comprised of a group of
prominent scholars. These include H.E. Dr Abul-Wafa al-Taftazani¥*, Deputy
Rector of Caire University, and Dr Yusuf al-Qaradhawi, Director of the Sira
and Sunna Research Center. At its inception the Center was directed by the late
Dr Mohammad Ibrahim Kazim, former Recior of Qatar University, who estab-
lished its initial objectives.

The Center was until recently directed by Dr Kamal Nagi, the Foreign Cultural
Relations Advisor of the Ministry of Education of Qatar. He was assisted by a

* Died 1994, may Allah have mercy on him.
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Board comprising a number of academicians of Qatar University, in addition to
a consultative committee chaired by Dr Ezzeddin [brahim, former Rector of the
University of the United Arab Emirates. A further committec acting on behalf
of the Center has been the prominent university professors who act under the
chairmanship of Dr Raji Rammuny, Professor of Arabic at the University of
Michigan. This committee is charged with making known, in Europe and in
America, the books selected for translation, and in selecting and enlisting prop-
erly qualified university professors, orientalists and students of Islamic studies
to undertake the work of translation and revision, as well as oversecing the pub-
lication process.
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INTRODUCTION

THE work at hand in its original Arabic is, in a sense, the product of two minds:
the author himself, Aba al-Fida Imid al-Din Isma%l b. Umar b. Kathir,! and,
to a lesser extent, its editor, Mustafz ‘Abd al-Wahid. In his introduction to the
Arabic, ‘Abd al-Wahid points out that this work is in fact the culmination of a
search for a biography of the Prophet Mullammad to which Ibn Kathir makes
reference in his celebrated exegesis of the Qur’an. There is, however, no extant
copy of any such independent biographical study traceable to Ibn Kathir. That
such a study did exist is questionable, notwithstanding Thn Kathir’s own allusion
thereto. Given the unavailability of this particular work, ‘Abd al-Wahid offers
the theory that the biography in question is none other than that which appears
in Ibn Kathir’s chief work, his opus on history, the al-Bidaya wa al-Nihaya.? He
argues that the sira section of the latter work is s0 comprehensive in its analysis
of the life and times of the Prophet Muhammad as to almost obviate the need for
any independent study of the same topic. The biography at hand, therefore, is the
same as found in the a/-Bidaya. Nevertheless, ‘Abd al-Wahid must be commended
for the not inconsiderable task of editing and publishing this particular section as
an independent unit, and appropriately titling it al-Sira al-Nabawiyya I Ibn
Kathir.

Ibn Kathir, whose ancestors are said to have been from Irag, was himself
born around the year 1313 CE/700 AH in the Boesra district of castern
Damascus. He died 74 years later, shortly after suffering a total loss of vision.
He counts as his tutors such illusirious personages as the eminent historian
Shams al-Din al-Dhahabi, the Maliki jurist Abt Masa al-Qarafi, and the cele-
brated Damascene polemicist and jurist Ibn Taymiyya al-Harrini.

Ibn Kathir’s was an era of the great political and social upheavals that posed
many challenges to the Muslim world at large, and in particular, to its scholars.
‘What with the scourge of the Tartars threatening the very existence of Islam as a
socio-political entity from the outside and the sectarian and ethnic strife created
by the Mamluk revolution doing much the same from within, Ibn Kathir and his

1. According to R. Y. Curtis, Authoritative Interpretation of Classical Islamic Tafsir: Critical
Analysis of Ibn Kathir's Tafsir al-Qurdn al-“Azim (unpublished dissertation, Ann Arbor:
University of Michigan, 1989) (21), classical bibliographers have cited Tbn Kathir’s name in more
than one way. Al-Dhahabi for instance, in the supplement to his bibliography, Dhayl Tadhkirat al-
Huffaz, gives Ton Kathir'’s name as Isma%l b. Umar b. Kathir b. Daw b. Kathir b. Zar<, Other
versions have been given, however, such as appear in al-Zirikls’s a/~49zm (1: 320) and WUmar Rida
Kahhala’s Mu$am al-Mewallifin (1: 28).

2. According to C. Brockelman in his Geschichte der Arabischen Literatur ii. 49, this historical
work of Ibn Kathir is itself based on al-Birzali’s chronicle. For more information see also, Ibn
Hadjar al-Asqalani, a-Durar al-Kamina (Cod. Vienna, no. 1172).
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colleagues, no doubt, had huge challenges with which to contend. In addition,
the unrelenting pestilence and drought that had plagued the Levant and areas
east thereof, made their burden all the more unwieldy. He died in 1387 c£/775
AH and lies buried in Damascus next to his master, Ibn Taymiyyah. He was
mourned by his wife Zaynab, the daughter of his teacher, al-Mizzi, who, according
to some reports, was an accomplished scholar in her own right. She bore him four
sons, one of whom succeeded his father to the post of principal of the teaching
academy al-Madrasa al-Salihiyya.}

Ibn Kathir, true to the pre-eminent tendencies of the academic milieu within
which he functioned, brings to his study of the Prophet of Islam the method of the
muhaddith, the scholar of kadith traditions, more dssiduously than he does that of
the traditional historian. In doing so, however, he has, I believe, substantially
succeeded in combining two of the three sources available for the pursuit of the
historical Muhammad: the kadith literature and the sira; the Quran, being the
third such source, features less prominently, if not altogether rarely, in his
study. Given the very extensive usage of hadith material in this particular work,
a word about the classical nature of such material and its contemporancous
validity would be appropriate at this point.

Early historical stadies of Muslim society and culture, as A. A. Duri points
out, “followed broadly two lines that were distinct from each other — that of
hadith, and that of the tribes (i.e. the gyyam anecdotes as narrated by the
akhbaris and the ruwat), which is in a sense a continuation of pre-Islamic
activities. “These two lines”, he explains, “reflect the two major currents in
early Islamic society — the Islamic and the tribal lines which influenced all
aspects of life.”* According to Muslim tradition, the learning and transmission
of the sayings and actions of Muhammad, his tacit approvals and disapprovals of
the actions of others, and his general behaviour had religious significance second
only to that of the Quran. To that end Muslim scholars began the collection of
such data as was related to the Prophet and his era even while he was still
alive. At first, the system of oral retention was popular, but by the middle of the
first century of the Muslim era, written compilations of kadith traditions began
to appear. By the end of the third quarter of that century, “a pattern was fixed
for the learning and teaching of the kadith which flourished in the second and
third centuries.”® A system of sorts for verifying the authenticity of such
prophetic traditions was allegedly extant from the earliest of times — albeit in a

3. Curtis, 23.

4. Professor Duri’s article is in large measure an elucidation of what he calls “the tribal type of
history”. See in this regard “The Iraq School of History to the Ninth Century’, in Historians of the
Middle East, ed. B. Lewis and P. M. Holt {Oxford University Press, 1962).

5. M. M. Azami, Studies in Early Hadith Literature (Indianapolis: American Trust Publications,
1983), 186,
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rather rudimentary manner. That system, however, was neither systematized
nor rigerously applied until the advent of the civil wars (fiznz), whereupon
sources were no longer regarded, prima facie, as trustworthy, but were instead
increasingly scrutinized to establish authenticity. Thus evolved the elaborate
sna@d system where every kadith was scrutinized from two perspectives: the text
(matn) containing the information transmitted as such, and the chain of trans-
mitters (sanad) giving the names of all those responsible for transmitting such
information from the Prophet himself.

As indicated earlier, Ibn Kathir’s method in this particular work is more that
of the kadith scholars than it is of the historian; al-Bukhiri, Muslim and more
so0, al-Baihaqi, Ahmad b. Hanbal, and Ab@a Nu4im thus feature more promi-
nently as sources for his biography than do historians such as Ibn Ishaq, Ibn
Hisham or Tabari. But, as ‘Abd al-Wahid rightly points out, Tbn Kathir, on
occasion, is not averse to using some rather obscure historical works, some even
that are no longer extant: the rare historical tractate of Musd b. Ugba, and the
al-Rawd al-Anf of al-Suhayli are examples thereof.

True to tradition, if not quite on the same scale as, for instance, Ibn Hishim,
are Ibn Kathir’s copious citations of poetry, almost all of which seem to have been
taken from Muhammad b. Ishaq’s biography of the Prophet. The poems deal with
a variety of themes and styles: there is, for instance, the unmistakable sarcasm of
Ka%b b. Zuhayr as reflected in his lampooning of the Prophet, followed by his
subsequent retraction and apology as in the much celebrated poem, Banut Sudd,
there is also the occasional celebration of pre-Islamic Arabian chivalry, as in the
haunting ode of Aba al-Bakhtari b. Hisham, when he speaks so movingly of his
virtual self-immolation for the love of a friend. Then, of course, there are the
evocative panegyrics of Hassan b. Thabit in defence of Islam, its Prophet, and
his Companions.

Ibn Kathir, oddly enough for someone who has plumbed the depths of hadith
methodology, frequently paraphrases, not just the many references to scholars
such as Ibn Ishiq, but also, at times, the very adith material he so often quotes.
He thus takes almost the same liberties with such material as he does with
works on history, and the reader, particularly of the Arabic text, sometimes
searches in vain for all but the gist of the traditions that he ascribes to, say, the
sahih of Bukhdri or that of Muslim. ‘Abd al-Wihid offers two possible reasons
for this anomaly; the one 1 believe to be somewhat more plausible than the
other. It may well be, he suggests, that Ibn Kathir was simply quoting from
memery, seeing no need for any further textual verification, or it may also be
that he is, in fact, using sources unavailable to us today. This latter hypothesis
is, I believe, somewhat disingenuous for it requires, amongst other things, that
Ibn Kathir possessed not one, but an entire set of jadith works unique to his
library alone!
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The text itself suffers from a singular lack of the literary cadence that makes
the historical works of al-Tabari, for instance, more of a pleasure to read. This
seems to result from Ibn Kathir’s efforts to present an authentic description of
the life and times of the Prophet of Islam, and to submit such data as is found in
the popular biegraphical works to the scrutiny of sadith literature. The flow of
his text is, without question, a casualty of this exercise. But, as has been pointed
out by a scholar of the Bible, “If we read biblical narrative (or in this case the sira
material) as a story, we abandon its historical truth. If we read it as literature, we
will often find literary art in it, but this art takes us further from truth.”® Not
that the method of Ibn Kathir is altogether without its redeeming features: it
certainly provides useful information to scholars, particularly those of the tradi-
tional schools, who would prefer to have the classical sources for sira studies
close at hand.

The contents of works such as Tbn Kathir’s sira are today regarded by many
scholars of Islam as largely proto-historical, focusing, that is, on an era whose
source documentation falls short of contemporary historiographical standards.
It is, some say, the stuff of myth and legend, entwined in places with real his-
torical data. For modern historians of Islam and the Middle Fast such as
Maxime Rodinsen, Patricia Crone et al., sirg material contains, in the first
instance, virtually “nothing of which we can say for certain that it incontestably
dates back to the time of the Prophet”.” And so, “when doing research about
the life and work of the Prophet Muhammad”, Rudi Paret warns, “we on prin-
ciple distrust the traditional statement and explanation of facts given by later
generations, in so far as they cannot be verified by internal evidence or in some
other way.”8

In addition, the work at hand may be seen by some to be no more than the
product of one who had a variety of interests in the topic: one who was, at one
and the same time, a historian, a scribe of “sacred biography”, and also a devotee;
the results of an endeavour such as Ibn Kathir’s, therefore, risk being perceived
as less than the product of dispassionate scholarship.”

This critical approach to Islamic historiography emerged gradually in the
18th and 19th centuries. It was, understandably, only a matter of time before
Albert Schweitzer’s “guest of the historical Christ” would be appropriated by

6. See Robin L. Fox, The Unauthorized Version: Truth and Fiction in the Bible (New York:
Alfred A. Knopf, 1992).

7. This particular statement appears in the introduction to Maxime Rodinson’s own biography
of the Prophet. See Maxime Rodinson, Mokammed. Trans. Anne Carter (London, 1971).

8. For the full text of this article see R. Paret, “Recent European Research on the Life and
Work of Prophet Muhammad”, Journal of the Pakistan Historical Society, Karachi, 1958.

9. See in this regard G. D. Newby, The Making of the Last Prophet: A Reconstruction of the
Earliest Biography of Mukammad (Columbia: University of Southern California Press, 1989).
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scholars of Islamic history in their search of the demythologized Muhammad;
after all, this kind of appropriation of the analytical tools indigenous to studies of
Christianity for the unravelling of the Islamic historical experience has become
almost a convention in Islamic and Middle Eastern studies. Yet the entire
process 15, I believe, fraught with questionable hypotheses, broad generalizations
and a certain disregard for the spatio~temporal factors that shape ostensibly sim-
ilar events. The application of New Testament heuristic tools such as Form and
Redaction criticism to the corpus of information pertaining to the sira seems to
betray a casual disregard for the Sitz sm Leben of that very corpus. The life and
work of Jesus is clearly different from that of Muhammad; the former’s mission
- 1if it can be described as such — is, for example, singularly devoid of the political
and socio-ecenomic objectives that informed that of the latter. It is, therefore,
hardly surprising, as F. E. Peters in his recent article “The Quest of the
Historical Muhammad” points out, that “even though a great deal of cffort has
been invested in research into the life and times of Muhammad, the results do
not seem at all comparable to those achieved in research on Jesus, and the reasons
are not at all clear.”?

Ever since Gustav Weil presented his Mohammad der Prophet, sein Leben und
seine Lehre in 1843, scholars have endeavoured to unravel the historical
Muhammad using a variety of tools and strategems. Initially the material
offered by Muslim historians such as Ibn Ishiq, Ibn Hisham and more import-
antly, al-Tabari was used almost unquestioningly by Christian schelars who, as
Holt characterizes them, belonged mainly to “holy orders”.!! Their primary
purpose, it would seem, was to provide a spirited defence of Christian theology
and dogma against the claims of Islam and its adherents. The polemics that
ensued were, in the main, reflective of the attitude that there was “not any
rational inducement in all (that Muslims) believe or practice; insomuch that
common sense must be discarded in order to embrace their system.”!? As for
Muhammad, he was for many in that era “so coarse and barbarous an imposter,
that there is not a man, who does not or cannot perceive plainly his cheat and
corruption.”’® Humphrey Prideaux, the 17th-century lecturer in Hebrew at
Oxford, captured rather succinctly the disposition of scholars vis-d-vis the
study of Muhammad, in the rather long-winded title of his work, The true
nature of imposture fully display’d in the life of Mahomet. With a discourse annex’d

10. T. E. Peters, “The Quest of the Historical Muhammad”, in Inrernational Journal of Middle
East Studies 23 (19912), 291-315.

11. See P. M. Holt, “The Treatment of Arab Historians by Prideaux, Ockley, and Sale”, in
Historians of the Middle East, ed. B. Lewis and P. M. Holt (Oxford University Press, 1962),
290-302.

12. Thid., 300.

13. Thbid., 300.
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Jor the vindication of Christianity from this charge. Offered to the consideration of
the Deists of the present age.! Later Simon Ockley, the somewhat less acerbic
. and brusque vicar of Swavesey in Cambridgeshire, authored The History of the
Saracens, a “much more solid contribution to historical knowledge” as Holt
puts it, but one that none the less did “not fail to follow common form by
stigmatizing Muhammad in his first line, as ‘the great Imposter’ and then
describing the Arab conquests as ‘that grievous calamity’.”!® The liberalism that
swept across Europe in the 18th century helped create a relatively less hostile
attitude among European scholars towards Islam and its leader. We thus
find during that era scholars such as Henri de Boulainvillier emerging.
Boulainvillier, his theological affinities notwithstanding, assumed 2 decidedly
more conciliatory tone in his biography of Muhammad, La vie de Mahomet. For
him, Christianity is undoubtedly superior to Islam but he is, none the less,
quite charitable in his evaluation of his subject, and says: “With respect to the
essential doctrines of religion, all that (Muhammad) has laid down is true; but
he has not laid down all that is true; and that is the whole difference between
our religion and his.”!6 _

The quest itself began in earnest in the writings of the Belgian Jesuit, Henri
Lammens. Whereas Theodor Noeldeke, prior to him, had largely failed in his
attempts to unravel “the historical person of Muhammad”, Lammens plodded
on, and succeeded to some extent, in demonstrating “the possibility of the criti-
ical analysis of the sira”. Lammens’ efforts, however, were directed, not at a
biographical study of Muhammad per se, but rather on the search for the secret
of his personal appeal and the rapid expansion of his message. “Muhammad to
him, was a historical problem as well as a symbol of Islam’s obstinacy and insen-
sitiveness to the missionary influence.”’

Lammens also happened to be among the first to argue, with some conviction,
that the kadith traditions as well as the sira material on the Prophet are, on the
whole, fictitious. This inaugurated a new perspective on Islamic history: the
emphasis shifted from a critique of the actors in that history to the questioning
of the source material itself, ,

In the 19th century, the Hungarian scholar Ignaz Goldziher concluded that
much of the fadith material was but a “pious fraud . . . invoked by every group
(in early Islam) for every idea it evolved; . . . through solid chains (ssnad) of tra-
dition, all such matters acquired an unbroken tie to the ‘Companions’ who had
heard those pronouncements and statutes from the Prophet or had seen him act

14. Ibid., 291.

15. Tbid., 311.

16. P. M. Holt, The Treatment of Arab History, 300.

17. K. S. Salibi, “Islam and Syria in the Writings of Henri Lammens”, in Historians of the
Middle East, ed. B. Lewis and P. M. Holt (Oxford University Press, 1962), 330-342.
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in pertinent ways.”!® Later Professor J. Schacht further explored the foregoing
hypotheses by subjecting the isngd of a few legal traditions to an exhaustive
scrutiny. He concluded that “hardly any of these traditions, as far as matters of
religious law are concerned, can be considered authentic; they were put into cir-
culation . . . from the first half of the second century onwards.”'? From this
others were quick to extrapolate that even the biographical material is fraudu-
lent. Crone thus states: “that the bulk of the sire . . . consists of second century
hadiths has not been disputed by any historian, and this point may be taken as
conceded.” %

Not all Western scholars, however were as eager to jettison the classical
material. W. M. Watt, writing in his Muhammad ar Mecca, is clearly more
reluctant than Crone, for example, to reject out of hand all such material, simply
on the strength of Schacht’s conclusion. He thus maintains that “In the legal
sphere there may have been some sheer invention of traditions, it would seem.
But in the historical sphere, in so far as the two may be separated, and apart
from some exceptional cases, the nearest to such invention in the best early
historians appears to be a ‘tendential shaping’ of the material . . 2!

It must be remembered, however, that traditional Muslim scholars display HLttle
awareness of the foregoing conundrum. The classical methodology of hadith
criticism as practised by early Muslim scholars, with its close scrutiny of the isnid
and the mutin of prophetic traditions, has, in the main, not been discredited, or
evenn questioned, by Muslim scholars. If anything, that methodology has today
been given a new lease of life by scholars such as Nasir al-Din al-Albani, who, for
example, regard the re-evaluation of the early sources as integral to what they call
the Istamic renaissance (a/-Nahda al-Islamiyya). Such a renaissance, Albani argues,
will fall far short of its goals, without a thoroughgoing purge of what remains of
the spurious material that had crept into hadith and sira works during the turbu-
lent epoch of early Islamic history.?? He thus set himself the task of appraising
scholars and the Muslim laity alike to those traditions that were deemed spurious
by the regimen of classical adith studies. His findings, which were first published
under the title “al-Ahadith al-De’1fah wa al-Mauda%h” in a weekly column in
the magazine @/-Tamaddun al-Islami, now comprise a mult-volume work,
appropriately titled Silsilak al-Ahadith al-De’ifak wa al-Maudatah >

18. See Goldziher’s chapter on the development of the law in Islam in Tntroduction to Islamic
Law and Theology (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1981).

19. J. Schacht, The Origins of Muhammadan Jurisprudence {Oxford University Press, 1959).

20. Crone, Slaves on Horses, 14-15.

21. W. G. Watt, Muhammad at Meccq (Oxford University Press, 1953), xii. )

22. M. N. Al-Albani, Silsileh al-Ahadith al-Deifah wa al-Mauditak. Vol. 1. Damascus?:
Manshurat al-Maktab al-Tstami, 1376 h.

23, Ibid., 6.
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Clearly not all conternporary scholars are as eager as Schacht et al. to ring the
death knell on jadith literature as a tool for unravelling early Islamic history.
Azami for one, in his studies on early kadith literature has attempted to show
that hadith literature is indeed the richest source for the investigation of that era,
for it provides, among other things, material for the understanding of the legal,
cultural and religious ideas of those early centuries. He maintains that the
theories of Margoliouth, Goldziher and more recently, Schacht can no longer be
incontestably accepted given the recent discoveries of manuscripts or research.
According to him

“In the period referred to, works on the biography of the Prophet and on other
historical topics were in a very advanced stage. We find that work on the biography
of the Prophet was begun by the Companions. ‘Abd Ailah b. ‘Amr b, al-‘As
recorded many historical events. It is possible still to trace his work in the ahadith
narrated by ‘Amr b. Shw’aib (d. 118 ag) as he utilized his great grandfather ‘Abd
Allzh b. ‘Amr’s books. Urwah (d. 93 aH) in his biography of the Prophet names
his authority and most probably he had obtained the information in writing.
There are works mentioned here and there on a single topic of the Sirah, e.g.
Memorandum on the Servanis of the Prophet, a book on the ambassadors of the
Prophet to different rulers and chieftains with their negotiations. There are
references to the collections of the Prophet’s letters in a very early period.” %

But it is, in fact, these very sources that Azami cites that have, through the use
of contemporary literary and hermeneutical tools, been relegated to no more
than “the rubble of early Muslim history”. For Patricia Crone therefore, the
“inertia™ of material such as appears heretofore “comes across very strongly in
modern scholarship on the first two centuries of Islam.”?> “The bulk of it”, she
argues, “has an alarming tendency to degenerate into mere rearrangements of
the same old canon — Muslim chronicles in modern languages and graced with
modern titles.” %6 '

Others, such as Juynboll, have strived to arrive at the inevitable solution inter-
médiaire, “a conceivable position that could be taken between the two points of
view represented respectively by Muslim and Western scholarship.” %’ For him
therefore, the hadith traditions “taken as a whole” do provide a fairly reliable
rendition of early Islamic history, and “a judiciously and cautiously formulated
overall view of what all those early reports . . . collectively point to, may in all
likelihood be taken to be not very far from the truth of ‘what really happened’.”?8

24. Azami, Early Hadith, 7-8.

25. See in this regard the ntroduction to her work, Slaves on Horses: The Evolution of the
Islamic Polity (Cambridge University Press, 1980).

26. Ihid., 13.

27. See G. H. A. Juynboll, Muslim Tradition: Studies in Chronology, Provenance and Authorship
of Early hadith (Cambridge University Press, 1983), 1.

28. Thid., 7.
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Finally, the true value of this particular work probably resides outside the
context of the foregoing academic debate, for as Gadamer explains in 7ruth and
Method? “The meaning of a literary work is never exhausted by the intentions
of its author; as the work passes from one cultural or historical context to
another, new meanings may be culled from it which were perhaps never antici-
pated by its author or contemporary audience.” ¥

Ahmed Fareed
Reviewer of Volume I

29, H. G. Gadamer, Truth and Method (London, 1975).
30. This is in fact an interpretation of Gadamer’s thoughts as espoused by T. Eagleton in his
study, Literary Theory: An Introduction (Minneapelis: University of Minnesota Press, 1983), 71.



TRANSLATOR’S PREFACE

AsS has often been observed, translation is impossible, since the associations and
emotive content of words in one language and culture differ from those of all
others. Attempts at translation, therefore, inevitably represent sirivings for
compromise. While accuracy and precision are prime objectives, the ultimately
necessary requirements for clarity and comprehension in the host language may
require simplification or even omission from the original text. The dilemmas
inherent in these conflicting objectives are at times irreconcilable, and this is
particularly true when one is dealing, as here, with languages and cultures so far
removed as ancient Arabic and modern Enghsh. This translation, composed in
evervday, contemporary English, gives no impression of the ubiquitous rarities,
oddities and archaisms of vocabulary and syntax that make the original
extremely challenging to comprehend. It is hoped, of course, that the innumer-
able compromises that this translation represents will be accepted as good-faith
attempts to convey the spirit and purpose of the original in a form that readers of
English will not find impossibly daunting.

In some instances Ibn Kathir repeats anecdotal zhadith with differing chains
of authority that are almost identical in content; often, as will be scen, the
accounts differ in only very few of their words and these are typically vocabulary
rarities. While such variations between accounts may seem of scant interest to
the Western reader, they have nevertheless been left complete and intact in this
translation. Including them in full; as in the original work, gives a strong impres-
sion of the care with which these anecdotes have been handed down and the
impression of their likely authenticity is therefore enhanced. This seems espe-
cially the case where the discrepancies involve vocabulary rarities that are
synonymous. It seems that it would be just such words that would have been
subjected to dispute, change or loss from memory.

Ibn Kathir’s objective was to appear authoritative and discriminating in his
choices of inclusion and discussion of specific afadith; to him the listing of all
the names of his authorities and his comments on their reputations was an cssen-
tial component of this lectures. The give-and-take of oral lecturing — of which
this work is essentially a record — would have enabled immediate verbal
clarification. Our English text, in contrast, has to stand by itself, and to present
an inherent and visible logic and clarity; it must also give some impression of the
reliability of the Arabic text that is indicated by its complexity, and by the care
with which the names of quoted sources are given and at times evaluated.

A perpetual challenge in presenting this text has therefore been to leave the
essential narratives clear and succinct while including yet simplifying the lines of
authority on which their authenticity is based. The names of authorities quoted
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have been included in full, since their identities were of prime importance for
the initial ‘readership’ of this work as well as to students and researchers today.
THowever, the exact nature and relative value of the means of transmission from
authority to authority and the suggestions implied of Ibn Kathir’s preference for
certain sources over others, have not been conveyed with exactitude, since com-
mon English vocabulary is unable 1o convey some of the subtleties of the Arabic
technical terms employed for this purpose. The essential completeness of the
original text in this translation does, however, enable serious students of early
Islamic materials to bring their own differentiation to bear by their knowledge of
the reputations of the persons quoted.

Certain words common in this text — such as 4b# and siirat — change in their
form in Arabic to accord with basic grammatical rules. Here, however, to avoid
confusion for those readers who do not know Arabic, they have been left in the
form in which they are most commonly met. Initial hamza, moreover, has been
omitted. Since early Arabic manuscripts, like the Arabic printed version of this
text, are devoid of quotation marks, the identity of the narrator is sometimes
unclear. Similarly, it is occasionally difficult to discern whether comments at the
end of an account are those of the transmitting authority or of Ibn Kathir him-
self. Footnotes referring to these and similar textual difficulties have been kept
to a minimum, while brief parenthetical explanatory comments have sometimes
been inserted to aid the general reader.

Discriminating and knowledgeable readers and reviewers will no doubt find
discrepancies and perhaps inaccuracies in this lengthy and demanding text,
especially in the extensive poems quoted. For these the translator — and his
reviewers, text editors and typesetters — apologize. But since this work offers
mtimate details not elsewhere available in English about Arabian history and the
inspiration and leadership of Islam in its earliest formative period, it would seem
unsatisfactory to leave it in a language and form accessible only to a small coterie
of scholars. The evident religious historical and philosophical interest of this
text suggests that all those associated with its production may properly take
refuge and find consolation from criticism in the knowledge that ‘to err is
human’. To attempt the impossible, moreover, while perhaps feolhardy, is
surely more laudable than to make no attempt at all.

Trevor Le Gassick
Ann Arbor, 1997
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Ir the name of God, the most Beneficent, the most Merciful

It has been said that all Arabs trace their origins to Ishmacl, the son of Abraham;
upon them both be peace, salutation, and homage. However, what is well known
to be true is that the ‘%arab al-‘Ariba (the original Arabs) came before Ishmael.
Among them were the pecples of Ad, Thamud, Tasm, Jadis, Umaym, Jurhum,
and the ‘Amiliq, as well as others known only to GGod. Also, these peoples both
came before and were contemporaries of al-Khalil.! Yet the ‘erab al-mustariba
(the Arabized Arabs), the Arabs of the Ilijaz, were descendants of Ishmael, son
of Abraham; upon both of them be peace.

The Arabs of the Yemen, the Himyar, are well known to have been from
Qahitan, whose name was Muhzam, as Ton Makala said. It has been stated that
they were a group of four brothers; Qahtan, Qahit, Mughit, and Faligh. Qahtan
was the son of Huid; it is also said that he was Hud, or that Hud was his brother or
one of his offspring. Qahan is also said to have descended from Ishmael, as Ibn
Ishaq and others relate it. One authority stated that Qahtin was the son of
al-Hamaysa¢, son of Tayman, son of Qaydhar, son of Nabt, son of Ishmael. And
there are other genealogies tracing him back to Ishmael; but God knows best.
Al-Bukhari treats this in his chapter on tracing the ancestry of Yemen back to
Ishmael. He states that Musaddad related to him, quoting Yahyi, from Yazid b.
Abi Ubayd, and also Salama — God be pleased with him — as follows, “The
Messenger of God (SAAS) went out and confronted a group from Aslam who
were fighting one another with swords, He said to one of the two sides, ‘Combat,
O sons of Ishmael, T am with the so-and-so tribe.” So they stopped fighting.
“What’s wrong with you?’ he asked. ‘But how can we combat if you are with the
so-and-so tribe?’ they replied. ‘Go on, combat,” he insisted, ‘I’'m with all of you.””

Al-Bukhari alone gives this tradition. In one of his versions the tradition goes,
“Combat, O sons of Tshmael. Your forebear was a skilled marksman. Combat;
P’m with Ibn al-Adra®” And when they stopped fighting, he said, “Go on, com-
bat. Pm with all of you.”

Al-Bukhari states, “And Aslam b. Afsa b. Haritha b. ‘Amr b. ‘Amir is from
the tribe of Khuza%.” He means the following: that Khuza% was one group of
those who were split off from the tribes of Saba> when God sent on them the
flood of al-*Aram, as will be explained later. And the Aws and the Khazraj tribes

1. al-Khalil is an epithet of Abraham, which literally means in Arabic “the truc friend” or
“companion”. Here this honorific connotes “the true follower of God”.
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were from Saba® also. The Prophet (SAAS) had said to them, “Combat, O sons
of Ishmael.” By so saying he was pointing out that they were from Ishmael’s line
of ancestry. Others interpret his words as meaning the entire Arab race, though
that interpretation is far-fetched, since it contradicts without proof the apparent
meaning. But the overwhelming view is that the Qah{ani Arabs, whether they
were from Yemen or somewhere else, were not from the line of Ishmael.

Most consider that all the Arabs are divided into two strains, those of Qahtan
and those of ‘Adnin. Those of Qahtan consist of two peoples: Saba’ and
Hadramawt. Those of ‘Adnan are also from two peoples: Rabi‘a and Mudar, the
two sons of Nizar b. Ma%d b. tAdnin. A fifth people, the Quda‘a, are the object
of dispute. One theory asserts that they are from ‘Adnan; Ibn ‘Abd al-Barr
reports that the majority so believes. This theory is related from Tbn ‘Abbas, Tbn
Umar, and Jubayr b. Mutm. It is also preferred by al-Zubayr b. Bakkar, his
uncle Mus@b al-Zubayri, and Ibn Hisham. According to Ibn ‘Abd al-Barr
and others, the name “Quda‘ son of Ma‘%d” appeared in a kadith but this is
incorrect.

In addition it is said that Quda‘ continued to trace the ancestry back to
¢Adnan, both before and after the coming of Islam. But by the time of Khilid b.
Yazid b. Mu@wiya, some of them being maternal uncles of his, they were trac-
ing back to Qahtan. In that regard A%ha b. Tha4aba composed the following
VETses:

“Inform (Qudi‘ in the letter that but for the vicars of God’s people, they would not
have been embraced {into Islam).

Qudi4 has said, “We are among the fortune blessed.’?

And only God knows if they have been honest and spoken true.

They claimed a father who never had their mother;

They may know, but they are fearful (to tell the truth).”

Abtu ‘Amr al-Suhayli has also mentioned unique Arab poetry which
reproaches Quda< for attributing their descent to Yemen. But God knows best.

The second theory is that Quda% has descended from Qahtan; Ibn Ishag,
al-Kalbi, and a number of other genealogists subscribe to this view.

Ibn Ishiq gave his genealogy as being Quda%a b. Malik, b. Himyar, b. Sab2’, b.
Yashjub, b. Ya‘ub, b. Qahtin. _

A certain poet of theirs, ‘Amr b. Murra, a Companion of the Prophet to
whom two kadiths are attributed, composed the verses:

“Q caller, summon us and rejoice;
Be of Quda‘, stand not aloof in shame,
We descend from the noble and handsome

2. A play on Yemen, pronounced “yaman” in Arabic, a word meaning “success”, “happiness”,
“luck”



IMAM ABU AL-FIDA> ISMASL IBN KATHIR 3

Qudz‘a, son of Malik, son of Himyar.
The line is well-known and fault-free,
Engraved in the stone beneath the pulpit.”

One genealogist gave the line as follows: Quda‘a b. Malik, b. ‘Amr, b. Murra,
b. Zayd, b. Himyar.

Ibn Lahi4 stated, on the authority of Ma‘iif b. Suwayd from Abf Ushaba
Muhammad b. Misa, from “Ugba b. ‘Amir, that the last-mentioned said, “I
asked the Messenger of God (SAAS) whether we were descended from Mad.
He replied that we were not. So I asked who we were. He replied, “You are
descended from Qudata b. Malik b. Himyar.””

AbT Umar b. ‘Abd al-Barr said the following: “People do not dispute that
Juhayna b. Zayd b. Aswad b. Aslam b. Tmran b. al-Haf b. Quda‘a is the tribe of
{Ugba b. ‘Amir al-Juhani. Accordingly, Quda% would be in Yemen in the tribe
of Himyar b. Saba®.”

Some genealogists combine these ancestries, as in the report of al-Zubayr b.
Bakkar and others to the effect that Quda% was a woman of the Jurhum who was
married to Malik b. Himyar, from whom she gave birth to Quda%. Then, she
married Ma%d b. ‘Adnan, while her son was still small; some even claim that she
was pregnant with Quda‘ prior to her marriage (to Ma%d). Thus, Quda‘a was
ascribed descent from his mother’s husband, as was frequently the custom in
such cases. But God knows best.

Muhammad b. Sallam of Basra, the skilled genealogist, said, “The Arabs
came from three strains: ‘Adnan, Qahtan, and Quda%.” When he was asked who
were the more numerocus, the descendants of ‘Adnin or those of Qahtan, he
replied, “It depends on Qudi‘a; if they related to Yemen, then Qahtans are more
numerous; if to Aden, then ‘Adnans are more.”

All this points to Quda%’s inconsistency in relating their descent. However, if
the aforementioned hadith from Ibn Lahi% is true, then it proves their being
from Qahtin. But God knows best. And God Almighty did state: “O people, we
have created you from a male and a female and made you into nations and tribes,
that you may know one another. Truly, in God’s sight it is the most pious of you
who are the most noble” (sarat al-Huyjurat, XLIX, v.13).

Genealogists indicate that their taxonomy has the following order: shu‘ih
(peoples); gadatl (tribes); ‘am@ir {tribal confederations}); bugin (sub-tribes);
afkhadh (small divisions of a tribe); fas@il (extended kinsfolk); and ‘ash@’ir
(extended families). And the last refers to those closest to 2 man, and there are
no more terms thereafter.

Tet us begin with mention of the Qahtan, then the Arabs of the Ilijaz who are
the ‘Adnan, and discussion of the jahiliyya era (before Islam, that is) as a way of
leading up to the biography of the Messenger of God (SAAS). All this if it be
the will of God, in whom there is trust.
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Al-Bukhiri stated, in his chapter, An Account of Qaktan, as follows: “Abd
al-¢Aziz b. ‘Abd Allzh told us, quoting Sulayman b, Bilal, from Thawr b, Zayd,
from AbG al-Ghayth, from Ab@ Hurayra, that the Prophet (SAAS) said,
‘Judgement Jay will not come until a man from the Qahtan goes forth driving
the people before him with his stick.” Muslim also relates it in that way, from
Qutayba, from al-Darawardi, from Thawr b. Zayd.”

Al-Suhayli said that Qahtan was the first to whom were spoken the phrases
abayta al-la‘na® (i.e. “you have scorned the malediction”) and antm sabahan (i.e.
“have a happy morning!”). .

The Imam Ahmad said, “Abt@ al-Mughira related to us, from Jarir, and
Rashid b. Satd al-Muqr#i told me, from Abti Hayy, from Dha Fajar, that the
Messenger of God {SAAS) said, “This status once belonged to Himyar, but God
withdrew it from them and placed it with Quraysh and waw, sin, ya, ‘ayn, waw,
dal, alif hamza, lam, ya, ka, mim.’” ‘Abd Allah said, “This was in a document of
my father, and as he related it to us he spoke it out directly as meaning the
words, wa saya‘adu ilayhim, meaning ‘it will return to them.’”

The Story of Saba’.

God Almighty said, “For Saba® there was indeed a sign in their dwelling-place:
two gardens, on the right hand and on the left. ‘Eat of the bounty from your
Lord, and render Him thanks.” Good was the country, and forgiving the Lord.
But they turned away, so We sent down upon them the torrent of al-*Arim, and
changed their gardens into ones of bitter fruit, tamarisks, and a few lote trees.
Thus We punished them for their disbelief, and is it not the disbelievers alone
whom We punish? And We placed between them and the villages We had
blessed other settlements, easily scen, well spaced for journeying, (saying)
“T'ravel in them in safety by day and night.” They responded, ‘O God, extend
the distances between our travel stops.” They harmed themselves, and We made
of them taies te be told and scattered them asunder. In that there are signs for all
who are truly patient and thankful” (s@ret Seb@®, XXXI1V, v.15-19).

The genealogists, including Muhammad b. Ishidq, give the name as Sab’ ‘Abd
Shams b. Yashjub b. Ya%ub b, Qahtan; they say that he was the first of the Arabs
who seba’* and that that was why he was called Saba’. He was also called al-Raish
(“the philanthropist™), because he gave to the people from his own wealth.

3. A salutation made to kings in the pre-Islamic era, meaning “vour deeds are too impeccable to
deserve malediction, O king.”

4. The word lends itself to various interpretations, Thus A. Guillaume, in his translation of fon
Ishaq’s The Life of Mukammad (Oxford, 1955, p4) renders it “to take captives”. Dictionaries give
other meanings that might alse fit this context. For examaple, in E. W. Lane’s Arabic-Englisk
Lexicon we find s2baas “to renege on an oath” or “ro imply God’s abandonment of a person”.
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Al-Suhayli said, “It is related that he was the first person to be crowned.”
Some stated that he was 2 Muslim and that he wrote verses predicting the
advent of the Messenger of God (SAAS). In that poetry are the lines:

“He will control after us a mighty domain,

A prophet who will give not licence to evil.
After him, other kings from among them will hold sway
Ruling afl men, with no dishonour nor disgrace.
After them, rulers of ours will control

And our kingdom will be fragmented.

After Qahtin a prophet will rule,

Pious, humble, the very best of mankind.

He will be named Ahmad, and I wish

T coudd be given to live a year after his coming
To support him and award him my aid

With all fully-armed warriors and all marksmen.
When he appears, become his helpers and let
Him who meets him pass on my greeting.”

Ibn Dihya related this in his book al-Tanwir fi Mawlid al-Bashir al-Nadhir
(Illuminating the Birth of the Messenger, the Herald).

Imam Ahmad stated that Abu ‘Abd al-Rahman related to him, quoting ‘Abd
Allah b. Lahi%, on the authority of ‘Abd Allah b. Hubayra al-Saba’1, from ‘Abd
al-Rabhman b, Wa9a, that the last-mamed said that he heard ‘Abd Allah b.
¢Abbias say that 2 man once asked the Prophet (SAAS) who or what Saba’
might signify, whether a man, a woman, or a territory. He replied, “Certainly
he was a man who gave birth to ten children. Six of them dwelled in Yemen
and four in Syria. Those in Yemen were Madhhij, Kinda, al-Azd, the Ash‘aris,
Anmar, and Himyar, all Arabs; in Syria they were Lakhm, Judham, ‘Amila, and
Ghassan.”

We related in our Tafsir (Exegesis) that it was Farwa b. Musayk al-Ghutayfi
who asked about that; also therein we analysed the lines of transmission and the
phraseology of this tradition. And all praise be to God!

What is meant here is that Saba’> encompasses all these tribes. Among them
there used to be [kings] in the lands of Yemen called the tababi‘a; tubba®in the sin-
gular. Their kings would wear crowns during their reigh, as also did the Chosroes,
the kings of the Persians. The Arabs used to apply the word iubba‘ to each king
who rules Yernen, along with al-Shahr and Hadramawt, just as they applied gayser
to kings ruling Syria and the peninsula, kisrZ to those ruling Persia, far%n to
Egypt’s rulers, al-najashi to those over Abyssinia, and batlaymiis to India’s kings.
Balqis® was one of the Himyarite rulers of Yemen. They used to be in a state of
great felicity, with abundant prosperity and a plenitude of local fruits and pro-

5. Balqis is identified as the Queen of Sheba who married King Solomon.
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duce. However, they lived in rectitude, propriety, and right guidance. But when
they replaced God’s blessings by disbelief, these kings brought their people to ruin.

Muhammad b. Ishaq stated from Wahb b. Munabbih, “God sent to them 13
prophets.” And al-Suddi claimed that he sent 12,000 prophets to them! But God
knows best.

What is implied here is that they deviated from the true guidance into error
and bowed down to the sun apart from God. That was so in the time of Balgis
and beforehand as well, continuing up to when God sent the flood of al-*‘Arim
upon them. As the Almighty said, “But they turned away, so We sent down upon
them the torrent of al-‘Arim, and changed their gardens into ones of bitter fruit,
tamarisks, and a few lote trees. Thus We punished them for their disbelief, and is
it not the disbelievers alone whom We punish?  (siirar Saba?, XXXIV, v.16-17).

A number of former and contemporary scholars on the Qurin commentaries
and others have related that the Ma’rib dam was constructed where waters flowed
between two mountains; in ancient times they built an extremely strong dam there
so that the water-level reached these mountain tops. On those mountains they
planted many fields and orchards with elegant and highly productive trees. Tt is said
that Saba’ b. Ya‘ib built it and that it was fed by 70 valleys with 30 outlets for
the water from it. But he died before it was completed and so Himyar finished it
after him. It was one farsakk® long and one farsakh wide. People lived there in great
felicity, prosperity, and ease. So much so, that (Gatada and others related that the
orchards gave fruit of such quantity and ripeness that a woman could fill a large
basket on her head from the fruit dropping in it as she passed below. Tt is said that
there were no fleas or dangerous beasts there; the climate being-wholesome and the
. Iand excellent, as the Almighty stated, “For Saba® there was indeed a sign in their
dwelling-place; two gardens, one on the right hand and one on the left. ‘Eat from
the bounty of your Lord, and render Him thanks — a fair land and a much-forgiving
Lord’” (siirat Sabe®, XXXIV, v.15). And He also stated, “And so your Lord
proclaimed: ‘If you give thanks, I give you increase thereof; but if you show ingrati-
tude, then is my punishment severe indeed’” (sivar Ibrahim, X1V, v.7).

Then they worshipped other than God and were discontent with His bounty;
after He had made their travel stages close together, made good their orchards,
and secured their roads, they asked Him to extend their travel stages, to make
their journeys difficult and tiresome, and to replace good by evil. They did just
like the Israelites when they requested that He exchange manna and quails for
vegetables, cucumbers, garlic, lentils, and omions. And so they nullified that
great blessing and common good by despoiling the land and scattering the people,
then, as the Almighty said, “they turned away and so We sent down upon them
the torrent of al-*Arim” (siirar Saba’, XXXIV, v.16).

6. Parasang, an ancient Persian measure of length, equal to about 3% miles.
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More than one source related that God dispatched rodents against the base
of the dam, that is, large rats, or, it is said, moles; and when people knew of
this, they set up nets. But, it having been so decreed, these efforts did no good
and their precautions were useless. When the destruction at the basc was well
advanced, the dam fell and collapsed and the water flowed out. Thus the
streams and rivers were cut off; all those fruits were lost and all the produce
and trees perished. Afterwards they were replaced with inferior trees and
fruits, as All-powerful and Almighty God has stated, “and we changed their
gardens into ones of kkams and ath/ (bitter fruit and tamarisks)” (siraz Saba®,
XXXIV, v.16).

Tbn “Abbias, Mujahid, and others stated that hamt is the arak tree which gives
a fruit known as the bgrir, whereas the athi is the farfi?, the tamarisk, or some
such similar tree that produces wood without fruit. The Qur’in verse continues,
“and a few lote-trees”. This refers to the fact that when the nabag, the “Christ’s
thorn™ tree, gives fruit it does so in very small quantity despite the profuseness
of its thorns. The proportion of its fruit is similar, then, to what the proverb
implies, “like the meat of a scrawny camel high on a rock-strewn mountain™, not
an easy path to be climbed, nor a nice fat meal to be attained. This, then, is why
the Almighty states, “Thus We punished them for their disbelief, and is it not
the disbelievers alone whom We punish?”

That is, He only metes out such severe punishment to these who disbelieve
in Him, give the lie to His messengers, disobey His commands, and defile His
sanctuaries. :

The Almighty also said, “We made of them tales to be told and scattered
them asunder.” In fact, when their wealth was gone and their lands were in ruin,
they were forced to depart. So they scattered into the lower areas and into the
higher reaches of the country, in all directions, aydi Saba® (in disarray that is) as
the common idiom goes. Some of them settled in Flijaz, the Khuza% tribe
among them; they migrated to the suburbs of Mecca, with the consequences that
we will relate later. Others went to what is now Medina, being the first to settle
there. They were later joined by three tribes of Jews: Bant Qaynugi¢, Banu
Qurayza, and Bant al-Nadir. These made a pact with the tribes of Aws and
Khazraj and stayed with them, as we will relate. Other groups from Saba’ moved
to Syria and it was later they who became Christian; these were the Ghassan,
‘Amila, Bahra, Lakhm, Judham, Tanukh, Taghlib, and others.

Muhammad b. Ishaq stated that Abti ‘Ubayda told him that al-A%ha b. Qays
b. Thatlaba, also known as Maymin b. Qays, spoke the verses:

“In that there is 2 moral for those who seek morals,
Ma’rib was wiped out by the torrent of al-‘Arim,
Marble, built for them by Himyar,

Which did not budge when the raging billows came,
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Its water irrigated the crops and the vines
Far and wide, since it was decreed

Then they were scattered and could not
Give drink to a child when just weaned.”

Muhammad b. Ishig, in his biography of the Prophet (SAAS), indicated that
the first man to leave Yemen before the flooding of al-‘Arim was ‘Amr b. “Amir
of the Lakhm tribe. Lakhm was the son of ‘Adi b. al-Harith b. Murra b. Udad b.
Zayd b. Hamaysa® b. ‘Amr b. “Arib b. Yashjub b. Zayd b. Kahlan b. Saba.
Lakhm’s genealogy has also been given as Lakhm b. ‘Adi b. ‘Amr b. Sab2’, as
Ibn Hisham states.

According to Ibn Ishiq, “The reason for his departure from Yemen was, as
Abt Zayd al-ansari related to me, that he saw rodents burrowing into the
Ma’rib dam which held back the water which they distributed over their land
as they pleased. He realized that the dam would not last, and so he decided to
emigrate from Yemen. So he tricked his people, as follows. He ordered his
youngest son to stand wp to him and strike him back if he should berate and
strike him. His son did as he was told and ‘Amr then said, ‘I will not remain in a
land where my youngest son has slapped my face.” So some of Yemen’s tribal
leaders said, ‘Let’s take advantage of “Amr’s anger and buy up his properties.’
Then ‘Amr moved with his sons and grandsons. The Azd tribe then stated that
they would not remain behind after ‘Amr; so they sold their properties and left
with him. They journeyed until they reached the land of ‘Akk, crossing to and
fro across their territory. So ‘Akk attacked them, their battles favouring first
one side, then the other. On this fighting, ‘Abbas b. Mirdas spoke the following
verses:

‘And *Akk b, ‘Adnin were those who toyed with
Ghassan until they were completely expelled.’

“<Amr’s people therefore disengaged from them and dispersed in different
directions. The family of Jafha b. ‘Amr b. ‘Amir went to Syria, while the Aws
and the Khazraj settled in Yathrib and Khuza% went to Marra.” The Azd
al-Sariit went to al-Sarat, the Azd ‘Uman to ‘Uman. Then God dispatched the
torrent down upon the dam and destroved it, concerning which event God
revealed these verses in the Qur’dn.” Semething close to this account was also
related from al-Saddi.

According to Muhammad b. Ishiaq in this account, ‘Amr b. ‘Amir was a
soothsayer. Others say that his wife, Tarifa daughter of al-Khayr, the Himyarite
woman, was a soothsayer and that she told him of the imminent doom of their
country. Apparently they saw proof of that in the rats being given control over
their dam, and that was why they acted as they did. God alone knows best.

7. Known as marr gl-Zahran, on the road to Mecca.
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1 have given a lengthy account of ‘Amr’s story, from Tkrima, as related by Ibn
Abi Hatim, in my Tafisr ( Exegesis).

DrIvisioNn

Not all of Saba® left Yermen when they were afflicted with the torrent of al-‘Arim;
the majority of them remained. The people of Ma’rib, who had the dam, moved
into different parts of the country. That is the gist of the previously mentioned
hadith coming down from Ibn ‘Abbas to the effect that all the tribes of Saba> did
not leave Yemen, but four went to Syria while six remained. These were
Madhhij, Kinda, Anmar, and the Ashris. Anmar was the father of Khath%m,
Bajila, and Himyar; so these were the six tribes from Sab2 who remained in
Yemen. They continued retaining the rights of power and the tababi‘a kingship
until the king of Abyssinia took that position from them through the army he sent
under his two generals Abraha and Aryat. The Abyssinian rule lasted some 70
years until Sayf b. Dhii Yazan the Himyarite regained control, and that was a
short time before the birth of the Messenger of God (SAAS). This we will
recount in detail shortly, God willing, and upon Him is all trust and dependence.

Later the Messenger of God (SAAS) sent ‘All and Khailid b. al-Walid to the
people of Yemen, then he sent Abt Muisa al-Ashri and Mu%dh b. Jabal. They
were calling people to worship God and making clear to them matters of
doctrine. After that al-Aswad al-‘Ansi gained control over Yemen and he
expelled the deputies of the Messenger of God (SAAS). When al-Aswad was
killed, the power of Islam became firmly established over Yemen, during the
rule of Abt Bakr “the trusting”, God be pleased with him.

The Story of Rabi‘a b, Nasr b. Abu Haritha b. ‘Amr b. ‘Amir.

The man referred to in the above heading was of the Lakhm tribe; this is what
Ibn Ishaq related. Al-Suhayli stated that the gencalogists of Yemen give his
name as Nasr b. Rabi%; but he was really Rabi%a b. Nasr b. al-Harith b. Namara
b. Lakhm. Al-Zubayr b, Bakkar gave his genealogy as Rabi% b. Nasr b. Malik b.
Sha‘wadh b. Milik b. ‘Ajam b. ‘Amr b. Namara b. Lakhm. Lakhm was the
brother of Judham; he was named Lakhm because he had Jakkmed his brother
on the cheek, i.e. he had struck him there. The brother bit his hand in teturn so
jadhaming it; hence he was called Judham.

Rabi% was one of the tubbat kings of Himyar, and about him is told the tale of
his contacts with the two soothsayers Shiqq and Satih, and how they warned
him of the coming of the Messenger of God (SAAS).

Satih was named Rabi¢ b. Rabia b. Mas<ad b. Mazin b, Dhi’b b. ¢Adi b.
Mazin Ghassan. Shigq was the son of 8a% b. Yashkur b. Rahm b. Afrak b. Qaysb.
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‘Abgar b. Anmir b. Nizar. Some say that Anmir was the son of Irash b. Lihyan
b. ‘Amr b. al-Ghawth b. Nabit b. Malik b. Zayd b. Kahlan b. Saba’. It is said
that Satih had no limbs but was like a waterskin, with his face in his chest. When
he got angry he would puff up and sit. Shigq was one-half a man. And it is said
that Khalid b. ‘Abd Allsh al-Qasri was of his progeny. According to al-Suhayli
both Shiqq and Satih were born on the same day when Tarifa, daughter of
al-Khayr, the Himyarite woman, died. It is said that she spat into the mouth of
each of them, each therefore inheriting the gift of divination from her. She was
the wife of ‘Armr b. ‘Amir, previously mentioned. But God knows best.

Muhammad Ibn Ishaq said that Rabi9 b. Nagr was king of Yemen and of the
true line of the fubbat kings. He saw a vision that awed and terrified him. So he
gathered every single soothsayer, magician, bird prognosticator, and star foreteiler
i his kingdom and told them, “I have seen visions that amazed and scared me.
Tell me what they were and how to interpret them.” They replied, “Relate them
to us and we will interpret them.” He responded, “If I do tell you what they were
I won’t feel secure with your explanation; the only one capable of interpreting
them will be someone who knows what they were before 1 tell them.”

One of the wise men then suggested, “If that is what the king wants, then he
should send for Shigq and Satih. No one s more knowledgeable than they; they
will tell himn what he asked for.”

So the king sent for them, and Satih arrived before Shiqq. Their conversation
went as follows:

The king: “I have seen visions that amazed and scared me; tell me what they
were, and if you are right you will interpret them correctly.”

Satih: “I will do so. You saw fire emerge from the darkness, fall on low
ground, and consume every living being with a skull.”

The king: “You’ve not made a single error, Satil. So how do you interpret
them?”

Satih: “I swear by all the snakes between the two stony plains, that the
Abyssinians will descend upon your land and will surely reign over all between
Abyan and Jurash.”

The king: “That, Satih, angers and hurts me greatly; will that occur in my
time or later?”

Satih: “Later, by your father I swear, some time later, after more than 60 or
70 years have passed.”

The king: “And will their dominion endure or be cut short?”

Satih: “It will be cut down to some 70 vears, and then they will be killed and
expelied in flight.”

The king: “Who will then follow, after their killing and expulsion?”

Satih: “Iram Dht Yazan will follow, emerging from Aden to fight them, and
he will not leave one of them in Yemen.”
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The king: “And will his era endure or be cut short?”

Satih: “It will be cut short.”

The king: “Who will do this?”

Satih: “A prophet, pure, to whom revelation comes from the All-high.”

The king: “And from where will this prophet come?”

Satih: “He will descend from Ghalib b. Fihr b. Malik b. al-Nadr. And the
rule will be with his people till the end of time.”

The king: “Does time end?”

Satih: “Yes, on that day when the first and the last shall all be assembled and
the good will be happy, the evil mortified.”

The king: “Is this really true, what you’re teliing me?”

Satily: “Yes, by the twilight, the dark of night, and the spreading dawn, what I
told you really is the truth.”

Then Shiqq arrived and the king spoke to him as he had to Satih but hid from
him what he had foreseen to establish whether they would be in agreement or
not. Shiqgq told him, “You saw fire emerge from the dark, fall down between a
meadow and a hillock, and eat up every breathing creature there.”

When Shiqq said this, the king knew that they were in agreement and saying
one and the same thing, except for Satih’s words being “fall on low ground and
consume every living being with a skull”, while Shiqq’s were “between a
meadow and a hillock and eat up every breathing creature there”. So the king
told him he had it right and asked his interpretation.

Shiqq: “I swear by all the men who live between two stony plains that the
blacks will descend upon your land, oppress all your young, and reign over all
between Abyan and Najran.”

The king: “By your father, Shiqq, that angers and hurts me greatly; will that
occur during or after my reign?”

Shigq: “No, it will be in a later period. And then a great man will emerge to
save your people and inflict on your enemies all disgrace.”

"The king: “And who will this great saviour be?”

Shigqg: “A young man who is guilt-free and faultless and will emerge from the
line of Dhaui Yazan.”

The king: “And will his reign last long?”

Shigq: “No, it will be brought short by a messenger dispatched, who will
bring truth and justice, and come from a people of religion and virtue in whom
power shall reside until the Day of Separation.”

The king: “What is the Day of Separation?”

Shiqq: “A day when the pious shall be rewarded, when calls shall be made
from the heavens that the living and the dead shall hear, and men shall be
gathered to the appointed place. Then the pious shall receive victory and
rewards.”
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"The king: “Is it really true what you predict?”

Shiqq: “Yes, by the Lord of the heavens and the earth and of all high and low
between them both, what T have informed you is all true and doubt-free.”

Ibn Ishaq stated that the soothsayers’ prediction had great impact on Rabi%a b.
Nasr and so he provisioned all his family and relatives for departure to Iraq. He
wrote for them to a Persian king called Sabar b. Khurzadh who settled them in
al-Hira. According to Ibn Ishaq, the progeny of Rabi%a b. Nagr included
al-Nu‘man b. al-Mundhir, son of al-Nu‘min b. al-Mundhir b. ‘Amr b. ‘Adi b.
Rabi‘a b. Nasr. This al-Nu‘man was viceroy over al-Hira for the Persian kings;
and the Arabs used to send delegations to him and gave him praise. This, then,
is what Muhammad b. Ishaq said about al-Nu‘min b. al-Mundhir being of the
line of Rabi% b. Nasr, according to most people. Ibn Ishaq related that when the
sword of al-Nu‘man b. al-Mundhir was brought to the Commander of the
Faithful, “Umar b. al-Khattab, he asked Jubayr b. Mut‘im from whom it had
come. He replied, “From the remains of Qanas b. Ma‘%d b. ‘Adnan.” Tbn Ishaq
commented that it was unclear who that person was.

The Story of Tubba® Abt Karib Tubban As‘ad, king of Yemen, with the
people of Medina; how he wished to raid the Holy Sanctuary at Mecca.
Then he dignified and venerated it and covered it with cloth; thus he
was the first to do so.

Tbn Ishaq stated that when Rabia b. Nagr died all kingship in Yemen reverted to
Hassan b. Tubbin As‘ad Abti Karib. Tubbin As%d was the last fubba® he was
the son of Kulki Karib b. Zayd. Zayd, the first tubba, was the son of ‘Amr Dha
al-Adh%r b. Abraha Dhii al-Manar b. al-R®ish b. ¢‘Adi b. Sayfi b. Sab2
al-Asghar b. Kab Kahf al-Zulum b. Zayd b. Sahl b. ‘Amr b. Qays b. Mu%wiva
b. Jusham b. ‘Abd Shams b. W21l b. al-Ghawth b. Qatan b. ‘Arib b. Zuhayr b.
Ayman b. al-Hamaysa® b. al-“Aranjaj. The latter was Himyar b. Saba’ al-Akbar
b. Ya%ub b. Yashjub b. Qahtan. ‘Abd al-Malik b. Hisham gave Sab2”’s line as
being son of Yashjub b. Yaqub b. Qahtan.

According to Ibn Ishag, Tubbin As%ad Abu Karib was he who went to
Medina and led two Jewish rabbis to Yemen and refurbished and covered with
cloth the holy sanctuary. His reign preceded that of Rabi% b. Nasr. He had
routed his return journey from a campaign in the east through Medina. First he
had passed there without bothering its inhabitants and left among them za son of
his who was treacherously killed. He advanced against it, determined to destroy
it, wipe out its people, and cut down its date-palms. So this clan of the ansar®

8. The Medinan followers of the Prophet Muhammad who granted him refuge after his emi-
gration from Mecca.
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joined up against him, their leader being ‘Amr b. Talla, the brother of Bant
al-Najjar and also one of Bantl ‘Amr b. Mabdhal. Mabdhal’s name was ‘Amir b.
Malik b. al-Najjar, and al-Najjar’s name was Taym Allah b. Tha9aba b. ‘Amr b.
al-Khazraj b. Harith b. Thalaba b. ‘Amr b. ‘Amir.

Tbn Hisham stated that ‘Amr b. Talla was ‘Amr b. MuGwiya b. ‘Amr b. ‘Amir
b. Malik b. al-Najjar, that Talla was his mother and that she was the daughter of
‘Amir b. Zurayq al-Khazrajiyya.

Ibn Ishaq’s account proceeds: “A certain man of Banii ‘Adi b. al-Najjar, called
Ahmar, attacked and killed one of the followers of Tubba® whom he found cutting
down date clusters off one of his date-loaded palm trees, saying, ‘Dates belong
only to those who pollinate them.’ This added to Tubba®’s animosity towards
them and fighting broke out.

“The ansar claimed that they would fight against him by day and host him by
night; their saying this surprised Tubba® who would say, ‘Our people, by God,
are certainly generous!””

Tbn Ishaq related about the ansgr that Tubba®’s anger was directed only
against the Jews and that they, the ansar, protected them from him. Al-Suhayli
stated that Tubba® only came to give victory to the #nsar, his cousins, against the
Jews who had taken up residence with them in Medina on certain conditions
that they had not kept, and because they were behaving arrogantly. God
knows best.

Ibn Ishaq’s account relates that while Tubba¢ was engaged in this fighting
against them, two Jewish rabbis came to him; they were both deeply learned men
from Banii Qurayza. When they heard how he intended to destroy the city and
its inhabitants, they told him, “O king, do not do this. Unless you adopt a different
course from that you intend, you will be prevented from accomplishing it, and
we will not be able to save you from swift retribution.” Tubba® asked why this
was so, and they replied, “This is where a prophet will migrate; he will go forth
from this holy sanctuary from Quraysh in times to come and this shall be his
home and his abode.”

S0 Tubba¢ changed his plan; he recognized the learning they had and was
intrigued by what he had heard from them. He therefore departed from Medina
and adopted the rabbis’ religion. According to Tbn Ishaq, Tubba® and his people
had 1dols whom they worshipped.

Tubba® then set off towards Mecca on his way to Yemen. When he arrived
between “Usfan and Amaj he was approached by some men of the tribe of
Hudhayl b. Mudrika b. Hyas b. Mudar b. Nizir b. Ma%d b. ‘Adnin. They asked
him, “0O king, may we lead you to an ancient treasury overlooked by kings before
yourself, in which there are pearls, chrysolite, sapphires, gold, and silver?”
“Certainly you may,” he replied. They said, “It is a building in Mecca whose
people worship it and offer prayers there.”
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Actually the Hudhaylis sought to destroy him by this, since they knew that
any king wanting this or being disrespectful there would perish.

After agreeing to their suggestion Tubba¢ sent word to the two rabbis asking
their advice. They replied, “Those people wished only your death and the
destruction of your army. We know of no other building than that in the land
that God Almighty and Glorious has taken for Himself. If you do as they suggest,
you will perish, as will all those with you.”

"Tubba® asked what he should do when he approached the building and they
said he should do the same as those who lived there, that he should circamam-
bulate it and venerate and honour it, shaving his head and acting with humility
before it until he left it.

The king then asked, “What is it that prevents you both from doing the
same?” They replied, “It certainly 1s the house of our father Abraham, on whom
be peace, and it is as we told you, but the people there have created a barrier
between us and it by the idols they have set up about it and the blood they shed
there. They are unclean and polytheists.” This was the gist of their words.

Tubba‘ saw the good of their advice and the truth of their words and so he
summoned the men from Hudhayi, cut off their hands and feet, and continued
to Mecca. There he performed the circumambulation of the building, made
sacrifice, and shaved his head. He remained in Mecca for six days, so they say,
providing sacrificial feasts for its people and giving them honey to drink. In a
dream he was shown that he should cover the building, so he clothed it with
palm fronds. Then, in another dream, he was shown that he should clothe it in
something better, so he dressed it with a Yemeni tribal fabric. Again he had a
vision that he should clothe it even better, so he covered it with fine sheets and
striped cloth. People claim that Tubba¢ was thus the first to clothe the building.
He ordered its guardians from the Jurhum tribe to clean it thoroughly and to
prevent any blood, dead bodies, or menstroating women from coming close to it.
tle also made for it a door and a key. '

On this subject Subay%, daughter of al-Ahabb, spoke the following verses for
her son Khilid b. ‘Abd Manaf b. Ka® b. Sa’d b. Taym b. Murra b. Ka® b.
Lw’ayy b. Ghalib, telling him to avoid sinning in Mecca and reminding him
what Tubba¢ had done there:

“0 my son, in Mecca neither do wrong to the young nor to the old.

Preserve its sanctity, my son, and let not conceit confuse you.

Whoever sins in Mecca, my son, meets extreme disaster.

His face, my son, shall be beaten, his cheeks consumed by fire.

T have tested this there, my son, and found those harming it perish.

God made it secure, though no towers are built in its courtyards.

God made its birds inviolate and also the white-footed crows on Mt. Thabir.
Tubba® raided it, but dressed its buildings with new, smooth cloth.
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My God humbled his power there, so he made proper sacrifice,

Walking barefoot towards it, in its courtyard,

And offering two thousand camels,

Well-feeding its people the flesh of Mahry camels and cattle,

Giving them strained honey and barley-water to drink.

And God destroyed the army of the elephants, casting rocks amongst them,
Ending their rule in far distant lands, in Persia and Khazir.

So hear when this is told, and understand how things ended.”

Ton Ishiaq continued: “Thereafter Tubba¢ left for Yemen, taking his armed
men and the two rabbis with him. On his arrival he asked his people to adopt the
religion he had embraced, but they refused until it should be put to the test of
fire as was the custom in Yemen.”

-He went on: “I was told by Abni Malik b. Tha%aba b. Abu Malik al-Qurazi
that he heard Ibrahim b. Muhammad b. Talha b. Ubayd Allah say that when
Tubba® reached the outskirts of Yemen, Himyar intercepted him and denied
him entry. They told him, ‘You shall not enter our land; you have abandoned
our faith,” So Tubba¢ called on them to embrace his new religion, proclaiming it
to be berter than theirs. They asked whether he would agree to put the issue

- between them to the test of the fire, and he agreed.”

He continued: “There was in Yemen, as Yemenis assert, a fire they would
employ to adjudicate differences; it would consume wrongdoers but not harm
the innocent. And so Tubba®’s people and the two rabbis walked to the fire site.
His people took their idols and carried their sacrificial offerings, while the rabbis
wore their sacred books around their necks. They all sat near the spot from
which the fire would emerge. When it raged towards them they drew away and
avoided it. The onlookers berated them and ordered them to endure it, and they
did so untii it enveloped them and consumed their idols and sacred objects and
those men of Himyar who carried them. But the two rabbis emerged safe, with
their holy books around their necks, unharmed though their forcheads were
sweating. Thereupon the Himyarites adopted their religion; and this was how
Judaism began in Yemen.”

Tbn Ishaq continued to report that one authority told him that the two rabbis
and the men of Himyar approached the fire only seeking to force it back, for it
was said that truth lay with him who could do this. The Himyarites approached
the fire bearing their idols to force it back, but it closed on them seeking to
consume them. So they drew away and were not able to force it back. Later the
two rabbis approached it and began reciting the Torah. The fire withdrew from
them and so they forced it back to where it emerged. Thereupon the Himyarites
adopted their religion. But God knows best which report is true.

Ibn Ishiq went on: “ They had a temple called RPam which they venerated
and where they made sacrifice; there they received oracular messages while
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engaged in their polytheistic practices. The two rabbis told Tubba¢, ‘It is just a
devil who is deceiving the people that way; let us deal with him.” Tubba® agreed
and the rabbis, so the Yemenis say, forced out from it a black dog which they
killed. Then they destroyed that tempie; and its ruins — so { have been told — still
to this day bear traces of the blood shed on it.”

In our new Tafsir (Exegesis) of the Quran we have told of the tradition coming
from the Prophet (SAAS) wherein he said, “Do not curse Tubba$ he had
become a Muslim.”

. Al-Suhayli stated that Mu%mmar related from Humam b. Munabbih from

Abi Hurayra that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “Do not curse As@d the
Himyarite; it was he who first clothed the ks%a.” According to al-Suhayli,
Tubba® spoke the following verses when the two rabbis told him about the
Messenger of God (SAAS):

“T do testify that Ahmad is a messenger from God, guiltfess his soul,

If only my life were extended up to his, I would have been a helper, a cousin to him,

I would have fought his enemies with the sword and cleared all cares from his
breast.”

These verses continued to be handed down and memorised among the angar;
they were with Abt Ayyub af-ansari, may God be pleased with him and bless
him. Al-Suhayli stated that Ibn Abt al-Dunya indicated in his Kizab al-Qubir
(Book of Grawves) that a grave was dug up at $San% in which two females were
found and along with them a silver tablet on which was written in gold, “This is
the grave of Lamis and Hubba, two daughters of Tubba‘, who died declaring,
“There is no God but God alone and without peer,’ and before them the righteous
had died saying the same.”

Later, rule passed to Hassan b. Tubbin As%d, and he was the brother of
al-Yamima al-Zarqa® who was crucified on the gate of the city of Jaw, which
from that day on was named al-Yamama.

Tbn Ishiaq continued that when Tubba®’s son Hassan b. Abi Karib Tubbin
As%d became king, he set out with the people of Yemen, wishing to subdue the
lands of the Arabs and the Persians. But by the time they were somewhere in
Iraq, the Himyarites and the Yemenites disliked going further with him and
wanted to return to their own countries and families. So they spoke to a brother
of Hassan named ‘Amr, who was there with him in the army, as follows: “Kill
your brother Hassin and we will make you king over us and you can take us
back home.” He said he would, and there was agreement about this except in
the case of Dhu Ru‘yn the Himyarite. He urged ‘Amr against this, but ‘Amr
disagreed. So Dhii Ruayn composed a poem containing the following two
verses:
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“Whoever would exchange insomnia for sleep? Happy he who sleeps in peace.
"Though Himyar has betrayed in treachery, Dhii Ru‘ayn has (God’s forgiveness.”

This poem he then entrusted to ‘Amr. When the latter did kill his brother
Hassan and returned to Yemen, he was deprived of sleep and suffered insomnia.
When he asked physicians, astrologists, soothsayers, and diviners what was
wrong, they told him, “No one has ever killed his brother or relative unjustly
without losing his sleep and suffering insommnia.” Thereupon he set about killing
all those who had encouraged him to murder his brother. Finally, he came to
Dhii Ru%@yn who told him, “T have cause for you to spare me.” When ‘Amr
asked why, he drew attention to the document he had entrusted to him. ‘Amr
then took out the verses, read them and realized that Dhii Ru‘yn had advised
him well. ‘Amr perished and Himyar’s state fell into disorder and disarray.

USURPATION OF THE THRONE OF YEMEN BY LAKHNIA DHU
SHANATIR.

He ruled there for 27 years.

Tbn Ishaq continued that a Himyarite not of the royal lines then took control
of Yemen, 2 man called T.akhni@ Yanuf Dht Shanatir. He murdered the most
prominent Yemenites and abused the country’s royal families. He was, more-
over, a most depraved man, behaving as had the people of Lot. He would send
for a royal prince and attack him in an upper chamber he had constructed for
that purpose; this was to prevent the prince from ruling after him. Eventually he
would leok down from his high chamber to his guards and soldiers below and
place a tooth-cleaning stick in his mouth to show them that he had finished with
the prince.

One day he sent for Zur% Dhii Nuwas b. Tubban As@d, the brother of Hassan,
who had been a small boy when Hassan was murdered. He had growm up to be a
fine, intelligent, and handsome young man. When a messenger came to fetch him
he realized what was in store for him, so he hid a thin metal blade between his foot
and sandal. When they were alone and Lakhni% attacked him, Dhii Nuwas fought
back and stabbed and killed him. Then he cut off his head and placed it in the
window out of which Lakhni‘ had looked below. Having placed a tooth-cleaning
stick in his mouth he then went outside. The guards called to him, “Hey there,
Dha Nuwas, fresh and moist, or all dried out?” He told them in reply to ask the
head of “Hell-bent” there in the window, and they saw that Lakhni%’s head had
been cut off. They then caught up with Dht Nuwis and implored him to be
their king now that he had spared them from the evil tyrant.

So they made him king, and Himyar and the tribes of Yemen united under
him, He was the last of the kings of Flimyar. He took the name Yasuf and ruled
for an extended period.
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In Najran there were still some remnants of followers of the religion of Jesus,
son of Mary, on whom be peace. They were people of goodness and virtue and
their leader’s name was ‘Abd Allah b. al-Thamur.

Ibn Ishiq then related how the people of Najran adopted Christianity due to
the influence of a man named Faymiyiin, a Christian from Syria. He was a man
whose prayers were answered and was accompanied by a man named Silih.
They spent each Sunday in prayer, while Faymiytin worked the rest of the week
as a builder. He said prayers for the sick, the crippled, and the disabled, and
their ills would be cured. Eventually he and his friend were taken prisoner by
bedouins and were sold in Najran. The man who bought Faymiyn was astonished
to see that when he began his prayers in the house at mght it would fili with
light.

The people of Najrin worshipped a tall palm tree, bowing down before it and
festooning it with their wives’ jewellery. Faymiyiin said to his master, “If I were
to say a prayer to (God against this tree and it were destroyed, would you recog-
nize that your religion is false?” His master agreed that he would, and gathered
all the people from Najran together. Faymiyiin then went inte his prayer-room
and asked God 1o destroy the tree. So God sent a storm that tore it up by the
roots and threw it flat on the ground. Thereupon the people of Najran adopted
Christianity and he encouraged them to follow the Gospel until they were over-
taken by the same events that affected the Christians all over the world.

That was how Christianity came to Najrin in the Arab lands.

Then Ibn Ishaq related the story of ‘Abd Allah b. al-Thamir when he adopted
Christianity at the hands of Faymiytn and how Dht Nuwis killed him and his
companions and dug the ukbkdid, the trench, for them. According to Ibn Hisham
that ukhdiad was a long trench in the ground like a ditch. Dhi Nuwis kindled
fires in it and burned these people with them; he also killed many others, to the
total of almost 20,000, as is examined at length in the study of sirat al-Buri
(LXXXYV) in our Tufsir (Exegesis) of the Quran.’ And all praise be to God!

An Account of how rule in Yemen passed from Himyar and was
transferred to the black Abyssinians.

The aforementioned events support the predictions of the two soothsayers,
Shiqq and Satih. Only one of the people of Najrén survived; his name was Daws
~ Dhii Tha9aban and he escaped on his horse in the desert and could not be
. caught. He continued travelling until he reached Caesar, the emperor of
Byzantium. Since the emperor was also a Christian, as he was, he told him what
Dhia Nuwas and his troops had done and asked his aid. The emperor replied

9. Ion Kathir, Tafsir . .., Vol. 4, pp491-7.
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that Daws’ land was very far, but that he would write 2 message to the king of
Abyssinia who was also of the same religion and whese country was closer at
hand. The emperor then wrote such a message asking him to provide help and to
seck revenge for Daws.

So Daws took Caesar’s letter to the Negus!® who dispatched 70,000 troops
from Abyssinia under the leadership of one of his officers named Aryat, along
with another named Abraha al-Ashram. Aryat crossed over the sea and reached
the shores of Yemen, accompanied by Daws. Dhii Nuwas came out to meet him
with his forces made up from Himyar and the Yemeni tribes under his control.
When they engaged, Ihit Nuwis and his men were defeated. When he realized
that disaster had befallen himself and his people, Dhii Nuwas turned his horse
to the sea and beat it until it entered the water and took him through the shallows

‘and out to the depths of the sea where he perished. Aryit entered Yemen and
took control there. At this point Ibn Ishaq records several poems by the Arabs
detailing these strange events. These poems are in fine, eloguent, vivid, and elegant
language, but we omit them here to avoid boring or wearying the reader. And
God is our helper.

An Account of how Abraha al-Ashram rebelled against, foughi, and
killed Aryat, and so assumed power over Yemen.

Ibn Tshaq stated: “Aryat remained in control over Yemen for some years but
eventually Abraha challenged him and the Abyssinian forces split into two sides.
One side moved to attack the other, but when the armies approached for battle,
Abraha sent a message to Aryat suggesting that he was wrong to pit the
Abyssinians against one another to the ultimate damage of all, and that they
should meet alone in battle, all forces then combining under the authority of the
one victorious. To this Aryat responded with agreement.

“Abraha, a short, stocky man and a devout Christian, then went out to fight
Aryat who was tall, handsome, powerfully built, and bore a javelin. Behind
Abraha was a slave named ‘Atwada protecting his rear. Aryat struck out, aiming
at the top of Abraha’s head, but his javelin hit him on the forehead and slit his
eyebrow, eye, nose, and lip; that was why he was known as al-Ashram, i.e. the
cleft-face. Then ‘Atwada advanced from behind Abraha and attacked and killed
Aryat. The forces of Aryat went over to Abraha and all Abyssinians in Yemen
united under him. Abraha then paid over the blood price for Aryat’s death.

“When this news reached the Negus, who had dispatched them both to
Yemen, he was furious at Abraha, for he had attacked and kilied his commander
without orders from himself. Then the Negus swore an oath that he would give

10. The title given to the ruler of Abyssinia (now Fthiopia).
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Abraha no respite until he had trodden his land and cut off his locks. So Abraha
shaved his head and filled a leather bag with Yemeni soil which he sent to the
Negus with a message saying, ‘O king, Aryat was merely your slave as T am. We
differed about your command; everyone owes you obedience. But I was
stronger, more effective, and more skilful than he was in managing Abyssinian
affairs. I shaved my head completely when I heard of the king’s oath and have
sent to him a bag of my country’s soil so that he may tread it underfoot and so
keep his oath.” This message pleased the Negus when he received it, and he sent
him a message that Abraha should remain in Yemen until further orders. And so
it was that Abraha did remain in Yemen.”

An Account of why Abraha attacked Mecca with elephants to put the
ka‘ba 16 waste and how God quickly destroyed him.

As God Almighty stated in the Quran, “Have you not seen how God dealt with
those who had elephants? Did he not defeat their scheme, sending flocks of birds
which cast upon them stones of baked clay, rendering them like digested chaff?”
(sirar al-Fil, CV, v.1-5).

It was said, according to al-Tabari, that the first person to tame an elephant
was Ifridan b. Athfiyan, who killed al-Dahhak. It was also he who first saddled
horses. The first person to domesticate and ride a horse, though, was
Fathamirath, who was the third of the world’s kings. It was also said that
Ishmael, son of Abraham, upon both of whom be peace, was the first to ride a
horse, and it is likely that he was the first Arab to ride. But God knows best.

Some say that, in spite of their size, elephants are scared of cats. Some army
commanders brought cats into the pitch of battle When fighting the Indians, and
so the elephants ran away.

Tbn Ishag continued: “Later Abraha buile al- Quifays church in San@, the like
of which had never at that time been seen on earth before. He wrote to the
Negus saying, ‘I built a church for you the like of which was never built for any
king before you, and I will not cease striving until T divert 1o it the Arabs’ pil-
grimage.’”

Al-Suhayli stated that Abraha sought to humiliate the people of Yemen by
building this ugly church, humbling them in a variety of ways. He invariably
amputated the hand of any labourer who arrived for work after dawn. He began
to transfer to it, from the Balqis palace, marble, stone, and splendid furnishings.
In it he erected crosses of gold and silver and pulpits made of ivory and ebony.
Al-Qullays was built very tall indeed and its spaciousness was amazing. When
eventually Abraha died and the Abyssinians dispersed, spirits would inflict evil
on anyone daring to take any of its building materials or furnishings. This was
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because the building was undertaken in the name of two idols, Ku‘ayb and his
wife. The height of each of these was 60 cubits. Consequently the Yemenis left
the church alone. It remained just as it had been up till the time of al-Saffah, the
first of the “Abbasid caliphs. He sent there a group of men of determination,
judgement, and knowledge who demolished it stone by stone; and today its
remains are completely effaced.

Ibn Ishag continued: “When the Arabs learned of and talked about Abraha’s
message to the Negus, a certain intercalator of the Kinana tribe became enraged;
the intercalators were the ones who would postpone a sacred month in Mecca,
during which warfare would have been forbidden, when they wanted to make
war. This is referred to in the Qurian: “The practice of postponing {the sacred
month) is merely further disbelief?” (sarar al-Bar@a, TX, v.37).

Ibn Ishaq went on: “This Kinanite then travelled to the al-Qullays church
and squatted down there, that is he defecated without anyone seeing, then left
and returned home. When Abraha was informed of this he demanded to know
who had done such a thing. He was told: ‘It was one of the people of that bays
(building) in Mecca to which the Arabs made pilgrimage. When he heard of
what you said of your intention to change the Arabs’ pilgrimage to this church of
yours, he became angry and so defiled it, thereby indicating that it was unworthy
of being a place of pilgrimage.’

“Abraha was enraged at this and he swore that he would go to the ka%a and
destroy it. And so he ordered his Abyssinian troops to equip themselves and
make ready, and then he set forth with his elephant. The Arabs were highly
anxious and alarmed when they heard of this and considered it their duty to do
battle with him, when they learned he wanted to destroy the £a%az, God’s sacred
edifice. A member of the Yemeni nobility named Dhii Nafr summoned his people
and those Arabs who would support him to do battle with Abraha and prevent
his destruction of the £4%a. Some did respond and they engaged in battle. Dha
Nafr and his supporters were vanquished and he himscH was taken prisoner and
brought before Abraha. When about to be killed, IDhil Nafr suggested to Abraha
that he might well be more useful to him alive than dead. So Abraha kept him
prisoner, in chains; he was a clement person.

“Abraha continued ahead to meet further adversaries and in the area of
Khath‘am came up against Nufayl b. Habib al-Khath%mi with his two allied
tribes of Shahran and Nahis, along with other Arab supporting tribes. They did
battle, Abraha won, and took Nufay] prisoner. When Abraha was about to execute
him, Nufayl pleaded for his life and offered to be his guide in the Arab territory,
guaranteeing that the tribes under him would be obedient to Abraha. So Abraha
released him and went on ahead, with Nufayl acting as guide.

“Reaching T#if, Abraha was met by Mas%d b. Mu<ttib b. Malik b. Ka®b b.
Amr b. Said b. ‘Awf b. Thaqif along with the warriors of Thaqif. They
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addressed Abraha, saying, ‘O king, we are your slaves, fully obedient to you; we
have no dispute with you and this temple of ours is not the one you want.” By
this they meant the temple devoted to the goddess al-Lat. ‘What you want is the
building in Mecca; we will send guides to take you there.” So Abraha passed
them by unmolested.”

Ibn Tshiq went on, “The temple of al-Lat was one they had there in al-T#@if
that they venerated almost as was the ka%a.

“So Thaqif sent with Abraha Abii Righal as guide to Mecca. They travelled as
far as al-Mughammis where they made a stop. It was there that Abi Righal died
and thereafter the Arabs stoned his grave; his grave is the one at al-Mughammis
that people still stone. In the story of Thamiid, Abii Righal was one of their men
who would seek refuge at the sanctuary but was struck and killed by a stone as he
feft it. Once the Messenger of God (SAAS) satd to his Companions, ‘And the
proof is that he was buried with two branches of gold.” When his grave was
disinterred, they did find them. He was said to be known as Abt Thaqif.”

The connection between this and Ibn Ishaq’s account is that the name of this
latter Abii Righal was the same as that of his ancestor and that the people stoned
his grave just as they did that of the former. But God knows best. Jarir spoke the
verse; “When al-Farazdaq dies, then may people stone his grave like they stoned
Abi Righal’s,” 11

It seems evident that he was the second.

. Ton Ishigq continued: “When Abraha made a halt at al-Mughammis he sent on
ahead to Mecca one of his Abyssinian men named al-Aswad b. Maqgstd with
some cavalry. He brought to him the possessions of the people of Tihama, from
Quraysh and others; this included 200 camels belonging to ‘Abd al-Muttalib b.
Hashim who was at that time the leader and elder of Quraysh. As a result,
Quraysh, Kinana, and Hudhayl, and all those venerating the k2%a decided to do
battle with Abraha but abandoned this idea when they learned they had
insufficient power to match him.”

Abraha then sent Hunata the Himyarite to Mecca with the following order:
“Find the leader and the most noble of these people. Then tell him that the king
says, ‘I have not come to war upon you, but only to destroy that building (the
ka‘ba). If you do not engage in warfare to prevent our access to it, then I shall have
ne need for your blood.” If he does not want war, bring him to me with you.”

When Hunita entered Mecca he asked after the leader of Quraysh. He was
directed to ‘Abd al-Muttalib b. Hashim and so passed on Abraha’s message to
him. tAbd al-Muttalib replied, “By God, we do not want war with him and have
not the power for it; this house is God’s sacred house and that of His true
follower Abraham, upon whom be peace.” He was saying in effect, “If God does

11. Yarir and al-Farazdag, who lived during the seventh to eighth centuries AD, are remembered
chiefly for their satiric verses aimed at one another.
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protect it from Abraha, then it is because it is His holy sanctuary and His house.
If he abandons it to him, then, by God, there’s no way for us to defend it.”

Hunata then told ‘Abd al-Muttalib that he must accompany him to Abraha in
accord with his orders.

So ‘Abd al-Muttalib set off along with some of his sons. Arriving at Abraha’s
encampment, he asked to see Dha Nafr, whe was a friend of his. When he met
Dhi Nafr, still in confinement, he asked him whether he had any solution to
their predicament. Dha@ Nafr replied, “How can a man havea solution when he
is a king’s prisoner and is expecting to be killed at any time? I have no advice to
give you, except to say that Unays, the elephant keeper, is a friend of mine. I will
send him a message strongly commending you and ask him to seek permission
for you to address the king. Speak to him as vou see fit, and Unays will intercede
on your behalf as well as he can.”

¢Abd al-Muttalib agreed and Dhii Nafr sent Unays the following message:
“cAbd al-Muttalib is lord of Quraysh and custodian of the well'? of Mecca; he
feeds both men in the plains and wild animals on the mountains. The king seized
200 of his camels. So seek permission for him to see the king and intercede for
him as best you can.” Unays responded that he would.

Unays then spoke to Abraha, saying, “O king, here at your door seeking
audience is the lord of Quraysh and keeper of the well of Mecca; he feeds both
men in the plains and the wild beasts in the mountains. Allow him in to see you
to discuss a matter with you.” Abraha let him in.

€Abd al-Muttalib was the most dignified, handsome, and impressive of men.
When Abraha saw him, he wanted to honour him by not making him sit below
himself. But he did not want the Abyssinians to see him sitting next to himself
on the throne. So Abraha descended, sat down on a carpet, and had ‘Abd
al-Muttalib take his place beside him. He then told his interpreter to ask why he
had come and he did so. ‘Abd al-Muttalib replied, “What I want is for the king
to return the 200 camels he took from me as compensation.”

Hearing this, the king told his translator to reply as follows: “You impressed
me when I saw you, but you displeased me when you spoke. You want to talk to
me about 200 camels I took from you in compensation, but not about the
building which is your religion and your ancestors’ religion that I have come to
destroy?”

‘Abd al-Muttalib replied, “I am the owner of the camels; the building has its
own master who will protect it.”

Abraha replied, “He won’t protect it from me.”

“Then it’s between you and Him,” ‘Abd al-Muttalib said.

And so Abraha returned his camels to ‘Abd al-Muttalib.

12. The reference is to zamzam, the holy well in Mecca.
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Ibn Ishaq stated that when he went in to see Abraha, ‘Abd al-Muttalib was
accompanied by Ya‘mur b. Nafatha b. ‘Adi b. al-Dil b. Bakr b. ‘Abd Manat b.
Kinana, leader of Bani Bakr tribe, and Khuwaylid b. W#ila, Jeader of Hudhayl.

These men offered Abraha one-third of the produce of Tihama if he would
withdraw and not destroy the building. But Abraha refused their offer. And
God alone knows whether or not that happened.

When they left Abraha, ‘Abd al-Muttalib went to report to Quraysh and told
them to retreat from Mecca to defensive positions in the mountains. Then ‘Abd
al-Muttalib took hold of the metal door knocker of the ka%a and stood there
with a group of men from Quraysh praying to God and asking His help against
Abraha and his troops. As he stood holding the £4%a door knocker, ‘Abd
al-Muttalib recited the verses:

“0 God, Your worshippers protect their homes, so protect Your building,
Let not their cross and their power vanquish Yours tomorrow
H You should leave them free with cur ¢ib/z,' then that is what You will.”

Ion Hisham said that these were what he found to be the authentic verses of
this poem.

Tbn Ishaq reported that ‘Abd al-Muttalib then released the ke%ba door-knocker
and went off, along with his men of Quraysh, to the mountain peaks, taking up
defensive positions and waiting for whatever Abraha might do.

Next morning Abraha prepared to enter Mecca, readying his elephant and
equipping his troops. The elephant’s name was Mahmiid. When they directed
the elephant towards Mecca, Nufayl b. Habib came close to it, took its ear and
told it, “Kneel down, then go back to where you came from. Here you are in
God’s holy land.” Then he released the elephant’s ear and it knelt.

According to al-Suhayli this means that the elephant fell to the ground, since
it is not in the nature of elephants to kneel; although it has been said that some
elephants do kneel like camels. God knows best.

Nufayl b. Habib hurried off into the mountains. Abraha’s troops beat the
elephant to make it stand up, struck its head with axes, and stuck hooks into its
hide until it bled. But it refused to stand. Then they turned it to face towards
Yemen, and it got up and moved in a hurry. When they directed it towards Syria
and then towards the east it did the same. But when they turned it towards
Mecca it knelt again.

Then God sent against them birds from the sea like swifts and crows, each
one of which carried three stones, one in its beak and one in each claw. The
stones were like chickpeas and lentils. Every soldier hit died, but not alf were
struck.

13. The gibla is the direction, usually indicated by a decorated niche in the wall of a mosque, to
which Muslims turn in prayer, towards the ka%a, that is.
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So they retreated in haste along the road by which they had come, calling out
for Nufayl b. Habib to lead them on the way back to Yemen. About this situation
Nufayl spoke these verses:

“Greetings to you from us, O Rudayna. How much we have gladdened our eyes
this morning!

Rudayna, had but you seen, but may vou see not, what we saw at Me. Muhassab.

Then you would have forgiven and praised me, and not felt ill will at what passed
between us.

I praised God to see the birds, and feared that a stone be cast upon me.

While all called out for Nufayl, as though I owed the Abyssinians some debt.”

Tbn Ishag continued, “So down they scrambled by any path, dying randomly
where they went. Abraha was struck on his body and they carried him away as
his fingers dropped off one by one. As they fell pus and blood emerged. When
they got him 1o San4 he was like a baby bird. He finally died when his heart
burst from his chest. Or so they say.”

Ibn Ishiq went on to relate that Ya‘giib b.Utba told him that it was reported
that measles and smallpox were seen for the first time in Arab lands that year.
Also that that was the first year bitter plants were observed there: the African
rue, the colocynth, and the Asclepias gigantea.

Ibn Ishiq commented that when God sent Muhammad (SAAS) one of the
actions he enumerated as God’s grace and bounties upon Quraysh was His
having repelled the Abyssinians and saved Quraysh for posterity. And so God
spoke in the Qusan, “Have you not seen how God dealt with those who had
elephants? Did he not defeat their scheme, sending flocks of birds which cast
upon them hard stones of baked clay, rendering them like digested chaff?”
(sitzrat al-Fil, CV, v.1-5).

At this point both Ibn Ishiaq and Ibn Hisham go into interpretations of this
chapter and the one that follows it. I have dealt with this in my Tafsir (Exegesis)™*
in all sufficiency, God be willing, and to Him is due all praise and credit.

Ibn Hishim stated that the word alabiabil, flocks, means groups; the Arabs
used no singular form for this noun that we know. He also stated that regarding
that the Arabs used it to mean “very solid”. Some commentators claim that the
latter is really two Persian words made into one by the Arabs, they being sany
and jill. The first of these means “stone”, the second “clay”, so the combination
word would indicate something made of both of these. The word “saf in the
Qur’an passage quoted above means vegetation foliage that has not been chewed.
Al-Kis2’1 said that he had heard from a grammarian that the singular of the word
al-ababil is ibbil.

14. Ton Kathir, Tafs# . . ., Vol. 4, pp548-53.
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Many early authorities interpreted this word a/-zbgb#/ to mean birds that follow
one another hither and thither in groups.

According to Tbn ‘Abbas they had beaks hike those of birds but paws like those
of dogs.

Tkrima said that their heads were like those of lions which emerged at them
from the sea and that these were green.

Ubayd b. “Umayr said that they were black sea-birds bearing stones in their
beaks and claws. '

According to Ibn ‘Abbas they were similar in form to the griffins of North
Africa. He also maintained that the smallest stones they had were like human
heads, some as big as camels. That is what Yiinus b. Bukayr said on the author-
ity of Tbn Ishaq. It is also said they were small — but God knows best.

Tbn Abi Hatim said that he was told, by Abt Zur%, Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah
b. Abfi Shayba, and Abii MuSGwiya, from al-A%mash, Abii Sufyan, and Ubayd
b. ‘Umayr, that when God wished to destroy those with the elephant He sent
upon them birds like swifts that were raised up from the sea. Each bird carried
three stones, two in its claws and one in its beak. He said the birds came, lined
up over their heads, screeched, and dropped what was in their claws and beaks.
Each stone that fell on a man’s head exited through his behind and each stone
that fell on one side of a man exited from the other. God also sent a fierce gale
which struck the stones and increased their velocity. And so they were all killed.

But, as Ibn Ishaq has stated abeve, not all were struck by the stones. Some did
return to Yemen to tell their people of the disaster that befell them. And it was
also said that Abraha, God curse him, went back, his fingers dropping off one by
one, and that when he reached Yemen his chest burst open and he died.

Ibn Ishiq related that ‘Abd Allah b. Abni Bakr told him, on the authority of
‘Amra, that ‘A”ishal® said, “I saw the elephant’s keeper and guide in Mecca, both
blind and crippled, begging for food.” As mentioned above, the keeper’s name
was Unays, though no name was given for its guide. But God knows best.

Al-Naqgqash stated in his Qur’an exegesis that a torrent bore away their bodies
into the sea. Al-Suhayli said that the events of the elephant occurred on the first
day of Muharram, year 886 of the era of Dha al-Qarnayn (Alexander the Great).

And I add that it was the same year that the Messenger of God (SAAS) was
born, as is generally known. It is also said, however, that these events preceded
his birth by some years, as we will report, God willing, and in Him we trust.

Here Ibn Ishaq mentions the poetry recited by the Arabs on this great occasion
on which God rendered His sacred house victorious, wishing it to be honoured,
respected, purified, and dignified through the mission of Mubammad (SAAS)
and through the true religion He legislated to him. One of the elements of this

15. A’isha was the daughter of Abii Bakr and became the wife of the Prophet.
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religion, indeed one of its pillars, is prayer, the direction of which would be
towards this sanctified ka%a. What God did then to the elephant’s army was not
a victory for Quraysh over the Abyssinian Christians; the Abyssinians were at
that time closer to it (i.e. to victory from God) than the polytheist Quraysh. The
victory belonged to the sacred house and served to set the foundation and pave
the way for the missicn of Muhammad (SAAS).

Included in this poetry are the verses of ‘Abd Allah b. al-Ziba‘ra al-Sahmi:

“They fled in terror from Mecca’s interior, its sanctuary undisturbed for ages past;

Sirius had created no nights inviolate since not even one of the mightiest of men
could ever aspire to attack it.

Ask the Abyssinian prince what he saw of it; he who has knowledge of it shall
inform the ignorant.

Sixty thousand men did not return to their land, even their sick did not live after
their homecoming.

Ad and Jurhum were there before them, but God held it high above all men.” *

Abi Qays b. al-Aslat gl-ansari al-Madani also spoke verses on the subject:

“God’s work it was the day of the Abyssinians’ elephant; many times did they urge
it on, but it didn’t budge;

Their hooks were under its sides and they slashed its trunk until it tore.

They used a knife instead of a whip; when they aimed it at its back it was badly
wounded.

So it turned and ran away, and those there did fail for their evil.

God sent a gale down upon them, overwhelming them as if they were dwarves.

Their priests urged fortitude but they screamed like bleating sheep.”

Abq al-Salt Rabi‘a b. Abii Rabi%a Wahb b. ¢Allaj al-Thaqafi spoke the following
verses, though I'bn Hisham attributed them to Umayya b. Abt al-Salt:

“Our Lord’s signs are manifestly clear, only disbelievers doubting them.

He created night and day and all clear, its reckoning determined.

Then a merciful Lord makes clear the day with a sun of spreading rays.

He kept the elephant at al-Mughammis until it crawled as though hamstrung.

Kneeling down like a camel, and still, as if it were cirved out of 2 rock from the
mountain.

Around it heroes from among the kings of Kinda, eagle-like lords in wars

They left it, then all fled in fright, each with a broken leg.

All religions except Abraham’s al-Hanifa are null in God’s sight on Judgement Day.”

Abu Qays b. al-Aslat said also:

“Arise and pray to your God, cleansing yourself at the pillars of His house between

the rugged mountains.
From it you had a certain calamity on the day of Aba Yakstim [Abraha, tr.], leader
of the phalanges:
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His élite walks on the plain, his troops on their camels at the mountain heights.

When you received victory from the Owner of the Throne, hosts of angels repelled
them, casting soil and stones.

Quickly they turned in flight; and of the Abyss;ruans all who returned were
injured.”

Also among such verses is the one of ‘Ubayd Allah b. Qays al-Rugayvat
extolling the greatness of the kg%a and its protection through the destruction of
those wishing it harm:

“Split-face (Abraha) attacked it, coming with his elephant, but his army turned
back, defeated.

Birds rained stones down upon them until he was like a man being stoned.

Whoever attacks that place returns with his armies defeated, humitiated.”

Ibn Ishiq and others reiated that upon the demise of Abraha, his son Yaksiim
assumed power, followed by the latter’s brother Masriiq b. Abraha. He was the
last of their kings and it was from him that Sayf b. Dhu Yazan of Himyar
wrested the kingship with the aid of troops he brought from Chosroe
Anftishirwan, as we shall relate. The events with the elephant occurred in the
month of Muharram, in the year 886 in the era of Dhi al-Qarnayn, Alexander
son of Phillip, the Macedonian, after whom the Greeks count their calendar.

Abraha and his two sons having died and Abyssinian rule over Yemen having
ended, ail-Cuilays, the temple Abraha had built, in his ignorance and stupidity,
as a substitute for the Arab pilgrimage, was abandoned and left unattended. He
had constructed over it two wooden idols, Ku%yb and his wife, each one 60
cubits high. These idols were invested by spirits, and consequently anyone
chancing to take anything from the temple building or its furnishings would
come to harm. This continued to be the case until the time of al-Saffah, the first
of the ‘Abbasid caliphs. When he was told about it and all its marble and
furnishings that Abraha had brought from the Balgis castle in Yemen, he sent
people to disassemble it stone by stone and to take away all its contents. That is
how al-Suhayh related it; God knows best.

An Account of the reversion of the kingship from the Abyssinians to
Sayfb. Dhii Yazan the Himyarite, just as the two soothsayers had
predicted to Rabia b. Nasr, the Lakhmite.

Muhammad b. Ishaq, God have mercy on him, said that when Abraha died, his
son Yaksiim b. Abraha became king over the Abyssinians. Abraha’s agnomen
was Abii Yaksum, ie. the father of Yaksim. Then, when Yaksiim died his
brother Masrq b. Abraha became the Abyssinian king over Yemen.
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Ultimately, the people of Yemen having so long suffered in misery, Sayf b.
Dht Yazan, the Himyarite, became rebellicus. His genealogy was Sayf b. Dha
Yazan b. Dhi Asbah b. Malik b. Zayd b. Sahl b.“Amr b. Qays b. Mu%wiya b.
Jashm b. €‘Abd Shams b. W21 b. al-Ghawth b. Qutun b. ‘Arib b. Zuhayr b.
Ayman b. al-Hamaysa® b. al-‘Aranjaj, the last being Himyar b. Sab#’. Sayf was
also known as Aba Murra.

He made his way to the Byzantine emperor and complained to him of the
state of affairs in Yemen, asking him to oust the Abyssinians and appoint him
governor there. He suggested the emperor send from Byzantium whatever
troops he thought necessary for this purpose and so himself would become king
of Yemen, The emperor dechined.

So Sayf went to al-Nu‘man b. al-Mundhir, who was Chosroe’s vice-regent
over al-Hira and the neighbouring territories in Irag, and complained to him
about the Abyssinians. Al-Nu‘min responded that every year he sent an official
delegation to Chosroe, and invited Sayf to stay with him until then. Sayf
agréed.

Sayf later did accompany al-Nu‘man, who tock him in to see Chosroe, seated
in the chamber where his crown was kept. His crown was like a large grain
bucket and was, so they say, set with rubies, chrysolites, pearls, gold, and silver,
suspended by a gold chain from the dome of his audience chamber. His neck did
not bear the crown; he was kept hidden by a cloth until he sat down there. Then
he would put his head into his crown. When he was thus positioned on his
throne, the cloth would be removed. All who saw him for the first time would
kneel down in awe of him. ,

When Sayf entered he bowed his head down low, and the king commented,
“It is really stupid to come in through such a tall doorway and bow one’s head
down so low!”

When this remark was transmitted to Sayf, he responded that he had only
done this out of his preoccupying distress that overwhelmed all else. He then
went on to say, “O king; crows have taken charge of our country!”

“What crows?” Chosroe asked, “the ones from Abyssinia or from Sind?”

“Frem Abyssinia. I’ve come to ask your help; and you shall have kingship
over all our land.”

Chesroe replied, “Your country is far away, and its riches meagre. I'm not
going to embroil an army from Persia in Arabia. I don’t need that.”

He then presented Sayf with 10,000 pure-minted dirhams and a robe of
honour. Having received these, Sayf went outside and began distributing the
money to people. When the emperor heard of this he wondered why, and so sent
for him and asked him why he was throwing away a king’s gift to people.

Sayf replied, “What else am I to do with your gift? Are not the mountains of
my country made of gold and silver?”
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He said this to arouse Chosroe’s interest. So Chosroe then assembled his
advisers and asked their counsel about Sayf and his mission. They reminded
him of the presence in his gaols of prisoners he had condemned to death and
suggested he send them with Sayf. For if they were killed that was what Chosroe
had intended for them anyway, and if they triumphed his own domain would be
expanded.

Chosroe therefore sent off with Sayf eight hundred men from his prisons and
placed them under the command of a man named Wabhriz, an elder of the highest
repute and ancestry. They set sail in eight ships, of which two sank; so six ships
eventually arrived on the coast of Aden.

Sayf gathered together all his own men he could to help Wahriz, saying, “My
leg is with yours tll we all die or all wiumph.” Wahriz replied that that was fair,

Masrtiqg b. Abraha then came out with his troops to meet them in battle.
Wahriz sent his own son out to do combat and test their mettle. Wahriz’s son
was slain; this increased the anger and hatred the father had for them.

When the enemy troops were positioned on the battlefield, Wahriz asked his
men to indicate which was their king. They pointed to a man on an elephant
with a crown and wearing a ruby between his eyes. He saw him and told them
not to attack him,

For some time nothing was done. Then Wahriz asked what the Abyssinian
leader was doing now. They told him he was now on a horse. Again Wahriz told
them not to attack him, and for long they waited. Eventually Wahriz asked after
the king and was told he was now on a mule. “So”, Wahriz commented, “on an
ass’s filly, is he? He has humbled himself and his domain. I’ll take a shot at him.
If you see his companions not moving, then stay still till I give you further
orders, for I will have missed the man. But if you see his people crowding
around him and not advancing, I shall have hit him. In that case, you advance at
them.”

With that he braced his bowstring; they say his bow was so stiff only he could
brace it. He then had his eyebrows tied back and let the arrow fly. He split the
ruby between the king’s eyes and the arrow pierced right through his head and
emerged from its back. He was knocked off his mount, and the Abyssinians
milled around him in confusion. The Persians charged and the Abyssinians were
defeated, being killed or flecing in all directions.

Wahriz advanced to enter San‘a’>. When he reached its gateway he insisted
that his banner could never enter in a lowered position, and that they should
therefore demolish the gate. This was done and he went inside with his banner
held high. Sayf b. Dhal Yazan then said:

“People thought the two kingdoms had united.
If some had really believed it, then the matter would be serious and grave.
We killed the general Masriig and spilt blood on the sandhills.
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The new general, Wahriz, the people’s general, swore an oath
Not to drink wine before taking prisoners and booty.”

Arabs from Hijaz and elsewhere came in delegations to Sayf, praising him
and congratulating him that the kingship had gone to him. Quraysh seat such a
delegation and its number included ‘Abd ai-Mugtalib b. Hashim. Sayf gave him
the glad tidings of the coming of the Messenger of God (SAAS) and informed
him of what he knew about him. Details of this will be given hereafter in the
chapter related to the predictions of his coming.

According to Tbn Ishaq, Aba al-Salt b. Rabi% al-Thaqafi spoke the following
verses. However, Ibn Hisham attributed them to Umayya b. Abt al-Salt.

“Let vengeance seckers be like Ibn Dhii Yazan, who took to the sea and for ages
sought a way to his enemies,

Going to Caesar when his journey seemed right, but ﬁndmg there none of what he
sought.

Then he turned after ten years to Chosroe, disregarding his life and the cost

Until he came bringing a band of free men; how quickly you sped!

What a fine group of men; I never saw their like before.

Persian braves, mighty warriors, archers, like lions raising their cubs in the forests,

Their bows shooting arrows like kowdah poles, swiftly dispatching their enemies.

You sent lions against black dogs, their prey defeated and lost in the land

So drink up, enjoy your crown, and settle at the top of Ghumdan’s palace as your
permanent home.

Those were fine deeds. They were not two pails of milk mixed with water and later
turning to urine!”

It is said that-Ghumdan mentioned here was a palace in Yemen built by Ya‘rub
b. Qahtin; it was owned after him by W#ila b. Himyar b. Sab2. It was reputed
to be 20 storeys high. God knows best.

Ton Ishaq relates that ‘Adi b. Zayd al-Hiri, of the Banii Tamim, spoke these
verses,

“What after Sana’? There lived governors of abundant gifis.

Its buildcrs raised it high to the scattering clouds, its chambers musk-scented.

-Guarded by the mountains against the enemy hordes, its heights unscalable.

The hooting of owls pleasingly answered at night by the flute players.

Irate led there the army of free men, their knights in procession,

Crossing the desert on mules bearing death, accompanied by their foals,

Until the princes saw them from the castle heights, their divisions armour—clad,

The day they shouted at the barbarians and ai-Yakstm, ‘Damn all who flee!’

A day long remembered, when a prosperous way of life ended which had been
secure,

A day when the one was replaced by the many, so times change, many the marvels,

After the Tubba® kings came noblemen whose satraps held quiet sway there.”
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According to Ibn Hisham this is what Satih meant when he said, “Iram Dha
Yazan will follow, emerging from Aden to fight them, and he will leave not one
of them in Yemen.” This is also what Shigq meant by saying, “a young man,
guilt-free and faultless, who will emerge from the line of Dhti Yazan.”

Ibn Ishaq’s account states, “So Wahriz and the Persians stayed in Yemen.
And the abn@'® who live in Yemen today are descendants of these Persian
troops.”

The rule of the Abyssinians in Yemen, lasting between Aryit’s arrival and the
death of Masriiq b. Abraha at the hands of the Persians and the removal of the
Abyssinians, was 72 yecars. Their dominion was passed through four rulers,
Aryat, then Abraha, then Yaksiim b. Abraha, and finally Masrtiq b. Abraha.

An Account of how Persian rule in Yemen ended.

Tbn Hisham’s account states that eventually Wahriz died and Chosroe appointed
his son al-Marzuban b. Wahriz over Yemen; when he died, Chosroe appointed
the latter’s son al-Taynujan. Later Chosroe exiled al-Taynujan from Yemen and
appointed Badhan to the rule; it was during his reign that the Messenger of God
(SAAS) was appointed to his mission.

ibn Hisham also relates that he was informed, on the authority of al-Zuhri,
that the [atter said that Chosroe wrote the following to Badhan, “f am told thata
man from Quraysh has appeared in Mecca claiming to be a prophet. Travel to
him and seck his repentance. If he repents, well and good. Tf he does not, send
me his head!”

Badhin sent Chosroe’s message to the Messenger of God (SAAS) who
replied, “God has promised me that Chosroe will be killed on such and such a
day and month.” When this response was brought to Badhan he came to a halt
and waited, saying, “If indeed he be a Prophet, it will occur as he said.” And
God did kill Chosroe on the day foreseen by the Messenger of God (SAAS).

According to Tbn Hisham he died at the hands of his son Shirawayh. Others
state that his sons joined forces to kill him.

This Chosroe was by name Abrawiz b. Hurmuz b. Anushirwan b. Qabbadh.
It was he who defeated the Byzantines, as referred to in the Almighty’s words in
the Qurian, “A.L.M. The Romans have been defeated in the closest land” (s@rat
al-Riam, XXX, v.1-3). This will be explained later.

According to al-Suhayli his death occurred the night of Tuesday, the tenth of
Jumada al-Ula, of the year 9 AH. What happened, it is thought, though God

16. The word in Arabic means “sons”. Originally it was used in this context to refer to the off-
spring of the Persians who accompanied Sayf b. Dhii Yazan to Yemen. Then the term became
more loosely used to refer to those whose mothers were not from the same race as their fathers.
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alone knows, is that when the Messenger of (God (SAAS) wrote to Chosroe
inviting him to accept Islam, he became enraged, tore up the letter and then
wrate his own instructions to his governor in Yemen.

Some accounts report that the Messenger of God (SAAS) replied to Badhan’s
emissary with the words, “This night my Lord has killed your lord.” And it was
as he said, Chosroe being killed that very same night by his sons as a result of his
having changed from justice to tyranny. Having deposed him they appointed his
son Shirawayh in his place. But he only lived on for six months or less after he
had murdered his father.

Khalid b. Hiqq al-Shaybani spoke the following verses on this:

“And there was Chosroe, sliced up by his sons with swords as if he were meat.
One day fate did bring him to term; is there not a term for every pregnant
mother?”

Al-Zuhri added that when news of Chosroe’s death reached Badhin, he sent
word to the Messenger of God (SAAS) of the acceptance of Islam by himself
and the Persians along with him. His Persian envoys asked, “To whom do we
belong, Messenger of God?” He replied, “You are from us and to us, the people
of the House.” According to al-Zuhri, that was why the Messenger of God
(SAAS) spoke the words, “Salman is of us, the people of the House.”

It seems that this was after the emigration of the Messenger of God (SAAS)
to Medina. He therefore sent his commanders to Yemen to inform people of
what was good and to call upon them to believe in God, the Almighty and
Glorious. First he dispatched Khalid b. ai-Walid and Ali b. Abu Talib; later
Abt Musd al-Ashri and Mu%dh b. Jabal followed them, and Yemen and its
people accepted Islam.

Badhan died and his son Shahr b. Badhan ruled after him. It was he whom
al-Aswad al-‘Ansi killed after al-Aswad had pretended prophecy and taken
Shahr’s wife, as we will report, and expelled from Yemen the deputies of the
Messenger of God (SAAS). When al-Aswad was killed the authority of Islam
returned.

Ibn Hisham stated that it was he whom Satih had meant by his words, “A
Prophet pure to whom revelation comes from the All-high.” He was also meant
by Shiqq when he said that Persian rule would be “brought short by a messenger
dispatched, who will bring forth truth and justice among a people of religion and
virtue, in whom power shall reside until the Day of Separation.”

Tbn Ishaq states also that there was, so they claim, a stone inscription in
Yemen, from the Book of Psalms, dating from ancient times which read, “Who
rules Dhamar? Himyar the Good. Who rules Dhamar? The evil Abyssinians.
Who rules Dhamar? The free Persians. Who rules Dhamar? Quraysh the
merchants.”
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A poet’s words on this subject are recorded by al-Mas‘adi as follows, “When
Dhamar was named, it was asked, “To whom do you belong?’ “T'o Himyar the
good’, came the reply. Asked to whom next, the reply came, “To the Abyssinians
most vile.” “T'o whom next?’ it was asked, and “To the free Persians’ came the
reply. ‘T'o whom next?’ it was asked, and “T'o the merchants of Quraysh,’ came
the reply.”

It is said that these verses quoted by Muhammad b. Ishiq were found
inscribed at the grave of Hiid, upon whom be peace, when the wind exposed his
tomb in Yemen. That was shortly before the time of Balgis, in the days of
Milik b. Dha al-Manar, brother of ‘Amr Dhii al-Adh4r b. Dhii al-Manar. Tt is
said also that it was inscribed on Hud’s tomb and that those were his own
words.

It is al-Suhayli who related this; God knows best.

The Story of al-Satirtin, King of al-Hadr

His story was related at this point by ‘Abd al-Malik b. Hisham because of what
certain scholars of genealogy had stated in connection with al-Nu%man b.
al-Mundhir, mentioned above. They related that when Sayf b. Dhii Yazan went
to al-Nu‘man and asked him for help in regaining control over Yemen, it was
stated that al-Nu‘man had descended from al-Satiran, king of al-Hadr.

We earlier stated from Ibn Ishaq that al-Nu‘man b. al-Mundhir was of the
line of Rabi% b. Nasgr, and that it was reported from Jubayr b. Muttim that he
was a descendant of Qanag b. Ma‘d b. ‘Adnan. These are, then, three state-
ments on his genealogy, and Ibn Hisham went on to tell about the king of
al-Hadr.

Al-Hadr was a great fortress built by that king, whose name was al-Satirtin,
on the banks of the Euphrates. It was positioned high up and built tall and very
spacious, its accommodations being like those of a large town. It was extremely
well fortified and decorated in the utmost luxury, splendour, and good taste; it
received taxes from all the surrounding areas.

The genealogy of al-Satirtn, as given by Ibn al-Kalbi, was al-Dayzin b.
Mu%wiya b. Ubayd b. Ajram, from the tribe of Sulayh b. Hulwan b. al-Haf b.
Quda‘a.

Others said that he was of the al-Jaramiga, one of the Tawa’if kings whom he
used 1o lead when they gathered to make war against one of their enemies. His
fortress was between the Tigris and the Euphrates.

Tbn Hisham went on to state that Chosroe Sabiir Dhu al-Akeaf attacked
al-Satirtn, king of al-Hadr.

Someone other than Ibn Hisham stated that the one who attacked the king of
al-Hadr was Sabur b. Ardashir b. Babik, the first of the Sassanian kings, who
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humiliated the Taw#if kings and returned control to the Chosroes. Sabtir Dht
al-Aktaf, this authority claims, came a long time afterwards. God knows best.
That information comes from al-Suhayli.

Ibn Hisham’s account continues, “And Sabiir besieged al-lladr for two
vears.” Others say four years.

His reason for doing this was that al- Satlrun had attacked Sabtir’s territory
during the latter’s absence in Iraq. The daughter of al-Satirin, whose name was
al-Nadira, looked down and saw Sabiir dressed in silk garments and wearing a
gold crown studded with topaz, emeralds and pearls; and he was handseme. So
she secretly sent him a message asking if he would marry her if she opened the
fortress gate for him. He replied that he would.

That evening al-Sitirin drank wine tiil he was drunk; he was always drunk
when he went to bed. Then she took the fortress keys from beneath his head and
gave them to a servant of hers who opened the gates. Another account states that
she directed Sabiir’s people to a wide water channel through which they entered
al-Hadr. Yet another version has her telling them of a spell over the fortress;
they knew it would not be conquered until a grey pigeon was taken, its feet dyed
with the menstrual fluid of a blue-eyed virgin, and then released. If it dropped
on the walls of the fortress the spell would be removed and the gates would
open. Sabir did this, and the gates did come open.

So Sabuir went inside, killed al-Satirun, confiscated al-Hadr and then
destroyed it. Then he took al-Nadira away with him and married her. While
sleeping at night in bed, she began tossing and turning and could not sleep.
Sabir had candles brought and they searched her bed, in which they discovered
one myrtle leaf. Sabiir asked her if that was what had kept her awake, and she
replied that it was.

Sabar asked her how her father had treated her. She answered, “He furnished
me with silk brocade, dressed me in silk, gave me the choicest food!” to eat and
wine to drink.”

Sabiir commented, “And then you treated him the way you did! You’d do the
same to me quicker!”

Then he tied her tresses to the tail of a horse and it galloped away until she
was killed.

A%ha Bani Qays b. Tha%aba composed these verses about this:

“Consider al-Hadr and its people’s ease; but do blessings last forever?

Shahbar kept his troops there two years, striking it with their adzes.

And when he gave prayer to his Lord, and repented, He tock no revenge.

Did his Lord provide him extra power, and was there ever the like of his castle?

17. In the original the text reads, “gave me brain as food to eat”. Cooked brain was considered a
delicacy.
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He had appealed to his people, ‘Come io your task; it is set;
Die nobly with your swords; I see death is ordained for those so fated.” ”

Also ‘Adi b. Zayd spoke the following verses in this regard,

“Al-Hadr was afflicted from above by a dreadful, terrible, huge calamity

Drue to a maiden who did not protect her father when he was delirious and off his
guard;

She gave him much evening wine, undiluted, which he drank abundantly. And
wine deludes, its imbiber never quenched.

That night she surrendered her people, believing the (enemy’s) chief would marry
her,

But next morning the bride’s reward was blood running in streams,

AlTladr was ruined and confiscated; her chamber was fired and its contents
burned.”

‘Adi b. Zayd also recited the verses,

“O malicious blamer of fate, are you guilt-free and perfect?

Or has time promised you a solid pledge to be ever safe? Indeed you are stupid and
conceited.

Or whom did you see fate made immortal, and who had a watchful gnard lest he be
harmed?

Where now is Caesar Anushirwin, the king of kings, or where Sabiir before
him?

The noble Banu Asfar, kings of Byzantium, not one of them remains remembered.

And al-Hadr’s lord, built by him, with both the Tigris and the al-Khabr rivers
made to flow to it,

Of marble built and plaster adorned, with birds nesting in its heights,

Unsuspecting of misfortune, yet all state now gone, its gates deserted.

Remember the lord of al-Khawarnaq,'® who set forth one day, though right guidance

requires thought. :

His wealth and properties delighted him, the sea was his command, and his palace
al-Sadir,

Yet his heart was converted and he said, “What joy for the living to death pro-
gressing,

Then becoming like leaves dried and tossed by the wind and breezes?’”

The man referred to in the verses above as the ‘lord of al-Khawarnaq’ was a
king of by-gone days who had been warned by a learned man of his time about
his conduct and practices. The king had exceeded his bounds, become arrogant
and self-willed, and followed his own instincts unbridled. The learned man
warned him by reference to the kings and states that had preceded him, how

18. He is referring to al-Nu‘man, king of al-Hira, who owned the two palaces of al-Khawarnaq
and al-Sadir. He is mentioned frequently in the poetry of the pre-Islamic era.



IMAM ABU AL-FIDA? ISMA4 L IBN KATHIR 37

they had gone without a trace, and that nothing he took from others would not
be transmitted from him in turn to those following him. This advice had impact
and influence on him, and he was converted, giving thought to both his present
and past and to the constraints of the grave. So he repented, returned to the faith
and changed his ways. He abdicated, dressed himself as 2 mendicant, went off
into the wilderness and the desert, and enjoyed solitude, shunning that pursuit
of the senses and disobedience to the Lord of the Heavens followed by most
people.

His story was told in extensive detail by the Sheikh and Imam Muwaffaqg b.
Qudama dl-Magdisi, may the Almighty have mercy on him, in his book
Al-Tawwabin (The Repentants). Similarly, the hafiz Abn al-Qasim al-Suhayh
reported it, thoroughly documented, in his book A-Rawd al-Unuf (The Virgin
Meadomws) which is clearly written and well organized.

An Account of the Tawaif kings,

Regarding the ruler of al-Hadr, Satiriin, he was, as previously explained, con-
sidered a precursor to the rest of the Taw@if (‘factions’) kings. He lived at the
tume of Alexander, son of Phillip of Macedonia, the Greek. This came about
when Alexander defeated the king of the Persians, Darius son of Darius.
Alexander subjugated Darius’s kingdom, destroyed his fand, arrested the best
of his people, expropriated his produce, scattered the Persians to the winds,
and determined that they should never thereafter join together and unite their
forces.

So he began appointing a separate king over each group of people in any given
area, Arabs and non-Arabs alike. Thereafter each of these kings would protect
his own area, preserve his own allotment, and exploit his own region. When one
king died, he would be succeeded by his son or by some other one of his people.
This system prevailed for about 500 years.

Eventually, in the time of Ardashir b. Babik of Bant Sasan b. Bahman b.
Asfandiyar b. Yashtdsib b, Lahrisib, their kingdom returned to its former
condition. Ardashir took over, rejoined the petty kingdoms altogether in one,
and ended the rule of the Taw@if kings; so not a trace of them remained.

Ardashir delayed besieging the oldest-established, greatest, and most powerful
of these kinglets, the ruler of al-Hadr, since he was their leader and precursor.
When Ardashir died, his son Sabiir turned his attention to al-Hadr and besieged
it until he conguered it, as sold above. And God, all Glorious and Almighty,
knows best.



38 THE LIFE OF THE PROPHET MUHAMMAD

An Account of the sons of Ishmael who were the Arabs of Hijaz, and of
events of the jahihiyya period up to the time of the Mission.

We have already, in a previous work," given an account of Ishmael, upon whom
be peace, along with the Prophets. Tt tells of how his father Abraham, upon
whom be blessings and peace, bore him away with his wife Hajar and made them
to dwell in the Mecca valley between the mountains of Faran, an unpleasant and
desolate place. Ishmael was still unweaned at the time. Then Abraham went
away and left them there, God having commanded him to do so. Ishmael’s
mother had nothing except a leather bag containing dates and a skin-bottle with
water in it. When that was exhausted, God made the well zamzam flow for
Hajar, it being a tasty sustenance for the hungry and a cure for the sick, as is
related in the long kadith of Tbn ‘Abbas recorded by al-Bukhari, God have mercy
on him. :

Later, Jurhum, who were a group of the original Arabs who were descended
from the ancient Arab tribes, settled near Hajar in Mecca, with no right 1o the
water except for their own drinking and use. Hajar felt comfortable and secure
with them.

Abraham, peace be upon him, kept an eye on them all the time; it is said he
would ride his horse, al-Buraq, on his journeys to and from Jerusalem.

Later, when the boy became a youth and he would busy himself with his
father, the issue of making sacrifice arose, the sacrifice being in reality
Ishmael.

When Ishmael grew up, he married a woman from Jurhum, then left her and
married another, the daughter of Mudad b. ‘Amr al-Jurhumi. She bore him
12 sons whose names have been mentioned before. These were: Nabit, Qaydhar,
Adhbul, Misha, Misma®, Mashi, Dimma, Adhar, Yatar, Nabsh, Tima, and
Qaydhumi. These are as given by Muhammad b. Ishaq and others using written
sources. He also had one daughter whose name was Nasma; it was she he
married to his nephew al-“Tsti b. Ishdg b. Abraham. From her were born to him
al-Ram and I"aris, and also al-Ashbin, in one of the two accounts.

The Arabs of Hijaz, with all their different tribes, are traced in their genealogy
to Ishmael’s two sons Nabit and Qaydhar. After Ishmael, the governor and
ruler-in-chief of Mecca and the custodian of the temple and of the well zamzam
was Nibit, cousin through his mother to the Jurhumites.

Later the Jurhumites gained control over al-bayt (the ka‘ha), being jealous of
their relatives, and ruled in Mecca and the aress around it for a long time in
place of Ishmael’s line. The first to gain control after Nabit was Mudad b. ‘Amr
b. Sa‘d b. al-Raqib b.¢Aybar b. Nabt b. Jurhum.

19. Tbn Kathir, el-Bidzya wa al-Nihgya (The Beginning and the End), Vol. 1.
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Jurhum was the son of Qahtan. His line was also given as Jurhum b. Yaqtun
b. ‘Aybar b. Shalikh b. Arafkhshud b. Sam b. Nah al-Jurhumi. The Jurhumites
settied in the heights of Mecca, at al-Qufayqgi%n.

Al-Samnayda¢, leader of Qattr® had settled with his people in the lower part of
Mecca. The Jurhumites and Qattr®, charged a tax on all who passed by them on
their ways to Mecca.

Ultimately warfare broke out between the tribes of Jurhum and Qatur?.
Al-Samayda® was killed, and full power over Mecca and a/-bayt thus were gained
by Mudad. The descendants of Ishmael did not contend with him despite
their large numbers, respected position, and the diversity of their locations
throughout Mecca and its surroundings; this was due to their family ties to them
and to the majesty of the sacred bayt.

After Mudad, pewer went to his son al-Harith and then to his son, ‘Amr.

Later Jurhum acted wrongfully in Mecca and corruption there spread.
People came to disrespect the sacred mosque. It is even said that one of their
men, named Isaf b. Baghi, and a woman named N#ila, daughter of Wa’il, met
inside the ka%a and that he committed fornication with her. And so God
turned them into two rocks which the people set up near the temple as a warning
to others. After a great deal of time had passed, these two rocks became the
object of worship aside from God, during the period of Khuzi%. This will be
further explained later. These becarne two idols set on high and named Isaf and
Narila. '

When the misdeeds of Jurhum in the sacred land grew worse, Khuza%, who
had settled near the sanctuary, arose against them. They, Khuza%, were of the
line of ‘Amr b. ‘Amir who had left Yemen because of what he expected would
occur with the ‘Arim torrent, as we have related above. It is also said that
Khuza% traced their descent to Ishmael’s sons. God knows best.

Anyway, Khuza% did join together to fight Jurhum and they engaged in
battle; the descendants of Ishmael sided with neither party.

Khuza%, being the tribe of Bakr b. ‘Abd Manat and Ghubshan, gained victory
and ousted them from the ka%a.

‘Amr b. al-Harith b. Mudad al-Jurhumi, their leader, made off with the
ka‘ha’s two gazelles, made of gold, the cornerstone, the ‘black stone’ that is, as
well as decorated swords and other items, and buried them all in the well
zamzam, which he filled with earth. Then he and his people moved out, back to
Yemen.

On this subject ‘Amr b. al-Harith b. Mudad composed the following:

“Her tears flowing and her eyes red and sore, in grief she said

‘It’s as though between al-Hajiin and al-Safi there has never been a friend, and no
evening pleasure in Mecca.’

So I told her, my heart made to flutter as though by a bird between my ribs:
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“Yes indeed; we were its people but changing times and evil misfortunes destroyed
us,

We were custodians of the ka%a after Nabit, circling it around, our fine state
clear.

We took charge of the temple after Nabit with dignity, the wealthy gaining no
favour with us.

We had power and prestige, so be proud of our reign, no tribe there more proud
than us.

Did you not marry a woman to Ishmael, the finest man I knew, so his descendanis
are from us, and we are his relatives.”

So what if the world turn against us? Life has its turns and tribulations

It was the king, the almighty ruler, who used his power to oust us; thus, O people,
do the fates decree.

If the carefree sleep and I not vest, then I say, ‘O enthroned one, why did Suhayl
and ‘Amir die?’ '

In exchange for them T got faces 1 dislike, tribes including Himyar and Yuhabir.

‘We were despised, after having been in delight, passing years thus biting us.

Tears flowed from eyes weeping for a land with a secure and sacred place and
shrines,

Weeping for a place whose pigeons are left unharmed, living safe there, and sparrows
too.

In it wild animals are safe and may leave it without fear — they would never be
attacked.”

According to Ibn Ishaq, ‘Amr b. al-Hirith b. Mudad also spoke as follows
addressing Ban@ Bakr and Ghubshan who came to power after themselves in
Mecca:

“O people, move along; your end is that one day you will not be able to move.

Urge on your mounts, release their reins before your death, and do with us what
vou will do.

We were people as you were; fate changed us; you will become as we became.”

Ibn Hisham stated that these verses were the ones he found to be genuine.
And a certain authority on poetry told me that these verses are the first poems
spoken by the Arabs and that they were discovered inscribed on rocks in Yemen,
their author’s name not being given.

Al-Suhayli recorded companion verses to this poetry, telling along with them
a strange tale and peculiar chants. He said that Abn al-Walid al-Azraqi, mn his
book Fad@il Mecca (The Virtues of Mecca), added to the above-mentioned verses
by ‘Amr b. al-Hgrith b. Mudad the following:

“Fate has turned against us and destroyed us through injustice there, our people
plundering others.

Ask about the deeds of others before you, so that the path of disgrace be made clear.

Once before you we were kings over people, living resident in God’s sanctuary.”
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The Story of Khuza‘a and an account of ‘Amr b. Luhayy and the
worship of idols in Arab lands.

According to Tbn Ishaq, Ghubshan of Khuzaa governed the ka‘ba instead of
Banii Bakr b, ‘Abd Manit; the first of these new rulers was ‘Aror b. al-Earith the
Ghubshani. At that time Quraysh were migrants, living in small settlements and
little encampments scattered about among their people, Bant Kinana.

Khuza% were so-named because they rakhazzai, separated, from the men of
‘Amr b. “Amir when they came from Yemen on their way to Syria. Khuza%
stopped in Marr al-Dhahran and settled there.

On this subject ‘Awn b. Ayytb al-Ansari and thereafter al-Khazraji spoke the
following verses:

“When we went down into the vale of Marr Khuza% ‘separated’ from us into small
groups of people;

They occupied every valley of Tihdma, secking protection by their solid spears and
sharp-pointed swords.”

Abii al-Mutahhir Isma‘ii b. Rafi¢ al-Ansari al-Awsi said:

“When we went down to the vale of Mecca Khuza% gave praise to the house of the
intolerant eater

Taking residence in small villages and riding off in separate groups to all settlements
in high land and low.

They ousted Jurhum from the vale of Mecca, wrapping themselves in strong-
backed Khuza‘ pride.”

So Khuzi4 took control of the ka‘ba, inheriting that rule by primogeniture
until the last of them, Hulayl b. Hubshiyya b. Salal b. Ka% b. ‘Amr b. Rabi%
al-Khuza®i. It was his daughter Hubba who got married to Qusayy b. Kilab; to
him were born his four sons ‘Abd al-Dar, ‘Abd Manaf, ‘Abd al-‘Uzz3, and ‘Abd.
Eventually he gained control over the ka%a, as 1 will later explain in detail if
God Almighty wills it, and in Him is all trust.

Khuza% continued controlling the temple some 300 years; some say 500, and
God knows best. Their period of rule was damned, because it was during their
period that idols were first worshipped in Hijaz.

This came about because of their leader ‘Amr b. Luhayy, God curse him; it
was he who first influenced them towards idol worship. He was a man of enormous
wealth. They say he gouged out the eyes of 20 camels to show that he owned
20,000 of them. :

It was a custom among the Arabs that anyone who came to own 1,000 camels
should gouge out the eyes of one of them. By doing this he would avert the evil
eye of malicious envy from them. Al-Azraqi was one of those who related this
practice.
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According to al-Suhayli, in the time of /-k4jj, the pilgrimage, he probably
sacrificed 10,000 animals and awarded 10,000 sacerdotal garments per year. He
would feed the Arabs, preparing for them food of dates mixed with butter and
honey, and give them barley wine to drink. They say that his word and deed
were like law among them, due to his generosity, and to the high regard and
deep respect they held for him.

Tbn Hisham states that a learned man told him that ‘Amr b. Luhayy once left
Meccea for Syria on business and reached Ma%3b in the Balga® region. There at
that time lived the ‘Amaliq, the sons of Imliq or, as some say,Tmliq b. Lawadh
b. Sam b. Niih. ‘Amr witnessed them worshipping idols, so he asked them why.
They replied that if they asked the idols for rain it came, or for victory they won
1t

¢Amr then asked them to give him an idol he could take to Arab lands where it
could be worshipped, and they gave him one named Hubal. This he brought to
Mecca and set on a pedestal and ordered the people to worship and venerate it.

According to ITbn Ishiqg, people claimed that the first to worship idols were of
the tribe of Ishmael. They did so because as they started to travel outside Mecca,
having felt constrained and overcrowded there and secking living-space else-
where, they would always carry with them a stone from the sanctuary to
venerate the shrine. Wherever they settled they would put down the stone and
circumambulate it as they would the £4%a. Eventually they took to worshipping
any stone that pleased or inspired them, thus reverting to pagan ways and
neglecting the religion they had followed.

In the sahék collection we find a statement from Abu Raj@ al-‘Utaridi as follows:
“In the pre-Islamic period, if we found no rock then we would gather up a pile
of dirt, bring a goat, milk it on to the pile, and then circumambulate it.”

Ibn Ishaq’s narration goes on: “And they substituted another religion for that
of Abraham and Ishmael, upon both of whom be peace, worshipping idols and
following the false ways of the people before them.”

Nevertheless they did maintain some of the practices of the era of Abraham,
upon whom be peace. These included venerating the £4%a, circumambulating
it, going there for pilgrimage and visitation, mounting the hills of “Arafat and
Muzdalifa, making sacrifice and invoking God’s name at both pilgrimage and
visitation and at the same time introducing innovations.

The tribes of Kinana and Quraysh would make the cry, “Labbayka,
Allzhumma, labbaykal At your service, O God, at your service! At your service;
you have no partaer except one who is yours. You rule him, he rules not.”

They would affirm His unity in their invocation and then include reference to
their idols as well while asserting that He had power over them. God Almighty
stated to Muhammad (SAAS), “Most of them do not believe in God without
associating others” (sarar Yasuf, X1, v.106). This meant, “they do not state My
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unity cut of knowledge of My right unless they also ascribe to me some associate
of My own creation.”

Al-Suhayli and others state that the first to utter this prayer was ‘Amr b.
Luhayy and that Satan appeared before him as an old man and taught him that.
‘Amr would listen as he recited it, then say as he had. And the Arabs followed
his lead in so reciting.

And it is established in al-Bukhari’s sgfif collection that the Messenger of
God (SAAS) would say “Qadi. Qadi”, when he heard people recite the words,
“At your service, O God, you have no partner.” That meant: “Enough right
therel” -

Al-Bukhari stated that Ishiq b. Ibrahim related o him, quoting Yahya b.
Adam, quoting Isr2’l, from Abu Hafs, from Abu Hurayra, that the Prophet
(SAAS) said, “The first person to set slaves free and also to worship idols was Abn
Khuza%a ‘Amr b. ‘Amir and I have seen him dragging his intestines in hell-fire.”
Ahmad (sic) is unique in giving the account thus.

This account necessitates that ‘Amr b. Luhayy was Abtl Khuza%, all the tribe
being traced back to him, as some genealogists maintain, according to Tbn Ishag
and others. Had we been left with only that one account, then it would be plain
as it stands, even to be considered documentary. But other accounts exist which
contradict it in some ways.

Al-Bukhari stated that Abfli al-Yaman told him that Shu‘yb told him from
al-Zuhri that the latter heard al-Musayyab say, “Albakire is the camel that is
not milked by anyone, since its milk is left for the idols; and #/-s@*7ba is the camel
that does not carry anything since it is set aside for their gods.”

Abu Hurayra stated that the Prophet (SAAS) said, “I saw ‘Amr b. ‘Amir
al-Khuza1 dragging his insides in hell-fire; he was the first person who set loose
the al-s#®iba camels.”

Al-Bukhari also relates it thus, and Muslim too, from a tradition from Salih b.
Kisan, from al-Zuhri, from Sa‘id and back to Abii Hurayra.

Then al-Bukhari states that Tbn al-F{ad passed it on from al-Zuhri,

According to al-Hakim, al-Bukhari meant that Ibn al-Hadd recounted it from
‘Abd al-Wahhab b, Bukht from al-Zuhri. That is what he stated.

Ahmad related it from ‘Amr b. Salama al-Khuzay, from al-Layth b. Sa‘d, from
Yazid b. al-Had, from al-Zuhri, from Sa‘id back to Aba Hurayra, who said that
he heard the Messenger of God (SAAS) state: “I saw ‘Amr b. ‘Amir dragging his
insides in hell-fire; it was he who first let loose the saw@ib (pl. of s@*iba) and who
bahara, set aside the milk of, the bahira camels.”

‘Abd al-Wahhab b. Bukht was mentioned by neither of these authorities,
though he was by al-Hakim. God knows best. :

Ahmad also said that ‘Abd al-Razzaq related to him, quoting Ma‘mar, from
al-Zuhri, from Abt Hurayra who said that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said:
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“T saw “Amr b. ‘Amir al-Khuza‘i dragging his insides in hell-fire, and it was he
who first let loose the saw@sh.” _

This tradition, as given, is missing a link of transmission. The correct chain
would be to include al-Zuhri as having received it from Sa‘id, as above.

Use in this tradition and the previous one of the term #/~-Khuza% in the name
indicates that he was not the founder of the tribe but rather named after it. Also
the use in the narration of the term Ab# Khuza%, the father of Khuza%, as farther
above, is a slip of the pen by the traditionalist for Akku# Khuza‘a, brother of
Khuza‘a, or an indication that he was given the nickname Abli Khuzi%. Use of
this last term could not be intended as informing us that he was father of the
whole Khuza% tribe; God knows best.

Muhammad b. Ishaq said that Mubammad b. Ibrahim b. al-Harith al-Taymi
related to him that Aba Salih al-Samman told him that he heard Abu Hurayra
say that he heard the Messenger of God (SAAS) say to Aktham b. al-Jawn
al-Khuza‘i: “O Aktham, I saw ‘Amr b. Lubayy b. Qama% b. Khindif dragging
his insides in hell-fire and I never saw two men more alike than you and he.”
Aktham replied, “Maybe this resemblance to him is harmful to me, O
Messenger of God?” He answered, “No; you are a believer while he is a disbeliever.
It was he who first changed the religion of Ishmael, who set up idols, who set
aside al-bahira camels’ milk for the idols, established certain animals as free from
burden-bearing, disallowed sacrifice of the male of twin goats, or considered certain
stallion camels free from work.”2® There are no traditions to this effect in the
“books,” i.e. the canon.Z! '

Ibn Jarir related this same tradition in similar words from Hannad b. ‘Abda,
from Muhammad b. ‘Amr, from Abu Salama, from Aba Hurayra, back to the
Prophet (SAAS). And this tradition too is not in the “books™.

Al-Bukhari said that Muhammad b. Abii Ya‘qub Aba ‘Abd Allah al-Kirmani
related to him that Hassiin b. Tbrahim told him, quoting Yanus from al-Zuhri,
from ‘Urwa that ‘A%sha said that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “I saw hell
with its denizens beating one another and I saw ‘Amr dragging along his insides;
it was he who first set loose the a/-s2/ba camels.” Al-Bukhari alone reported this
hadith.

What 1s meant here is that ‘Amr b. Luhayy, God curse him, introduced certain
innovations into the religion by which he changed the religion of Abraham. The
Arabs imitated him in adopting these and thus strayed far off, in ways that were
deplorable and atrocious.

Almighty God had expressed disapproval of these things in various verses of
His unassailable Quran. The Almighty stated: “And do not speak lies with what

20. Sce sarat al-MPida, V, v.103.
21. He is referring to the canonical sources of law based on aurhenticated traditions.
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your tongues describe, saying: “This is Jawful’, and, ‘this is unlawful’, thus
falsely attributing lies to God” (s@ras al-Nahl, XVI, v.116). The Almighty also
said, “Ciod has not ordained the bakira, the s@iba, the wasila, or the hami. But it
18 those who disbelieve who falsely attribute lies to God. Yet most of them do
not understand” (s@rat al-Maide, V, v.103).

I have elsewhere elaborated on all this and shown how the earlier authorities
differed among themselves in explaining that. Those who wish may find it
there;* and to God all praise and goodwill.

The Almighty also said, “And they put aside for what they know not a portion
of what We have provided for them. By God, you will surely be questioned
about what you have been falsely attributing” (sizrat al-Nakl, XVI, v.56).

The Almighty stated as well, “And they set aside for God a portion of the
crops and livestock He bestowed on them and said, “This is for God!” by their
assertion, and, “This is for our associate gods!’ So that which is for their
associates does not reach God, while what was God’s does reach their associates!
Evil is what they judge. Likewise, these associates have deemed appropriate for
many of the polytheists the killing of their children; this is to destroy them and
distort their religion. Had Ged not wished, they would not have done so. So
ignore them and what they invent. They said: “These are animals and produce
that are sacrosanct. None but whom we say shall taste them.” This they claim,
and, “These are animals whose backs are sacrosanct.” And, “These are animals over
whom God’s name shall not be invoked.” These are falsehoods attributed to God
and He will punish them for their inventions. And they said, ‘What is within the
wombs of these animals is specifically for our menfolk and forbidden for our
wives’, whereas if it be stillborn then they are all partners in it. God will pun--
ish them for their characterizations. He is wise, all-knowing. Lost are those who
killed their children foolishly and without knowledge, and who proscribed what
God has endowed them with, atiributing falsehood to God. They had gone
astray, and they were not rightly guided” (s#rar al-An‘am, VI, v.136-40).

In his sakih collection, al-Bukhiri stated, in his chapter entitled: “The Arabs
before Islany” that Abii al-Nu‘man and Aba ‘Awana both related to him on the
authority of Abu Bishr, from Sa‘id b. Jubayr, from Ibn ‘Abbas who said: “If it
please you to know the ignorance of the Arabs before Islam, then read those
verses coming after verse 130 in sizrar al-Anam: ‘Lost are those who killed their
children foolishly and without knowledge and who proscribed what God has
endowed them with, attributing falsehood to God. They had gone astray, and
they were not rightly guided’” (V1, v.140).

We have given explanation for this verse and how they used to innovate with
foolish and 1mmoral laws, which their leader ‘Amr b. Lubayy, God damn him,

22. Tbn Kathir, Tafsir .. . Vol. 2, ppl07-9..
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had thought gave some benefit and kindness to animals. In this he was a liar and
a cheat, '

Yet despite this folly and error, those silly and ignorant people did follow his
lead. In fact they followed him into errors even more grievous and serious than
these, namely in worshipping idols along with God the Almighty and Glorious.

They thus brought changes into the true religion and straight path God had
sent down to Abraham, His true companion, which is worship of God alone
without associate, and proscription of polytheism.

They changed the ceremonies of the pilgrimage and the tenets of the religion
without knowledge or proof or directives either strong or weak. In this they
behaved similarly to those of the polytheist peoples who had preceded them.

They were like the people of Noah. These were those who first associated oth-
ers with God and who worshipped idols. For this reason God sent Noah to
them. He was the first messenger sent to turn people from worship of idols, as
we learn from Neah’s story in the Qurian: “And they said: ‘Do not abandon
your gods; do not forsake Wadd, Suwa¥, Yaghath, Ya‘q, and Nasr’; many did
they lead astray. Give evil-doers increase of nothing but their error!” (sarat Niig,
LXXI, v.23-4).

Ibn ‘Abbas said that these were persons of virtue from among Neah’s people;
when they died people would attend their graves and eventually came to worship
them. We have previously given enough information about their worship
practices? to obviate need for its repetition here.

According to Ibn Ishiq and others, having made these changes to the religion of
Ishmael, the Arabs continued having idols. Bana Kalb b. Wabra b. Taghlib b.
Hulwan b. <Imrén b. al-Haf b. Quda4 had an idol named Wadd. It was set up in
Dumat al-Jandal. At a place called Ruhat there was Suwaf, idol of the Banii
Hudhayl b. Tlyas b. Mudrika b. Madar. Yaghiith was the idol for Banti Anfam
from Tayy?, and for the people of Jurash from Madhhij. It was set up at Jurash.
Also there was Yaiiq in the land of Hamdan in Yemen, used by Bant Khaywin,
a tribe of Hamdan. In the land of Himyar was Nagr, belonging to a tribe called
Dhau al-Kula.

Ibn Ishaq goes on to report that Khawlan had in their land an idol called ‘Amm
Anas. They would, it is said, set aside part of their crops and livestock for
division between it and God. Whatever of (God’s portion came into the share of
‘Amm Anas they would leave for the latter, while if any set aside for ‘Amm Anas
went into the portion set aside for God, they would retrieve it for “Amm Anas. It
was zbout them that God revealed, “And they set aside for God a portion of the
crops and livestock which He had bestowed upon them” (s#rat al-An‘am, VI,
v.136).

23. Tbn Kathir, Tafsir . . ., Vol. 4, ppd26, 427.
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Banii Milkan b. Kinana b. Khuzayma b. Mudrika had an idol named Sa%d, a
tall rock in open desert in their territory. One of their men took a herd of his
camels to stand near by there to receive the idol’s blessing, so they say. But
when the camels, which were for meat and not riding, saw the idol stained with
the blood of sacrifices, they shied away and scattered in all directions. Their
owner became enraged and picked up a rock and threw it at the idol, saying,
“May God not bless you; you caused my camels to flee from me!” Then he
went off to find them and round them up. When he had done so, he spoke the
verses: :

“We came to Sa'd for him to put us all together, but Sa‘d scattered us; so we are not
of Sa‘d.

Is Sa‘d anything but a stone in the desert offering no praver for anyone, whether
misled or rightly guided.”

Ibn Ishaq went on to report that Daws had an idol belonging to ‘Amr b.
Humama al-Dawsi. Moreover Quraysh had emplaced an idol over a well inside
the £a%a whose name was Hubal. As previously stated; Ibn Hisham reported it
to have been the first idol set up by ‘Amr b. Luhayy, God curse him.

Tbn Ishaq goes on to state that they adopted Isaf and N#%ila as gods, emplaced
near zamzam, where they would make sacrifice to them. He reports that they
were 2 man and a woman who had sexual intercourse in the £a%a, and so God
transformed them inte two rocks.

Ibn Ishaq went on to state that ‘Abd Allzh b. Abi Bakr b. Muhammad b.
‘Amr b, Hazm reported that ‘Amra quoted ‘A’isha as saying, “We always heard
that Isaf and N#’ila were a man and a woman of Jurhum who fornicated in the
ka‘ba, so God, Almighty and Glorious, turned them both into stone.” God
knows best.

And it has also been said that God did not postpone their punishment until
they had fornicated there, but that He transformed them before the deed and
that thereafter they were set up on the mountains of al-Safa and al-Marwa.
When it was the time of ‘Amr b. Luhayy, he placed them both at zemszaem and
people began circumambulating them.

On this subject Aba Talib spoke the verse:

“Where the Ash@rtn kneel their mounts, where the streams flow from Isaf and

Naul.”

Al-Wiqidi reported that when the Messenger of God (SAAS) ordered the
destruction of N#@ila, the day he conquered Mecca, there emerged from it a
black woman with grey hair tearing at her face, lamenting and wailing loudly.

Al-Suhayli has said that Aja and Sulmg, which are two mountains in Hijaz,
were in fact named after a man named Aja b.‘Abd al-Hayy who fornicated with
Sulma, daughter of Ham, and that they were both turned into idols in these
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mountains that were named after them. He also said that between Aja and Sulma
Tayy? had an idol named Qals.

Ibn Ishag’s account goes on to say that the peopie of each house had an idol they
would worship there and that if a man were to journey he would touch the idol
before mounting. This was also what he would begin by doing upon his return
before he went inside to his family. When Ged sent Muhammad (SAAS) with
the message of the unity of God, Quraysh said, “He has made the gods into one
god! How very strange!”

Ton Ishag went on to relate that along with the £4%a the Arabs vencrated tawaghit.
‘These were buildings they honoured in much the same way as they did the ka%a.
They had custodians and priests, and offerings weuld be made to them just as to
the ka%a, along with the rituals of circumambulation and blood sacrifice. But
they still recognized the precedence of the £a%a over them because it was the
building and mosque of Abraham, God’s true companion, peace be upon him.

Quraysh and the Bant Kinana had an idol named al-“Uzza at Nakhla and
Banti Shayban of Sulaym were its custodians and priests; they were allies of
Bant Hashim. Khalid b. al-Walid destroyed it when he conquered them, as we
shall relate.

Al-Lat was the idol for Thaqif at al-T2if and its custodians and priests were
Bano Mu%ttib from Thagif. Abt Sufyan and al-Mughira b. Shu‘ba destroyed it
after the people of al-T#if accepted Islam, as we shall relate later.

Manzt was the idol of the tribes of al-Aws and al-Khazraj and the people of
Medina who shared their religion in the coastal region, towards al-Mushallal in
Qudayd. Abt Sufyan destroyed it also. Some say it was ‘Ali b. Aba Talib who
did it, as we will relate.

Dhi al-Khalaga was an idol of Daws, Khath%@m, and Bajila and the Arabs in
their territory of Tabila. It was called “the southern (Yemeni) £2%a”, while the
one in Mecca was known as the “northern (Syria, Shami) £e%a”. Jarir b. ‘Abd
Allzh al-Bajli destroyed it, as we will explain.

Qals was an idol of Tayy? and those two nearby mountains, meaning Aja and
Sulmi, famous mountains referred to above.

RPam was a temple of Himyar and the people of Yemen, as above related in
the story of Tubba¥, one of the kings of Himyar, and the story of the two rabbis
when they destroyed it and killed a black dog that came from it.

Rud® was a temple of Bant Rabi% b. Ka% b. Sa'd Ibn Zayd Manat b.
Tamim. About it al-Mustawghir Ka® b. Rabi‘ b. Ka® spoke the verse:

“I struck Rud® so violently I left it a ruin i a black plain.
And ‘Abd Allah helped in destroying it, and with the like of ‘Abd Allah sins are
obliterated.”
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Tt is said that this al-Mustawghir lived for 330 years, he being the longest-
lived of all Mudar. It was he who spoke the lines:

“I have wearied of life and its length; T have lived for years in their hundreds;

One century was followed by two more, adding up the years from all the many
months.

Is what is left anything but like what we spent? Days and nights pass and urge us

on.”

According to Ibn Hisham these lines should be attributed to Zuhayr b. Janab

~b. Hubal.

Al-Suhayli stated that the persons who lived longer than two or three hundred
vears include this Zuhayr, Ubayd b. Shariyya, Daghfal b. Hanzala al-Nassaba,
al-Rabi¢ b. Draba¢ al-Fuzari, Dhii al-Isbat al-‘Adwani and Nasr b. Dihman b.
Ashja® b. Rayth b. Ghatfan. The hair of this last-mentioned blackened after it
had turned white, and his back became straight after having been crooked.

Ibn Ishaq’s account continues, indicating that Dha al-Ka%it was an idol of
Bakr and Taghlib, the two sons of W21, and Iyad at Sandad. Concerning it
A%hi of Banti Qays b. Tha‘laba spoke the verse:

“Between al-Khawarnaq, al-Sadir, Barig, and the temple with battlements at
Sandad.” '

The first part of this poem 1s as follows:

“I have learned, even if I lived longer, that one’s path is that followed by the
ancients.

What can I hope after the Al Muharriq have left their homes and after lyad
too?

They settled at Anqara, where Tigris water flowed to them, coming from the lofty
mountains,

The land of al-Khawarnaq, al-Sadir, and Barig, and the house of temples of
Sindad.

The winds stormed over the sites of their dwellings, as though their time were
predestined,

And I see that pleasure and all things enjoyed turn to decay and end.”

According to al-Suhayli, al-Khawarnaq was a palace built by al-Nu“man the
Elder for Sabtr so that he could have his children there in it with him. It was
designed by a man named Sinammar over 20 years. No finer building than it had
ever been seen. Al-Nu‘min feared that Sinammar might build a similar one for
others, so he cast him down from its heights and killed him. A poet therefore
- spoke the following lines about him:

“He recompensed me, may God give him His worst punishment, as Sinnamar was
recompensed, and he was guiltless.
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Except his striving on the building for twenty years with the best bricks, saffron
and ceramics.

And when the building was complete and it towered Iike a mountain or a difficult
height

He threw down Sinammar on to the top of his head; that being, by God, one of the
most ignominious acts ever done.”

Ai-Suhaylt stated that al-jahiz recited it in his Kitab al-Hayawan (Book of
Animals). The word al-Sinammar is one of the names of the moon. What is
implied here is that all such houses were destroyed when Islam came. The
Messenger of God (SAAS) dispatched troops of his men to each of these palaces
to destroy them, and he sent to those idols men who broke them to pieces.
Ultimately nothing remained to rival the £z%a, and God was worshipped alone
and without associate. All this will be explainéd in detzil in its place, if God
Almighty wills it, and in Him there is trust.

An Account of “Adnan, Forebear of the Arabs of the Hijaz from whom
the line goes down to the Prophet (SAAS).

There 1s no question of ‘Adnan being of the line of Ishmael, son of Abraham,
upon both of whom be peace. What dispute there is relates to the number of
forebears there were from ‘Adnin to Ishmael according to the various
sources.

At one end of the spectrum, there is the extreme view that considers there to
have been forty; this is the view of Christians and Jews who adopted it from the
writings of Rakhiya, the clerk of Armiya (Jeremy) b. Halqiya, as we will relate.

Some authorities maintain there were thirty, others twenty, yet more fifteen,
ten, nine, or seven.

It has been said that the lowest estimate given is for four, according to the
account given by Miisz b. Ya‘qub, on the authority of ‘Abd Allah b. Wahb b.
Zum®a al-Zuma®i from his aunt, and then from Umm Salama who stated that
the Prophet {SAAS) said that the line was: “Ma‘%d b. ‘Adnan b. Adad b. Zand b.
al-Yara b. A%aq al-Thara”.

According to Umm Salama this Zanad was al-Hamaysa¢, al-Yara was Nabit,
while A‘raq al-Thara was Ishmael. This was implied because he was Abraham’s
son; for Abraham was not consumed by hell-fire, since fire does not consume
moist earth, the meaning of g/~thara.

Al-Dargatni stated that he knew of no “Zand” except the one in this tradition,
and Zand b. al-Jawn, who was Abt Dalama the poet.

Abi 2l-Qasim al-Suhayli and other Tmams stated that the time lapse between
¢Adnan and Ishmael was too great for there to have been only four, ten, or even
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twenty generations between them. That, they said, was because the age of Ma‘ad
son of ‘“Adnan was twelve at the time of Bukhtunassar (Nebuchadnezzar).

Abii Jafar al-Tabari and others related that Almighty God sent a revelation at
that time to Armiy® b. Halqiya’ telling him to go to Bukhtunassar to inform him
that God had given him rule over the Arabs. And God commanded Armiy? to
carry with him Ma‘d b. ‘Adnan on the horse al-Buraq so that they would not
bear him any rancour saying, “For I shall draw forth from his loins a noble
Prophet by whom 1 shall seal the prophets.”

Armiy? did that, bearing Ma%d on al-Buraq to the land of Syria where he
grew up among the Jews who remained there following the destruction of the
temple at Jerusalem. There he married 2 woman named Ma%na, daughter of
Jawshin of Bant Dibb b. Jurhum, before returning to his own land. He returned
after unrest had quictened down and accord prevailed in the Arabian peninsula.
Rakhiya, Armiya®’s scribe, wrote his master’s genealogy down in a document he
had there which was to go into Armiya’’s library; and he similarly preserved the
genealogy of Ma‘d. But God knows best.

And this is why Milik, God bless him, did not enthuse over the attempt at
tracing genealogy back to before ‘Adnan.

Al-Suhayli commented further, “We have merely discussed tracing back
these lines to accord with the school of thought of those scholars who favour and
do not disapprove of it, men such as Thn Ishiq, al-Bukhari, al-Zubayr b. Bakkar,
al-Tabari, and others.”

As for Milik, God have mercy on him, he expressed disapproval when asked
about someone tracing his descent back to Adam and commented: “Whence
comes to him knowledge of that?” When he was asked about tracing back to
Ishmael, he expressed similar disapproval, asking, “Who could provide such
information?” Malik also disliked tracing the genealogy of the prophets, such as
saying, “Abraham son of so-and-so”. Al-Mu‘yti stated this in his book.

Al-Suhayli commented also that Malik’s viewpoint was analogous to what was
related of ‘Urwa b. al-Zubayr who is reported to have said, “We have found no
one who knows the line between ‘Adnan and Ishmael.”

It is reported that Tbn ‘Abbas said, “Between ‘Adnan and Ishmael there were
30 ancestors who are unknown.”

Ibn ‘Abbas is also reputed to have said when he traced back lines of descent as far
as ‘Adnan: “The genealogists have lied. Twice or thrice.” And that (scepticism)*
is even more characteristic of Ibn Mas<id, whose (attitude) was like that of Ibn
‘Abbas.

Umar b. al-Khattab stated, “We carry back the genealogy only as far as
‘Adnan.”

24. Translator’s interpretation.
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Abt ‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-Barr stated in his book Al-Anb@?® fi Ma%rifar Qab@il
al-Ruwah (Facts Concerning Knowledge of the Tribes of the Transmitiers) that Ton
Lahi‘ related from Abii al-Aswad that he heard “Urwa b. al-Zubayr say, “We
never found anyone who knew genealogy back past ‘Adnin, nor past Qalitin,
unless they were using conjecture.”

Abll al-Aswad stated that he had heard Abd Bakr Sulaymin b. Aba
Khaythama, one of the very most knowledgeable men of the poetry and the
genealogy of Quraysh, say, “We never knew anyone with information going
back beyond Ma‘%d b. ‘Adnan, whether relating to poetry or other knowl-
edge.”

Abid WUmar said that there was a group of the predecessors including ‘Abd
Allah b. Mas@d, ‘Amr b, Maymain al-Azdi, and Muhammad b, Ka% al-Quradhi
who, when they recited the verse from the Qurian “and those after them
whom no one but God knows” (sitrat fbrahim, X1V, v.9) would comment, “The
genealogists lied.”

Abti Umar, God have mercy on him, stated, “We hold the meaning of this to
differ from their interpretation. What is implied is that regarding those who
claim to enumerate Adam’s descendants, ne one knows them except God who
created them. But as for the lines of descent of the Arabs, the scholars conver-
sant with their history and genealogy were aware of and learned by heart about
the people and the major tribes, differing in some details of that.”

Abii Urnar continued to state that the leading scholars regarding the genealogy
of ‘Adnan gave his descent as: “‘Adnan b. Udad b. Mugawwim b. Nihaur b.
Tayrah b. Ya%ub b. Yashjub b. Nibit b. Ishmael b. Abraham, peace be upon the
latter two mentioned.” And this is how Muhammad b. Ishag b. Yasar gave it in
the Prophet’s biography.

Ibn Hisham stated, ““Adnan is said to be the son of Udd”, meaning that he
was ‘Adnin b. Udd b. Udad.

Thereafter Abti ‘Umar listed the remainder of the lineage back to Adam.

As for the genealogies of the other Arab tribes back to ‘Adnan, these are
preserved and well known and no two people conilict about them.

The genealogy of the Prophet (SAAS) back to ‘Adnan is incontestably clear,
as evident as the break of day. A verbatim kadith marfii**® has been reported to
support that. We will give it in the appropriate place, after discussion of the
Arab tribes and reporting their genealogies and how these were accurately
arranged into the lines of lofty and noble descent. All this, if God Almighty wills
it, and in Him we trust and depend; there is no power and no strength except in
God the Powerful, the Wise.

25. This term denotes a tradition that is traceable in ascending order of authorities back to the
Propher Muhammad. See Glossary.
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Nothing could be finer than the verses stating the Prophet’s genealogy by Imam
Abt al-“Abbas ‘Abd Allah b. Muhammad al-Nash? in the famous poem ascribed
£0 him as follows:

“I praised the Messenger of God, secking by praising him a plenttude of the best of
rewards for myself;

1 praised a man beyond praise, unique in his qualities, far beyond others far or near,

A Prophet whose light shone high in places east, his gifts apparent to the people of
places west.

The prophets brought him to us before his coming, news of him spreading on all
sides.

The foretelling divines began calling his name, using it to fend off the impact of
misleading ideas.

Idols were given voice declaring to God their innocence of those who told the
untruths.

They spoke in clear words to the unbelievers, ‘A prophet has come to you from
Lwayy b. Ghalib.

And evil spirits wanted to eavesdrop but shooting stars scattered them from their
seats.

He led us to where we would never have found our way, so iengthy was our blindness
to clear philosophies. .

He brought evidences showing that they were signs from one Almighty in reward
and pumishment

One of which was the splitting of the moon in two, mountain tops then being covered
as if by a turban by the moonbeams.

And another was the rising of water springs between his fingertips while no wells or
pools were near.

By it he quenched the thirst of a Iarge crowd; and the water flowed into rivulets in
all directions, down to the plain land.

And a well brimmed over at his arrow’s touch, one before too dry for a single
drinker’s palate.

And the udder flowed to his palm’s rub, which before when squeezed for liquid had
no teat to respond to a milkman’s touch.

And there was eloquent utterance from the hand of a fortune-teller about plans of
an enemy bent on attack.

And his being told of matters before their being, and of the after-effects to come
when these did arise.

And from those signs there was revelation he brought, one that is expedient, to
come with a mulrtude of wonders.

Thought could not conceive of it,”® and so the like of which no eloquent man could
articulate, nor did it occur to the mind of any preacher.

It encompassed all knowledge, embraced all wisdom, eluding the aim of the
scheming and deceitful.

26. The reference is to the revelation of the Quran.
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He brought it to us, not through a trickster’s tales, a scribe’s pages, or an author’s
description.
. Revelation comes to him sometimes to answer a questioner, to respond to a solution
seeker, or in the exhortation of someone who is conversing;

For the bringing of proofs, the imposition of laws, the telling of narration, or the
interpretation of purpose;

For the quotation of proverbs, the proving of a case, the revealing of some dis-
believer, or the suspension of a liar;

In the meeting of some assembly, in the thick of some battle, or as difficult, puzzling
probiems occur.

So, it came down in different ways, with straight-out meaning and flowing
varieties.

Its verses confirm each other, as if their meanings were scrutinized by a watchful eye.

And the inability of man to achieve such as we have described is well known by the
many who attempted (to imitate it).

For father he had ¢‘Abd Allah, the most noble of fathers, inheriting from him the
most noble of qualities.

And from Shayba, be he praised, in whom Quraysh had pnde above all others of
honour and high station;

He who by whose face clouds were sought to bring rain, and whose views were
followed in troubled times.

And from Hashim, who built his lofty, honourable repute through brave exploits
and his gracious generosity.

And ‘Abd Manaf, who taught his people not to exceed the bounds of their ambitions,
and how to control their desires. -

And Qusayy, whose nobility of line is at such a level as to be beyond anyone’s
reach;

Through him God assembled the tribes after they had been split apart by the greed
of thieving hands.

And Kilab atrained a fortress in the peaks of glory, bey'ond the reach of all, near and
far alike.

And Murra, whose firmness of resolve was not dissolved by the disgrace of any focl
or the evil of any sinner.

And Ka%h, whose glory was too high for any seeker of fame to follow his footsteps;
and who reached the highest rank with the least of efforts.

And Lwayy who wiped out his enemies; thus he subdued the supercilious, the
haughty, and the most victorious.

And in Ghilib was such courage that he refused for his people to be overcome by
any mighty one, and repelled from them every violent enemy.

And Fihr had in Quraysh an oratory to rely upon when conflicts erupied.

And Malik was always the best of malsts (lords), the most honourable of companions,
the most henourable of masters.

And al-Nadr had such elevation as to outstrip all, right on up to meet the gleaming
light of the stars.
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By my life, Kinana displayed even before him qualities too fine for any conqueror
to attain.

And before him Khuzayma established in his honour an ancient heritage from
honoured kin.

And Mudrika, no man ever yudrik (achieved) the like of what he had. He was most
virtuous and most high, beyond mere base pursuits.

And Ilyas, for him e/-ya’s (despair) was dictated for his enemies even before the
squadrons met in battle.

And for Mudar the total glory had always been his whenever mounted warriors had
met in battle. '

And Nizar achieved among his people a leadership position, so lofty as to outstrip
the gaze of anyone staring hard to see.

And Ma‘ad was an wdda (instrument) for his allies when they feared the plots of
their warring foe.

And ‘Adnan is still, if his virtue be assessed, unique and above all peer or companion.

And for Udd, virtue t#’adda (was discharged) emanating from his self-resolve and
an inheritance passed down from grand, wise chieftains.

And in Udad there was calm judgement adorned with sagacity, for calm judgement
gains from a frowning of eyebrows.”

And Hamaysa® continued to reach ever-new heights, and follow after the desired
far-reaching aspirations,

And Nabt who came from the family tree of glory had built up his lofty refuge on
the towering mountains.

And Qaydhar was accorded the generosity of Hatm, the wisdom of Lugman and
the determination of Hajib.

These were progeny of Ishmael, true to his vows, a man whose level of greatness
could never be exceeded by others.

And God’s “companion” (Abraham) who was the most noble of men ever to walk
or ride upon earth.

And Tarih, whose lasting reputation for generosity had made apparent his laudable
deeds.

And Nahtr, the mhkur (butcher) of his enemies had many memerable accomplish-
ments those accounting cannot enumerate.

And Ashra¢, a forest lion in batile, cutting a person to shreds with his sharp
Wweapons. _

And Arghit, a deputy to be trusted in warfare, tenacious against a mean-spirited
antagonist.

And Faligh is not left behind his people in virtue, nor does he pass beneath them in
rank.

And Shalikh and Arfakhshidh and Sam, had qualities so great as to protect them
from any detractor or accuser.

And Nuh (Noah) still retains high regard with God, who counts him among good
men, weli-chosen.

27. The frowning eyebrows imply deep thought or sagacity.
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And Lamk, his father, stood out among the finest, brave against the mailclad
warrior.

Ang before Lamk there was yet Mutawashlikh, who drove away his enermies with
tough spears.

And Idris the prophet was one with status with God beyond compare with that of
any ambition.

And Yirid was a man great among his people’s leaders, scornful of the base, clear
and precise in his purpose.

And Mihlayil had understanding of virtues from which all unpleasant defects had
been refined away.

And Qaynan of oid acquired the glory of his people, gaining the swmmit of prestige
by the stride of his riding camels.

And Anfish devoted himself to glory and deemed it far above base desires.

And Shith stuck to principle, a man of virtue and nobility, free of mean faults.

All of these gained from Adam’s light and from his stem gathered the fruits of
goodness.

And the Messenger of God was the most noble ever born; he emerged from the line
of all these fine, distinguished individuals.

His male forebears matched lis female ancestors, all clear of any taint of dis-
grace.

May there be upon him the peace of God on every day that dawn gives us ligheand
at every sunset t0o.” '

Thus did Sheikh Abt Umar b, ‘Abd al-Barr present tc us this ode; as did also
our Sheikh Abu al-Hajjaj al-Mizzi, the £3fiz, 1n his editicn of the poetry of Abt
al-‘Abbas ‘Abd Allah b. Muhammad al-Nash?®, known as Tbn Sharshir.

His origing were from al-Anbar. He went to Baghdad and then travelled to
Egypt, where he stayed until he died in the year 293 AH. He was a MuSazili
theologian, and Sheikh Abt al-Hasan al-‘Ash%ri wrote about him in his text
al-Magalar, in his discussion of the Mutaziia.

He was an accomplished poet, to the degree that his mastery was such that
he would invent verses that reversed those of others, and composed peetry to
challenge other poets, devising oratorical phrases and rhetorical flourishes
they could not match. Consequently some accused him of insanity and delir-
.

Al-Khatib al-Baghdadi referred to him as having composed an ode in
monorhyme that totalled some 4,000 verses. Al-Najim quoted these and
recorded his death, as stated above.,

I comment that this ode gives evidence of his virtue, eloquence, knowledge,
understanding, fine memory, diction, and masterly poetic skills. These verses
on the noble lineage of the Prophet (SAAS) are precious jewels from his
great repertoire of poetry. God bless him and reward him for all his
activities.
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An Account of the genealogical origins of the Arabs of Hiyjaz up to
‘Adnan.

These matters are due to ‘Adnin having had two sons, Ma%ad and ‘Akk.

According to al-Suhayli, ‘Adnan also had a son named al-Harith, and another
named al-Madhhab. It is also stated that some include al-Dabhak among his
sons. However, al-Dahhak is also said to have been a son of Ma%d, not ‘Adnan.
It is also believed that ‘Adan, for whom the city of Aden is named, and similarly
Abyan, were named after sons of ‘Adnan. That is what al-Tabari related.

¢Akk married into the Ash@%ri tribe and lived in their territory in Yemen.
Their language became unified and some of the peopie of Yemen claimed them
as their own. They give his line as ‘Akk b. ‘Adnan b. ‘Abd Allah b. al-Azd b.
Yaghtth; others give the line as “Akk b. ‘Adnan b. ai-Dhayb b. ‘Abd Allah b.
al-Asad. Al-Rayth is also given as an alternative to al-Dhayb. What is true is
what we have stated, that they are of the line of ‘Adngn. ‘Abbas b. Mirdas spoke
the verse:

“Akk b. ‘Adnin, who toyed with Ghassan until they were totally driven away.”

As for Ma%d, he had four sons: Nizar, Quda‘a, Qanas, and Iyad. Quda% was
Ma%d’s first-born who was commonly known by the surname of Abt Quda@
(father of Qudi%). We have earlier given a different genealogy for Quda, but it is
this one that is constdered correct by Ibn Ishag and others. And God knows best.

As for Qanas, it is said that his line died out, except that ai-Nu‘min b.
al-Mundhir who was Chosroe’s governor at al-Hira was one of his descendants,
according tc a number of past authorities. Another view is that he was from
Himyar, as we have indicated carlier. God knows best.

As for Nizar, to him were born Rabi%, Mudar, and Anmar. Ibn Hisham
indicated that Tyad was also the son of Nizar, as was spoken in the following
verse:

“TA]lnd braves their faces fine, descendants of Iyad b. Nizar b. Matad.”

He stated that Iyad and Mudar were full brothers, their mother being Sawda,
daughter of ‘Akk b. ‘Adnan. And the mother of Rabi%a and Anmar was
Shuqgayga, daughter of ‘Akk b. ‘Adnan. Her name was also given as JumS,
daughter of ‘Akk b. ‘Adnan.

According to Tbn Ishag, Anmar was the father of Khath‘am and Bajila, of the
tribe of Jarir b. ‘Abd Allzh al-Bajali. He added that they went to Yemen and
stayed there.

Ibn Hisham said that the Yemenis state his line to have been Anmar b. Irash
b. Lihyan b. ‘Amr b. al- Ghawth b. Nabt b. Malik b. Zayd b. Kahlan b. Saba’.

T consider that the tradition quoted above relating to Saba’ substantiates this.
God knows best.
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They say that Mudar was the first to use chants with camels. That is because
he had a fine voice and because one day he fell off his mount and dislocated his
arm. In pain he shouted, “Wavadayah! Wayadayah!” (“Oh, my hands, my
hands!”) and at that the camels stretched out their necks listening.

According to Tbn Ishag, Mudar b. Nizdr had two sons, Ilyas and ‘Aylan. To
Ilvas were born Mudrika, Tabikha and Qama‘a; their mother was Khindif,
daughter of Imran b. al-Haf b. Quda‘.

Ibn Ishaq stated that Mudrika’s real name was ‘Amir, and that of Tabikha
was ‘Amr. One day they went hunting and while they were cooking their
catch, their camels ran off. ‘Amir chased after thern and caught them, while
his brother sat cooking. When they returned to their father and related this to
him, he commented to ‘Amir, “You are Mudrika” (the catcher), while to
‘Amr he said, “You are Tabikha” (the cook). As for Qama%, the gencalogists
of Mudar claim that Khuzi% was a son of ‘Amr b. Luhayy b. Qama% b.
Hyas.

In my view it is obvious that he was a descendant of theirs and not of their
father, and that they were of Flimyar, previously mentioned. God knows best.

Ibn Ishaq said that Mudrika gave birth to Khuzayma and Hudhayl, and that
their mother was a woman from Qudz% tribe. To Khuzayma were born Kinana,
Asad, Asada, and al-Hun.

Kindna gave birth to al-Nadr, Malik, ‘Abd Manat, and Milkan, Aba Ja%ar
al-Tabart added to these four ‘Amir, al-Harith, al-Nadir, Ghanam, Sa‘d, ‘Awf,
Jarwal, al-Jaral, and Ghazwan.

An Account of Quraysh regarding their genealogy, etymology, and
' merit. They are the tribe of al-Nadr b. Kinana.

According to Tbn Ishiq, the mother of al-Nadr was Barra, daughter of Murr b.
Udd b. Tabikha (Ibn Hisham adds that Tabikha was the son of Ilyas b. Mudar),
while the rest of his sons were of a different mother. Tbn Hisham disagrees with
Ton Ishiq, having Barra daughter of Murr as the mother of al-Nadr, Malik, and
Milkin. The mother of ‘Abd Mandat was Hala, daughter of Suwayd b. al-Ghitrif
from Azd of Shanta.

Ibn Hisham stated that al-Nadar was Quraysh; anyone born in his line is a
Qurayshite, anyone not so born is not. He also said that some state that Fihr b.
Malik was Quraysh, those of his line therefore being Qurayshite; those not of his
line were non-Qurayshite.

These two statements have been handed down by more than one expert
genealogist, such as Sheikh Ab@ Umar b. ‘Abd al-Barr and al-Zubayr b. Bakkar,
Mus*ab, and others.
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According to Ab@ “Ubayd and Tbn ‘Abd al-Barr, the majority’s view is that
Quraysh derived from al-Nadr b. Kinana, based on a kadith of al-Ash%th b,
Qays. And it is this authority who was an important source for Hisham b.
Muhammad b. al-S2ib al-Kalbt and Abt Ubayda Ma%mar b. al-Muthanng; he
is a prime resource for the doctrine of al-Shafi‘i, may God bless him.

Abt ‘Umar, moreover, chose Fihr b. Malik as the originator of Quraysh, insist
ing that anyone today having descent from Quraysh stems from Fihr b, Malik. He
then related the choice made in his statement to the authority of al-Zubayr b.
Bakkar, Mus%b al-Zubayri and ‘Ali b. Kaysan, saying, “They are the source for
this, al-Zubayr b. Bakkar having stated, “The genealogists of Quraysh and others
are agreed that Quraysh branched off only from Fihr b. Malik.’ The genealogists
of Quraysh whom I have consulted consider those of his line to be Qurayshites,
whereas those prior to him in their line are thought not from Quraysh.”

Abt ‘Umar then effectively substantiated this view and defended it by pointing
out that he and those of stmilar views were those most knowledgeable of the
genealogy and history of their own people.

Al-Bukhar related from the tradition of Kulayb b. W2*il as follows: “I said to
the nursemaid (meaning Zaynab, daughter of Abu Salama} of the Prophet
(SAAS) “Tell me about the Prophet (SAAS). Was he from Mudar?’ She replied,
‘From whom else but from Mudar of Banti al-Nadr b. Kinina?’”

Al-Tabarini said, “We were told by Ibrahim b. N#@%ila al-Asbahani, by Ismasil
b. ‘Amr al-Bajali, and by al-Hasan b. Salih from his father, from al-Jashish
al-Kindi who said, ‘A group of people from Kinda tribe came to the Messenger
of God (SAAS) and told him, “You are from us,” claiming kinship with him.
But he responded, “No, we're Bant al-Nadr b. Kinana; we neither contradict
our mother nor refute our father.”’”

Imam Aba Uthman Sa‘id b. Yahya b. Sa‘id said, “We were told by my father
and by al-Kalbi on the authority of Abtu Salih from Ibn ‘Abbas that the latter
said, ‘A man from Kinda, calted al-Jashish, came to the Prophet (SAAS) and
said, “O Messenger of God, we claim ‘Abd Manaf as one of us.” The Prophet
(SAAS), turned away from him. The man came back with the same comment
and again was ignored. Once more he said the same. Then the Prophet (SAAS)
stated, “We are from Bant al-Nadr b. Kinana. We neither coniradict our
mother nor refute our father.”’”

Al-Ash@th commented (probably to al-Jashish, tr.) “Shouldn’t you have
stayed silent after the first time?”

This response refuted their claim, and from the tongue of his Prophet
(SAAS). And this is strange also from this viewpoint; al-Kalbi, morcover, is a
weak authority. But God knows best, '

Imam Almad said that Bahz and Affiin refated to him as follows: “We were
both told by Hammad b. Salama that Ugayl b. Abii Talha said (‘Affin gave his
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name as ‘Ugayl b. Talha al-Salmi) on the authority of Muslim b. al-Haysam
from al-Ash%th b. Qays, that the latter said that he came to the Messenger of
God {SAAS) in a delegation from Kinda. (‘Affan added the words ‘who did
not consider me their best man’) and said to him, ‘O Messenger of God, we
claim you to be one of us.” The Messenger of God (SAAS) replied, ‘We are
Bana ai-INadr b. Kinana; we neither contradict cur mother nor refute our
father.””

Al-Aghfath b. Qays commented, “Byv God, 1 never hear anyone denying that
(uraysh is from al-Nadr b. Kinina without whipping him to the Himit.”

And thus was this related by Ibn Mazja along various lines of transmission
from Hammad b. Salama.

This line of tradition is truly fine and is authoritative in this matter. No atien-
tion 1s due thereafter to any epposing view. But God knows best. All praise and
credit belong to God.

Jarir b. “Atiyya al-Tamimi spoke the foliowing verses in praising [isham b.
‘Abd al-Malik b. Marwan:

“The mother who gave birth to Quraysh was not one as to cause doubt as to ancestry,
nor was she barren;

And no stud was of more noble stock than vour father, nor was there ever an undcle
more fine than Tamim.”

Ton Hishim stated: “Here is meant the mother of al-INadr b. Kinana, who was
Barra daughter of Murr, sister of Tamim b. Murr.”

The derivation of the word Quraysh is said to come from the word al-tagarrusk,
which means to join together after dispersal. This relates to the period of
Qusayy b, Kilab when they were dispersed and he brought them together at the
holy sanctuary, as we shall explain. Hudhafa b. Ghanim al-‘Adawi spoke the
verse:

“Your father was Qusayy, known as ‘the gatherer’; through him God gathered
together the tribes from Fihr”

Some say that Qusayy was known as Quraysh. The word meant “gathering
together”; al-tagarrush meant al-tajanvnet or “joining together”, as Abll Khalda
al-Yashkuri said: “Brothers who gathered {garrashn) vpon us faults, in our
recent era and also ancient . . .7

It is also said that Quraysh were so named from al-tegarrusk, 2 word meaning
business and trading. This was related by Tbn Hisham, God have mercy on him.

Al-Fawhari said, “al-garsh means ‘earning’ and ‘accumulating’ and the verbal
form is garasha in the past tense, yagrushu in the present tense.” Al-Farrd® stated
that it was from this word that Curaysh was named, they being a tribe and their
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originator al-Nadr b. Kinina. All his descendants are Qurayshite back as far as
Kinana’s son, but not before him.

Some say the word stems from the idea of alaflish, 1.e. “search”. Hisham b.
al-Kalbi stated that al-Nadr b. Kinana was named “Quraysh” because he would
“yagrish” for what people lacked or needed, providing that with his own wealth.
Al-tagrish means al~taftish and his sons would yagrishuna, i.e. “search out” piigrims
in need and donate to them what they needed to return home. And so they were
named “Quraysh” because of their engaging in this garsh.

Al-Harith b, Hilliza made a verse to the effect that alteqerrush meant
al-taftish:

“0 you who speaks and ‘scarches’ (al-mugarrish) for us with ‘Amv, is he allowed to
live?”

It was al-Zubayr b. Bakkar who related that verse.
Quraysh was also said to be a diminutive form of garsh, a sea animal. A poet
once said:

“Ouraysh are those that inhabit the sea; for them the ura,ysh were named
_}' 1
‘eraysh’.”

Al-Bayhaqi said that Abu Nasr b. Qatada informed him that AbT al-Tlasan
‘Al b. ‘Isa al-Malini, guonng Mubammad b. al-Hasan b. al-Khal] al-Nisawi,
related that Abt Kurayb told them from Wagi¢b. al-Jarraly, on the authority of
Hisham b. Urwa on the authority of his father from AbG Rakina al-‘Amiri that
Muawiva asked Ibn “Abbas, “Why were Quraysh so named?” He replied,
“After a sea creature, the biggest of all, that is called al-garsk. It never passes by
anything, lean or fat, without eating it.” “So recite me some verse about that,”
Muawiya asked, and Ibn ‘Abbas spoke the verses of al-Jumahsi as follows:

“Curaysh are those that inhabit the sea; for them the Quraysh were named Quraysh,

They cat all, lean or fat, not leaving a feather of any two-winged thing.

Thus in the land the tribe of Quraysh eats up the land ravenously.

Theirs is at the end of time a prophet; among them will be plenty of wounded and
dead.”

it is also said they were named after Quraysh b. al-Harith b. Yakhlud b.
al-Nadr b. Kinina. He was the guide and the storeskeeper of Banti al-Nadr. The
Arabs would say, “The caravan of Quraysh” has come, instead of the “caravan of
Bant al-Nadr”. They also say that it was his son Badr b. Quraysh who dug the
well attributed to him where the great battle occurred on the day of al-Furgin
(“proof”, i.e. the battle of Badr) when the two armies met. God knows best.

The relative adjective derived from Quraysh is gurashi or qurayshi. Al-Jawhari
said, “And the latter is the standard.”
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A poet spoke the verse,

“Every Qurayshite (gurayshi) who is honourable, quick to fill demands for generosity
and honour.” 2

Muslim related in his sahik collection from a tradition of Abu ‘Amr and
al-Awza®i that Shaddid Abt ‘Ammar related to him that Withila b. al-Asga“
told him that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “God chose Kindna from
among the sons of Ishmael, Quraysh from Kinana, Hashim from Quraysh and
myself from the descendants of Hashim.”

Abiti ‘Amr b. ‘Abd al-Barr said, “Bant ‘Abd al-Muttalib are known as the
Jasila, the family, of the Messenger of God (SAAS); Banu Hashim was his
fakhdk, his tribal subsection; Banti ‘Abd Manaf was his bagn, his tribal subdivision;
Quraysh was his Ymars, his mini-tribe; Ban@i Kindina was his gabilg, his tribal
confederation; and Mudar was his shg%, his people. May God’s blessings and
peace be upon him always tll the Day of Judgement.”

Tbn Ishaq stated, “Al-Nadar b. Kinanz gave birth to Malik and Yakhiud.” To
these Ibn Hisham added “al-Sait”. The mother of them all was the daughter of
Sa‘d b. al-Zarib al-‘Adwani.

Kuthayyir b. ‘Abd al-Rahman, who is Kuthayyir ‘Azza, one of the Bann
Mulayh b. ‘Amr of Khuza, spoke the verses:

“Is my father not al-Salt, my brothers not the finest among the noblemen of Bant
al-Nadr?

You see on us as on them the same kerchiefs of mixed weave and the sarne Hadrami
waist-wrappers

So if you are not of Bant al-Nadr, then leave the green thorn trees at the ends of
the high valleys.”

Ibn Hisham satd that Banti Mulayh b. ‘Amr were descendants of al-Salt b. al-Nadr.

According to Thn Ishaq, Malik b. al-Nadr fathered Fihr b. Malik, his mother
being Jandala, daughter of al-Harith b. Mudad al-Asghar. Fibr fathered Ghalib,
Muharib, al-Harith, and Asad, their mother being Layla, daughter of Satd b.
Hudhayl b. Mudrika. Ibn Hisham stated that they had a sister from their father
named Jandala, daughter of Fihr.

According to Ton Ishdq, Ghalib b. Fihr had sons named Luv?ayy b. Ghalib and
Taym b. Ghilib who were known as the Ban@i al-Adram. Their mother was
Salma, daughter of ‘Amr al-Khuza‘i.

Ibn Hisham states there was another son, Qays b. Ghilib, whose mother was
Salma, daughter of Ka® b. ‘Amr al-Khuza% and that she was the mother of
Lwayy and Taym.

28. Several lines of abstruse poetry illustrating Arabic grammatical concepts have been omitted
from the English translation.
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According to Ibn Ishaq, Lw’ayy b. Ghalib had four sons: Ka%b, ‘Amir, Sama,
and ‘Awf.

Ibn Hisham said he was also reputed to have had another son, al-Harith, and
that they made up the Jusham b. al-Harith among Hizzan of Rabi%. And
another son was Sa‘d b. Lw’ayy who came to be the bunana among Shayban b.
Tha%aba. Bunana was a nursemaid for them. There was also Khuzayma b.
Lwayy who formed the ‘A%idha among Shayban b. Tha%aba.

Then Ibn Ishaq gives the story of Sama b. LwPayy and how he went to ‘Uman
and lived there. That was due to a quarrel between himself and his brother
Amir. ‘Amir made him afraid and so he fled to ‘Uman, dying there as a stranger.
‘What happened was that while he was grazing his camel a snake bit its lip making
it fall on its side. Then the snake bit and killed Sama. It is said that he wrote
these verses with his finger on the ground:

“Eyes, weep for Sima b. Lu’ayy, the snake has clung to Sama.

None such as Sama b. Ta’ayy have I seen, found a dead victim of a camel.

Send a messenger to “Amir and Ka% that my soul yearns for them.

Though my home is in ‘Uman I am a Ghalibi who emigrated but not from poverty.

Perhaps the glass you have poured, Ibn Lwayy, fearing death, has not really been
poured.

You aimed to repel death, O Ibn Lw’ayy, but no one so intending has power over
death,

And many a silent, plodding camel you’ve left prostrate after long, intense
exercise.”

And Ibn Hisham said that he heard that a son of Sima went to the
Messenger of God (SAAS) and introduced himself as descended from Sama b.
Lwayy. The Messenger of God (SAAS) asked him, “The poet?” One of his
Companions then said, “O Messenger of God, you seem to be referring to his
line of verse,

‘Perhaps the glass you’ve poured, Ibn Lwayy, fearing death, has not really been
poured.’

And he answered, “Yes indeed.”

Al-Suhayli recorded from others that Sama had no children. Al-Zubayr said,
“Sama b. Lwtayy had Ghalib, al-Nabit, and al-Harith.” Others maintained that he
had descendants in Iraq who hated ‘Ali. Among them was ‘Ali b. al-Ja%ad, who used
to revile his father for having named him ‘Ali. Among the descendants of Sama b.
Lv’ayy was Mubammad b. ‘Artara b. al-Yazid, who was the sheikh of al-Bukhari.

Ibn Ishaq said, “They claim that ‘Awf b. Latayy travelled with a caravan from
Quraysh and to the territory of Ghatafan b. Sa%d b. Qays b. ‘Aylan. There he was
delayed so the rest of his people left him behind and went off. Then Thadaba b.
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Sa‘d, he being his brother by the genealogy of Banti Dhubyan, came zlong,
detained him, arranged his marriage, and treated him like an intimate and a
brother. His relationship became widely known among Band Dhubyin.

They say it was Tha%aba who said to ‘Awf the following verse when he was
delayed and left behind:

“0 Ibn Larayy, tether your camel with me; your people have left you and you
gught not to be left.”

Ibn Ishag continued to indicate that either Muhamumad b. Ja‘far b. al-Zubayr,
or Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Rabman b. ‘Abd Allah b. al-Husayn told him that
Umar b. al-Khattab had said, “If I were to claim an attachment to any Arab
tribe or that they had a relationship to us, it would be to Banti Murra b. ‘Awi.
We know kindred men among them and also how they treated that man.” By
this he meant ‘Awfb. Li’ayy.

He went on to rejate that a man he did not distrust had told him that ‘Umar b.
al-Khattab said to some men of Bant Murra: “If you want to trace back your
genealogy to your kinfolk, then trace it to CAwf.”

Ibn Ishag added that these people were nobles of Ghatafan, their leaders and
élite, with good reputation locally and in ail of Ghatafan and Qays, and that they
did maintain their own genealogy. If thelr ancestry were referred to by others,
they would say, “We neither deny nor disown it. That is the ancestry we prefer.”
Then they would recite their verses recalling their relationship to Lutayy.

Ibn Ishzq said that they practised the system of basl. This entailed the practice
among the Arabs of considering eight months of their year as sacrosanct. The
Arabs would recognize that and allow them safe-conduct in those months and
they would allow them the same. Rabi% and Mudar, however, to my knowledge
only considered four months a year as sacred, these being Dhia al-Qa’da, Dha
al-Flijja, al-Muharram; and concerning the fourth, Rajab, they differed. Mudar
considered that it fell between jum3adi and Sha%han, while Rabi% mamtained it
came between Shatban and Shawwal.

It has been esmblished in both of the sakik collections, on the authority of Abt
Bakrah, that the Messenger of God (SAAS) stated in his bhuthat al-wadi®,
farewell address, “Time has revolved in its own fashion since the day God created
the heavens and the earth, the year consisting of twelve months, four of which
are sacred. Three of these are contiguous: Dhu al-Qa‘de, Dhu al-Hijja, and
al-Muharram, and there is also Mudar’s month of Rajab which comes between
Jumada and Sha%an.” Thus by saying this he expressed preference for the view
of Mudar and not for that of Rabi‘a.

God the Almighty and Glorious stated in the Qur’an, “With God the months
number twelve, so ordained by (God, (since) the day he created the heavens and
the earth; of these four are sacred” {(sirat al-Tawha, IX, v.36).
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This constitutes a reply to Bant ‘Awf b. Lw’ayy for their considering the
sacred months eight in number. In so doing they added to God’s decree,
introducing therein something which was not part thereof.

His statement in the hadith that “three are contiguous [months]” is a dis-
approval of the attitude of the alnas? people who delayed the sacred month,
making it Safar, rather than al-Muharram. Also, the phrase therein “Mudar’s
month of Rajab” s a refutation of Rabi%’s view.

Tbn Ishaq stated that Kah b. Lwlayy had three sons, Murra, ‘Adi and Husays.
Murra also had three, named Kilgh, Taym and Yagaza, from three mothers.

Kilab gave birth to two sons, Qusayy and Zuhra; the mother of both was
Fatima, daughter of Sa%d b. Sayal, one of the al-Jadara of Jutthumat al-Asad
from the Yemen, who were allies of Bana al-Dil b, Bakr b. ‘Abd Manat b.
Kinana. Of her father a poet spoke the verse:

“We have never seen any person, of all the people we have known, like Sa’d b. Sayal

A knight who combats with both his right hand and left; if hus foe stood down from
battle he would dismount

A knight luring horsemen to destruction like a kestre! with partridges.”

According to al-Suhayli, Sayal’s full name was Khayr b. Jamala and he was
the first person who had swords plated with gold and sifver.

Ibn Ishaq stated that they were known as the “al-Jadara” because Amir b.
Amr b. Khuzayma b. Ju%thuma had married the daughter of al-Harith b.
Mudad the Jurhumite. The Jurhum were at that time guardians of the House of
God and built a jidar, a wall, around the ka‘ba; Amir was therefore named
al-Jadir and his descendants al-Jadara.

An Account of Qusayy b. Kilib and of his pari in regaining
guardianship over the kaba for Quraysh by taking it from Khuza‘a.
How Quraysh gathered together ar the holy place which God secured for
the worshippers, afler having lived scatteved and fragmented in the
mouniains and hollows.

What happened was that when his father died; Qusayy’s mother was married to
BabiQ b. Haram of WUdhra and he tock her and her son to his own country.
Later, when he grew up, Qusayy came tc Mecca and married Hubba, daughter
of the chief of Khyza‘a, Hulayl b. Hubshiyya.

Regarding Khuza%, they say that Hulay! entrusted guardianship over the
holy House to Qusayy because of the large family Qusayy had with his daughter.
Flulay! told hirm, “You have more right to it than I do.”
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Ton Ishaq stated that this account was heard only from Khuzi%. He said that
others claim that he sought the assistance of his maternal brothers, their leader
being Rizah b. Rabi‘, and of the wribes of Kinana and (juda‘a and of some men
in the Mecca region from Quraysh and others. And so he ousted them (Khuza%)
from the House of God and he himself assumed control over it.

This all occurred because the prerogative of the pilgrims’ $@za®” was held by
the Siifa. They were the tribe of al-Ghawth b. Murr b. Udd b. Tabikha b. Ilyas
b. Mudar. People did not throw their stones (Jimar) uatil they (the Stfa) had
done se, nor did they leave Mina before the Sufa did; these prerogatives
remained theirs until they died out.

Then Bant Sa‘d b. Zayd Manat b. Tamim inherited these rights from them
by kinship. The first of them was Safwan b. al-Harith b. Shijna b. ‘Ugarid b.
‘Awf b. Ka%h. b. Satd b. Zayd Manat b. Tamim. This power resided in his
people until the rise of Islam in the time of the last of them, who was Karib b.

- Safwan.

The jjaza, the descent from al-Muzdalifa,*® was the prerogative of ‘Adwan
until the coming of Islam in the time of the last of them, who was AbG Sayyara
‘Amila b. al-A%al. His name was said to have been al-‘As, while al-A%al’s name
was Khalid. He used to give people the permission while seated on a one-eyed
ass he had, for 40 years moving forth on it at that station. He was the first person
to establish the bloodwit at 100 camels, as well as the first to say the phrase, “Mt.
Thabir shines so that we may ride forth.”

"That is what al-Suhayhi related.

And there was ‘Amir b. al-Zarib al-‘Adwani. In the case of all conflicts arising
among the Arabs, they would come to him for adjudication and accept whatever
he decided. On one occasion they asked him to resolve the matter of inheritance
to a hermaphrodite. He lay awake all night reflecting on how to adjudicate this
and when a slave-girl of his, Sukhayla by name, who used to pasture his sheep,
saw him thus, she enquired of him, “What is wrong with you, poor thing, that
you spend the night awake?” So he told her, in case she might be of help. And
she replied, “Judge by where from urination comes.” He commented,
“Sukhayla, you’ve shown the way well, by God.” And that was how he did
decide.

Al-Suhayli pointed out that reaching a decision by such logic constituted use
of al-istidlal bi al-amarit wa al-‘alamit, “inference from signs and indications”, a
method with a basis in the law. God stated in the Qur’dn: “And they brought his
shirt with false blood upon it” (sizrat Yisuf, XIL, v.18) since it bore no signs of a
wolf’s fangs. God also stated, “If his shirt has been torn from the front, she has

29. The giving of permission to the pilgrims to descend from Mt. ‘Arafat.
30. A station midway between Mina and “Arafit where pilgrims spend the night of 9th Dha
al-Fijja on their return journey from *Arafat.
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told the truth and he is 2 liar, whereas if the shirt has been torn from behind,
then she lied and he is trathful” (sgrar Yasuf, X1, v.26-7). And in the hadith,
there are the words, “Wait for her; if she delivers it (the baby) as comely, light-
brown, and with curly locks, then indeed it is (the child) of him whom she was
accused of being with.”

Ibn Ishaq went on to state that a/-nas?, the postponement of sacred months,
was decided by the time of Fugaym b. ‘Adi b. ‘Amir b. Thataba b. al-Harith b.
Malik b. Kinana b. Khuzayma b. Mudrika b. Ilyas b. Mudar. He reported that
the first of the Arabs to intercalate the months was al-Qalammas, who was
Hudhayfa b. ‘Abd b. Fugaym b. ¢Adi. After him came his son ‘Abbad, and then
Qala®b. ‘Abbad, followed by Umayya b. Qala® and ‘Awf b. Umayya. The last of
them was Abii Thumama Junada b. ‘Awf b. Qala® b. ‘Abbad b. Hudhayfa, the
last named being al-Qalammas. Islam arose during Abii Thamima’s time.

When the Arabs had completed the pilgrimage they would gather around
him and he would address them, specifying which months were sacred. If he
wanted to establish a free period, he would declare al-Muharram free and
substitute Safar for it to accord with the number of months God had made
sacred. He would state, “O God, I have made free the first of the al-Safar
months, and postponed the others till next year.” And the Arabs would follow
him in that. On this matter the following verses were spoken by “‘Umayr b.
(Jays, one of Banii Firas b. Ghanm b. Malik b. Kinana; Umayr was also known
as Jadhl al-Ti%n:

“Mafad have learned that my people are noble, that they have noble forebears.

Which people have escaped our retribution and which have we not bridled?

Are we not those who ntercalate for Ma%d, deciding which free months shall be
made sacred?”

Qusayy was lord and master over his people, obeyed and revered. Eventually he
gathered Quraysh together from their various locations in the Arabian peninsula
and gained the help of the Arab tribes that obeyed him in making war on
Khuzia, in removing them from the House of God, and in handing over its
guardianship to himself. They engaged in many battles with much bloodshed
and then agreed upon arbitration. They appointed as arbitrator Ya‘mur b. ‘Awf
b. Kab b. ‘Amir b. Layth b. Bakr b. ‘Abd Manat b. Kinana who decreed that
Qusayy was more fit for guardianship over the House than Khuzi% was. He
ruled that all losses inflicted on Qusayy by Khuza and Banii Bakr were an issue
that should be “crushed underfoot”, and that what losses Khuzia% and Bann
Bakr had received from Quraysh, Kininz, and Quda% should be compensated
by bloodwit payment. His decision meant that Qusayy should be given free
access to Mecca and the ka%%a. Thereat Ya‘mur was nicknamed al-Shadhdhakh,
“the crusher”,
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Ibn Ishiq further related that Qusayy thus gained guardianship over the House
and control over Mecca. He brought together to Mecca his people from their
dwellings and acted as king over them and over all the Meccans as well; and they
treated him as king. However, he confirmed the Arabs in their prior practices,
considering that to be 2 duty incumbent upen himself that he ought not change.
He thus confirmed Safwin, ‘Adwian, al-nase’a, “the intercalators”, and Murra b.
‘Awf in their previous practices, until Islam came and God destroyed all of that.

Qusayy was the first of Band Ka% who teok the kingship and was obeyed as
such by his people. He had nights of the hijaba, the sagaya, the rifzda, the nadwa,
and the Jiw@ 3" Thus he controlled all of Mecca’s honours. He divided up
Mecca among his people mmto quarters and he settled each family of QQuraysh
into thetr dwellings there.

And so I say, that thus right was done to those worthy of it, justice returning
after having left. Quraysh settled in their dwellings, ended the aims and aspirations
of Khuza%, and regained their ancient and venerable house. Nevertheless, they
kept what Khuzit had instituted, including the worship of idols, setting them up
around the ks%a, making sacrifice te them, praying near them, and beseeching
help and fortune from them.

Qusayy settled the Quraysh tribes mn the plains and also in the heights of
Mecca and they were henceforth known respectively as the “plains Quraysh”
and the “highland Quraysh”.

Qusayy b. Kifab enjoyed total authority, including being guardian and keeper
of the ka%hs and the awarder of battle banners. He also constructed a building to
prevent violence and resolve disputes; this he named the dar alnedwa, the
assembly house. When a conflict became sericus the chiefs of each of the tribes
would meet, take counsel there, and decide the issue. All contracts and marriage
agreements would be made there. And that was also the only place where a girl
would first wear the daraf, the sleeved chemise, when she reached the age to do so.

The door to this building was facing the masyid al-harim, the holy mosque.
Later it became owned by Hakim b. Hizam, after belonging to Banu ‘Abd
al-Diar. He sold it, during the reign of Mu‘wiya, for 100,000 dirhams.
Mu%wiya criticized him for having done so, saying, “You’ve sold your peopie’s
honour for 100,000.7

But Hakim replied, “But today nobility is measured by one’s piety. T bought
it, by God, before Islam for a skinful of wine and now here Ive sold it for
100,000. And 1 swear that the money will go to charity in God’s cause, so which
of us had been cheated?” This was related by al-Darquimi in the Asm@ Ryal
al-Muwaiia® (1dentities of the Men in the Muwatre®) (of Malik b. Anas).

31. These terms refer, respectively, to the guardianship of the temple, the provision of water
for the pilgrims, the provision of food for them, the presiding over their assemblies, and the
issuance of the banners carried by them.
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He had the prerogative of providing drink for the pilgrims; they drank only
from his cisterns. At that time, in Mecca the holy well, zamzam, was cobliterated,
as it had been since the time of Jurhum. People had forgotten about it because of
its great antiguity and they could not locate its whereabouts. According to
al-Wagidi, Qusayy was the first person to institute lighting a fire at al Muzdalifa
to guide peeple coming there from ‘Arafat,

The word al-riféda means providing food for the pilgrims during the pilgrim-
age season until they leave to return to their cwn countries.

ibn Ishag went on to relate that GQusayy had imposed this rif@da on his people,
having said, “O People of Quraysh, you are God’s neighbours and the inhabitants
of Mecca and of the holy places. The pilgrims are GGod’s guests and visitors to
His House. They have full right to hospitality. So provide food and drink for
them during the pilgrimage days, until they depart from you.” And so they did.
Each year they would set aside a portion of their wealth as a tribute they would
pay him. He would use it to provide feod for the people during the days they
were at Mina, This practice was followed at his command during alyahiliyya,
the pre-Islamic period, and it has passed on thereafier up to the present. It is
the food the sultan provides for people at Mina each vear until the pilgrimage
ends.

My own comment is to add that this practice ended after the time of Tbn
Ishzq. It was then ordered that a portion of the bayr al-mal, the general treasury,
be spent to transport food and drink for wayfarers arviving for the pilgrimage.
This was a good policy for reasons tes many to mention. But duty dictates that
this expense should come directly from the treasury as 2 priority; most appro-
priately, it should come from the masses of the dlumma, the protected
non-Muslims, since they do not make pilgrimage to the ancient House. It is
stated in the kadith sayings, “Regarding him who is able to make the pilgrimage
but does not do so, let him die, if he wishes, a Jew or a Christian.”

One of their poets said in praise of Qusayy and his honour among his people.

“Qusayy was known, I swear it, as the ‘gatherer’; through him God gathered
together the tribes of Fihr.

They filled the plain with glory and power and drove from us the satanic Bant
Bakr.”

Ibn Ishaq related that when Gusayy had finished his war, his brother Rizah b.
Rabi left for his own country accompanied by his three paternal brothers, who
were Hunn, Mahmad, and Julhuma by name. And Rizih spoke the following
verses in responding to Qusayy:

“When an envoy came from Qusayy saying, ‘Respond to your friend’,

We arose to him leading our fine horses, leaving aside the slow and overweight.
We travelled with them by night till dawn, sheltering by day to survive.
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They were speedy as sand-grouse to the water, as we answered Qusayy’s inessenger,

We gathered men from al-Sirr? and the two Ashmadhs,* collecting tribesmen
from each village.

What a band of horse that night, over a thousand, running free and fast,

‘When they passed by ‘Agjar and took the quick route from Mustanakh,

Skirting the edge of Warigan and passing by al-‘Arj and a tribe encamped,

Overstepping the pasture, not tasting it, racing on, night-long, from Marr,

Keeping the colts near their dams to minimize their neighing.

When reaching Mecca, we destroyed the men tribe after tribe,

Switching them with our sword-blades, rendering them witless from all sides

Crushing them beneath our horses’ hooves, as does the strong and mighty to the
lowly.

We Lilled Khuza% in their own home, and Bakr group by group.

We banished them from the Sovereign’s land, so that they would never settle good
land again,

We captured them in irons and quenched our vengeance thirst from all their
tribes.”

According to Ton Ishaq, when Rizah returned home, God gave him increase.
He also gave Hunn increase; they constitute the two tribes of ‘Udhra to this day.
Again according to Ibn Ishaq, Qusayy b. Kilab said in that regard,

“] am the son of Banti Lu’ayy, the defenders; my home is in Mecca, there was 1
raised,

And on to the plains, as Ma‘ad learned; with. its lush pastures [ was really content.

I would not have conquered it, had the sons of Qaydhar and al-Nabit not settled
there.

Rizih was my supporter and by him I came supreme; I fear no evil for as long as 1
shall live.”

According to al-Umawi, citing al-Ashram from Aba @Ubayda, from
Muhammad b. Hafs, Rizah only arrived after Qusayy had expelled Kbhuza%.
God knows best.

Section.

When Qusayy grew old he entrusted all the prerogatives he had enjoyed —
leadership of Quraysh and its honour of governing the provision of food and
drink for the pilgrims, guardianship of the House, the issuance of banners, and
the summoning of assemblies — 1o his son ‘Abd al-Dar, who was his oldest.

He only entrusted him with all these prerogatives because the rest of his
brothers, ‘Abd Manaf, ‘Abd Shams, and ‘Abd had become noblemen during

32. A valley.
33. Two mountains between Medina and the town of Khaybar.



IMAM ABU AL-FIDA? ISMAIL IBN KATHIR 71

their father’s rule and had attained great power and prestige. Thus Qusayy
wished for ‘Abd al-Dar to be equal to them in prestige and so gave him alone
these powers. ‘Abd al-Dar’s brothers did not dispute his action. But when they
all had passed away their sons came into conflict about this and said, “Qusayy
only entrusted ‘Abd al-Dar with all that to equalize him with his brothers; we
are entitled to what our fathers were due.”

‘Abd al-Dar's family replied, “This is a matter that Qusayy decided in our
favour, and we have the greater right.”

And so a great dispute arose among them; and Quraysh split into two factions,
one giving allegiance and alliance to the family of ‘Abd al-Dar, the other to the
family of ‘Abd Manaf with whom they made a formal pact. Upon making the
oath they placed their hands into a deep dish containing perfume. Then they
went and wiped their hands on the corners of the ks%a. This was thereafter
known as the “Treaty of the Perfumed”.

On the ‘Abd Manif side there were the Quraysh tribes of Bant Asad b. ‘Abd
al-Uzza b. Qusayy, Bant Zuhra, Bant Taym, and Bana al-Harith b. Fihr. On
the side of ‘Abd al-Dar’s descendants were Bant Makhztm, Banti Sahm, Bant
Jumah, and Bann ‘Adi. The tribes of Bant ‘Amir b. Lw’ayy and Muharib b. Fihr -
remained separate from the rest, not allying with either side.

Ultimately they made peace, agreeing-that the prerogatives of feeding and
watering the pilgrims should be held by Banu ‘Abd Manaf, while those of
guardianship of the ka‘ba, issuance of banners, and calling of assemblies were
to be held by Banii ‘Abd al-Dar. This arrangement became firm and perma-
nent.

Al-Umawi related from al-Ashram, on the authority of Abti ‘Ubayda that a
number of the Khuza claim that after Qusayy had married Hubba daughter of
Elulayl, he (Hulayl) found the guardianship of the ka%ba onerous and passed it
on to his daughter Hubbi, appointing Abti Ghubshan Salim b. ‘Amr b. Lwlayy
b. Malkan b. Qusayy b. Haritha b. ‘Amr b. ‘Amir as her trustee for it. Qusayy
purchased the guardianship of the £4%a from him for a skin of wine and a young
riding camel. And so there arose the saying, “A worse deal than that of Abu
Ghubshan!” When Khuzi% saw this happen they attacked Qusayy, who called
for assistance from his brother; when he and his men arrived the issue was
resolved as reported above. Ultimately Qusayy passed on the prerogatives of pro-
tection and guardianship of the House, issuance of banners, calling of assemblies,
and feeding and watering the pilgrims to his son ‘Abd al-Dar, as will be related in
detail. The #zza, giving permission to leave Muzdalifa, was established as a right
of Baniui “Adwan, the nas?, the right of calendar intercalation, went to Fugaym,
while the Stifa enjoyed that of §@za, that is, of the naf?, the giving of the signal to
leave Mina. All this information on the prerogatives of these people has been
detailed above.
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Ibn Ishaq stated that Qusayy had four sons and two daughters, the sons being
‘Abd Manaf, ‘Abd al-Dar, ‘Abd al-“Uzza, and Abd, the daughters Takhmur and
Barra. 'The mother of all these was Hubb3i, daughter of Hulayl b. Hubshiyya b.
Salal b. Kah b. ‘Amr, al-Khuza4. It was from Hulayl that Qusayy b. Kilab tock
control over the Sacred House.

According to Ibn Hishim, ‘Abd Manif b. Qusayy had four sons, Hashim,
‘Abd Shams, and al-Muttalib, their mother being ‘Atika daughter of Murra b.
Hilal. Another son of his was Nawfal b. ‘Abd Manaf, his mother being Wagqida,
daughter of ‘Amr al-Maziniyya.

Ibn Hisham stated as well that ‘Abd Manaf also fathered Abf ‘Amr, Tumadir,
Qulaba, Hayya, Rayta, Umm al-Akhtham, and Umm Sufyan.

Also according to Ibn Hisham, Hashim b. ‘Abd Manaf had four (sic) sons and
five daughters. The sons were named ‘Abd al-Muttalib, Asad, and AbG Sayfi;
the daughters were Nadla, al-Shaff?®, Khalida, Da‘ifa, Ruqayya, and Hayya.
The mother of ‘Abd al-Muttalib and Rugayya was Salma, daughter of ‘Amr b.
Zayd b. Labid b. Khidash b. ‘Amir b. Ghanm b. ‘Adi b. al-Najjir from Medina.
Ibn Hisham also gave the names of the mothers of the remaining children.

He stated that ‘Abd al-Muttalib had ten sons and six daughters. The sons
were al-‘Abbas, Hamza, ‘Abd Allah, Abi Talib (whose name was ‘Abd Manaf
and not ‘Umran), al-Zubayr, al-Harith, who was the first-born of his father who
was therefore accorded his name, Jahl (whom some name as Hajl), who was
nicknamed al-Ghaydagq, “the liberal”, for his generosity, al-Muqawwim, Dirar,
and Abtu Lahab (whose name was ‘Abd al-‘Uzza). His daughters’ names were
Safiyya, Umm Hakim al-Bayda’, ‘Atika, Umayma, ‘Arwa, and Barra. And Tbn
Hisham also gave the names of their mothers. He stated that the mother of ‘Abd
Alldh, Abii Tilib, al-Zubayr and all the girls except Safiyya was Fatima, daughter
of ‘Amr b. ‘A%dh b. ‘Umran b. Makhzam b. Yagza b. Murra b. Ka®b b. Lwayy
b. Ghalib b. Fihr b. Malik b. al-Nadr b. Kinsna b. Khuzayma b. Mudrika b.
Ilyas b. Mudar b. Nizar b. Ma%d b. ‘Adnan.

He said further that ‘Abd Allah fathered Muhammad, the Messenger of God
(SAAS), the lord of all Adam’s children. His mother was Amina daughter of
Wahb b. ‘Abd Mapaf b. Zuhra b. Kilab b, Murra b. Kah b. LwPayy. He then
gave mention of all her maternal forebears.

Ibn Hishim concluded that the Prophet (SAAS) was the most noble of
Adam’s children in worthiness and descent from both his father and his mother.

Previously recounted is the following statement of al-Awza4 on the authority
of Shaddad Abu ‘Ammar from Withila b. al-Asqa® “The Messenger of God
(SAAS) said, ‘God chose Kinana from Ishmael’s progeny and Quraysh from
Kinana, Hashim from Quraysh, and myself from Hashim.’” Muslim recounted
this tradition.
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There will follow hereafter an account of the noble birth of the Prophet
(SAAS) and of the events and circumstances surrounding it. And in recounting
his honoured ancestry there will be other useful information not here given, if
God Almighty so wills it, and in Him is all trust and reliance.

An Account of a variety of events that occurred in the jahiliyya.

It has already been recounted how jurhum assumed control over the House
from Bani Isma‘il out of envy for them because they were the children of their
daughters. And similarly how it was that Khuza% fell upon Jurhum and took
over the House from them, and how ultimately its guardianship fell to Qusayy
and his sons, continuing in their hands until God sent his Messenger (SAAS)
. and how those prerogatives became established as they were.

Section: Information about a group of men famous in the jahiliyya.

An Account of Khalid b. Stnan the ‘Absite who lived in the
inter-prophet period and who some allege was a prophet.
But God knows best.

The kafiz Abn al-Qgsim al-Tabardni stated that Ahmad b. Zuhayr al-Tasaturri
related, quoting Yahya b. al-Mu<%lla b. Mangiir al-Razi, quoting Muhammad b.
al-Salt, quoting Qays b. al-Rabi¢, from Salim al-Aftas, from Sa‘id b. Jubayr, and
from Ibn ‘Abbas as follows, “The daughter of Khalid b. Sinan came to the
Prophet (SAAS) and he smoothed out his robe for her (to sit on), saying, ‘Here’s
the daughter of a prophet whose people squandered him.””

The Aafiz Abu Bakr al-Bazzar reported it from Yahya b. al-Mu%li b. Mansar,
from Muhammad b. al-Salt, from Qays, from Salim, from Sa‘id, from Ibn
‘Abbas, as follows, “Someone made reference to Khalid b. Sinan in the presence
of the Messenger of God (SAAS) who commented, ‘That was a prophet whose
people squandered him.””

Al-Bazzar then said, “And we have no direct reference of this kadith to the
Prophet other than in this form. Qays b. al-Rabi¢ was highly respected, though he
was not regarded as having been a good memorizer. He had a son who would add
extraneous material into the traditions he related. But God knows best.” Al-Bazzar
stated, “This hadith was also related by al-Thawri from Salim al-Aftas, transmitted
forward indirectly from Sa‘id b. Jubayr.”

The hafiz Abl Ya9a al-Mawsili stated that al-Mu%lla b. Mahdi al-Mawsili
refated to him, as did Abii ‘Awana, from Abii Ytinis, from ‘Akrama and down to
Ibn ‘Abbas, that a man from ‘Abs called Khalid b. Sinan said to his people, “I
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shall put out from you the fire of al-Ifarratayn!” But one of his people
responded, “O Khalid, you have only ever told us the truth; what have you to do
with the fire of al-Harratayn you claim you will extinguish?

So Khalid went forth accempanied by some of his people, including Umara
b. Ziyad, until they reached where the fire emerged from a fissure in the
mountain. Khalid then drew a line at which he made them sit, saying, “If I am
delayed, do not call for me by my name.” As the fire spurted out, it looked
like sorrel-red horses following one another. Khalid approached it and began
beating it with his stick saying, “Bada, badi, bada kullu huda; the son of the
goatherdswoman claimed I won’t come out from it bearing my clothes in my
hand.” Then he went inside the fissure with the fire. When he had been gone a
long time, ‘Umara b. Ziyad said to Khalid’s people, “By God, if he were alive
he would have come cut to you by now!” Some said, “Call out to him by
name.” :

The account continued, indicating that others replied, “He forbade us to call
him by his name.” But some did so and he emerged carrying his head, complaining,
“Didn’t I forbid you to call me by rame? By God, you’ve killed me, so bury me!
And if some donkeys pass, one of which is bobtailed, then exhume me and you’ll
find me alive.”

They did bury him and some donkeys did pass by, one of them being bob-
tailed. So some wanted to exhume him as he had told them to do but ‘Umara
argued, “No don’t exhume him. By God, Mudar won’t go around saying that we
dig up our dead!” Khalid had also told them, “In my wife’s possession there are
two tablets into which you must look if you should have difficulties; if you do so
you will find a response to your questions. But do not let a menstruating woman
touch them.” They therefore went to his wife and asked her about these tablets
and she brought them out. However, she was in menstruation, and so whatever
knowledge was in them had gone.

Aba Yunus stated that Sammak b. Harb responded that the Prophet (SAAS)
was asked about Khalid and he replied, “That was a prophet whose people
squandered him.”

Aba Yunus also reported that Sammak b. Flarb said that the son of Khalid b.
Sinan came to the Prophet (SAAS) who told him, “Welcome to my brother’s
son!” This comment is traced back to Ibn ¢Abbis who makes no reference to his
being a prophet. The accounts that do so cannot use this comment as a proof
that he was a prophet. What is most probable is that he was a pious man with
certain qualities and gifts. This is because if he had indeed lived in the inter-
prophet period, it was firmly established as incontrovertible in the sahih
collection of al-Bukhari that the Messenger of God (SAAS) stated, “The closest
of men to Jesus son of Mary is myself, for there came no prophet between him
and me.” And if Khalid had lived earlier, he could not have been a prophet,
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because God Almighty stated, “that you may warn a people to whom no warner
had come before you” (swrar al-Sajda, XXXI1, v.3).

A number of scholars have stated that God Almighty sent no prophet to the
Arabs after Ishmael except Muhammad (SAAS), the Seal of the Prophets
mentioned by Abraham, God’s true follower, who built the venerated ka%a
which God made the direction of prayer as 4 law for all the earth’s people; and
the other prophets announced to their peoples his coming, right on up to the last
of them to do so, namely Jesus son of Mary, upon whom be peace.

And in this same way may be refuted the reports of al-Suhayli and others
concerning the dispatch to the Arabs of another prophet named Shutayb b. Dhi
Muhdhim b. Shu%yb b. Safwan, lord of Madyan. Also the story that Hanzala
b. Safwan was sent to the Arabs and that since both he and Shu‘yb had been
disowned, God imposed Bukhtunassar (Nebuchadnezzar) over the Arabs who
suffered from him killing and captivity similar to those endured by the Israelites;
all this occurred in the time of Ma%d b. ‘Adnan.

What is evident is that these people were all good men advocating nighteousness.
But God knows best. We have previously given mention of ‘Amr b. Luhayy b.
(am b. Khindif in the account of Khuzi4 following Jurhum.

An Account of Hatim al-T®1, a good and generous man of the jahiliyya
period. '

He was Hatim b. ‘Abd Allah b. Sa’d b. al-Hashraj b. Imru® al-Qays b. ‘Adi b.
Ahzam b. Abu Ahzam, the name of the last being Harima b. Rabi% b. Jarwal b.
Tha? b. ‘Amr b. al-Ghawth b. Tayyi® Aba Saffana al-T21. Hatim was the father
of “Adi b. Hatim al-sahabi, “the Companion of the Prophet”. He was a generous
man much praised in the jzhiliyya period, as was his son after the coming of
Tslam.

Hatim was a man of such distinction and generosity that many extraordinary
events and strange accounts are associated with him, However, by these deeds
he did not seek the grace of God or the hereafter but was motivated by desiie for
fame and recognition.

The hafiz Abn Bakr al-Bazzar stated in his compilation of traditions that
Muhammad b. Mu%ammar related to him, as did ‘Ubayd b. Waqid the Qaysite,
as did Abt Nagr who was al-Naji, from ¢ Abd Allah b. Dinar, from Ibn <Umar
that Hatim was referred to in the presence of the Prophet (SAAS) and he com-
mented, “That man wanted something, and he attained it.”

This is a curious tradition. Al-Darqutni said that Ubayd b. Waqid was
unique in transmitting it, on the authority of Abul Nasr al-Naji, whose name is
said to have been Hammad.
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According to Tbn ‘Asakir, Abli Ahmad al-Hakim made a distinction between
Abun Nasr al-Naji and Abtu Nasr Hammad and that he was not named “al-Naji”.
Yet several accounts related by the zafiz Ibn ‘Asakir refer to an “AbT Nasr
Shayba al-Naji”. But God knows best.

Imam Ahmad (b. Hanbal) stated that Yazid b. Isma‘il related to him, as did
Sufyan, from Sammak b. Harb, from Mari b. Qatari, from ‘Adi b. Hatim who
stated that he said to the Messenger of God (SAAS); “My father was very
generous to his kinsfolk and very active on their behalif; does he get something
for that, some reward?” He responded, “Your father had sought something, and
he attained it.”

This tradition was similarly reported by Abu Ya'la, from al-Qawiriri, from
Ghandar, from Shu%ha, from Sammak, in the form: “He responded, “Your
father had wanted something, and he got it.”” By this he meant reputation. Abn
al-Qasim al-Baghawi related it thus, from ‘Al b. al-Ja'd from Shu%a.

In the sakik tradition compendium it has been established that the three kinds
of people by whom the fires of hell are fed include the man who spends his
money {on others) so that he will be considered generous. His pay-off is in having
that said of him on earth. So, too, is it with the scholar and the warrior. And in
another tradition in the sahik it tells how people asked the Messenger of God
(SAAS) about ‘Abd Allah b. judGn b. ‘Amr b. Ka®h b. Sa‘d b. Taym b. Murra,
saying, “He was hospitable, freed slaves, and gave to charity; did that benefit
him?” He responded, “But he never once said, ‘O God, forgive me my sins on
Judgement Day.’” This man was also one of those who were famous for their
generosity, who gave food in years of famine and times of destitution.

The hafiz Abti Bakr al-Bayhagi stated that he was informed by the £afiz Abu
‘Abd Allzh, AbT Bakr Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allzh b. Yaisuf al-‘Umani, that Abi
Sa‘id Ubayd b. Kathir b. Abd al-Wzhid al-Kafi related to him, as did Dirar b.
Surd, and ‘Asim b. Hamid, from Aba IHamza al-Thamali, from ‘Abd al-Rahman
b. Jandab, from Kumayl b. Ziyid al-Nakb‘i who said that ‘Ali b. Abu Talib
exclaimed, “Glory be to God! How many a man acts pious for gain! How strange
is someone who is approached by his Muslim brother in need yet does not see
his way to doing good. For even if he did not hope for reward or fear punish-
ment he ought to make haste in acting with nebility for it is such deeds that lead
to success.”

A man thereupon arose to ask him, “O Commander of the Believers, I pledge
you my father and my mother, did you hear that from the Messenger of God
{(SAAS)?” <Ali replied, “Yes. And T've a tale even betier than that. When T21’s
women were brought in as captives, one of them was red-haired, cherry-lipped,
smooth-skinned, slender-necked, fine-nosed, with a straight figure, raised head,
full ankles, plump legs, rounded thighs, slim waist, slender sides and well-
shaped body. I was much struck by her when I saw her and said T would request
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the Messenger of God (SAAS) to award her to me in my portion of the booty.
But when she spoke 1 forgot her beauty for the cfoquence I heard. She said, ‘O
Muhammad, will you not release me and spare me the malicious gloating of the
Arab tribes, for I am the daughter of the leader of my people. My father was
guardian of our sacred objects, he relieved the distressed, fed the hungry,
clothed the naked, gave generous hospitality, provided the best of food, spread
peace abroad and never refused the request of the needy. I am the daughter of
Hatim al-T21”

“The Prophet (SAAS) replied, ‘O girl, all that truly describes the believers.
Had your father been a believer, we would certainly have been merciful to him.
Release her, for her father was a man who loved to perform good deeds, and
God Almighty loves good deeds.’

“At that Abii Burda b. Niyar arose and said, ‘O Messenger of God, does God
really love good deeds?’

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) replied, ‘By him in whose hand is my soul,
no one will enter heaven except by good deeds.””

Abt Bakr b. Aba al-Dunyi stated that ‘Umar b. Bakr related to him, from
Aba ‘Abd al-Rahiman al-T#21 (his name being al-Qasim b. ‘Adi} from Uthman;
from Araki b. Hulays al-T#, from his father, from his grandfather (who was
the brother of ‘Adi b. Hatim from his mother’s side), that someone said to
al-Nawir, wife of Hatim, “Tell us about Hatim.”

She replied, “Everything about him was wonderful. Once we were afflicted
with a year of utter desolation when the earth quaked, the skies filled with dust
and wet nurses were too drained to suckle their children. The camels had
become completely emaciated, their bones showing through, and not producing
a drop of milk. And our money was all dried up.

“One interminable, cold night, with the small children writhing from hunger
(their names were ‘Abd Allah and ‘Adi and Saffana), he said, ‘By God, we don’t
have anything to pacify them with.” So he arose to one of the boys and lifted him
up, while I went over to the girl to pacify her. And, by God, they only quietened
down after a goad part of the night had elapsed. After that we went to the other
boy and rocked him until he became quiet, or almost so.

“Then we spread out a frayed Syrian rug we had and laid out the children on
it, with me and him sleeping in the one room with the children in between us.
Then he approached me, soothing me so I would sleep. T knew what he wanted,
so I pretended to sleep. He asked, ‘How are you? Have you fallen asleep?’ T said
nothing and he commented, ‘I see that she has fallen asleep, but Pm not sleepy.’

“When the night became pitch black, the stars having almost disappeared and
there was neither sound nor movement astir, the side of our tent was lifted. He
called out, “Who is there?’ The person went away. At daybreak, or thereabouts,
he again said, “Who is there?’ and a woman replied, ‘It is your neighbour
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so-and-so, Abi ‘Adi; I have no one to turn to but you. 'm coming to you from
my children who are moaning like wolves from their hunger. ‘Bring them to me
quickly,” he told her.”

Al-Nawar went on, “I jumped up and exclaimed, “What are you doing? Lie
down! Your children are writhing from hunger and you’ve no means to soothe
them, so what can you do for her and her children?’ He responded, ‘Be silent; by
God, I will satisfy you, if God wills it.””

She went on, “Se in she came, carrying two children and with four others
walking at her side, as though she were an ostrich surrounded by her chicks.
Then he went over to his horse, thrust his spear in its upper chest and struck his
flint and lit a fire. Next he brought a long knife and skinned the horse after
which he handed the knife to the woman saying, ‘After you.” Then he said,
‘Now send your children.” And she did so. Then he said (to al-Nawit) ‘You, evil
woman, would you eat sornething before a poor man’s children!’

“He then went all round to each one of them until they had all got up and
approached the horse. Then he wrapped himself up in his cloak and stretched
out to one side watching us. And, by God, he did not taste one bite himself, even
though he was the most of all in need. And by next morning there was nothing
of the horse left but bones and hooves!”

Al-Dirqutni stated that Qadi (judge) Abu ‘Abd Allzh al-Muhamili related to
him, as did ‘Abd Allah b. Abu Sa<d, as did ‘Uthaym b. Thawaba b. Hatim
al-T#1 from his father, from his grandfather, that IIatim’s wife said to Elarim,
“0 Abu Saffina, I desire that you and I eat alone together, with no one else
there.” So he gave her instructions, and she moved her tent a parasang, a couple
of miles, away from the rest. He ordered food and it was prepared, and the tent
curtains were let down for him and for her. When the food was cooked, he took
off his head-covering, then spoke these verses,

“Dwo not you cook my pot with your curtains hiding it; for me, then, what you cook
is forbidden.

But at that hill light the fire with heavy wood if you do light it, not with quick
kindling wood.”

The narrator continued, “Then he drew aside the curtains, brought out the
food and invited in the people. He and they then ate. She told him, ‘You haven’t
fulfilled what you said.” And he responded, ‘I couldn’t bring myself to do it. My
spirit was too noble to bring blame on me for this, when before I have always
been generous.” He then spoke the following:

‘T oppose the miser’s spirit till I overcome it and leave alone that of the generous
man, not battling it.

My neighbour woman has no complaint of me except that I do not visit her when
her husband is away.
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My goodness shall attain her, and her husband will return to her, while her veils
have not fallen short for her.”

Hatim’s verse includes the following:

“If T spent the night drinking and drinking in order to get drunk, may I never
quench my thirst!

If I spent the night deceiving my neighbour to cheat with his wife, hiding by the
dark, may I never be unseen!

Would I disgrace my neighbour woman and betray my neighbour?

By God, that F’ll never do so long as [ live.”

And also

“ft never harmed my neighbour next to whom I live that his door had no curtain;
I look down when my neighbour’s wife appears, until the women’s gquarters hide
her again.”

He also recited:

“It’s not of my nature to curse a cousin or to reject someone’s request,

And many an envious word I’ve heard for no wrongdoing on my part and said, ‘Let
it pass and spare me.’

They blamed it on my account but it never blemished me; my forehead never
sweated forit.

The two-faced finds me free but does not imitate me when he leaves.

I overcome his evil and turn from him, preserving my repute and my faith.”

And also he composed:

“Ask, O Umm Malik, the wretched and cold if, when he comes to me between my
fire and larder,

I smile on him. He is the first person served; on him I lavish charity, denying him
not.”

He also said:

“If you give your stomach its request, and your sexual desire too, they’ll both
together reach the utmost blame.”

The judge Abii al-Faraj al-Mu%fa b. Zakariyya® al-Jariri said that al-Husayn
b. al-Qasim al-Kawkabi related to him, as did Abu al-“Abbas al-Mubarrid that
al-Thawri told him, from Abu ‘Ubayda, that when the following verses of
al-Mutalammis reached Hatim al-T#1,

“One of little wealth you can repair and he survive, but not the man of much cor-
ruption.

And preserving wealth is better than exhausting it and wandering abroad without
provisions”,
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he said, “What’s wrong with him, may God cut his tongue! Is he advising people
to be miserly? Should he not have said,

‘Generosity will not exhanst one’s wealth before its going, nor stinginess increase
the miser’s wealth.

So don’t seek wealth through living miserly; for every day there’s a blessing that
comes anew.

Do you not see that wealth comes and goes, and that He who gives to you is not far

away.””

The judge Abi al-Faraj commented, “He (Hitim) spoke well with those
words, ‘He who gives to you is not far away,’ and if he had been a2 Muslim, good
would have been hoped for him in the hereafter. For God stated int the Qur’an,
“Ask of God from His bounty” (sérat al-Nusi@, IV, v.32) and also, “If my servants
ask vou about me (then say) that I am nigh and that I answer the call of those
who pray to me” (s@#rat al-Bagara, I, v.186).

And from al-Waddah b. Ma%ad al-T#1 comes the account that Flatm al-Ta%
presented himself at the court of al-Numan b. al-Mundhir, who received and
honoured him. Then upon his departure he gave him two camels loaded with
gold and silver, as well as valued produce of his land. So off went Ilitim, to be
met by bedouins of the Tayy? tribe as he approached home. They addressed him
thus, “O Hatim, you’ve just come from the king, whereas we have come from our
people in poverty!” Hatim responded, “Come and take what I have, 2nd distribute
it amongst you.” They rushed forward to do so, taking and distributing the gifts
of al-Numan. Then his maidservant, Tarifa, came out to Hatim and said, “Both
be pious and keep some for yourself; these people won’t leave you a dinar or a
dirham, a sheep or a camel.” Hatim responded by speaking the verses,

“Tarifa said: “You keep us no dirhams, though we are neither wasteful nor over-
burdened with them.’

If what we have is used up, then God will provide for us from someone else and it is
not we who will provide for ourselves,

No sooner does the dirham get acquainted with our rags than it passes on over and
leaves again, i

If our dirhams were once to assemble together, they’d compete with one another
for ways to give charity.”

Abu Bakr b. ‘Ayyash said that Hatim was once asked whether any other Arab
was more generous than he and he replied, “All the Arabs are more generous
than me!” Hitim then went on to relate that once he overnighted with a young
Arab, an orphan, who had 100 sheep. So he slaughtered for him one ewe and
when he brought it in and offered him its brain, Hatim commented, “What
delicious brain!™ Thercupon the young Arab kept on bringing him more and
more of it until he told him he had had enough. Next morning Hatim found out
that the young Arab had killed all 100 of the sheep and had nothing at all left for
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himself! Fatim was asked what he did then, and he replied, “However could [
thank him enough if T were to do all in the world for him? But in any case, I did
give him 100 of my very best camels.”

Mubiammad b. Ja‘far al-Khar2iti stated in his book Makdrim al-Akhlag (Acts of
Nobkility of Character), that al-*Abbas b, al-Fadl al-Rabi related to him, as did Ishiq
b. Ibrahim, as did Hammad al-Rawiyya and some elderly men of Tayy?, that it is
said that ‘Antara, daughter of Afif b. ‘Amr b. Imrv’ al-Qays, the mother of Flatim
al-Ta’1, could never hold on to anything due to her munificent generosity. Her
brothers would restrain her but she ignored them. Since she was a woman of
wealth they ultimately imprisoned her inside a house for a year, even feeding her
there to make her change her behaviour. After a year they released her, believing
she had reformed, and paid her over a portion of her money and told her to enjoy
it. But a woman frem Hawiézin who used to visit her came and asked her for money
and she responded, *“T'ake this money, for, by God, I've so suffered hunger myself,
I’ll spare no effort not to deny anyone who asks of me.” Then she spoke the following
verses,

“By my life, I have been so bitten before by hunger, that T'll spare no efforts never to
deny the hungry,

So say now to this man blaming me, ‘Spare me, and if you don’t then chew on your
own fingers!’

What can you tell your sister excepi your blame or the reproach of those who are
misers.

What you witness today is only my nature, and how, O brother, should I abandon my
nature?”

Al-Haytham b. ‘Adi stated, on the authority of Malhan b. ‘Araki b. ‘Adi b.
Hatim, on the authority of his father and his grandfather that he withessed Hatim’s
excessive generosity and that Hatim had said to him, “Now, son, | pride myself on
three qualities — I've never exposed 2 woman neighbour to suspicion, never given
my trust and not fulfilled it, and no one has ever come to harm from me.”

Aba Bakr al-Khar@iti said, ““Ali b. Harb related to us, quoting “Abd al-Rahman
b. Yahya al-‘Adawi, quoting Hisham b. Muhammad b. al-$a%b al-Kalbi, on the
authority of Abol Miskin (otherwise known as ja%ar b. al-Muharrir b. al-Walid)
from al-Mubarrir Mawla Abt Hurayra, as follows: ‘A party of men from the ‘Abd
al-Qays tribe passed the grave of Hatim al-7T21 and came near by. One of them,
Abt al-Khaybari by name, went over and began running his foot over his grave,
saying, “Q Abu Ja’d** give us hospitality!” One of his companions exclaimed,
“What are you doing, talking to a decomposed corpse!” After darkness had falien
they went to sleep, but the man who had addressed Hatim awoke in a fright and
began shouting, “Everyone, look to your mounts; Hatim came to me while I slept
and spoke verses I've memorized that went:

34. Nickname of Hiatim al-T#%.
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‘0 Abu al-Khaybari, you’re 2 man who brings disgrace and dishonour to the tribe.

You brought your companions to seek hospitality at 2 grave whose corpse had per-
ished. :

Do you wish to blame me when you stay here, while around you is the Tayy? tribe
and their generosity?

We're ones to satisfy our guests, and delay the milking of their camels when they
come to us.’”*

“He (Abi Hurayra) went on: ‘And then, to their surprise, the camel of the
man who had spoken to the grave began hobbling on three legs. So they killed it
and cooked and ate it, saying: “By God, Hatim hosted us both alive and dead!”

“ “Next morning they mounted their friend behind another rider and set off
and were surprised tc see a man waving to them as he approached on a camel,
leading another behind him. “Which of you is Abt al-Khaybari? ” he asked. Abi
al-Khaybari identified himself and the man explained, “Hatim came to me in my
sleep and told me he had hosted your companions with your camel, and so he
asked me to bring you this mount. Take it!” And he gave it to him.” ”

An Account of some maiters relatiﬁg to ‘Abd Allak b. Fudan.

His genealogy was ‘Abd Allah, son of Jud%n, son of ‘Amr, son of Ka%, son of
Sa‘d, son of Taym, son of Murrah, lord of the Bant Taym. He was the nephew
of the father of Abli Bakr a/-Siddig, “the trusting”, God bless him.

He was a noble knight during the era before Islam, one of those who gave gen-
erously to the needy.

At first he was poor and deprived, mean and sinful, so that his people, tribe,
kinsfolk, and family all hated him, even his father too.

One day he went off into the outskirts of Mecca, aimless and miserable, and
noticed a fissure in a mountain. He thought there might be something there that
would harm him, so he approached it, so that he might die and so be relieved
from his sufferings.

When he drew near it, he saw a serpent coming out towards him, darting at
him. He tried to avoid it, jumping away, but it was no use. But when it was upon
him, he saw it to be of gold, its eyes of sapphire. So he destroyed it, picked it up,
and went into the cave. To his amazement, there he found the graves of some of
the kings of Jurhum, including that of al-Harith b. Mudad, who had long ago
disappeared without trace. On their heads he found plaques of gold giving the
dates of their death and the periods of their reigns. All about them were large
quantities of jewels, pearls, gold, and silver. Of these he took what he wanted
and left, after having marked the entry to the cave. When he reached his people

35. So that the guests can keep the milk of their camels for themselves.



IMAM ABU AL-FIDA> ISMAGL IBN EATHIR 83

he made gifts to them so that they loved him and then he became their leader.
He would feed the people and when he ran out of valuables he would go off to
the cave, get more and return. Of those who reported this were ‘Abd al-Malik b.
Hisham in his book al-Tyan (The Crowns), and Ahmad b. ‘Ammar in the work
entitled Rayy al-“Atish wa Uns al-Wahish (Quenching the Thirsty and Comforting
the Lonely). He had a watering trough from which mounted riders would feed;
the trough was so large that a boy fell in and drowned.

Tbn Qurtayba 2nd others reported that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “1

used to shelter in the shade of ‘Abd Allah b. Jud%n’s watering trough during the
sweltering heat of midday.”
" In a hadith relating to the death of Aba Jahl, the Messenger of God (SAAS)
said to his Companions, “Lock for him among the dead; you will recognize him
by a scar on his knee. T was competing with him among the crowd at a feast
given by Ibn Jud%n. I knocked him over and he fell against his knee which
broke, the damage still being visible there on it.” And they did find him just so.

People report that he used to feed people with dates and barley and with milk
to drink until he heard the verses of Umayya b. Aba ai-Salt:

“I’ve seen doers and their deeds, and found their noblest to be Banti al-Dayyan.
Wheat mixed with honey is their food, not what Banti Jud%n entertain us with.”

So Ibn Jud%n sent off 2,000 camels to Syria, and they returned bearing wheat,
honey and butter. Then he had a man call out each night from the kg%a roof,
“You're all to come to Ibn Jud%n’s trough.” Whereupon Umayya spoke the
following: '

“He has one energetic fellow summoning {people) in Mecca, while another calls out
from above its ka%a
To come to large wooden platters filled with ears of wheat mixed with honey.”

Yet despite all this, it is established in the sekik tradition collection of Mushm
(b. al-Hadjdjaj) that ‘A%isha said: “O Messenger of God, Ibn Jud%n used to
donate food to eat and was hospitable to guests; will that benefit him on
Judgement Day?” He replied, “No; he never once said: ‘O my Lord, forgive me
my sins on Judgement Day.””

An Account of Imri? al-Qays b. Hujr al-Kindi, author of one of the
mu‘allaqat odes.

His ode is the most magnificent and best known of them all, and it begins:

“Halt here, both of you, and let us lament memory of a loved one and a dwelling . . .
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Al-Imam Ahmad stated that Hushaym related to him, as did Ab@ al-Jahm
al-Wasiti, from al-Zuhri, from Abt Salama, from Abu Hurayra, that the
Messenger of God (SAAS) said: “Imrw’ al-Qays will be the company commander
of the poets on their way to hell-fire!”

A large number of transmitters related this tradition from Hushaym, including
Bishr b. al-Hakam, al-Hasan b. ‘Arafa, ‘Abd Allah b. Hartin, the Commander
of the faithful al-M#miin, brother of al-Amin, and Yahyi b. Matin. Ibn *Adi
considered the transmission chain to be through ‘Abd al-Razzaq from al-Zuhri,
but this would then be discontinuous and bad from another direction, through
Abu Hurayra; and it would not be a reliable tradition except from the first chain
of transmission.

The hafiz Ibn ‘Asakir gave the genealogy of Imru’ al-Qays as having been the
son of Hujr, son of al-Harith, son of ‘Amr, son of Hujr, the @i/ al-mirar,* son
of ‘Amr, son of Mu%wiya, son of al-Harith, son of Ya%ub, son of Thawr, son of
Murta®, son of Mu%awiya b. Kinda. He was also known as Abu Yazid, Abad
Wahb, and Aba al-Harith al-Kindi. He lived in the regions of Damascus and
mentioned a number of these in his poetry, as for example in the lines:

“Halt here, both of you, and let us lament memory of a loved one and a dwelling at
the winding ridges between al-Dakhiil and Hawmal,

Tiidih and al-Migrat; its traces have not been erased by the interweaving winds
from south and north.”

These are well-known places in Hauran.”’

He then related, on a chain of authorities through Hisham b. Muhammad b.
al-S2*ib al-Kalbi that Farwa b. Satid b. ‘Afif b. Madi Karib related to him, from
his father, from his grandfather, that while he and others were with the Messenger
of God (SAAS) along came a delegation from Yemen. They said, “O Messenger
of God, God gave us life by two verses from the poetry of Imru’ al-Qays.” He
replied, “How so?” They explained, “We were making our way to visit you but
lost our way en route, spending three days unable to get water. So we split up at the
base of an acacia and a mimosa so that we each could die in the shade of a tree.
When we were at our last gasp, there was a man speeding on his camel. When
one of our men saw him, he spoke the following verses, the rider hearing them:

‘And when she (the wild ass) says that the water was her desire but that the white of
her veins was bloody™®
She made for the well at Dirij, its green slime shading it, overflowing.”®

36. One who ate the bitter desert plant Centaurea calcitrapa.

37. Huran is a plateau south of Damascus in Syria.

38. He implies that though the animal was thirsty, it was afraid that hunters might shoot 1t and
that its veins would bleed. :

39. Darij was near where the ‘Abd tribe dwelt. The verse suggests that the animal headed for
that well to be able to hide from huaters in the thick underbush.



IMAM ARU AL-FIDA® ISMA4L IBN KATHIR 85

“So the rider asked, “Whose verses are those?’ He saw our state of exhaustion.
We answered, ‘Imrw’ al-Qays b. Hujr.” Then he said, ‘By God, he did not lie;
this is Darij, where you are now.” So we looked, and there was the water about -
50 arm’s-lengths away. We slowly made our way to it on our mounts and found
it just as Imrw’ al-Qays had said, with ‘green-slime shading it’.

“Then the Messenger of God (SAAS) commented, “That’s a man who is
remembered on earth but forgotten in the next world, honoured in the former
but ignored in the latter. In his hands he will carry the banner of the poets, leading
them to heli-fire.””

Al-Kalbi reported that Imr’ al-Qays advanced with his banners flying
intending to battle Bana Asad after they had killed his father and passed by
Tabala. There was the shrine of Dha al-Khalasa, an idol at which the Arabs would
seek divine support. Imr® al-Qays asked for prophecy and the arrow for negation
came out. This then happened a second and a third time. At that he broke the
arrows and struck them against the face of Dhii al-Khalasa, exclaiming: “You’d bite
your father’s penis! If your father were the man murdered, youd not impede
me!” He then launched a raid against Ban@ Asad and engaged them in swift battle.

And al-Xalbi commented that {(from then on) until the arrival of Islam, sup-
port from Dha al-Khalaga was not sought.

Some say that Imrw’ al-Qays gave praise to the Byzantine emperor and asked
his support and assistance in certain wars but did not receive encouragement
from him. Consequently Imr® al-Qays spoke verses against him, and it is said
that the emperor gave him poison to drink and so killed him. Death came to him
when he was beside the grave of 2 woman on a mountain called Asib and it was
there he wrote the verses:

“Oh neighbour, the shrine is near and I rest where a mountain cleft is estab-
lished.
Oh neighbour, we are strangers here and all strangers are of 2 common kin.”

They say that the seven mu‘allagdr, the select, displayed odes, were hung up
on the ka%a. That was because when one of the Arabs composed an ode he
would exhibit it to Quraysh. If they approved of it they would hang it on the
ka%a in recognition of its worth. It is from this practice that the seven odes were
gathered. The first of these, as previously noted, was by Imrw’ al-Qays b. Hujr
the Kindite, as previously mentioned. It begins:

“Halt here, both of you, and let us lament memory of a loved one and a dwelling at
the winding ridges between al-Dakhiil and FHawmal.”

The second ode was by al-Nabigha al-Dhubyani, whose given name was
Ziyad b. Mu%wiya . He is also said to have been Ziyad b. ‘Amr b. Mu%Gwiya,
who was the son of Dabbab b. Jabir b. Yarbti¢b. Ghayz b. Murra b.‘Awf b. Sa'd
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b. Dhubyan b. Baghid. His ode begins:

“(h abode of Mayya at al-‘Aly®, the mountain top; your peopi¢ have gone for so
long and carlier generations dwelt there.”

The third ode was by Zuhayr b. Abt Sulmai, also named Rabi% b. Riyah
al-Muzani. It begins:
“Are there still some voiceless remnants of Umm ‘Awfa’s dwelling at the plain of

al-Darr3j and al-Mutathallam?”

The fourth was composed by Tarafa b. al-¢Abd b. Sufyan b. Sa‘d b. Malik b.
Dubay% b. Qays b. Thatlaba, the son of Ukaba b. Sa% b.‘Ali b. Bakr b. W#il. It
opens:

“On the rocky ground of Thahmad, there are traces still of Khawla, visible like the
shadow of an old tattoo on the back of a hand.”

The fifth ode was by ‘Antara b. Shaddad b. Mu%@wiya b. Qurad b. Makhzum
b. Rabi%a b. Malik b, Ghalib, the son of Qutay‘a, the son of ‘Abs the ‘Absite. It
begins:
“Have the poets left anything unsaid, er have you recognized the abode after using
imagination?” _
The sixth was by ‘Algama b.‘Abda b. al-Nu%man b. Qays, 2 member of Banta
Tamim. It opens:

“Though your heart is burdened with care, there is joy in beautiful women; soon
after youth comes time for greyness.”

The seventh ode — and there are some who do not affirm it to have been one
of the mu‘allagat, as, for example al-Asma‘i and others — is by Labid, the son of
Rabi% b. Malik b. Ja%far b. Kilab b. Rabi‘ b. ‘Amir b. Sa%sa% b. Mu@wiya b.
Bakr b. Hawiazin b. Manstr b. Tkrima b. Khasafa b. Qays b.‘Aylan b. Mudar. It
begins:

“The place where she dwelt at Min3; its water-troughs and its mountains have been
deserted.”

As for the ode of unknown authorship, according to Aba Ubayda, al-Asma‘i,
al-Mubarrid and others, it reads:

“Ts there any reply for one who asks at the ruins; or has it ever been accustomed to
speak?”

It is a lengthy poem and has many fine lines.
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SOME INFORMATION ABOUT UMAYYA B. ABU AL-SALT AL-THAQAFI;
HE WAS A PRE-ISLAMIC POGET WHOQ LIVED ON TO THE TIME OF
ISLAM.

The £afiz Tbn ‘Asakir said that his name was Umayya b. Abt al-Salt, ‘Abd Allah b.
Abt Rabi% b. ‘Awf, the son of Ugqda b. 9zza b. ‘Awf b. Thaqif b. Munabbih b.
Bakr b. Hawazin, known as Abi ‘Uthman and some say Abii al-Hakam al-Thagafi.

He was a pre-Islamic poet who went to Damascus before Islam. It is said that
he was a righteous man and initially a man of the faith, but he turned away from
it, and that God was referring to him in the words: “Tell them of him to whom
we brought our signs, but he passed them by; so Satan followed him, and he
went astray” (s@rat al-A%af, V11, v.175).

Al-Zubayr b. Bakkir said that Rugayya daughter of ‘Abd Shams b. ‘Abd
Manaf gave birth t6 Umayya the poet; the son of Abd al-Salt, whose name was
Rabia b. Wahb b. Ildj b. Abai Salama b. Thaqif.

Others said that his father was a famous poet of T#if, and that Umayya was
their best poet.

‘Abd al-Razziq said that al-Thawri stated that Habib b. Abti Thabit reported
to him that “Abd Allah b, ‘Amr said that by God’s words: “Tell them of him to
whom we brought our signs but he passed them by; so Satan followed him and
he went astray”, Umayya b. Abu al-Salt was implied.

And thus did AbT Bakr b. Mardawayh, from AbT Bakr al-Shafi4, from
Mu%dh b. al-Muthannz, from Musaddad, from Abu ‘Awana, from ‘Abd
al-Malik b.Umayr, from Nafi‘ b. ‘Asim b. Mas0d. He said that he was in a
circle in which was ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Amr: One person there quoted the verse in
the Qurian chapter al~-A%af: “Tell them of him to whom we brought our signs
but he passed them by.” So he asked, “Do you know who he is?” Someone said:
“Sayfi b. al-Rahib.” Someone else said, “No, he is Balam, an Israelite.”
“Incorrect,” he replied. Someone asked, “Who, then?” “Umayya b. Abt al-Salt,”
he answered.

Abu Silib and al-Kalbi said the same, and (Qatada reported it from several
others.

AJ-Tabrani said that ‘Ali b.Abd al-Aziz related to him, quoting ‘Abd Allah
b. Shabib al-Rab‘i, quoting Muhammad b. Maslama b. Ilisham al-Makhztmi,
quoting Isma‘il, the son of al-Turayh b. Isma‘il al-Thaqafi, that his father told
him on the authority of his father, from Marwan b. al-FHakam, from Mu%wiya b.
Abii Sufyan from his father, saying: “I and Umayya b. Aba al-Salt went on busi-
ness to Syria and whenever we stopped anywhere for the night Umayya would
take out a sacred book he had and would read it to us. This went on until we
stopped at a Christian village. So its people came to him, honoured him and
gave him presents, and he went off with them to their houses.
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“Late in the morning he came back, threw off his two garments and took out
two biack ones he had and dressed in them. He then asked me: ‘Aba Sufyan, do
you have access to any Christian scholar well versed in the Bible you could ask a
question?’ I replied, ‘I’ve no interest in that; if such a person were to tell me
something T wanted, I’d not trust him. And if he told me something I disliked,
I’d certainly be very angry with him.””

He went on, “So he went away and a Christian sheikh disputed with him.
Then Umayya came in to me and said: ‘What prevents you from going to this
sheikh?’ T replied that [ was not of his religion, but Umayya responded, ‘So
what? You’d hear and see wonderful things from him.” Then he said: ‘You’re of
Thaqif, aren’t you?’ ‘No,’ I replied, ‘but I am of Quraysh.’ ‘Well,’ he asked, ‘s¢
what prevents you from going to the sheikh? He likes you, I swear it, and he’d
counsel you.’

“Umayya then left and remained with them till he returned to us later that
night; he undressed and fay down on his bed. But T swear he was restless!

“Next morning he was sad and depressed, his ‘evening drink dropping on his
morning draught’ (as the saying goes) not speaking to us, nor we to him.
Eventually he said, “Won’t you ride?” I responded: ‘You want to leave then?” He
replied, ‘Yes.’

“So we rode away and travelled for two nights. Then on the third night he
said: “Wouldn’t you like to talk, Abii Sufyan?’ I replied, “There’s something you
want to tell? I swear, I never saw anything like the way you came back from your
friend.

“‘Well that’s something you’ve nothing to do with; but it’s to do with some-
thing that scared me about my mungalab {hereafter).’

“‘Do you have a munqgalab then?’ 1 asked.

““Yes, by God,” he replied, ‘T’'m to die then be brought back to life.

“‘Want to take my wager?’ I asked.

“*What about?’

““That you’ll not be brought back nor be called to account.’

“He laughed, then said, ‘Oh but yes, by God, Abu Sufyan; we certainly will
~ be brought back, and then called to account so that one gronp can enter heaven
and another hell-fire.’

“‘And which group are you in according to what your friend told you?’

“‘He has no knowledge of that, either in my case or his own.’

“We journeyed on for two more nights, with him wondering at me and me
laughing at him, until we reached the Damascus valley. There we sold our
goods, remaining there two months.

“Then we again journeyed on until we reached a Christian village, where we
made a stop. When they saw him they came to him, gave him gifts and he went
with them to their houses. He came back in the afternoon, put on his two garments
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and went to them. He returned later that night, threw off his clothes and fell on
his bed. But { swear he did not sleep a wink.

“Next morning he was sad and depressed, not talking to us nor we to him.
Then he said, “Wouldn’t you like to move on?’

““Why ves,” I responded. So we travelled on several nights, with him still
depressed. Eventually he spoke, asking, ‘Abii Sufyin, would you like to travel on
in advance of our companions?’

““Would you like that?” I responded.

“‘Yes,” he replied.

“So off we went and travelled one hour’s distance ahead of our companions.
Then he said: ‘Let’s go to a rock.’

“‘What do you want,” I asked him and he replied, “Tell me about Utba b,
Rabi‘a; does he avoid doing wrong or evil?’

“*Certainly, by God.

“‘Is he held in esteem by high and low, a central figure in the triber’

““Yes.

“‘Do you know any man of Quraysh more noble than him?’

“*No, by God, I know of no one.’

“*Is he financially needy?’ he asked.

“‘On the contrary, he’s a man of great wealth.’

“‘How old is he?’

“‘He’s over a hundred,’ I replied.

“‘So nobility, age, and wealth have brought him contempt.’

“‘Why should all that bring him contempt? No, by God, they benefit him.’

“‘Just so; would you like to rest here?” he then asked.

“‘I would,’ I replied.

“So we rested till our fatigue passed. Then we travelled on till we alighted at
the next rest station where we stayed. When it was night he spoke to me: ‘Abi
Sufyan.’

“‘What do you want?’ I asked.

“*Would you like to proceed as yesterday?’

“‘Would you?’ I asked.

“‘Yes,” he replied.

“So on we went on two long-necked camels until we were ahead. He said:
‘Let’s go to a rock and talk again about Ujtha b. Rabi%.’

“‘Let’s talk of him again,’ T replied.

“*Does he avoid wrongdoing and evil and do good and order good be done?’
he asked.

“*Yes, by God, all that he does.’

“‘Is he wealthy?’

““Yes, he’s wealthy.’
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“Do you knew of any man of Quraysh more central than him?’

“*No, no one.’

“‘How old is he?’ he asked.

“‘He is over a hundred.’

“‘So his age, nobility, and wealth have brought him contempt?’

“‘Certatnly not, by God,; if you have something to say, then do so.”

“‘No,” he replied, ‘Just remember what I said, whatever results from it.”

“Then he went on: “What so affected me was going to that scholar and asking
him some things and then saying to him, “Tell me about the prophet who is
expected.”

“‘Tle replied that he was an Arab; I responded that T knew that, and asked
him from what group of Arabs.

“‘He said: “He is from the people of a house to which the Arabs make pil-
grimage.”

“‘I said, “We have a house to which the Arabs make pilgrimage.”

“‘He replied: “He is one of your brothers from Quraysh.”

““This had an impact on me, by God, like nothing ever had before, and the
success of this world and the next left my grasp. I had wanted to be him. I asked
him then:

“‘“If so it will be, describe him to me.”

“‘“He is a man young when he entered old age; he started out avoiding
wrongdoing and evil, doing good and ordering it. He is poor, respected by high
and low and has a central position in the tribe. Most of his army are of angels.”

“¢“What is the sign of that?” I asked and he replied:

“c“After the death of Jesus son of Mary, peace be upon him, Syria suffered 80
earthquakes, each causing a disaster. One overall quake is left which will bring
several disasters.”””

Abu Sufyan went on: “I responded: ‘But, by God, that’s silly; if God sent a
messenger he would enly take him away in age and honour.”

“Umayya spoke up, ‘But by him whose name you inveked, that's how it is, Abn
Sufyan. He is reiterating that the Christian’s statement is true. Shall we rest here?’

““Yes, I'd like that,’ I responded.”

He went on: “So there we stayed until our fatigue left us and we travelled on
till we were a two-stage or two-nights’ distance from Mecca. Then a rider
caught us up from behind; we questioned him and he said: ‘After you left, the
people of Syria suffered an earthquake that devastated them and caused them
heavy losses.””

Abu Sufyan went on: “Then Umayya approached me and asked: ‘So what do
you think about what the Christian said, Abol Sufyan?’

“T replied: ‘By God, it’s my considered view that what your friend told you
was right.””
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Abi Sufyan continued: “So we arrived at Mecca where I settled my current
affairs, then left for Yemen on business, staying there five months before returning
to Mecca.

“While there at my house people come to greet me and ask me about their
goods. Eventually Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allih came to me; Hind was there with
me playing with her children. He greeted me, welcomed me back and asked me
about my journey and accommodations, but he did not enquire about his goods.
Then he rose. I commented to Hind, ‘By God, that surprises me! Every one of
Quraysh who had goods with me asked me about them, but this man did not ask
about his.’

“Hind asked: ‘Don’t you know what’s going on with him?’

“Apprehensive, I asked her what, and she replied: ‘He claims to be a messenger
from God.”

“She dumbfounded me. I recalled what the Christian had said, and I shivered.
Hind asked me what was the matter and I came to myself and said: “This s
crazy! He is too smart to say that.’

“‘On the contrary,” she explained, ‘he really is saying that and promulgating
that. He also has followers in his religion.’

““Thas 1s crazy,” [ repeated.”

Aba Sufyan continued: “I then went outside and while performing a ritual
circumambulation of the £g2%a T met up with him. ! said to him: ‘Your goods
totalled up to so-and-so and there were profits. Send someone to receive them; I
won’t be taking out the cut I charge my own people.’

“But he refused that, saying: “Then I won’t accept them.” I went on: “Then
send someone to take them and I will subtract the cut I get from my people.” So
he did send for his goods and received them, while I had from him what I would
take from others.”

Abi Sufyin went on: “Soon thereafter I left for Yemen. Then I went to T#if,
where I stayed with Umayya b. Abil al-Salt. He said he wanted to ask me some-
thing, and I enquired what. He said: ‘Do you remember what the Christian
said?’ '

“I replied: ‘I do remember and it has come about.’

“‘Who is he then?” he asked.

“‘He is Muhammad b.°Abd Allah,’ I replied.

““The son of *Abd al-Muttalibr’

“‘Yes, the son of ‘Abd al-Muttalib.” Then T related to him what Hind had
said.

““Well, God alone knows!” he exclaimed, and began sweating profusely.

“Then he said: ‘By God, Abii Sufyan, perhaps it is him! The description
certainly fits him. And if he has appearcd while Pm alive, I'll seek from God
success from him in absolution.’
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“] then went off to Yemen and soon heard there of his appearance as a
prophet. So I went forth until I reached Umayya b. Abu al-Salt in al-T#®if and
asked: ‘Oh Abt ‘Uthman, yeu must have heard about about what’s going on
with the man.’

‘It has come to pass, by my life.’

“‘So how do you stand with him, AbT Uthman?’

“He replied, ‘T wasn’t one to believe in any prophet coming from any tribe
other than Thaqif.””

Abu Sufyan continued: “I went on again to Mecca which didn’t take long
since it was not far, and I found that his companions were being beaten and
reviled.

“So I began asking myself: “Where are his hosts of angels?” And I was assailed
by the jealousies that enter people.”

This (previous) anecdote was also reported by the zafiz al-Bayhaqi in the book
al-Dal@ii (The Signs) from a hadirh via Isma‘il b. Turayh. But the sequence given
by al-Tabrani we have quoted is fuller and lengthier. But God knows best.

Al-Tabrini stated that Bakr b. Ahmad b. Nufayl related to him, quoting ‘Abd
Allah b. Shabib, quoting Ya‘qub b. Muhammad al-Zuhri, quoting Mujashi¢ b.
‘Amr al-Asadi, quoting Layth b. Sa<d, from Abii al-Aswad Muhammad b. Abd
al-Rahman from ‘Urwa b. al-Zubayr, from Mu%wiya b. Abt Sufyan, from Abu
Sufyin b. Harb, who said that: “Umayya b. Abu al-Salt had been (with me) at
Ghazza or Iliy® and while we were returning home Umayya asked me: ‘Aba
Sufyan, would you like to go on in advance of our companions so that we can
talk?’

“‘Yes,” I agreed.

“So we did.”

“Then he asked: “What about ‘Utba b. Rabi%?’

“‘Honoured by high and low.’

“‘And does he avoid sin and evil deeds?’

143 ‘Yes-i

“‘Ts he aged and of noble birth?’

“‘Both aged and of noble birth.’

“‘Nobility and age have brought him contempt!

““You lie; his increase in age brought him only increase in honour.”

““Abni Sufyan, that’s a word I've never heard anyone say to me since I
reached awareness; don’t rush to judgement before I tell you.”

“‘Well then do so,” I responded.

“‘In my books I would find reference to a prophet who would be sent from
this area of ours and T thought — indeed I had no doubt - that T would be him.
But when I enquired of scholars, he was to be of Bant ‘Abd Manaf. So I looked
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into Banti ‘Abd Manaf and the only person I found worthy of such a mission was
Utba b. Rabi‘. And when you told me of his age, I knew that it was not him,
since he had passed the age of 40 and had not received revelation.””

Abi Sufyin went on: “So destiny struck its blow and revelation came to the
Messenger of God (SAAS). And I left in a party of Quraysh on a business trip to
Yemen, so I passed by Umayya and commented mockingly: ‘Well Umayya, the
prophet you were describing has emerged.’

“‘Indeed he is true, vou should follow him,” he replied.

“‘But what prevents you from following him?’ I enquired.

“‘Nothing but the embarrassment before the women of Thaqif. I have been
telling them that I was him, then they would see me a follower of a young man of
Bant ‘Abd Manaf!’

“Then Umayya continued: ‘It’s to me as though, Abii Sufyan, you've defied
him then have been bound fast like a billy goat and taken to him for whatever
judgement he might want.””

¢Abd al-Razzaq said that Ma‘mar related to him, from al-Kalbi, as follows:
“Umayya was once lying down with two of his daughters present when one of
them got scared and screamed to him. ‘“What’s wrong?’ he asked her. She
replied: ‘I saw two eagles rip off the roof of the house. Then one of them
sweoped down on you and split open your belly while the other perched on top
of the house. The latter asked: “Is he aware?” “Yes,” was the response. “Is he
pure?” the eagle asked again. “No,” came the answer.’

“He then said: “This was good expected of your father; but he did it not.””

This was also told from another source in another way. Ishiq b. Bishr said,
from Muhammad b. Ishaq, from al-Zuhri, from Sa‘id b. al-Musayyib and
(Uthman b. ‘Abd al-Rahman, from al-Zuhri, from Sa‘id b. al-Musayyib that
al-Fari%, sister of Umayya b. Aba al-Salt, went to see the Messenger of God
(SAAS}) after the conquest of Mecca. She was a person of reason, intellect, and
beauty, and the Messenger of God (SAAS) was much impressed by her. One
day he asked her: “Fari%, do you know any of your brother’s poetry?” “Yes
indeed; and even more remarkable than that is what I've seen.”

She went on: “My brother was on a journey and after he left he appeared to
me, and came and lay on my bed while I was stripping hair off a piece of hide I
held. Suddenly two white birds — or what seemed like two white birds —
appeared. One alighted at the high window while the other came in and
descended on to him. The latter then made a split between his chest and his
pubic region, put its hand inside him, drew forth his heart, placed it on its palm
then sniffed it. The other bird then asked: ‘Is he awarer’ *Yes, he’s aware,” the
second replied. ‘Ts he pure?’ it asked again. ‘He declined,’ answered the second.
Then it replaced his heart where it belonged and the wound was healed in the
twinkling of an eye. Then the two birds were both gone.
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“When T had seen that I went over to him and stirred him, saying: ‘Do you
feel anything?”’ He answered, ‘No, except for some weakness in my body.’
“I had been alarmed at what T had seen and he asked, ‘Why do I see you
upset?’
“So I told him what had happened, and he responded: ‘Goodness was wanted
of me but was averted from me.” He then spoke the verses:

‘My cares’ distresses flowed on, blinding my eyes, my tears preceding,

From the certainty that had come to me, and 1 had been brought no disavowal con-
veyed by anyone who spoke (to me),

Will I be one of those blazed by fire surrounding them like a tent (by its smoke and
flames)

Or will T dwell in the paradise promised the guiltless, its cushions piled high?

The two positions are not equal there, nor are actions equal in kind,

They are two groups, one who enter paradise, its gardens enfolding them,

And another group sent to hell, its installations paining them,

These hearts were long accustomed, whenever tending to goed, to have barriers set
up against them,

And these were diverted to misfortune away from the pursuit of paradise by a
world which God will erase.

A slave who called for his soul and censured it, knowing that God, the acutely
aware, 1s clearly watching,

What gives the spirit a desire for life? Fven though it lives a while, death overtakes
it.

One fleeing his fate will one day soon unexpectedly agree 1o it,

If you don’t die exultant you will die decrepit; death has a cup and man must taste
i’

She went on: “Then he continued on his journey, but only a little thereafter
he was borne along in his bier. When news of it came to me I went to him and
found him Iaid out in his burial winding-sheet. When I drew near him he emit-
ted a deep sigh and stared; he looked up to the ceiling and raised his voice,
saying: '

“*Labbaykuma! Labbaykuma! At your service, at your service both of you;
here T am before you both, not with money to ransom me nor with a clan to
protect me.’

“He then lost consciousness, having emitted a deep sigh. So I said, “The man
has expired!’

“But he stared up to the ceiling and raised his voice, saying: ‘At your service,
at your service both; here am I before you both. Not innocent to seek forgive-
ness, nor with kinsfolk to achieve victory.’

“Then he lost consciousness, but suddenly emitted a deep sigh, stared up to
the ceiling and said: ‘At your service, at your service both, here am I before you
both, blessed by good fortune but destroyed by wrongdoing.’
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“Then he lost consciousness, but suddenly emitted a deep sigh and said, ‘At
your service, at yeur service you both, here T am before you both.

“*If, O Lord, you forgive, forgive en masse; what slave of yours has no pain.’

“Then he lost consciousness but soon emitted a deep sigh, and said: ‘Each
life, though it may last very long, is moving on but once till when it ceases.

““Would that I were, before what appeared to me, shepherding goats in the
mountain heights.””

She went on: “And then he died. The Messenger of God (SAAS}) told me: ‘O
Fiari%, your brother is like him to whom God brought his signs but he passed
them by . . .’ (to the end of the verse)” (sarat al-A%af, V1L, v.175).

Al-Khatiibi spoke of the strangeness of this hadiih.

The hafiz Ibn ‘Asakir related of al-Zuhri that he said, “Umayya b. AbT al Salt
spoke the verse:

‘Is there not a2 messenger to us from us who can inform us what is the distance of
our ultimate goal from the beginning of our course.’”

Al-Zuhri went on: “Then Umayya b. Ab al-Salt left for Bahrain and the
Messenger of God (SAAS) claimed prophecy. Umayya resided eight years in
Bahrain then went to T#if, where he asked people, ‘What is Muhammad son of
¢Abd Allzh saying?’

“They replied: ‘He claims that he is a prophet; he is the one you were wishing
for.””

He continued: “So Umayya left for Mecca where he met him and asked: ‘O
son of ‘Abd al-Muttalib, what is this you are saying?’ He replied: ‘T say that Iam
the Messenger of God, and that there is no God but Him.” Umayya said, ‘I
would like to speak with you; give me an appointment tomorrow.’ ‘Certainly,
you have an appointment tomorrow, came the reply. Umayya then asked:
“Would you like me to come alone or with a group of my friends?’ “Whichever
you prefer,” responded the Messenger of God (SAAS). “Then I will come with a
group, and so you too come with a group,’ concluded Umayya.

“So early morning Umayya appeared with a group from Quraysh while the
Messenger of God (SAAS) came with a number of his Companions. They all sat
down in the shade of the katha. Umayya began by making an address, then spoke
some rhyming prose, and recited some poetry. When he had finished the poetry,
he said: ‘Answer me then, son of ‘Abd al-Muttalib.” At that the Messenger of
God (SAAS) spoke the words, ‘In the name of God the beneficent, the merciful,
Y3 Sin. By the Quran full of wisdom.” (si#raz Yi Sin, XXXVI, v.1-2). When he
had finished the chapter, Umayya arose suddenly and walked off, dragging his
feet. The Quraysh men followed him, asking, “Well, what do you have to say,
Umayya?’ ‘I bear witness’, replied Umayya ‘that he is right. ‘Wlll you follow
him?’ they asked. ‘Until 1 Iook into his case,’ he replied.”
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He continued: “Umayya went off to Syria and the Messenger of God
(SAAS) left for Medina. Then, following the deaths of the people at the battle of
Badr, Umayyz returned from Syria and stayed at Badr. He travelled on to see
the Messenger of God (SAAS). Someone asked Umayya: ‘O Aba al-Salt, what
do you want?” ‘I want Muhammad,” he replied. ‘What will you do?’ he was
asked. He replied, ‘I believe in him and I will throw him the keys of this affair.’
Someone asked him: ‘Do you know who is in the burial pit?’ ‘No,” he answered.
He was told: “In it are ‘Utba b. Rabi% and Shayba b. Rabi%, your maternal
uncle’s sons, along with his mother Rabi%, daughter of ‘Abd Shams.””

He went on: “So Umayya mutilated the ears of his riding camel and cut off its
tail,*® then stood over the pit and spoke the verses:

“What is in Badr - Mt. ‘Agangal but chiefs and noble lords ...
(up to the end of the ode, which we will give in full in relating the history of the
battle of Badr, if God wills it.)

“He then returned to Mecca and T#if and feft Islam.”
The source then related the story of the two birds and that of his death as we
have given. At his death he spoke the verses:

“Each life, though it may last very long, is moving on but once till when it ceases,

Would that I were before what appeared to me, shepherding goats in the mountain
heights,

So keep death before your vision and beware the destruction of fate, for fate has its
cvil demons

Their claws attaining lons, wild bulls, and the voung child with red eyvesY at a
lighthouse,

And the mountain vultures, the fleeing gazelles, and the young ostrich, mixed in
flock, thin.”

He means in these verses that wild animals in the deserts do not escape death,
nor do vultures living on mountain tops; death does not leave alene the young
for their youth, nor the old for their age. Al-Khatabi and others have spoken of
the rarity of these accounts.

Al-Suhayli mentioned in his book al-Ta%if wa al-INam (Identifying and
Informing) that Umayya b. Abt 2l-Salt was the first who said, “bismika
Allahumma”, i.e. “in your name, Q) God”. And concerning that he told a strange
tale, as follows. He says that they were among a group of Quraysh who went
away on a journey. They inciuded IHarb b. Umayya, the father of Abn Sufyan.
On their way they came across a snake and killed it. But that evening a spirit
woman came to them and berated them for killing that snake. With her she had a

49. Presumably actions denoting his mourning for his relatives.
41. Presumably from weeping.
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staff which she struck on the ground so hard that it completely stampeded their
camels and they scattered in all directions. So off they went and chased them till
they had them back. When they were all gathered, she again appeared, struck
her staff on the ground and stampeded the camels. So off they went to search for
them but having failed they asked Umayya, “By God, do you have any way out
of our problem?” He replied, “No, by God, but I'll lock into it.” So they travelled
on into that region hoping to find someone whom they could ask for some solution
to their trouble. Eventually they saw a light ahead in the distance. When they
arrived there they found an old man lighting a fire at the door of his tent. But he
was in fact an evil spirit who was extremely tiny and ugly. They greeted him and
he asked them what they wanted. (When they told him) he said: “When she comes
to you, say: ‘In your name, O God’ and she wiil flee.” So when the travelters had
assembled their camels and she came for the third or fourth time, Umayya
looked her in the face and said: “In your name, O God.” She promptly fled in
disarray. But the evil spirits attacked Harb b. Umayya and killed him with that
snake. His companions buried him there far from home or friend. On that
subject the spirits spoke the verse:

“The grave of Harb is in a wasteland and there is no grave near that of Harb.”

Some people say that Umayya sometimes understood the languages of the
animals. When passing some bird in his travel he weuld tell his companions,
“This one says so-and-so.” But they would say they did not know whether he
spoke the truth. But once they passed by a flock of sheep from which an ewe and
her kid had been separated. She turned to it and bleated, as though urging it to
hurry. Umayya asked his companions whether they knew what it said and they
replied that they did not. He explained: “She’s saying, ‘Let’s hurry along so the
wolf won’t come and eat you up like one did yvour brother last year.”” The group
moved quickly on and asked the shepherd whether a wolf had eaten a sheep in
that area the previous year. He replied in the affirmative! One day, moreover,
Umayya passed by a mule carrying a woman and raising its head to her and
grumbling. Umayya said: “The mule is telling the woman that there’s a needle
in the saddle which she mounted on him.” So they took the woman off, untied
the saddle, and discovered there was a needle as he had said.

Tbn al-Sikkit recounted that Umayya b. Abt al-Salt was drinking when a crow
cawed. Umayya said, “May you have dust twice in your mouth!” His compan-
ions asked Umayya what it was saying and he replied that it had said: “You’ll
drink that cup in your hand then die.” At that point the crow cawed again and
Umayya reported: “It says: “The proof is that I'm going to fly down to this
garbage pile, eat some and a bone is going to stick in my throat so I will die.”” At
that the crow swooped down to the garbage pile, ate something, a bone lodged in
its throat and it died!
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Umayya said, “Well, he spoke the truth in this about himself but I’'m going to
sec whether he was right about me or not.” He then drank that cup in his hand,
keeled over, and died!

The following anecdote is established in the safik collection in a hadith of Ibn
Mahdi from al-Thawri from ‘Abd al-Malik b. Urmayr, from Abl Salama, from
Abu Hurayra who said that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said: “The truest
word spoken by a poet is the verse of Labid:*

‘Is not all vain except God.’

“And Umayya b. Abf al-Salt almost became a Muslim.”

The Imam Ahmad stated that Rawh related to him, quoting Zakariya’ b. Ishaq,
from Ibrghim b, Maysara, that he heard ‘Amr b. al-Sharid say that al-Sharid
stated, “T was riding on the same camel as the Messenger of Ged (SAAS) when
he asked me, ‘Do you know any of the verses of Umayya b. Aba al-Salt?’ “Why
yes,” I replied. ‘So recite them,’ he asked. I then did recite a line and he went on
asking for more, with me reciting till I had spoken a hundred lines for him. At~
that point the Prophet (SAAS) remained silent as did 1.”

This anecdote is similarly told by Muslim from a fadith of Sufyan b. Uyayna
from Abt Tamim b. Maysara. In another line we have it from ‘Amr b. al-Sharid
from his father al-Sharid b. Suwayd al-Thagafi from the Prophet (SAAS). In
some accounts the Messenger of God’s words were, “If he had almost become a
Muslim.”

Yahya b. Muhammad b. Sa‘id stated that Torahim b. Safid al-Jawhari refated
to him, quoting Abt Usima, quoting IHatim b. Abii Sufra, from Simiak b. [arb,
from ‘Amr b. Nifi¢ from al-Sharid-al-Hamdani (whose uncles were of Thagif)
that he said, “We went off with the Messenger of God (SAAS) on the ‘farewell
pilgrimage’. While T was walking along one day I sensed the tread of a camel
behind me and it was the Messenger of God (SAAS). He said: ‘Al-Sharid?’ I
replied, ‘Yes.” Then he asked, ‘Can’t I give you a ride?” “Why certainly,” 1
accepted. I was not tired but wanted the bgraka, the blessing, of riding with the
Messenger of God (SAAS). So he made his camel kneel and carried me, asking:
‘Do you know any verses of Umayya b, Abii al-Salt?’ I replied in the affirmative
and he asked me to recite them, which T did. ‘I think he spoke a hundred verses,’
he commented. Then he added, ‘God has knowledge about Umayya b. Abu
al-Salt.””

Ibn Sa‘id then stated, “This is a strange hadith; and in what is related is that
the Messenger of God (SAAS) said of Umayya: ‘His poetry believed but his
heart disbelieved.” GGod alone knows.”

Imam Ahmad stated: ““Abd Allah b. Muhammad — who was Abii Bakr b. AbG
Shayba - related to us, quoting ‘Abda b. Sulaymin, from Muhammad b. Ishag,

42. A poet mentioned earlier as one of the authors of the famous mu‘allagét odes.



IMAM ABU AL-FIDA® ISMACL IBN KATHIR 99

from Ya‘qiib b. ‘Utba, from <Tkrima, from Tbn ¢Abbis, that the Messenger of
God (SAAS) declared Umayya to be truthful in a piece of his poetry which says:

*As 2 man with a bull beneath his right foot, and an eagle for the other, and a lion in
waiting;

And the sun appears at the end of each night, its colour red in the morning and turn-
ing rosy,

It is reluctant to arise for us, in its gentleness, unless tortured or else flogged.””

The Messenger of God (SAAS) said (of this verse): “He spoke the truth.”

In an account of Abii Bakr al-Hudhali, from <Tkrima, from Ibn ‘Abbis, he (the
Prophet) said, “The sun never rises until it is urged up by 70,000 angels saying:
‘Come on up! Come on up!’ And it replies: ‘I will not rise above any pecple who
worship me to the exclusion of God.” When just about to rise a devil comes to the
sun intending to divert it, but it rises between the devil’s horns and burns him.
And when the sun gathers itself for its setting it directs itself to God, the Almighty
and Glorious. So a devil comes to it wishing to divert it from its obeisance but it
sets between his horns and burns him.”

Ibn “Asakir gives this anecdote at greater length.

In his poem on the throne-bearers, Umayya recited:

“And there’s many a bearer of one of the supports of his throne, who, were it not
for the God of creation, would be fatigned and slow-moving,

Standing on their feet, weary beneath it, their jugular veins trembling from the
severity of their fear.”

These verses were transmitted by Ibn ‘Asakir.
It is reported from al-Asma that he would recite the following verses of
Umayya: ‘

“Glorify God, for He is worthy of glory; our Lord in heaven has been mighty.

There in his great edifice that existed prior to man, above the heavens, where he
laid down his throne.

Longer it is than sight can see, before it you see al-mal@ik (the angels) bow down.”

According to al-Asma‘i, the word al-mal@ik (in the last line quoted), is the
plural of malak, angel, while the word al-séir (translated as “those bowing
down”) is the plural of asmar, meaning “bending the neck”. These are they who
bear the throne.

The following verses praising ‘Abd Allah b. Jud%n of Taym are also from the
poetry of Umayya b. Aba al-Salt;

“Should I make mention of my need or is your sensitivity enough for me; your
nature is goodness

And your knowledge of rights; you are of lofty status; refinement, high esteem, and
majesty are yours.



160 THE LIFE OF THE PROPHET MUHAMMAD

You are a generous man whose fine character no morning or evening time can
change.

You compete with the wind by your nobility and generosity when cold winter
nights prevent the dog from staying outside {the tent).*

Your land is one of all nobility built by Banti Taym, and you are its sky.

Any man who one day praises you has in offering praise in itself reward enough.”

Umayya offered him other verses of praise in his poetry.

This man ‘Abd Allah b. Jjud%n was a much praised, very noble, and famous
man. He had a platter from which a rider could eat while on his mount, since it
was so large and piled with food. He would fill it with the finest wheat mixed
with butter and honey, He used to pay to free slaves and help the unfortunate.
‘A’isha asked the Prophet (SAAS) whether all that would ultimately benefit him.
But he replied: “He never once said the words: ‘O Lord, forgive me my sins on
Judgement Day!™”

Other fine lines of his poetry include:

“They do not plough the earth with wooden branches, when requests are made of
them, as if secking an excuse.

Rather, when asked they uncover their faces and you see them cheerful with the
finest of colouring.

And if the needy stay amidst their dwelling, they make him again a master of
neighing horses and slaves,

And whatever dangerous enterprise to which you invite them, they block out the
sun’s rays with their knights.”

This ends the biographical notice relating to Umayya b, Aba al-Salt.

BAHIRA THE MONK.

It was he who perceived prophethood in the Messenger of God (SAAS) when he
was with his uncle Aba Tilib and went to Syria in a company of merchants of
Mecca. He was at that time 12 years of age. (Bahird) saw a cloud shading him
apart from the rest, so he made food for them and invited them to be his guests,
as we will relate in the biography.

Al-Tirmidhi related an account which we discussed in detail therein. The
hafiz Ton ‘Asakir recounted various testimonies and evidences relating to the
biography of Bahira, but did not recount what al-Tirmidhi told; and that is
strange.

Tbn <Asakir reported that Bahird lived in a village called al-Kafr situated some
six miles from Basra. Thar is the place known as “Bahira’s monastery”. And it is

43. Barking dogs and fires lit outside the tent in the desert were signals for passers-by that a
tribe was encamped, and that guests were welcome to stop and rest, and enjoy hospitality there.
44, That is, by pretending to be too busy,
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also said that he lived in a village called Manfa% in the plain of Balg?, beyond
Zayra. But God knows best.

An Account of Quss b. Sa%da al-Tyadi.

The hafiz Abt Bakr Mubhammad b. Jatar b. Sahl al-Khar@"iti said in his book
Hawanf al-Jan (The Calls of the Spirits) that Diwiid al-Qantari related to him,
quoting ‘Abd Allah b. Silih and Aba ‘Abd Allah al-Mashriqi, from Aba
al-Harith al-Warraq, from Thawr b. Yazid, from Miriq al-Tjli, from ‘Ubada b.
al-Samit that the latter said that when the delegation from the tribe of Iyad came
to the Prophet (SAAS) he asked: “O members of the Tyad delegation, what hap-
pened to Quss b. Saida al-lyadi?” They replied, “He died, O Messenger of
God.” He commented, “Well, T once witnessed him at the ‘Ukaz festival
mounted on a red camel speaking words of strange and wonderful eloguence
that I find I don’t recall.” A bedouin from the far back of the group came up to
him and said: “I remember it, O Messenger of God,” and the Prophet (SAAS)
was pleased at this. “Yes”, the man went on, “he was at the ‘Ukaz festival on a
red camel and saying, ‘O people gather around, for all those who have passed
away are gone. And things to come willi come. Gloomy nights. Castle-filled
skies. Seas that rage. Splendorous stars. Towering mountains. FFlowing streams.
In the heavens there is notice; on earth there is warning. How is it I see people
pass away and do not return? Were they content to stay and did so? Or were
they left and fell asleep? Quss swears by an oath beyond reproach, that God has
a religion more pleasing than the one you follow.” Then he recited as follows:

‘In those who first passed away in ages gone there are signs for us,

Since I saw ways leading to death which had no beginnings,

And I saw my people passing towards them, young and old alike,

Not anyone who has passed on will come to you, nor will any of those who stay
remain behind;

I have become sure that ! will inevitably pass on to where the people have gone.””

This chain of authorities as given is strange. Al-Tabarani related it from
another line, stating in his book al-MuSam al-Kabir (The Great Encyclopedia)
that Muhammad b. al-Sarri b. Mahran b. al-Nagid al-Baghdadi related to him,
quoting Muhammad b. Hassin al-Sahmi, quoting Muhammad b. al-Ilajjaj,
from Mujalid, from al-Sha%i, from Ibn ‘Abbas, that he said: “The delegation
from “Abd al-Qays came to see the Prophet (SAAS) and he asked them, “Which
of you knows al-Quss b. Siatida al-lyadi?’ They replied, ‘We all knew him, O
Messenger of God.” ‘Well, what’s he done?’ he asked. ‘He died,’ they told him.
He went on: ‘I’ll never forget him at the ‘Ukaz festival in the sacred month. He
was on a red camel addressing the people in the words, “O people, gather, listen
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and take note. Those who live die. Those who die pass away. And what is to
come will come. In heaven there is notice and on earth there is warning. A
resting-place is put down and a roof is raised up. Stars move to and fro and seas
do not empty. And Quss swore a true cath that if there be contentment in the
matter, then discontent will follow! God has a religion more beloved by Him
than that in which you engage. How is it I see people pass away and do not
return? Were they content to stay and did so? Or were they left and fell asleep?”
Then the Messenger of God (SAAS) asked, ‘Can anyone among you recite his
poetry?’ One of them responded:

‘In those who first passed away in ages gone there are signs for us.

Since I never saw ways leading to death which had no beginnings,

And I saw my people moving towards them, young and old alike,

The past will never return for me, nor will any of those who stay remain behind.
I have become sure I will inevitably pass on to where the people have gone.”™

The kafiz al-Bayhaqi thus transmitted it in his book, Dal@il al-Nubuwwa
(Signs of the Prophethood) in a line from Muhammad b. Hasan al-Sahmi. And
thus did we relate it in the fragment collected by al-Ustadh Abii Muhammad
‘Abd Allsh b. Jafar b. Darstawayh relating to Quss. He stated: “<Abd al-Karim
b. al-Haytham, the man from Dayr ‘Aqul, related it to us from Sa‘id b. Shabib,
from Muhammad b. al-Hajjaj Aba Ibrahim al-Wisiti, a resident of Baghdad,
known as sakib al-harisa (‘master of the beef and bulgar dish’). And he was called
a liar by Yahya b. Ma‘in and Abu Hatim al-Razi and al-Darqutni. Also, more
than one, including Tbn ¢Adi, accused him of fabricating the hadith.”

Al-Bazzar and Aba Nu‘aym related it from the account of this Muhammad b.
al-Hajjaj. And Ibn Darstawayh and Abu Nufym recounted it by way of
al-Kalbi, from Abu $alih, from Ibn ‘Abbis. And this chain is preferable to that
preceding it. In this account it is Abit Bakr who tells the story in its entirety,
both its poetry and prose, before the Messenger of God (SAAS).

And the hafiz AbG Nu%ym related it from a hadith of Ahmad b. Misa b,
Ishdq al-Khatmi. ‘Ali b." al-Husayn b. Muhammad al-Makhztimi related to us,
quoting Abti Hatim al-Sijistani, quoting Wahb b. Jarir, from Muhammad b,
Ishaq, from al-Zuhri, from Sa‘id b. al-Musayyab from Ibn ¢Abbas as follows: “A
delegation from Bakr b. W#il came to the Messenger of God (SAAS} and he
asked them, “What did your ally do whose name was Quss b. Sa<da al-Tyadi?’ ?
Then he recounted the anecdote at length.

Sheikh Ahmad b. Aba Talib al-Fajjar, the authority on lines of transmission
and travel, recounted to us, on the basis of #zza" if not sama‘a®® that Ja%ar b.
Ali al-Hamdani told him the following tradition by jj#za, quoting the hafiz Abi

45. Having heard it from a secondary source.
46. Having heard it himsel{ from 2 named authority.
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Tahir Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Ahmad b. Ibrahim al-Salafi, who told this account
as having himself heard it directly. He stated that he read it from his Sheikh, the
kafiz Aba ‘Abd Allah al-Dhahabi. Also Aba ‘Ali al-Hasan b. ‘Ali b. Abu Bakr
al-Khallal recounted it as one the latter had himself heard directly. He also said
that he heard it directly from Ja‘far b. <AHl, and also directly from al-Salafi. Also,
Abt ‘Abd Allah Muhammad b. Ahmad b. Ibrahim al-Razi informed us, quoting
Abi al-Fadl Muhammad b. Abmad b. 953 al-Sadi, quoting Abti al-Qasim
Ubayd Allah b. Ahmad b. ‘Ali al-Mugr?, and it was also related to him by Aba
Muhammad ‘Abd Allah b. Jafar b. Darstawayh, the grammarian, by Isma‘il b.
Tbrahim b. Ahmad al-Sa'di, the gadi, judge, of Faris (Persia) by Abu Dawnd
Sulayman b. Sayf b. Yahya b. Dirham al-T2% who was a man from Farran, by
Abii ‘Amr Sa%d b. Yarbu€, frem Muhammad b. Ishaqg. Abi Talib was also told by
some of our schelars on the authority of al-FHasan b. AbT al-Hasan al-Bagri, that
the last mentioned said: “Al-Jarud b. al-Mu%lla b. Hanash b. MufQlla al-‘Abd1
was a Christian of great learning in the interpretation and analysis of the
holy texts, an expert on the history and sayings of the Persians, well versed in
philosophy and medicine, 2 man of evident good manners and cuiture, fine in
appearance and of great wealth. He went to see the Prophet (SAAS) as 2 member
of a delegation of men of sound judgement, maturity, eloquence, and scholarship
from the tribe of ‘Abd Qays. When he approached the Prophet (SAAS) he stood
before him, gestured towards him and spoke the verses:

‘0 Prophet of the right guidance, men have come to you through deserts and
mirages,

Crossing down the flat open lands towards you, not counting fatigue for you as
fatigue at afl.

All the short-legged beasts greatly urged along in speed by our young she-camels,

The fine horses racing over the land, bolting with their mailclad warriors like stars,
glinting,

Seeking to avert the suffering of an awful day, one of terror, pain, and great
distress, -

A day when all mankind will be brought together, a day separating out all who
strayed in discbedience,

Moving towards a light from God, a proof, a favour and a grace to be attained,

God distinguished you with all good, O son of Amina, through her; when (for
others) good only comes and goes. _
 So, give your blessings in abundance, O proof of God, unlike the blessings of a false
(prophet).”

“When he finished, the Prophet (SAAS) invited him to sit down close to
himself and said, ‘O Jartid, both you and your people are late in comting.’

“Al-Jarud responded, ‘By my father and my mother, anyone late coming to
you is indeed unfortunate, that being the greatest of faults, the worst of sins. But
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I’'m not one of those who saw you or heard of you, aggressed against you, and
followed someone other than vou. [ now follow a religion of which you have
knowledge. But I have come to you and here I am, abandoning it for your religion.
Will that not have faults, sins, and misdeeds forgiven and please the Lord?’

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) replied, ‘I will guarantee you that! So
sincerely express vour belief in the unity (i.e. monotheism) and give up the
religion of Christianity.’

“Al-Jarad replied: ‘By my father and my mother, extend your hand, for I bear
witness that there is no God but God alone and that He has no associate; and 1
testify that you are Mubammad, His slave and His Messenger.’

“ And so he accepted Islam, as did some of his people.

“And the Prophet (SAAS) was pleased at their accepting Islam and treated
them with such honour and generosity as to make them very happy and
delighted.

“Then the Messenger of God went over to them and asked, ‘Does any one of
you know Quss b, Sa%da al-Tyadi?’

“Al-Jarad replied: ‘By my father and mother, we all know him. And I am
one who knows a lot about him. Quss, O Messenger of God, was a fine Arab
knight. He lived 600 years, of which he spent five lifetimes living in the waste-
lands and deserts, crving out the glory of God like Jesus did. He settled
nowhere, had no home to shelter him and no neighbour to appreciate him. He
dressed in hair-cloth and outdid the fasting ascetics. He never tired of his
monastic ways, on his journeys living off ostrich eggs and befriending lions,
enjoying the darkness, observing and considering, thinking and experiencing.

“‘He therefore became one whose wisdom was legion, awe-inspiring things
being discovered through him, and he attained the leadership of the disciples of
Christ in reputation.

“‘He was the first Arab to acknowledge God and to accept His unity. He
devoted himself firmly to God, becoming fully convinced of life after death and
of judgement. He warned of the evil of refusal and enjoined action before it was
too late. He reminded of death and spoke of his acceptance of fate without either
anger or pleasure. He visited graves and preached of resurrection day. He spoke
verses in elegy. He gave thought to the fates and informed about the heavens and
about nature. He talked of the stars and discussed the water. He described the
seas and informed of ancient relics. He orated while riding and exhorted with
perseverance. He admonished against grief and against an excess of anger. He
wrote many sermons and made mention of all things terrible. He spoke com-
pellingly in his orations, gave explanation in his writings, expressed fear of time,
cautioned against weakness, exalted God’s power, avoided any blasphemy,
expressed yearning for the pure faith, and called for immersion in religious life
and thought.
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“‘He is the person who said on the day of the ‘Ukaz festival:

“F.ast and west, orphans and groups, peace and war, dry and moist, brackish water
or sweet, suns and moons, winds and rains, nights and days, females and males, lands
and seas, seeds and plants, fathers and mothers, united and scattered, signs followed
by signs, light and dark, abundance and nothingness, a Lord and idols, mankind has
gone astray, the raising of a child, the burial of a dead one, the cultivation of a harvest,
rich and poor, benefactor and evil-doer, woe to the indolent, let the worker improve
his fabour, and let the hopeful lose his hope. Nay; on the contrary He is one God, neither
given birth nor a father. He both repeats and does for the first time. He makes to die
and brings to life. He created male and female, Lord of the first life and of the after
life.

“Moreover, O tribe of Iyad, where now are Thamiid and ‘Ad? Where are the
fathers and their forefathers? Where now are those (who were) ill and those who
visited them? To each is his appointed time. Quss swears by the Lord of mankind,
and the one who flattens the smooth ground, you will be gathered individually, on
assembly day, when horns will be blown and drums be beaten, when the earth will
shine, and the preacher exhort and the despairing withdraw and the observer gazes
out; woe to him who turns away from the truth most evident, and the shining light,
and the great Judgement Day, on the day of separating, and the scales of justice, when
He who decrees decides, and the apostle gives testimony, and the allies are far off, and
the faults are apparent, and so one group goes to paradise, and one group to hell-fire.”

“‘It is he who spoke the verses:

“The heart passionately recalled and reflected: nights within which there are days.

And bucketsful pouring from storm clouds that burst forth with water, there being
fire in their insides,

Their light blinded the eve and violent thunder was cast in east and west;

There are lofty castles possessed of wealth while others are empty and uninhabited.

There are unshakable mountains towering, and seas whose waters abound,

There are stars which flash in the dark of night which we see every day are
revolved,

And then there is a sun urged on by moon of night, each pursuing the other and in
motion.

There are the young, the hoary, and the old, 21l of them one day to meet above.

And there is plenty beyond the surmise of those whose mind is not perplexed.

All these I mentioned are signs of God for the souls of good guidance and
wisdom.”’”

Al-Hasan went on: “And the Messenger of God (SAAS) said: “Whatever else
I may forget, I will never forget him (Quss) at the ‘Ukaz festival, standing up on
a red camel and addressing the people: ‘Gather around and listen, and having
heard, be aware, benefit! And speak, and if you speak, tell the truth! He who
fives dies, he who dies is gone, and all that is coming will come, rain and plants,
the living and the dead, dark nights and skies with zodiac signs, and stars that
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shine, and seas that rage, and light and shade, and nights and days, and inno-
cence and sins. There is knowledge in the heavens and lessons on earth such as
to amaze even the perspicacious. There is a ground Iaid out, a roof raised up,
stars that set, seas that do not empty, destinies drawing near, a treacherous
fate, as sharp as a surgeon’s knife and as accurate as a precise scale. Quss swears
an oath, neither insincere nor sinning thereby, that if there be any pleasure in
this mattter, then there will surely be discontent.” Then he said, ‘O people, God
has a religion which is more pleasing to him than this religion of yours you
engage in. And this is its time, its epoch.’ Then he said, ‘How is it I see people
go but not return’ Were they content to stay and did so? Or were they left and
fell asleep?’

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) then turned to some of his Companions and
said, “Which one of you can recite his verses to us?’ Abu Bakr, the truthful,
replied, ‘By my father and my mother, I witnessed him on that day when he
spoke the verses:

“In those who went first in ages past are clear proofs for us.

Since I saw ways leading to death which had no beginnings.

And I saw my people moving towards them, young and old alike.

The past will never come back to me, nor will any of those who stay remain behind;
I have become sure that I will inevitably pass on to where the people have gone.™?

“Then a tall, broad-shouldered, venerable oid sheikh of ‘Abd Qays approached
the Messenger of God (SAAS) and said, ‘By my father and my mother, I saw
something remarkable from Quss.’

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) asked, “What was it you saw, O brother
from ‘Abd Qays?’

“He explained: ‘In my youth some camels I owned wandered off, so I hurried
and followed their trail into rocky desert land where there were thorny twigs,
wastelands of dead tree roots and palm trunks, waterlily ponds, and ostrich
tracks and nests. While I passed along the trails in these high and low wastes, 1
came to a hilly area whose upper slopes were thick with thorn trees, their
branches hanging low, their first fruits like seeds of pepper and heads of
chamomile. Suddenly there was a bubbling spring, a green meadow, and a lofty
tree. And there teo was Quss b. Sa%da at the base of that tree, standing with 2
stick in his hand. I approached him and said, “Good morning to you!” “Geod
morning to you likewise” he replied. There were many lions going down to drink
at the water-hole. Whenever one tried to drink from the hole before another he
would strike it with his stick and say: “Be patient! Wait till the one before you
drinks!” T was absolutely amazed at that. He looked across at me and said, “Don’t
be afraid.” Then | saw two graves with 2 mosque between them. I asked him,
“What are these graves?” He replied, “They’re the graves of two brothers who
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used to pray to God, Almighty and Glorious is He, at this spot. I remain here
between their two graves, praying to God until I join them.” | asked him, “But
wouldn’t it be better for you ta join your people and e¢njoy their well-being and
explain to them what it is they do that is evil?”

“¢“May your death make your mother grieve! Don’t you know how Ishmael’s
sons abandoned the faith of their father and followed rival gods and venerated
idols?”

““Then he approached the graves and spoke the following verses:

“0O my two friends, arise; long have you lain. I urge you not to prolong your slumber;

I see sleep between your skin and your bones, as though he who gives a drug to
drink has given it to you.

Is it from your long sleep that you do not respond to him who calls you, as though
he who gives a drug to drink has given it to you?

Do you not know that [ am in Najrin alone, with no friend there but for you two?

Living at your graves, not leaving night after night until your response is heard.

I weep for you throughout my life, and what had the heartbroken gained that we
wept for you both?

If a soul were to be a ransom for the soul of another, I would strive to have my soul
become ransom for you both

As if death were the closest goal for my soul when death had come to you in your
two graves.”””

Al-Hasan went on: “So the Messenger of God (SAAS) then said, ‘God have
mercy on Quss! He will be resurrected as a whole nation by himself on
Judgement Day.””

This tradition is very strange in this regard; and it is mursal ¥’ However,
al-Hasan did hear it from al-Jarud. God knows best!

Al-Bayhaqi related it, quoting the kafiz Abn al-Qasim Ibn ‘Asakir, from
another route, from a kadith of Muhammad b. Tsa b. Muhammad b. Sa‘id
al-Qurashi al-Akhbari, as follows: “My father related to us, quoting ‘Ali b.
Sulayman b. ‘Ali, from ‘Ali b. ‘Abd Allah, from ‘Abd Allih b. ‘Abbas, may God
be pleased with them both, as follows: ‘Al-Jarud b. ‘Abd Alldh came forward and
recalled almost the same anecdote, at length, with much additional prose and
poetry. In that account there is the story of the man whose camels went astray
and he went to find them. The man recited, “So I stayed the night in a valley
where | was scared for my life, having only my sword to rely on, watching the
stars, peering into the blackness, until the night had gone its term and morning
was almost breathing; I then heard someone speak aloud the verses:

‘0 you lying down in the pitch black of night, God has sent a prophet in the sacred
sanctuary,

47. That is, its authority chain extends back to a successor rather than a Companion of the
Prophet.
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From Hashim, a people of trust and honour, illuminating all most gloomy, dark
and impenetrable.””

““The man continued, “I turned but saw no one and heard nothing else. So 1
then spoke the following:

O you who speaks in darkest night, welcome indeed to you, a phantom wheo visited
us! )

Explain, may God give you guidance, in tone of words, what it is you urge that can
be gained?’

“<“1 then heard a clearing of the throat and a voice saying, “The light has
appeared; and falsehood has been defeated. For God has sent Muhammad with
righteousness, the master of the red mount, and the crown and the helmet, he of
the shining visage, and the full eyebrows, and the eyes of marked contrast
between the white of the cornea and the black of the iris, the man responsible for
the words of the “shahada”, or testimony of the faith: “/z ilzha illa Allah”,“there
is no God but God”, That person is Muhammad, the one sent to the black and
the white, to the people of the village and the people of the deserts.”” Then he
recited the words:

“Praise be to God who did not create nature in vain;

He did not once leave us forsaken after Jesus, nor was He uncaring.

He sent among us Ahmad, the best Prophet ever dispatched.

May God bless him whenever parties of men hurried (1o seek audience with) him.”*”

The same source attributes the following verses to Quss b. Safida:

“( announcer of death and of the grave, in the tomb there are men in rags which
are remmnants of their clothing.

Leave them, for one day they will be called; and they, if they do waken from their
sleep, will stay awake.

Until they revert to some state other than theirs, to a2 new creation similar to what
they were before.

Some will be naked, some in their clothes, some of which will be new, some quickly
frayed and tattered.”

Also, al-Bayhaqi related it from Aba Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah b. Yusuf b.
Ahmad al-Asbahani who said that Abii Bakr Ahmad b. Sa%d b. Fardakh
al-Akhmimi of Mecca related it to him, quoting al-Qasim b. ‘Abd Allah b.
Mahdi, quoting Abt ‘Abd Allah Sa‘id b. ‘Abd al-Rahman al-Makhztimi, quoting
Sufyin b. Uyayna, from Abt Hamza al-Thamali, from Sa‘id b. jubayr, from
Ibn “Abbas. The latter related the anecdote and the recitation and said that they
found at his head a sheet on which were the verses:

“0 announcer of death and of the dead, in the tomb there are men in rags which are
remnants of their clothing,



IMAM ABU AL-FIDA> ISMAJL IBN KATHIR 109

Leave then, for one day they will be called, just as those who have fainted away at
thunder will be aroused from their sleep.

Some will be naked and others will be dead in their clothes, some of which are
bluish and shabby.”

So the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “By Him who sent me with the truth,
Quss did believe in fudgemeni Day!”

The origins of this tradition are well known; these other lines of transmission
despite their weakness, are helpful in affirming the origin of the anecdote. '

Abn Mubammad b. Darstawayh commented upon the strangeness of what
occured in this hadith; most of it is obvious, if God Almighty wishes it so. We
have drawn attention in our marginal commentary to what is extremely strange
about it.

Al-Bayhagi said that Abqi Sa‘d Sa%id b. Muhammad b. Ahmad al-Shu‘ythi
informed him that Abti ‘Amr b. Ab@ Tahir al-Muhammadabadhi related to him
verbally that Abti Lubaba Muhammad b. al-Mahdi al-Abyurdi related to him,
quoting his father, quoting Sa‘id b. Hubayra, quoting al-Mu%amir b. Sulaymin
from his father, all from Anas b. Malik, who said: “A delegation from Iyad went
to the Prophet (SAAS) and he asked: “What did Quss b. Sa%ida do?’ They
replied: ‘He died.” Ele commented, ‘Well, T heard some words from him I no
longer recall.’ Some of those present told him they remembered them, so he
asked them to tell them. One of them responded, ‘He stood up at the Ukaz
festival and said, “O people, listen, hear, and take note. All those who live die.
And ali those who die pass away. And all that is to come will come. Dark nights.
Skies with zodiac signs. Stars that shine. Seas that rage. Mountains tower above.
Rivers flow. In heaven there is notice and on earth there is warning. I see people
die and not return. Were they content to stay and did so? Or were they left and
fell asleep? Quss swears an cath by God, not sinning thereby, that God has a
religion which is more pleasing to Him than that you engage in.” Then he
recited the verses:

“In those who went first in ages past are clear proofs for us.

Since I saw ways leading to death for people which had no beginnings,

And I saw my people moving towards them, young and old alike.

I have become sure that I will inevitably pass on to where the people have gone.

My

Al-Bayhaqi then traces it back by other routes that we have referred to hereto-
fore. After all of this, he then stated: “That kadith was narrated from al-Kalbi
from Abu Silih, from Ibn ‘Abbas, with additions and deletions, It is also related
via another way and with an incomplete line of transmission from al-Hasan
al-Basri. It is also related in abbreviated form in a kadith from Sa‘d b. Abn
Waqqas and Abii Hurayra.” And I comment: also from ‘Ubada b. al-Samic, as
given above, and ‘Abd Allah b. Masd, as related by Ab@t Nu%ym in his book
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al-Dal@il (The Signs), from ‘Abd Allih b, Muhammad b. Uthmian al-Wasiti,
from Abt al-Walid Tarif, son of Ubayd Allzh the mawla (freedman) of Aba
Talib of al-Mawsil from Yahyva b. ‘Abd al-Hamid al-Hammani, from Aba
Mu4Gwiya, from al-A‘mash, from Abi al-Duha, from Masrig, from Tbn Mas‘d,
and he related it. And Aba Nuym also related the hadirk of the aforementioned
Ubada and Sa’d b. Aba Waqqas.

Then al-Bayhaqi stated, “And since the fadith is related from other routes,
even if some of them are weak, it shows that it did have an origin. But Ged
knows best.”

An Account of Zayd b. “Amr b. Nufayl, God be pleased with him.

He was Zayd b.‘Amr b. Nufayl b.¢Abd al-Uzza b. Riyah b. ‘Abd Allak b. Qurz
b. Razah b. ‘Adi b. Ka b. Lu’ayy al-Qurashi al-*‘Adawi.

Al-Khatab, father of Urnar b. al-Khattab, was both his uncle and brother from
his mother. That was because ‘Amr b. Nufayl had had a child by his father’s
wife after his father. She had had his brother al-Khaitab by Nufayl. Al-Zubayr
b. Bakkar and Muhammad b. Ishaq told us of this.

Zayd b, ‘Amr gave up the worship of idols and abandoned their religion; he
would only eat what had been slaughtered in the name of God alone.

Yanus b. Bukayr stated on the authority of Muhammad b. Ishiq as follows:
“Hisham b. ‘Urwa related to me, from his father, that Asma’, daughter of Abtu
Bakr, said: ‘T saw Zayd b, ‘Amr b. Nufayl leaning his back against the ka%a saying,
“O tribe of Quraysh, by Him in whose hand is Zayd’s soul, not one of you apart
from myself follows the religion of Abraham.” Moreover, he would say, “O
God, if only T knew the way most favoured by you, I would worship you by it,
but I do not know.” Also he would bow in prayer while on his mount.””

Abtt Usima too related this, from Hisham, and added, “He would pray
towards the £4%a and say, ‘My God is the God of Abraham, and my religion is
that of Abraham.” He would give life back to girls about to be killed at birth,
telling a man wishing to kill his daughter, ‘Don’t kill her. Give her to me to look
after. When she grows up, you can take her back or if you wish give her up.””

Al-Nas#’ derived this account through Abti Usama; and al-Bukhiri commented
upon it saying, “And al-Layth said: ‘Hisham b. ‘Urwa wrote to me about it from
his father.””

Yitnus b. Bukayr stated on the authority of Muhammad b. Ishag, as follows,
“There was a group of Quraysh who consisted of Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl,
Waraga b. Nawfal b. Asad b. ‘Abd 21-Uzza, Uthmin b. al-Huwayrith b. Asad
b. ¢Abd al-Uzzi, and ‘Abd Allah b. Jahsh b. R¥3b b. Ya‘mur b. Sabra b. Murra
b. Kabir b. Ghunm b. Dadan b. Asad b. Khuzayma, whose mother was Umayya
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daughter of ‘Abd al-Muttalib and whose sister was Zaynab, daughter of Jahsh
whom the Prophet (SAAS) married after his maew/a, his freedman, Zayd b.
Haritha, as we will relate hereafter. These men were present among Quraysh
when they were before an idol of theirs to which they would make sacrifice at
one of their feast days. As they all gathered, this group of men met apart and
agreed that they would make a secret pact of friendship with one another. One of
them said, ‘By God, you know that your people are deing nothing; they have
strayed from the religion of Abraham and gone against it. Why worship some
idol incapable of doing harm or good? Seek out for yourselves!’

“So they left, seeking and searching throughout the land to find the kanifiyye,
the religion of Abraham.

“As for Waraga b. Nawfal, he became a Christian and became learned in
Christianity, seeking out its scriptures from its adherents until he acquired a
great knowledge from those who fellow the Bible.

“None of this group was a man more honourable in deed nor more dedicated
than Zayd b.°Amr b. Nufayl. He gave up the idols and abandoned all the religions,
of the Jews, the Christians, and all the sects except the kanifiyya, the religion of
Abraham. He spoke of the unity of God alone and cast aside the gods beneath
Him. He ate none of the meat his people slaughtered, and warned them of the
judgement they would suffer from the practices they followed.”

He went on: “Al-Khattib so persecuted him that eventually Zayd left him by
going to the heights of Mecca. So al-Khattab assigned a group of young Quraysh
thugs to watch him and told them not to fet him enter Mecca. He never did so
except without their knowledge, and when they found out they harmed him and
evicted him violently, hating that he should spoil their religion for them or get
others to join him in his own practice.”

Mausa b. ‘Ugba stated that he heard someone he trusted give a report about
Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl to the effect that he would criticize Quraysh for the
slaughter of their beasts, saying, “Sheep were created by God and He brings
down from the skies the water that makes vegetation grow for them from the
earth, so why do you slaughter them in the name of gods other than God, denying
all that and venerating them?”

Yiinus said, on the authority of Ibn Ishaq: “Zayd b.¢Amr b. Nufayl had deter-
mined to leave Mecca and travel across the land seeking the hanafiyya, the
religion of Abraham. His wife Safiyya, daughter of al-Hadrami, whenever she
saw him preparing to make the departure he wished, would warn al-Khattab b.
Nufayl.

“Zayd did leave for Syria, enquiring and secking the religion of Abraham
among the people of the first holy book. They say he went on doing this until he
covered al-Mawsil and all Mesopotamia, finally reaching Syria and travelling
throughout it. Eventually he came upon a monk in a church in the region of
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al-Balq@’ who had, as they claim, much learning in Christianity. Zayd asked him
about the hanifiyya, the religion of Abraham, and the monk replied, ‘You are
asking about a religion you’ll not find anyone today to instruct you in. Those
who had knowledge and familiarity with it have faded away and gone. But the
emergence of a prophet draws near, his time having come.” Now Zayd had
examined Judaism and Christianity, but had not been content with anything in
them, and so he left quickly for Mecca after what the monk had told him. But
when he was in Lakhm territory he was attacked and killed. Waraqa spoke the
following verses eulogizing him:

“You followed the proper course and did right, O son of ‘Amr; and indeed you have
avoided the ovens of hell,

By your worshipping a Lord unlike any other and by your abandoning the idols of
tyrants as they are,

Man may indeed be reached by God’s mercy, even though he be scventy valleys
beneath the earth.” ”

Muhammad b. Uthman b. Abu Shayba said, “Ahmad b. Tariq al-Wabishi
related to us, quoting ‘Amr b. ‘Atiyya, from his father, from Ibn “Umar, from
Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl, that the latter worshipped God before the coming of
Islam. He once came to a Jew and told him he wanted him to induct him into his
religion. The Jew replied, ‘I will not accept you in my religion until you experience
your share of God’s anger.” Zayd rephed ‘It is from the anger of God that I am
fleeing’

“Zayd went on further dll he came to a Christian, telling him he would like to
engage with him in his religion. The Christian replied, ‘T’ll not accept you in my
religion until you experience your share of false guidance.” Zayd replied, ‘It is
from false guidance that I flee.” The Christian then told him: ‘T will show you
the way to a religion in which, if you follow it, you will be rightly guided.” “What
religion is that?’ asked Zayd. ‘The religion of Abraham,’ he replied. So Zayd
said, ‘O God, I swear to you that T will follow the religion of Abraham; in it I
shall live and die.”

“When Zayd’s story was referred to the Prophet (SAAS) he stated, ‘He will
be as a nation all by himself on Judgement Day.’”

Musa b. Ugba, on the authority of Salim from Ibn “Umar, related approxi-
mately the same.

Muhammad b. Satd stated: “‘Ali b. Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah b. Sayf
al-Qurashi related to us, from Isma‘il, from Mujalid from al-Sha%bi, from ‘Abd
al-Rahmain b. Zayd b. al-Khatiab as follows: ‘Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl said, “I
examined Judaism and Christianity and disliked them both. I travelled in Syria
and the neighbouring lands and eventually came to a monk in a cell. T told him of
my alienation from my own people and of my dislike for the worship of idols,
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Judaism_ and Christianity. He told me, ‘I see you desire the religion of Abraham,
Q brother from the people of Mecca. You are searching for a religion that today
no one adheres to, the religion of your father Abraham. He was a hanif, neither a
Jew nor a Christian. He prayed and prostrated himself in the direction of that
house which is in your land. Sc you must go to your own country. God will send
froem your people in your land one who will bring the religion of Abraham, the
kanifiyya; he is the most noble of creation in God’s sight.”” ? ”

Yanus stated that Tbn Ishaq said, “A member of the family of Zayd b.‘Amr b.
Nufayl related to me the following, ‘Zayd used to say when he entered the #a%a,
“Here I am before you, really and truly, in worship, verity and submission. I
furn in submission quoting Abraham, facing the £2%2.” He would stand as he
would say, “O my God, I am submissive to you, fearful, and humble. Whatever
painful task you impose, I will perform it. It is faith I desire, not vanity. He who
journeys in the heat is not as one who naps in the afternoon.”’”

Abu Dawad al-Tayalisi stated, “Al-Mas‘di related to us, from Nufayl b.
Hishim b. Sa‘id b. Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl al-‘Adawi, on the authority of his
father, from his grandfather, that Zayd b. ‘Amr and Waraqa b. Nawfal went off
seeking religion and finally met a monk at al-Mawsil. The monk asked Zayd,
‘“Where have you travelled from, O camel master?” ‘I'rom Abraham’s building,” he
replied. “What are you seeking?’ then asked the monk. ‘T am seeking the religion,’
replied Zayd. The monk responded, ‘Go back; it is soon to appear in your land.’

“Zayd went on: ‘Now Waraga did adopt Christianity; but in my case,
although T intended to become Christian he (the monk) would not accept me.’
So Zayd returned home and spoke the words: ‘Here T am before You, in truth,
in worship and in submission. It is faith T desire, not vanity. Is he who journeys
in the heat as one who naps in the afternoon? I believe in what Abraham believed
n.” He also said, ‘O my God, I am submissive to You, fearful, and humble.
Whatever painful task You impose, I will perform it.” Then he would bow down
and prostrate himself in prayer.”

The account continues, “His son, by whom I mean Sa‘id b. Zayd, one of the
Sashra,”® the ten, God bless him, said, ‘O Messenger of God, my father was as
you have scen and heard; seek forgiveness for him.” He replied, ‘Yes; he will be
raised up on Judgement Day as a nation, by himself.””

It continues: “And Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Zayd came to the Messenger of God when
the latter was in the company of Zayd b. Haritha; the two men were eating from a
dining-table set out for them. They invited Zayd b. ‘Amr to eat with them, but he
replied, ‘T am not one who eats what has been slaughtered on sacrificial stones.””

48. Al-<ashra al-mubashshara (the promised ten) denotes ten persons variously reported in non-
canonical traditions as having been assured places in paradise. They include: Aba Bakr, ‘Umar,
Uthman, ‘Ali, Talha, Zubayr, ‘Abd ai-Ralman b. ‘Awf, Satd b. Abi Waqqas, and Sad b. Zayd,
along with the Prophet (SAAS).
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Muhammad b. Sad stated, “Muhammad b. ‘Amr related to us, Aba Bakr b.
Abii Sabra related to me, from Miisa b. Maysara, from Ibn Abt Mulayka, from
Hajar b. Abu Thab, as follows, ‘I saw Zayd b.‘Amr while T was at the idol named
Bawana, just after he had returned from Syria. He was observing the sun; when
it set he approached the ka%a and performed the prayer of two prostrations.
Then he said, “This is the gibla, the prayer site, to which Abraham and Ishmael
directed themselves. T do not worship a stone, nor pray to it, nor eat what was
sarificed to it, nor will I seek the judgement of divining arrows. Yet I will pray
towards this house till I die.”

“‘He would also perform the pilgrimage and station himself on Mt. ‘Arafit.
He would also make the prayer call saying, “Labbayk! At Your service; there is
no partner to You, nor any peer.” Then he would leave ‘Arafat, walking and
praying, saying, “Labbayk! At Your service, in worship and submission.”””

Al-Wiqidi stated, “¢Ali b. Tsa al-Hakami related to me, from his father, from
“Amir b. Rabia as follows, ‘I heard Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl say, “I await the
coming of a prophet from the progeny of Ishmael, then from the tribe of “Abd al
Muttalib. I do not see myself living to his time. But I have faith in him, assert his
truthfulness, and testify that he is a prophet. If you live on a long time and see
him, then tell him of my greetings to him. I will inform you of his qualities so
that he will not be unknown to you.” I replied, “Do so then.”

“ ‘He continued, “He will be 2 man neither tall nor short with neither much
nor little hair, Redness is never absent from his eye. He bears the mark of
prophethood between his shoulders. His name is to be Ahmad and this country
will be the place of his birth and his mission. Then his people will expel him
from it and will disapprove of his message until he will emigrate to Yathrib; and
so s authority will appear. Take care that you are not deceived about him, for I
have travelled all over seeking the religion of Abraham. And those of the Jews,
Christians, and Magians to whom I made enquiry answered, “That religion is
behind you.” And they would describe him as T have described him to you and
say, “There is no prophet bit him >’

“Amir b. Rabi stated, ‘And when I became a Muslim I informed the
Messenger of God (SAAS) of the words of Zayd b.“Amr and did pass on his
greetings to him. He returned such greeting to him and prayed for mercy for
him, saying, ‘T have seen him in paradise in long, flowing robes.””

Al-Bukhari stated in his se#kik collection in his account on Zayd b. “‘Amr b.
Nufayl that Muhammad b. Ab@t Bakr related to him that Fudayl b. Sulayman
related to us, quoting Miisa b. ‘Ugba, that Silim related, from ‘Abd Allah b.
Umar, that the Prophet (SAAS) met Zayd b.‘Amr b. Nufayl in the lowlands of
Baldah, before revelation descended upon the Prophet. A meal was set out for
the Prophet (SAAS) but he, Zayd, refused to eat of it. Then Zayd said, “I’'m not
going to eat from what you slaughter on your sacrificial stones; and I will only
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eat what has had the name of God spoken over it.” Zayd b. “Amr would criticize
Quraysh for the animal sacrifices they made, saying, “Sheep are created by God;
He sends rain down from the skies and makes things grow for them from the
earth. But then you slaughter them in the name of gods other than Him, denying
all of that and venerating them!”

Musa b. ‘Uqgba said that Salim b. Abd Allah related to him (indicating that
he would not acknowledge what he related except that he spoke of it on the
authority of Tbn Umar) that Zayd b.‘Amr b. Nufayl left for Syria enquiring
after the religion he would follow and met a learned Jew whom he asked about
his religion. Zayd said, “I’'m inclined towards adopting your religion, so tell
me of it.” The man replied, “You will not be in our refigion until you receive
your share of God’s anger.” Zayd replied, “But it’s only God’s anger from
which I flee; T bear none of God’s anger, nor could I. Can you then direct me
to something else?” He replied, “I don’t know of anything — except for you to
be a hanif.”” “What”, asked Zayd, “is a kanif?” “The religion of Abraham,
peace be upon him; he was peither a Jew nor a Christian and worshipped none
but God.”

So Zayd left and met a Christian scholar to whom he spoke as before. But the
Christian replied, “You will not be of our religion until you take your share of
the curses of God.” Zayd replied, “But it’s only from the curses of God that I
flee. I do not at all ever bear the curses of God or His anger, nor could I. So
would you direct me to something else?” “I don’t know of anything, except for
you to be a hanif,” the Christian answered. “What is a kanif?” Zayd asked. “Itis
the religion of Abraham,” the Christian answered; “he was neither a Jew nor a

"Christian and worshipped none but God.”

Having considered their statement about Abraham, Zayd went outside and
when he was in open country, he raised his hands and said, “O God, I testify
that I follow the religion of Abraham.”

Al-Bukhari went on: “And al-Layth said, ‘Hisham b. Urwa wrote to me, on
the authority of his father, and that of Asma’ daughter of Ab@ Bakr, may God be
pleased with them both; he quotes her as having said, “I saw Zayd b. ‘Amr b.
Nufayl standing leaning his back against the ka%a, saying, ‘O tribe of Quraysh,
by God, none of you is in Abraham’s religion except me.” And he used to give
life back to a girl about to be killed at birth, saying to the man who wished to kil
his daughter, ‘Don’t kill her; I will take care of providing for her.” Then he
would take her away, and when she grew up he would tell her father, ‘If you like,
I'll cither return her to you or provide for her.’””” This brings to an end
al-Bukhar?’s account of Zayd.

This last anecdote was corroborated by the Agfiz Ibn ‘Asikir in a line of
authority from Aba Bakr b. Abt Dawiid from 9sa b. Hammad, from al-Layth,
from Hisham, from his father back to Asma’, and his account is similar.
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¢Abd al-Rahmin b. Abi al-Zinad said that on a line of authority from Hishim
b. Urwa, from his father, Asm@ said: “I heard Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl say, as he
was resting his back against the £4%a: ‘O tribe of Quraysh, beware of adultery; it
bequeaths poverty.””

Here in his account Ibn ‘Asakir gave several very strange anecdotes, some of
which are extremely implausible. Then he related from a variety of lines back to
the Messenger of God (SAAS) as having said: “He will be raised up on Judgement
Day as a nation all by himself.” These accounts include the one by Muhammad b.
Uthman b. Abti Shayba in which he indicated that Yusuf b. Yaqb al-Saffar and
Yahyd b. Satid al-Umawi related to him, from Mujalid, from al-Sha‘bi, from
Jabir, that the Messenger of God (SAAS) was asked about Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl
having approached the gibla before the coming of Islam and saying, “My God is
the God of Abraham, and my religion that of Abraham” and then making the
prayer prostrations. The Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “That man will be
gathered (on Judgement Day) as a nation all by himself between me and Jesus
" son of Mary.” The chain of authorities for this is very good.

Al-Waqidi stated that Musa b. Shayba related to him, from Kharija b. ‘Abd
Allah b. Ka%. b. Malik, who said, “T heard Sa‘id b. al-Musayyab make reference
to Zayd b.*Amr b. Nufayl with the words, ‘He died while Quraysh were building
the ka‘ba, five years before the divine inspiration descended upon the Messenger
of God (SAAS). And death came to him while he spoke the words, “I follow the
religion of Abraham.”” His son Sa‘id b. Zayd became a Muslim and a follower
of the Messenger of God (SAAS). Once Umar b. al-Khattab and Sa‘id b. Zayd
approached the Messenger of God (SAAS) and asked him about Zayd b.‘Amr b.
Nufayl and he responded, ‘May God give him forgiveness and grant him mercy.
He died following the religion of Abraham.” And after that day Muslims never
failed to pray for forgivenesss and mercy for him whenever they mentioned his
name. And then Sa‘id b. al-Musayyab himsclf spoke the words, ‘May God grant
him mercy and forgiveness.’”

Muhammad b. Sa‘d quoted al-Wiagqidi as having said, “Zakariyy® b. Yahya
al-Sadi related w0 me that he heard his father say, “Zayd b.*Amr b. Nufayl died
in Mecca and he was buried at the foot of Mt. Hira."”

We, however, stated previcusly that he died in the land of al-Balg® in Syria,
when he was attacked by some men of the tribe of Lakhm who killed him at a
place called Mayfa®a. But God knows best.

Al-Baghandi said, giving a line of authorities through Abu Sa‘id al-Ashajj,
Abti Mu%wiya, Hisham and his father, that ‘A’isha said, “The Messenger of
God (SAAS) stated, ‘I entered paradise and saw that Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl
had two fine, lofty trees.””

Among the verses of Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl, God have mercy on him, are the
lines: '
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“To God I give my praise and homage, expressing a lasting joy that time will not
fade.

To the Sovereign Lord all high, above whom there is none, a God to whom no
other ]tord can draw close.”

Tt is also said that these lines are of Umayya b. Abu al-Salt. But God knows
best.

Among his verses affirming the oneness of God are the lines related by
Muhammad b, Ishag and al-Zubayr b. Bakkar, among others:

“I turn my fzace in submission to Him to whom the earth bearing heavy rocks submits;

He laid it down and when it settled He made it firm and level, then raised up the
mountains above it.

I turn my face in submission to Him to whom the clouds bearing sweet cool water
submit, *

When they are drawn along to a place, they obey, and pour water down copiously
upon it.

I turn my face in submission to Him to whom the wind, changing direction hither
and yon, submits.” :

Muhammad b. ishaq said, “I heard from Hisham b.“Urwa that, according to
his faiher, Zayd b.“Amr spoke the verses:

“Is it one Lord or one thousand I’m to worship according to your calculations?

I have abandoned al-Lat and al-“Uzza together; thus do all those who are firm and
determined.

It is not al-Uzza I worship, nor her daughters, nor do I visit the two idols of the
‘Amr tribe.

Nor do I worship Ghanm, though he was our Lord when I had lttle wisdom.

I was perplexed — and at night many things are strange that a sensible man under-
stands well by day —

TFhat God erased many men who lived in wickedness,

Yet gave long life to others through the faith of a people so that from them a young
child could multiply,

And though a man may falter, one day he may be cured, as a green tree branch will
leaf again,

But T worship the All-merciful, my lord, that the compassionate Lord may forgive
my sins.

So preserve your fear of God your Lord; while you preserve it you will not be lost.

You will see that the abode of the innocent is paradise, and that there is a burning
hell-fire for disbelievers,

Shame while alive and when they die they will suffer terrible torture.”

This is the complete text of this poem as given by Muhammad b. Ishaq. Abii
al-Qasim al-Baghawi related it from Mus%b b. ‘Abd Allzh, from al-Eahhak b.
Uthman, from ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Abi al-Zinad.



118 THE LIFE OF THE PROPHET MUHAMMAD

Hisham b. Urwa stated, from his father, that Asm®, daughter of Abt Bakr,
said, “Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl spoke the following verses:

‘I have abandoned all spirits and demons; thus do all those who are firm and deter-
mined;

It is not al-*Uzzi 1 worship, nor her daughters, nor do I revere the two idols of the
Tasam tribe.

Nor do T worship Ghanm, though he was our lord when I had little wisdom,

Is it one lord or a thousand I’m to worship according to your calculations?

Do you not know that God erased many men who lived in wickedness,

And gave long life to others through the faith of a people so that from them a young
boy could grow up.

And though a man may falter, one day he may be cured, as a green tree branch will
leaf again.””

Waraga b. Nawfal spoke the following poetry:

“You followed the proper course and did right, O son of ‘Amr, but indeed you have
avoided the hot ovens of hell,

For your worship of a Lord unlike any other and for your abandoning as they are
the spirits of the mountains,

I say that when I descend into some ecerie place: have pity, do not let enemies
appear before me.

Have pity! For you are the hope of the spirits; and you are my God, our Lerd, and
my hope.

Let the mercy of his Lord attain a man, even if he be seventy valleys down beneath
the earth,

I worship a Lord who responds, and I will not be seen worshipping someone who
does not ever hear anyone calling.

1 say as I pray in every church: ‘Blessed be You; I have indeed prayed much in
Your name.””

It has been stated earlier that Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl left for Syria along with
Waraqa b. Nawfal, ‘Uthmin b. al-Huwayrith, and ‘Ubayd Alzh b. Jahsh. All
became Christians except Zayd, who adopted no religion but remained in his
patural state of the worship of God alone and without partner, following as best
he could the religion of Abraham, as we have mentioned.

As for Waragqa b. Nawfal, his story will be told in discussion of the begmnmgs
of the divine mission.

As for ‘Uthman b. al-Huwayrith, he remained in Syria until he died there
while with Caesar. His story is very strange and was related by al-Umawi. In
brief it is as follows. When he approached Caesar and complained to him of the
treatment he had received from his own people, Caesar wrote for him to Ibn
Jafna, the king of the Arabs of Syria, to the effect that he should provide an army
to go with him to make war against Quraysh. He did decide to do so, but the
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bedouins wrote to him advising him against that action because of what they saw
to be the greatness of Mecca, and also how God had treated the army that had
come with the elephants. So Ibn Jafnz invested him with a tunic dyed with poison
and he was killed by it. Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl eulogized him in poetry recorded
by al-Umawi which we have left out for brevity’s sake.

His death occurred some three years before the mission of Islam. But God,
All-glorious and Almighty is He, knows best.

An Account of some of the events that occurred in the time of the fatra ¥
including the building of the ka®ba.

It has been said that it was Adam who first built it. Such a statement comes
down in a kadith that is marfd®® and came on the authority of ‘Abd Allah b.
‘Amr ; Ibn Lahi% is one of its chain of authorities and he is an authority con-
51dered da'if, weak.

The most credible of statements is that Abrabam, a/-Kkalil, “the true frlend”
peace be upon him, was the first who built it, as reported above. Simak b. Harb
so related, from Khilid b. ¢Ar¢ara back to ‘Ali b. Abi Talib who said, “Then it
collapsed, was rebuilt by a/-amaliqa, ‘the giants’, fell down and was built again
by Jurhum; thereafter it collapsed and was rebuilt by Quraysh.”

Here I will recount its being built by Quraysh; this occurred some five, or as
some say fifteen, years before the coming of Islam. Al-Zuhri stated, “The
Messenger of God (SAAS) had by then attained puberty.” Material related to all
that will come in its proper place, if God wills it, and in Him there is trust.

An Account of Kah b. LPayy.

Abua Nufym related in a line from Muhammad b. al-Hasan b, Zabala, from
Muhammad b. Talha al-Taymi, from Muhammad b. Tbrahim b. al-Harith back to
Abti Salama who said, “Ka% b. Lwayy would gather his people on Friday, a day
Quraysh used to name a/~%riba, and he would address them as follows: ‘And
moreover you must listen, learn, understand, and know. Tranquil night, sunlit
day; the earth is flat, the skies erected, the mountains bulwarks, the stars markers.
The first are as the last, the female and the male, the couple, and whatever excites,
all heads for decay. So respect your ties of relationship and preserve your kinship,

49. Al-fatra is a word given in Arabic to mean the period or the interval between two prophets.
Here it refers to the interval between the life of Jesus and that of Muhammad.

50, A tradition related by 2 Compamon of the Prophet and reporting the latter’s words or
actions.
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and make your wealth multiply. For did you ever see return someone who
expired, or a dead person revived? The (eternal) abode is before you and thought
is not what you express. Embellish and venerate your sanctuary and preserve
it well; for to it glorious tidings will come. And from it will emerge a noble
prophet.’

“Then he would say,

‘Daytime and night, every day has a happening; the same to us whether by day time
or night.

They both bring events when they arrive and their coverings over us bring many
blessings.

The Prophet Muhammad will come unexpectedly, and bring such news; believable
indeed is their bearer.’

“Then he would say, ‘By God, were I but part of them, by hearing and sight,
by hand and foot, I would vigorously rise up like a camel, and charge into it like
a stallion.’ '

“Then he would say, ‘Would that I could witness the impact of his mission,
when the tribe seeks the truth without vigour.””

Between the death of Ka® b. Lwayy and the mission of the Messenger of
God (SAAS) there was a period of 560 vears.

An Account of the re-digging of the well zamzam by ‘Abd al-Muitalib
b. Hashim, its whereabouts having been lost from the period when
Furhum filled and levelled it, up to his own time.

Mubhammad b. Ishzq stated, ““Abd al-Muttalib was sleeping in the sacred
enclosure when he received a vision ordering him to dig up zamzam.

“<Abd al-Muttalib was the first to begin digging it, according to what was
related to me by Yazid b. Aba Habib al-Misri from Marthad b. ‘Abd Allah
al-Yazani, from ‘Abd Allah b. Dhurayr al-Ghafiqi, namely, that the last
mentioned heard ‘Ali b. Aba Talib, God be pleased with him, telling how <Abd
al-Muttalib had been ordered to dig zamzam. ‘Ali reported Abd al-Muttalib as
saying: ‘1 was sleeping in the sanctuary when a vision came to me and said, “Dig
iha!” “But what’s fiba?” T asked. But it vanished.

“‘Next day when I again went to my bed and slept, he came again and said,
“IXg barral” “But what’s barra?” I asked. But it vanished.

“‘Next day when I again went to my bed and slept, he came again and said,
“Dig al-madnina'” “But what's al-madniina?” 1 asked. But it vanished.

“‘Next day when | again went to my bed and slept, he came again and said,
“Dig zamzam!” “But what's zamzam?” | asked. “It will never fail or dry up; it
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will water the grand pilgrim. It lies between the dung and the blood, near the
nest of the crow with the white leg and the ants’ nest.”’

“The matter having been clarified and he having been directed to its location,
and knowing that he had been spoken to in truth, he took up his pick-axe next
day and went off in the company of his son al-Harith b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib, his
only son at that time. So he dug down for it and when the coping stone appeared
to ‘Abd al-Muttalib he let out 2 ery of praise for God. Quraysh therefore knew
that he had achieved his purpose so they came and told him, ‘O ‘Abd
al-Muttalib, that is the well of our father Ishmael; we have a right to it, so make
us partners in it with yourself.’ ‘T will do no such thing; I was specifically
assigned to this without you; I was given it from among you all,’ he replied.
They asked again, “Treat us fairly; we’ll not leave you alone till we share with
you in it.” ‘Abd al-Muttalib replied, ‘Then appoint someone of your choice for
me to ask to adjudicate the matter with you.” “The woman diviner of the Bantu
Satd b. Hudhaym,’ they suggested. ‘Abd al-Muttalib agreed; the woman lived in
the uplands of Syria.

“So ‘Abd al-Muttalib mounted up with a company of men of the Bani
Ummaya, along with members of each tribe of Quraysh and they all left. The
earth at that time was waterless and having travelled some distance ‘Abd
al-Muttalib and his friends had used up their water. They were so thirsty that
they became convinced they were doomed. They therefore asked the other party
for water, but they refused, saying, ‘We're in a waterless desert and we fear for
ourselves a similar plight that afflicts you.” “Abd al-Muttalib then said, ‘T think
each man should dig a grave for himself with the strength he has remaining, so
that when anyone dies his friends can put him in the hole and cover him up, and
so on till there is only one man left. Better the loss (without burial) of one than
that of a whole company.” ‘What you instruct is good,’ they agreed.

“So each man dug himself a hole, and they sat down to await death from
thirst. But then ‘Abd al-Muttalib told his companions, ‘By God, our casting
ourselves down by our own hands like this for death without searching the land
and exerting ourselves is truly weakness; God may well provide us water some-
where in this land. Mount up!” So they did so. But when ‘Abd al-Muttalib
urged his mount up, a spring of sweet water burst up from beneath its hoof!
‘Abd al-Muttalib made exclamations of God’s greatness, as did his companions;
he and they dismounted, drank, and filled their water flasks. Then ¢Abd
al-Muttalib called the Quraysh tribesmen who had been watching all this, saying,
‘Come on over to the spring. God has given us water.” So they came and drank,
all filling their flasks. They then said, ‘Judgement has been made, by God, in
your favour against us! We won’t ever dispute with you over zamzam. He who
gave you this water in this desert is also He who gave you zamzam. So return to
your drawing of water, it being your right.’
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“So he and they all went back without consulting the diviner. And Quraysh
gave ‘Abd al-Muttalib free access to zamzam.”

Tbn Tshagq stated, “And that is the account I heard on the aunthority of ‘Ali b.
Abt Talib concerning zamzam.”

He also said, “I heard someone relate a tradition that ‘Abd al-Muttalib was
told, when ordered to dig zamzam:

“Then pray for abundant water without impurities to quench God’s pilgrims
at all the sacred sites.

“There’s nothing to fear so long as it provides.’

“Having been told so, ‘Abd al-Muttalib went to Quraysh and said to them,
‘You should know that [ have been ordered to dig zamzam.’ They asked, ‘And
was it explained to you where it lies?’ When he responded in the negative, they
told him, “Then go back to your bed where you had your vision. For if it in truth
came from God, it will be made clear to you, whereas if it came from Satan, it
will not reappear to you.” ‘Abd al-Muttalib did return and slept and did receive a
visitation, being told: ‘Dig zamzam. You will not regret if you do dig it. It is an
inheritance from your most mighty Father. It will never fail or dry up. It will
water the grand pilgrim. Like fleeing ostriches, it will never be divided. A truth-
sayer vows it to a benefactor. It will be an inheritance and a secure contract. It is
not as some things you might have known. And it lies between the dung and the
blood.””

Ibn Ishaq went on, “It is claimed that when this was said to ‘Abd al-Muttalib,
he asked, “Then where is it?” He was then told that it was near the ants’ nest
where the crow would peck the next day. But God knows whether that was so.

“Next day ‘Abd al-Muttalib went with his son al-Harith, his only son at that
time (al-Umawi added: ‘along with his servant Asram’) and found the ants’ nest
and the crow pecking near by, between the two idols Isaf and N#ila, at which
Quraysh would make sacrifice. So he brought his pick-axe to dig where he had
been told. But Quraysh stood in his way saying, ‘By God, we’ll not allow you to
dig down between our two idols to which we make sacrifice.” ‘Abd al-Muttalib
addressed his son al-Harith, ‘Protect me so I can dig, for by God I shall carry on
and do what 1 was ordered.” When Quraysh realized that he would not back
down, they made way for him to dig and left him alone. He had not been digging
for long before the coping stone appeared and he acclaimed the greatmess of
God, knowing that truth had been spoken to him. Persisting in the digging, he
found there two golden gazelles that Jurhum had buried, along with some white
metal swords and some breast-plates.

“Quraysh then addressed him, ‘O ‘Abd al-Muttalib, we have a right to share
in this.” ‘Ne,” he replied, ‘but let us decide what is equitable between us. Let us
use divinatory arrows over it.” ‘What shall we do then?’ they asked. He replied,
‘T will make two arrows for the ka%ba, two for myself, and two for you. Whoever
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has his arrows come out for something, that he shall have. Whoever has his
arrows left behind gets nothing.” They agreed that this was fair. So he made two
yellow arrows for the ka%a, two black ones for himself, and two white ones for
them. Then he gave the arrows to the diviner at the site of the idol Hubal, who
was to cast them. And Hubal was the largest of their idols; that was why Abu
Sufyan said at the battle of Uhud, ‘Arise, O Hubal!’, referring to that idol. So
‘Abd al-Muttalib said a prayer to Ged.”

Yunus b. Bukayr recounted, from Muhammad b. Ishiq, that ¢‘Abd al-
Muttalib began saying:

“0 God, You are the much-praised King; my Lord; You are the one who initiates
and repeats,

The one who is firmly holding the rocky mountain; from You comes all that is new
or that is old.

If You wish, You give inspiration as You want, to find the place of the ornaments
and the steel.

So make clear today what You wish; T have made a vow to Flim who decides

Give it, O my Lord, to me, and I'll not go back.”

“The diviner cast the arrows and the two yellow ones went towards the
gazelles, giving them to the k4%a, the two black ones came out for the swords
and armour, making them for ‘Abd al-Muttalib, but the two arrows for Quraysh
remained behind. So ‘Abd al-Muttalib hammered down the two swords into a
door for the £4%a into which he incorporated the two golden gazelles. This was,
so they say, the first decoration of gold the kz%a had.”

Thereafter ‘Abd al-Muttalib took charge of providing water from zamzam to
the pilgrims. And Ibn Ishaq and others relate that Mecca had many wells in it
prior to the appearance of zamzam at the time of ‘Abd al-Muttalib. Ibn Ishagq,
moreover, enumerated and named them, and told their whereabouts in and
around Mecca as well as those who dug them. His account of this concludes,
“Zamzam overshadowed all the other wells, their customers preferring to go to
it, because of its proximity to the holy mosque, the superiority of its water over
the rest, and its having been the well of Ishmael, son of Abraham. The Abd
Manaf tribe expressed because of it a superiority over all Quraysh as well as all
the other Arabs.”

1t is established in the sakik collection of Muslim in the material relating to
the adoption of Islam by Abu Dharr, that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said
the following about zamzam: “It is the taste supreme. It is the cure of
disease.” ‘

The Imam Ahmad (Ibn Hanbal) said, “‘Abd Allah b. al-Walid related to us,
on the authority of ‘Abd Allah b. al-Mu‘mil, from Abt al-Zubayr, from Jabir b.
‘Abd Allah, that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “The water of zamzam is
for what is drunk from it.’”
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Tbn Maja related this also, from a kadith of ‘Abd Allah b. al-Muw’mil. They
spoke it and gave its wording as: “The water of zamzam is for what is drunk to
it.” Suwayd b. Sa‘id related it from ‘Abd Allah b. al-Mubirak, from Abd
al-Rahman b. Abu al-Mawili, from Muhammad b. al-Munkadir, from Jabir,
from the Prophet (SAAS) who said, “The water of zamzam is for what is drunk
to it.” However, Suwayd b. Safid is a weak link. The tradition as preserved from
Ibn al-Mubarak from ‘Abd Allah b. al-Mwmil is as given above. Al-Hakim
refated it from Ibn ‘Abbas in the form “The water of zamzam is for what is
drunk to it.” And this is questionable. But God knows best.

Similarly, Ibn Maja and al-Hakim relate that Ibn ‘Abbas said te a man,
“When vou drink from zamzam face the ka‘ba and repeat the name of God.
Then breathe deeply three times and drink from it until you are full. When
finished, give praise to God. For the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “The
evidence of the differences between us and the hypocrites is that they do not

- drink to the fill from the water of zamzam.””

And it is related from ‘Abd al-Muttalib that he said, “O God, I do not allow a
person to wash with it; it is for people to drink kilfun, ‘freely available’, wa,
‘and’, ballun, ‘allowed’.” %!

Some learned scholars report this from al-‘Abbis b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib but in
fact it came from ‘Abd al-Muttalib himself, for it was he who restored zamzam
as stated above. But God knows best.

Al-Umawi wrote in his Maghazi work as follows: “Abt “Ubayd related to us,
Yahya b. Sa®id informed us, from ‘Abd al-Rahmin b. Harmala, that the last
meniioned said that he heard Sa‘id b. al-Musayyab relate that ‘Abd al-Muttalib
b. Hashim remarked when he dug zamzam, ‘I do not allow a person to wash with
it; it is freely available and allowed for a person to drink it.” To that purpose he
had two basins for it, one for drinking, the other for the prayer ablution. At that
point he said, ‘I do not allow a person to wash with it, deeming it inappropriate
for the mosque to be washed in.””

According to Abll “Ubayd, al-Asma‘i stated that his saying wa ballun is an
itha¢,* ‘“‘corroboration of the preceding word”, ksllun. But Abi “Ubayd objected
that an #k2¢ cannot occur with the waew of conjunction (wa meaning “and”)
but it is used because, as Mu‘tamir b. Sulaymin had indicated, ballun in the
language of Himyar means mubik, 1.e. “allowed”.

Abt ‘Ubayd then said, “Aba Bakr b. ‘Ayyish related to us, from ‘Asim b. Abu
al-Nujud, that he heard Zirr (say) that he heard al-“Abbas state, ‘I do not allow a
person to wash in it.’” And ‘Abd al-Rahmin b. Mahdi related to us, as did

51. Discussion of these words killun wa ballun follows in the text. Also, another meaning of the
word ballun is “for wetting™.

52. In Arabic grammar itb4* is intensification by repetition of a word with its initial consonant
changed.
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Sufyan, from ‘Abd al-Rahman b. ‘Alqama, that the last mentioned heard Ibn
‘Abbas say the same.”

And this tradition relating back to both of them is true; it has them so saying
in their own era with the purpose of informing and establishing what <Abd
al-Muttalib had specified when he dug it; thus it does not contradict the preceding
account. But God knows best.

The rights to providing water for the pilgrims remained with ‘Abd al-Muttalib
as long as he lived, thereafter passing to his son Abii Talib for a period. Then it
so happened that he became impoverished for a while and went into debt to his
brother al-‘Abbas for 10,000 from one year to the next. Aba Tilib spent the
money on matters relating to watering the pilgrims, and when the next year
arrived he had nothing left. So he asked his brother for a loan of 14,000 to the
following year, at which time, he prormised, he would repay the total debt. But
al-°‘Abbas agreed only on condition that if Abui T4lib did not repay it, control of
the well would transfer to himself. To this Abt Talib agreed.

When the next year arrived Abii Talib had nothing to give to al-‘Abbas and so
he relinquished control of the well to him. Thereafter it went to ‘Abd Allsh,
al-‘Abbas’ son, then to ‘Ali b. “‘Abd Allah b. ‘Abbas, to Dawtad b. ‘Ah, to
Sulaymain b. ‘Ali and to Tsa b. ‘Ali. Then al-Mansur took it over and entrusted
its control to his mawla, his freed slave, Abt Ruzayn. Al-Umawi gave this account.

An Account of “Abd al-Muttalib’s vow to sacrifice one of his sons.

Ibn Tshaq stated, “It is claimed that when ‘Abd al-Mugtalib received such
opposition from Quraysh over the digging of zamzam, he vowed that if ten sons
were born to him who grew up and protected him, he would sacrifice one of
them for God at the £a%a. _

“Eventually he had ten sons grown up whom he knew would give him protec-
tion. Their names were al-Harith, al-Zubayr, Hajl, Dirar, al-Mugawwim, Abii
Lahab, al-‘Abbas, Hamza, Ab@ Talib, and ‘Abd Allah. He assembled them and
told them of his vow and asked them to honour his pledge to God, Almighty and
All-glorious is He. They obeyed, and asked him what he wanted them to do. He
asked each of them to take an arrow, write his name on it and return to him.

“They did so and he went with them inside the £4%a to the site of their god
Hubal where there was the well in which offerings to the £a%a would be placed.
There, near Hubal, were seven arrows which they would use for divining a
judgement over some matter of conseguence, a question of blood-money, kinship,
or the like. They would come to Hubal to seek a resolution, accepting whatever
they were ordered to do or to refrain from.”
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The outcome was that when ‘Abd al-Muttalib came to seek judgement with
the arrows from Hubal, the one with the name of his son ‘Abd Allah came forth.
He was his youngest boy and the one he loved most, but ¢Abd al-Muttalib tock
his son ‘Abd Allah by the hand, drew out his knife, and went up to Isaf and
N=ila® to sacrifice him. At this Quraysh left their meeting-places and asked him
what he intended to do. When he replied that he was going to sacrifice ‘Abd
Allah, they, along with ‘Abd Allah’s brothers, said, “By God, do not sacrifice
him without secking forgiveness for him; if you do this men will keep bringing
their sons to sacrifice and how could that go on?”

Yiinus b. Bukayr related from Ibn Ishaq that al-‘Abbas was the one who drew
¢Abd Allah out from beneath his father’s foot when he had placed it on him to
sacrifice him. And it 1s said that he scarred his face so badly that it remained
visible there till he died.

Thereafter Quraysh advised that ‘Abd al-Muttalib should go to the Hijaz
where there was a woman diviner who had an attendant spirit, and that he
should consult her. “That”, they said, “is the best you can do. If she then orders
you to sacrifice him, do se; but if she tells you to do something that provides you
a way out, then accept it.”

So they left for Medina, where they found that the diviner whose name was
Sajah, as Yunus b. Bukayr reported from Ibn Ishaq, was at Khaybar. They rode
off again and went to her and sought her advice, ‘Abd al-Muttalib telling her of
the whole problem regarding him and his son. She told them: “Leave me today,
until my attendant spirit comes and | can ask him.”

They left her and ‘Abd al-Muttalib prayed to God. Next day they went back
to her and she informed them that she had had a message. “How much is the
blood-money you prescribe?” she asked. “Ten camels,” they told her, that being
then the case. ““I'hen go back to vour land and present your man as an offering
and do the same with ten camels. Then cast arrows to decide between him and
them. If the divining arrow points to him then add to the number of camels until
your god is satisfied; if it points to the camels, then sacriﬁce them in his place.
That way you will please your god and save your man.’

Se they went back to Mecca and, when they had agreed to do as she had said,
‘Abd al-Muttalib said prayers to God. Then they offered up ‘Abd Allah and the
ten camels as sacrifice and cast the arrow. It came out against ‘Abd Allah so they
added ten more camels and tried once more. Again it came out against him and
they added ten more, then kept on doing so until the camels reached one hundred
in number. When they next cast the arrow it came out for the camels. At that
point the men of Quraysh told ‘Abd al-Muttalib, who was standing near Hubal
praying to God, “It’s all over! Your God is pleased, O ‘Abd al-Muttalib.” Tt is

53. Twoidols referred to earlier.
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claimed that he then replied, “No, not until I cast the arrows three times.” So
they did cast three times, the arrow always indicating the camels, which were
slaughtered and left there for anyone to take without hindrance. And lbn
Hishim reported “And it is said, for any wild beast to take as well.”

It is otherwise related that when the number of camels reached 100 the arrow
was still against ‘Abd Allah, so they added another 100, making 200, and the
same thing happened. Likewise it did with 300. It was then that the arrow came
out against the camels, whereupon ¢Abd al Muttalib slaughtered them. But the
first account is the true one. Though God knows best.

Ibn Jarir related, from Ytinus b. ‘Abd al-A43, from Ibn Wahb, from Yinus b.
Yazid, from al-Zuhri from Qabisa b. Dhwayb that Ibn ‘Abbas was asked for
advice by a woman who had vowed to sacrifice her son at the £a%a. He told her
to sacrifice 100 camels instead and related to her the above account about ‘Abd
al-Muttalib. She then asked ‘Abd Allah b. Umar but he gave her no legal
decision, simply refraining from doing so. The problem then reached Marwan
b. al-ITakam, who was the governor of Medina. He said, “Neither of them gave a
correct decision.” He then ordered the woman to perform whatever acts of charity
she could, forbidding her from sacrificing her son and not ordering her to
slaughter any camels. And the people accepted Marwan’s judgement in the matter.
But God knows best.

An Account of “Abd al-Muitalib’s marriage of his son Abd Allah to
Amina bint Wahb al-Zuhriyya.

Ibn Ishaq stated: “¢Abd al-Muttalib then left, holding his son ‘Abd Allih by the
hand. They passed, it is claimed, 2 woman of Banii Asad b. ‘Abd al-Uzza b.
Qusayy who was named Umm Qaital; she was the sister of Waraqga b. Nawfal b.
Asad b. ‘Abd al-Uzza b. Qusayy and had been there at the ka%a . She stared
into the face of ‘“Abd Allzh and asked him where he was going. ‘With my father,’
he replied. ‘If you will have me now,’ she said, ‘you can have the like number of
camels that were sacrificed for you!” ‘But I am with my father, and I may not
oppose him or leave him,’ he answered.”

¢Abd al-Muttalib took him further on till they reached Wahb b. ‘Abd Manaf
b. Zuhra b. Kilab b. Murra b. Ka‘h b. Luayy b. Ghalib b. Fihr who was at that
time leader of Bant Zuhra in both age and honour. He agreed to marry to ‘Abd
Allah his daughter Amina, who was then the woman most highly regarded
among his people.

It is claimed that Abd Allah consummated the marriage then and there, and
that she conceived the Messenger of God (SAAS). Afterwards he left her and
passed again by the woman who had made a proposition to him. He asked her,
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“How come vou’re not making me the offer today vou did yesterdayr” She
replied, “The light you bore yesterday has left you, and I need you no more.”
She had heard from her brother Waraga b. Nawfal who had become a Christian
and studied the Scriptures, that there was to be a prophet come to that nation,
and she wanted him to be born to her. So God made him of the finest and most
noble lineage, as the Almighty put it, in the Quran, “And God knows best
where to place His prophethood” (s@rar al-An‘am, VI, v.124). We will relate the
birth itself m detail.

And among the verses spoken by Umm Qattdl expressing her disappointment at
her failure to get what she had wanted are the following lines related by al-Bayhaqi
from Yiinus b. Bukayr from Muhammad b. Ishaq, God be pleased with him:

“And so on to Banti Zuhra, where they were, and to Amina who bore a boy
She sees ai~-Makdi, the right-guided, when he mounted her, and a light that had
preceded him ahead . . .”

and so on to the lines:

“All creation, all mankind, were hoping for him to lead the people as an Imam,
rightly guided.

God shaped him from a light, making it pure, its glow taking the gloom from us.

That is the work of your lord whe singled him out, whether he would move ahead
one day or stay

He guides the people of Mecca after faithlessness, enjoining thereafter the fast.”

Abt Bakr Muhammad b. Sahl al-Khara*it7 said that ‘Ali b. Harb related to
him, as did Muhammad b. Umara al-Qurashi, as did Muslim b. Khalid
al-Zanji, as did Ibn Jurayj from ‘At b. Abu Ribih, from Ibn ‘Abbias that the latter
said, “When ‘Abd al-Muttalib went off with his son ‘Abd Alkih to arrange his
marriage, he passed by a woman diviner of the Tibala people who had adopted
the Jewish faith and read the Scriptures, her name being Fatima daughter of
Murr al-Khath%amiyya. She saw the light of prophethood on ‘Abd Allah’s face
and said, ‘Young man, would you like to have me now and iet me give you 100
camels?’ ‘Abd Allah replied with the verse,

‘I’d rather die than do the forbidden, and staying here is not allowed, I clearly see.
So how could we do what you desire?””

Then ‘Abd Allah passed on with his father who married him to Amina daughter
of Wahb b. ‘Abd Manaf b. Zuhra; and he stayed three nights with her. Then he
had an urge to accept the woman’s offer so he went to her. “Well, what did you
do after (seeing) me?” she asked. And he told her. She then said: “By God, I'm
not 2 woman of doubtful morals; but T did see a light in your face, and I wanted
it to be in me. But God refused to put it anywhere other than He wished.” Then
Fatima spoke the following verses:
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“I saw a sign shine forth, glistening like raindrops in dark storm clouds,

‘Which appeared to me as a light illuminating all around it, as the full moon shines
forth.

And 1 hoped to attain it, a source of pride I could capture, but not evervone who
strikes his fiint lights fire,

For God is what a Zuhriyya woman took, though vour two garments are what she
seized; but she did not know that.”

She also spoke the verses:

“(} Bant Hashim, it came off from your brother to Umayna (Amina) as they were
passionately consummating their marriage,

Ag the lamp when it dies down leaves behind its wicks, stained with oil,

Not all the wealth a man holds is achieved by rescluteness, nor is what escapes him
always from lassitude.

So be moderate in pursuing what you want; good luck and misfortune contending
together should suffice you,

Suffice you either a hand tight closed or a hand laid open, ﬁngers stretched.

When Umayna (Amina) got from him what she had, she received from him an
honour, never to come again.”

And Tmam Abt Nu‘ym, the 2zfiz, in his book Dal@il al-Nubuwmwa (Signs of
the Prophethood), related on a chain from Yaqub b. Muhammad al-Zuhri, from
‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Umrin, from ‘Abd Allzh b. Ja%ar, from Ibn ‘Awn, from
al-Miswar b. Makhrama, from Ibn “Abb3s as follows: “<Abd al-Muttalib went to
Yemen on a winter’s journcy and stayed with a Jewish high priest. “Abd
al-Muttalib said, ‘And one of the monks — by that he meant a scholar of the
Scriptures — said to me, “O ‘Abd al-Muttalib, would you allow me to look at a
certain part of you?” “Yes, if it be nothing shameful,” I replied. Then the man
opened up one of my nostrils and looked inside it, and did the same with the
other one, saying, “I swear that in one of your hands you will have power and in
the other prophethood. But we find that to be in the Bana Zuhra, so how can
that be?” I replied that T did not know. The man then asked, “Do you have a
sha‘a?” 1 asked him what he meant by this word sha@% and he replied, a wife. 1
replied that I did not at that time and he said, “Well, when you go back marry
someone from them (i.e. Bant Zuhra).”’

“So when ‘Abd al-Muttalib did return home he married Hala, daughter of
Wahb b. ‘Abd Manaf b. Zuhra, and she gave birth to Hamza and Safiyya. Then
‘Abd Allah son of ‘Abd al-Muttalib married Amina daughter of Wahb and she
gave birth to the Messenger of God (SAAS).

“When ‘Abd Allah married Amina, the men of Quraysh commented, ‘He won
out’, i.e. ‘Abd Alldh beat out or defeated his father ‘Abd al-Muttalib.”
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THLE BOOK OF THE LIFE OF
THE MESSENGER OF GOD (SAAS).

An Account of his life story, his battles and raids, the delegations to him,
and his natural gualities, his virtues, and the features distinguishing him.

CHAPTER: AN ACCOUNT OF HIS NOBLE ANCESTRY AND THE
EXCELLENCE OF HIS HIGH LINEAGE.

God Almighty’s words were: “God knows best where to place His prophethood”
(siErat al-An‘am, VI, v.124).

When Heraclius, the Roman emperor, asked Abt Sufyin questions relating to
the qualities of the Prophet (SAAS), he wanted to know how good his lineage
" was in his peoplé. Abu Sufyan replied, “He does indeed have good lineage in

us.” Heraclius commented, “Thus are the messengers given their missions
within the ancestry of their own people.” He meant from among peoples with
the highest reputation and the most numerous tribal connections. May God’s
blessing be upon them all.

He was the best of Adam’s sons, their pride on earth and the hereafter. He
was known as the father of al-Qasim and of Tbrahim, as Muhammad, as Ahmad,
as al-Mahi, “the Abolisher”, the one by whom disbelief was abolished, as
al-Agh, “the Ultimate™ after whom no prophet would follow, as al-IHashir, “the
Gatherer”, i.e. he at whose feet the people would gather, as al-Mugaffi, “the
Tracker”, as nabi al-Rakma, “the Prophet of Mercy”, as nabi al-Tawba, “the
Prophet of Repentance”, as wabi al-Malhama, “the Prophet of the Fierce
Battle”, as khatim al-nabiyyin, “the Seal of the Prophets”, as al-farih, “the
Conqueror”, as ' @hi, as Ydsin, and as ‘Abd Allgh, “God’s Servant”.

According to al-Baybaqi some authorities added more names to these. He
said, “In the Qurian, God named him rasi/, ‘messenger’, nabi, ‘prophet’, ummi,
‘unlettered’, shakid, ‘witness-giver’, mubashshir, ‘bringer of good tidings’, nadhir,
‘admonisher’, da5 i@ Allzh bi idhnihi, *he who calls to God with His permis-
sion’, sirgy munir, ‘illuminating lamp’, r24f rahim, ‘kind and compassionate’, and

‘mudhakkir, ‘reminder’. And God made him mercy, a blessing, and a guide.”

We will give the accounts relating to the names attributed to him (SAAS) in a
chapter we will include after the completion of the biography. For on this sub-
ject many traditions have come down, responsibility for gathering them having
been assumed by two of the great suffaz Abu Bakr al-Bayhaqi and Aba al-Qasim
b. ‘Asiakir. Some people have written works specifically on these names, some
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going so far as to gather as many as 1,000. But the greart legal scholar AbT Bakr
b. al-‘Arabi al-Maliki, who interpreted the words of al-Tirmidhi in his book
Aridat al-Abwadhi (The Expert’s Clear Review), gives 64 such names. But God
knows best.

He was the son of ‘Abd Allah who was in turn the youngest son of his father
‘Abd al-Muttalib; ‘Abd Allah was the man who lay down to be sacrificed but was
ransoined by 100 camels, as previously explained.

Al-Zuhri said, “And ‘Abd Alizh was the most handsome man in Quraysh. He
was brother to al-Harith, al-Zubayr, Hamza, Darar, Aba Talib, whose own
given naime was ‘Abd Manaf, Abii LLahab, whose given name was ‘Abd al-“Uzza,
al-Mugawwim, whosé given name was ‘Abd al-Ka%ba, though some say these
were two men, Hajl, whose given name was al-Mughira, al-Ghaydiq, a man of
great generosity whose given name was Nawfal, though some say that was Hajl.
These, then, were the paternal uncles of the Prophet (SAAS).

“His aunts numbered six; they were Arwa, Barra, Umayma, Safiyya, ‘Atika,
and Umm Hakim, she being al-Bayda”, ‘the white woman’. We will talk of all of
these later, if God wills it.

“All of these were children of ‘Abd al-Mufttalib, whose own name was
Shayba, ‘grey’, so known because of his grey hair; alternatively his name Shayba,
meant ‘the one praised for his generosity’. However, he was known as ‘Abd
al-Muttalib because when his father Hashim had passed through Medina on a
trading mission to Syria, he had stayed at the house of ‘Amr b. Zayd b. Labid b.
Haram b. Khidash b. Khindaf b. ¢Adi b. al-Najjar al-Khazraji al-Najjari who
was the leader of his tribe. Hishim was much taken with ‘Amr’s daughter Salma
and asked her father to engage her in marriage. He did so but on condition that
she should remain there with him. Some say that the condition was that she
should only give birth there with him in Medina. When Hashim returned from
Syria he consummated marriage with her and took her with him to Mecca.
When he next went away on business she was pregnant and he took her with
him, leaving her in Medina. Hashim then went off to Syria but died at Ghazza .
When Salma gave birth to her child she named him Shayba. He remained there
with his maternal uncles of the Bana ¢Adi b. al-Najjar for seven years.

“Then his uncle al-Muttalib b. ‘Abd Manaf came and secretly took him away
from his mother and returned with him to Mecca. When people there saw them
both on his mount they asked him who the boy was and he replied, ‘My <44d,
my servant!” Then they all came up and welcomed the boy, addressing him con-
sequently as ‘Abd al-Muttalib, i.e. al-Muttalib’s servant, and the name stuck to
him. :
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“He rose to a great position of leadership among Quraysh, becoming their
most henoured chief. They united behind him and in him rested the rights of
al-sagaya and alrifada”* as had been the case with al-Muttalib. It was
al-Muttalib who dug out the well zamzam, which had been covered up since the
Jurhum era. He was the first to decorate the kz%a with gold, overlaying its doors
with those two golden gazelles he found in zemzam along with the two white-
metal swords.”

According to Ibn Hisham, ‘Abd al-Muttalib was brother to Asad, Nadla, Abu
Sayfi, Hayya, Khalida, Rugayya, al-Shaffa* and Da‘ifa. All these were children
of Hashim. His real name was ‘Amr, but he was called Hashim, i.e. “the
crusher”, because he would crush bread with meat and broth for his people dur-
ing years of famine, as Matrid b. Kah al-Khuza said in his ode; the poem is
alternatively attributed to al-Zaba%a Wilid ‘Abd Allah. The verses are:

“¢Amr is he who crushed the bread and meat for his people, the people of Mecca
suffering drought and hunger.

He received charge of both expeditions, the winter caravan and that of the sum-
mers.”

This related to his having been the first to institute the two expeditions, of
winter and of summer; he was the oldest of his father’s children. Tbn Jarir
related that he was the twin brother of ‘Abd Shams, and that Hashim came forth
with his leg attached to his twin brother’s head, which was only separated after
blood had flowed between them. People said that that signified wars between
their progeny; and so there occurred the confrontation between Banti al-¢Abbas
and Bantt Umayya b. ‘Abd Shams in the year 133 AH.

Their third brother, al-Muttalib, was his father’s youngest boy; their mother
was ‘Atika, daughter of Murra, son of Hilal.

The fourth of the siblings was Nawfal, born to another mother named Waqida
daughter of ‘Amr of the tribe of Mazin. These brothers ruted their people after
their father; they were known as af-mujirin, “the protectors”. That is because
they negoi'iated safe conduct for their people of Quraysh with the kings of the
neighbouring lands so that they could enter them for trading. Hishim won safe
passage from the rulers of Syria, Byzantium, and Ghassan; ‘Abd Shams won the
same from the Great Negus, the emperor of Abyssinta; Nawfal gained it for
them from the Chosroes, while al-Muttalib received it from the kings of
Himyar.

It was of them that a poet composed the lines,

“Q you, man, changing your luggage, have you not dismounted at the family of
‘Abd Manaf?”

54. The provision of water and food to the pilgrims.
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Hashim enjoyed the rights of feeding and watering the pilgrims following his
father, and it is to him as well as to his brother al-Muttalib, that his kinsfolk
claimed relationship. The two men were as one during both the pre- and post-
Islamic periods, never differing. They (and their progeny) all together
constituted one multi-sided tribe, But the progeny of their brothers ‘Abd Shams
and Nawfal separated out. That is why Abt T4lib stated in his ode:

“God requited us Abd Shams and Nawfal as a punishment for evil, immediate, not
delayed.”

No family from one father is known who were so far removed from one
another in their deaths as they were. Hishim died in Ghazza in Syria, ‘Abd
Shams died in Mecca, Nawfal in Salman in Iraq, while al-Muttalib, known as
“the moon” for his fine looks, died in Radman on the way to Yemen. These,
then are the four famous brothers, Hashim, ‘Abd Shams, Nawfal, and
al-Muttalib,

They did have a fifth brother who was not famous. He was known as Aba
“Amr, his own name being ‘Abd, from the name ‘Abd Qusayy. People called him
Abd b. Qusayy; he died childless. This is what al-Zubayr b. Bakkar and others
said. They also had six sisters whose names were Tamadur, Hayya, Rita, Qilaba,
Umm al-Akhtham, and Umm Sufyan.

All these, then, were children of ‘Abd Manaf. Manaf was the name of an idol,
and the original name of ‘“Abd Manaf was “ai-Mughira”. He took the leadership
during his father’s time, and his nobility was unexcelled. He was the brother of
‘Abd al-Dar who was his father’s eldest son. To him he delegated various
appointments, as told above. There were also ‘Abd al-Uzza, ‘Abd, Barra, and
Takhmur, the mother of them zll being Hubba, daughter of Hulayl b.
Hubshiyyz b. Salal b. Ka®h b. ‘Amr the Khuzai. Her father was the last of the
kings of Khuza‘a who were the guardians of the ka‘a. All were descendants of
Qusayy, whose given name was Zayd. He was known as Qusayy because his
mother had married Rabit b. Haram b. ‘Udhra after his father; Rabi% travelled
with her to his own land while her son was still young, and Qusayy was so
named because of this, i.c. “litde stranger”. He later, when fully grown,
returned to Mecca and united Quraysh into one, having gathered them together
from all parts of the land. He removed Khuza%’s power from the House (the
ka‘ba) and expelled them from Mecca, thus restoring what was right. He became
absolute ruler over Quraysh and controlled the feeding and watering of the
pilgrims, systems he established, along with the sadana, the hijaba, and al-biwa.>
And his house was where public meetings were held, all of which is explained
above. It is due to this that 2 poet spoke the line:

55. These offices referred, respectively, to the keeper of the katha, the chamberlain, and the
hoisting of the banner.
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“Qusayy, by my life, was known as a ‘gatherer together’; through him God gathered
up all the tribes of Fihr.”

He was the brother of Zuhra, both being sons of Kilab, who was the brother
of Taym and of Yaqza Aba Makhzum, All three were sons of Murra, who was
the brother of ‘Adi and Husays.

All of these were progeny of Ka%. It was he who used to address his people
cach Friday and announce to them the glad tidings of the coming of the
Messenger of God (SAAS), reciting poetry to that effect as we have given above.
Ka% was brother to ‘Amir, Sama, Khuzayma, Sad, al-FHarith, and ‘Awf, the
seven being sons of Lutayy, brother of Taym al-Adram. These latter two were
sons of Ghalib, brother of al-Harith and Mubharib. These three were sons of
Fihr who was the brother of al-Harith, both of them being sons of Malik. He
was the brother of al-Salt and Yakhlud, who were sons of al-Nadr who was given
due credit for bringing Quraysh together into the right way, as we have shown
heretofore. He was the brother of Malik, Malkan, ‘Abd Manat, and others. All
these were born to Kinana, brother of Asad, Asada, and al-Hawn, sons of
Khuzayma who was brother to Hudhayl. These two were sons of Mudrika,
whose name was ‘Amr who was brother to Tabikha whose name was ‘Amir, and
to Qama%Q. These three were sons of Ilyas; his brother was ‘Aylan who fathered
all of Qays. These two were sons of Mudar, brother of Rabi%. These two men
were known as al-Sarikan, the candid ones, of the line of Ishmael; they had
brothers named Anmar and Iyad who went to Yemen, These four were sons of
Nizar, brother of Quda%, according, that is, to a group of those who consider
Quda‘a to have been Hijazi and ‘Adnani in line, as we have explained above.
These last two, Nizar and Quda‘a, were sons of Ma%d b. ‘Adnan.

This genealogy, described as above, is without dispute among scholars. All
the tribes of the Arabs of Hijaz combine in this line of descent. That is why Thn
‘Abbias and others comment on the Qurranic verse, “Say, I shall not ask of you
all any other reward than that of love for those related” (siirat al-Shara, XLII,
v.23) by implying that there was not a single subtribe of Quraysh devoid of
linear connection with the Messenger of God (SAAS).

Tbn ‘Abbas, God be pleased with him, was correct and conservative in saying
as he did. Namely, that all the ‘Adnin Arab tribes relate to him through their
fathers’ lines and many through their mothers’ lines as well, as Muhammad b.
Ishaq and others showed through their tracing of all his mothers and of those of
the rest back through their maternal lines at great length.

Ibn Ishaq, God have mercy on him, and the £4fiz Ibn ‘Asakir recorded all this.

In our comments above on the biography of ‘Adnan we gave details of his
descent and matters relating thereto. He was very definitely of Ishmael’s line,
though there is some variance in the number of generations between them, as is
shown in accounts we explained above. But God knows best.
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We also reported the rest of the genealogy back from ‘Adnan to Adam, zlong
with the ode of Abii al-‘Abbas al-Nash# incorporating that material. All this was
in the material relating to the Arabs of Hijaz, our thanks be to God.

The Imam Abi Ja‘far b, Jarir, God have mercy on him, gave a very useful,
succinct, and accurate account of that in the opening part of his history.

We have one kadith relating to his descent from ‘Adnan actually spoken when
he was on the minbar, the pulpit, but God knows how authentic it is. The hafiz
Aba Bakr al-Bayhaqi said that Aba al-Hasan ‘Ali b. Ahmad b. Umar b. Hafs,
the reciter in Baghdad, informed him that Abt ‘Tsa Bakkdr b. Ahmad b. Bakkar
related to him, as did Aba Ja%far Ahmad b. Msa b. Sa‘d in a transcription dated
296, quoting Abf Ja%ar Muhammad b. Aban al-Qalanisi, quoting Abu
Muhammad ‘Abd Allah b. Muhammad b. Rabi% al-Qaddami, quoting Malik b.
Anas, from al-Zuhr, from Anas, and from Abu Bakr b. ‘Abd al-Rahman b.
al-Harith b. Hisham as follows: “It reached the Prophet (SAAS) that some men
of Kinda were claiming relationship to him, so he stated, ‘Al-‘Abbas and Abu
Sufyan b. Harb would say that only to make us look bad; we will never deny our
forefathers. We are Banti al-Nadr b. Kinana.””

The account states that the Prophet gave an address as follows: “I am
Muhammad son of ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib b. Hashim b. ‘Abd Manafb.
Qusayy b. Kilab b. Murra b. Ka®h b. LwPayy b. Ghalib b. Fihr b. Malik b.
al-Nadr b. Kinana b. Khuzayma b. Mudrika b. Ilyas b. Mudar b. Nizar. And
whenever people divided off into two groups God placed me in the better. I was
born from my two paretits and was tainted by none of the debauchery of the era
before Islam. I was the product of true marriage, not fornication, right down
from Adam to my father and my mother. I am the best of you in spirit and the
best of you in parentage.”

This tradition is a very strange one from Mailik. Al-Qaddami alone transmits
it, and he is a weak authority. Nevertheless we will give several testimonies in
support of it from other sources.

Regarding his having said, as above, “I was the product of true marriage, not
fornication”, ‘Abd al-Razziq stated that Ibn ‘Uyayna informed him, from Jafar b.
Mubammad, that his father Abii Ja%ar al-Bagir making reference to the Qurlanic
verse, “A messenger has come to you from yourselves” (sirat al-Tamwba, 1X, v.128)
said that, “Ie was not tainted at all by his birth during the jahiliyya, the pre-
Islamic era” and the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “I was the product of true
marriage, not fornication.” This tradition is very incomplete in its transmission.

The same was related by al-Bayhaqgi from al-EHakim, from al-Asamm, from
Muhammad b. Ishag al-San@%ni, from Yahya b. Abn Bukayr, from ‘Abd
al-Ghaffar b. al-Qasim, from Ja‘far b. Muhammad, from his father, that the
Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “God produced me from a true marriage, not
from fornication.”
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Ton ¢Adi refated it with a complete transmission chain as follows, “Ahmad b.
Hafs related to us, as did Mubhammad b. AbG ‘Amr al-“Adani al-Makki, as did
Muhammad b. Ja%ar b. Muhammad b. ‘Al b. al-Husayn, saying, ‘My father
testified to me, on the authority of his father and his grandfather, as having
heard from Al b. Abti Talib that the Prophet (SAAS) said, “I was the product
of true marriage, not fornication, from Adam right on up to when my father and
mother had me. And I was not at all tainted by the fornication of the
Jjahiliyya.”?”

This is a strange tradition from this line of transmission and can scarcely be
credited,

Hushaym said, “Al-Madini related to me, from AbTG al-EHuwayrith, from Ibn
¢Abbas, that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, ‘Nothing of the fornication of
the j@hiliyya was born in me; I was born from nothing but a true marriage, just
like the true marriage of Istam.””

This too is strange. The Aafiz Ibn ‘Asakir passed it on, then substantiated it
by a tradition of AbG Hurayra, and there is weakness in its transmission from
him. But God knows best. .

Muhammad b. Sa’d said, “Mubhammad b. Umar informed us, guoting
Mubammad b. tAbd Allzh b. Muslim, from his uncle al-Zuhri, from Urwa,
from ‘A’isha who said that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, ‘I was born from
a true marriage, not fornication.’”

Moreover Tbn ‘Asakir passed down from a tradition of Abu ‘Asim, from
Shabib, from Tkrima, from Ibn ‘Abbas who with reference to the (Qurianic verse
“your ever-changing presence among those who prostrate in prayer” (sirat
al-Shu‘ar®, XXVI, v.219) quoted the Prophet as saying, “from prophet to
prophet until I was brought forth as a prophet.” He related this on the authority
of ‘Az,

Muhammad b. Sa‘d said, “Hisham b. Muhammad al-Xalbi informed us, from
his father who said, ‘I wrote out some 500 maternal ancestors for the Prophet
(SAAS) and found fornication in not one of them, nor anything relating to (the
evil ways) of the jahifiyya.’”

It is established in the sakif collection of ai-Bukhari from a hadith of ‘Amr b.
Abt ‘Amr from Sa‘id al-Maqbirl, from Aba Hurayra who said, “The
Messenger of God (SAAS) stated, ‘I was sent on through the best of generations
of humankind, age after age, until I received my missien in the century in which
I lived.””

In the sahik of Muslim, from a tradition of al-Awzi‘i from Shaddad Aba
‘Ammar, from Withila b. al-Asqa¥, comes the statement of the Messenger of
God (SAAS): “God chose Ishmael from the children of Abraham, Banii Kinana
from the tribe of Ishmael, Quraysh from the tribe of Kinana, Bant Hashim from
Quraysh, and myself from Bant Hashim.”
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The Imam Ahmad (Ibn Hanbal) stated that Abtu Nu‘aym related to him, from
Sufyan, from Yazid b. Abt Ziyad, from ‘Abd Allah b. al-Harith b. Nawfal, from.
al-Muttalib b. Abti Wada, who said that Al-‘Abbas stated, “Certain things the
people were saying reached the Prophet (SAAS) so he mounted the pulpit and
asked, ‘“Who am 17’ They replied, ‘You are the Messenger of God.” Ie replied,
‘I am Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib; God devised creation and
made me part of his best creatures. He made them all into two groups, placing
me in the better of them. He created the tribes and placed me in the best one,
subdivided them into éuyit (clans) and placed me in the best one. And so [ am
the best of you both m clan and in spirit.”” May God’s grace and blessings be
upon him always and forever till Judgement Day!

Ya‘gub b. Sufyan said that Ubayd Allah b. Masi related to him, from Isma‘il
b. Abii Khalid, from Yazid b. Abn Ziyad, from ‘Abd Aliah b. al-Harith b.
Nawfal, from ail-‘Abbas b. <Abd al-Muttalib, whe said, “I once said, ‘O
Messenger of God, when Quraysh meet one another they do so joyfully, but
when they meet us it is as if we don’t know them.” The Messenger of God
(SAAS) became extremely angry when he heard that and said, ‘By Him in whose
hand is the soul of Muhammad, faith will never enter the heart of any man until
he loves you all for the sake of God and his Messenger.’

“I commented, ‘O Messenger of God, Quraysh sat recalling their lines of
genealogy and you they compared to a date palm in a hole in the ground.’

“The Messenger of God {SAAS) responded, ‘On the day when God created
man he placed me among the best of them. Then when He divided them into
tribes He placed me in the best one. And when He made the buyiit, clans, he
placed me in the best one. And s¢ T am the best of them in spirit and the best in
clan.’”

Abui Bakr b. Aba Shayba related it from Ibn Fudayl from Yazid b. Abd Ziyad,
from ‘Abd Allah b. al-Harith, from Rabi‘a b. al-Hanth who said, “(The
comment) reached the Prophet (SAAS) and he responded to it as above.” But he
(i.e. Rabi‘a b. al-Hairith) made no mention of al-*‘Abbas.

Ya‘qiib b. Sufvan said that Yahya b. ‘Abd al-Hamid related to him, as did
Qays b. ‘Abd Allah, from al-A‘mash, from ‘Alila b. Rub% from Ibn ‘Abbas, who
said: “The Messenger of God (SAAS) stated, ‘God divided creation into two
parts and placed me in the better of them. This relates to His words (in the
Qur’an) “and those of the right” and “those of the left”. And I am of those of the
right, indeed the best one of them. God then split these two parts into thirds
placing me in the best third. This relates to His words “those of al-maymana”
(the right wing) and to “al-s@bigiin, al-sabigian” (those in the forefront}. T am one
of those ini the forefront; indeed I am the best of them.

““Then He made those thirds into tribes and placed me in the best of them.
That relates to His words, “We made you into peoples and tribes so that you
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would know one another; the most noble of you in God’s sight are the most
pious. God is indeed knowing, informed” (s@rat al-Hypurat, XLIX, v.13). And I
am the most pious of Adam’s sons and the most noble of them with God.
Without boast.

“‘God then made the tribes inte duyat, clans, and placed me in the best of
them. This relates to God’s words. “God wants only to remove from you
what is unclear, O people of the house, purifying you thoroughly” (sirat
al-Akzab, XXXII1, v.33). And I and the people of my house are purified of
sin.””

This kadith is somewhat strange and objectionable.

Al-Hakim and al-Bayhaqi related from a padith from Muhammad b. Dhakwan,
the uncle of the son of Hamad b. Zayd, from ‘Amr b. Dinar, from Ibn ‘Umar who
said, “We were sitting in the courtyard of the Prophet (SAAS) when a woman
passed by. Someone said, “That’s the daughter of the Messenger of God (SAAS)!’
Abii Sufyan then commented, ‘Muhammad’s presence in Banii Hashim is like a
sweet basil plant amidst rotten gatbage!” The woman hurried off and informed the
Prophet (SAAS).

“Soon the Messenger of God (SAAS) arrived, his face showing his anger. He
said, “What’s the meaning of certain statements reaching me about people? God
created all seven heavens and chose the highest for whomsoever of his creatures
he wished to dwell there. Then he created 3l living things and chose from them
mankind. From mankind he chose the Arabs and from them Mudar. From
Mudar he chose Quraysh and from them the Banii Hashim. From Bant Hashim
he chose me. [ am the choicest of the chosen; so whoever loves the Arabs, it is
through loving me that he loves them. Whoever hates the Arabs, it is through
hating me that he hates them.””

This to0 18 a strange Zadith.

It is established in the sakik collection of al-Bukhari that the Messenger of
God (SAAS) said, “T am (to be) lord of Adam’s sons on Judgement Day, without
boasting.”

Al-Hakim and al-Bayhagi recounted from a jpadih of Miisa b. ‘Ubayda that
‘Amr b. ‘Abd Allah b. Nawfal related to him from al-Zuhri, from Abt ‘Usima or
Abu Salama, from ‘A’isha, God bless her, who said that the Messenger of God
(SAAS) stated, “Gabriel said to me, ‘I searched the earth from east to west but
found no man superior to Muhammad; and I searched the earth from east io
west but found no tribe superior to the Banti Hashim.>”

The kafiz al-Bayhaqi said, “These traditions, even though the transmitters of
some are unreliable, do substantiate one another. And the message of all does
relate back to the kadith of Wathila b. al-Asqa®. But God knows best.”

On this subject Abu Talib spoke the following verses in praise of the Prophet
{SAAS):
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“Were Quraysh to gather one day to boast, ‘Abd Manaf would be their heart and
core,

And if the chiefs of ‘Abd Manaf were assessed, their most noble and ancient of line
would be from Hashim,

Were they to boast one day, then Muhammad would be the one chosen from their
inmost, and their pride.

Quraysh, all and sundry of them, plotted against us, but they did not succeed and
were confounded;

Since ancient days we reject injustice and if others turned away in contempt we set
them straight.

Fach day we protect their sanctuary from evil, repelling from their refuges all secking
them;

By us the dried-out branches are revived, their roots becoming moist and growing
under our protection.”

Aba al-Sakn Zakariyy®® b. Yahya al-T21 said in the famous anecdote ascribed
to him: “Umar b. AbT Zuhr b. Hasin said, on the authority of his grandfather
Hamid b. Miunhib, that his grandfather Khuraym b. Aws stated, ‘I went away to
join the Messenger of God (SAAS) and came to him at his camp at Tabuk. T had
become a Muslim. I heard al-“Abbas b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib say, “Oh Messenger of
God, I would like to speak verses in your praise.” The Messenger of God
(SAAS) replied, “Speak on and may God not block your tongue.” So he recited,

“Before this you were pleasantly in the shade (of paradise) in a place where leaves
clustered above.

‘Then you came down to this land; no human you, no embryo, no clot.

A droplet, rather, riding (Noah’s) vessel, the deep having bridled an eagle and his
family.

Being carried from loins to womb, one world passing, another surface appearing,

Uniil your supreme house encompassed Khindaf®® so lofty (in honour), beneath
her all other beings.

When you were born the earth glowed, the horizon shining with your light.

So we are in that illumination and that light, making our way upon the paths of
righteousness.”™’”

This poem has been ascribed to Hassan b. Thabit.

The kafiz Abtt al-Qasim b. ‘Asakir recounted in a line of transmission from
Aba al-Hasan b. Abu Hadid as follows that Muhammad b. Abta Nasr informed
him, <Abd al-Salim b. Muhammad b. Ahmad al-Qurashi told him, Abu Hasin
Muhammad b. Ismatl b. Muhammad al-Famimi related to him, as did
Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah al-Zzhid al-Khurasani, as did Ishaq b. Ibrihim b.
Sinan, as did Sallam b. Sulayman Abn al-‘Abbas al-Makfuf al-Mada‘ni, as did

56. Khindaf was the wife of Iyas, mother of Mudrika, referred to earlier in the lineage from
which the Prophet descended.
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Warg@ b, Umar, from fbn Abii Najih from ‘At#® and Mujghid from Ibn ‘Abbas
who said, “I pesed the following question to the Messenger of God (SAAS),
‘Where were you, may my parents be your ransom, when Adam was still in
paradise?’ He replied, smiling so broadly all his teeth could be seen, ‘I was in his
loins. Then the vessel carried me into the loins of my father Noah, who cast
me out into the loins of my father Abraham. My parents never once engaged in
fornication. God went on transporting me from respectable loins to chaste
wombs, pure and unsullied, and whenever a line split I was always in the better
half. Ged has covenanted prophethood in me and made Islam my pact. He made
mention of me in the Torah and in the Bible. All the prophets made clear my
qualities; the earth brightens with my light and the dark clonds with my face. He
taught me His Book and gave me honour in His heaven. He cut off for me one of
His own names; the enthroned One is Mahmid, while I am Muhammad and
Ahmad. He promised me that He would reward me with a garden and with
al-kamthar, the river of paradise, that He would make me the first intercessor
and the first for whom there was intercession. He drew me forth, moreover, out
of the best marriage for my people, and they are those who give much praise,
enjoin good deeds and prohibit sin.””

Ibn ‘Abbas stated, “Hassan b. Thabit spoke the following verses about the
Prophet (SAAS):

‘Before this you were pleasantly in the shade, and in a place where the leaves are
plaited together,

Then you dwelt in this land; no human you, no embryo, no clot,

Purified, riding the vessel, the deep flood having bridled an eagle and his family,

You were carried from loin to womb; whenever one surface passed, another
appeared.’

“So the Prophet (SAAS) said, ‘May God have mercy on Hassan!’ And ‘Al b.
Abt Talib commented, ‘Hassan deserves paradise, by the Lord of the ka%ba!””

The kafiz Ibn “‘Asakir then stated: “This tradition is very strange!”

And T say, it is highly objectionable. And it is well established that these
verses are by al-*Abbas, God be pleased with him. They were, moreover, passed
on from a tradition of Abt al-Sakn Zakariyya® b. Yahya al-T#1, as above.

I also comment that some claim that the verses are of al-‘Abbas b. Mardas
al-Salami. But God knows best.

An observaton: The gadi Tvad stated in his book al-Shif®> (Healing):
“Regarding the name ‘Ahmad’ mentioned in the {holy) Books and of whom the
prophets gave glad tidings, God in His wisdom prevented anyone to be named
by it before Him, so that no confusion or doubt should descend on those weak of
heart.”
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Similarly with “Muhammad” as well; none of the Arabs or any other people
was named by it until shortly before his birth word was spread that a prophet
would be sent whose name would be “Muhammad”. And so a small Arab group
did give their sons that name hoping that one of them would be he. But God
knows best where to place His message.

These were “Muhammad” b. Uhayha b. al-Julah al-Awsi, “Muhammad” b.
Maslama al-Ansari, “Muhammad” b. Barr@® al-Bakri, “Muhammad” b. Sufvin
b. Mujashi¢, “Muhammad” b. Humran al-Jui, and “Muhammad” b. Khoza‘i
al-Sulmi; no seventh person was so named.

It is said that the first person named “Mubammad” was Muhammad b.
Sufyan b. Mujashi$ in Yemen they say, however, that it was “Muhammad” b.
al-Yahmud of Azd.

Moreover, God protected those so named from claiming the prophethood or
others from claiming it for them. Not one of them showed any manifestation
that would cause anyone to suspect of such, until the two signs were realized in
him (SAAS) “signs that could not be denied”, that being His expression.

CHAPTER ON THE BIRTH OF THE MESSENGER OF GOD (5A4A4S5).

He was born on 2 Monday. This is from what is related by Muslim in his sahif
coliection, from a kadith told by Ghaylan b. Jarir from “Abd Allah b. Ma%bad
al-Zimmani, from Abt Qatada to the effect that a bedouin said, “0O Messenger
of God, what do you say about fasting on Mondays?” He replied, “That is the
day I was born, and the day I was first sent revelation.”

The Imam Ahmad said, “Miusa b. Dawiid related to us, as did Tbn Lahi, from
Khalid b. Aba ‘Umran, from Hanash al-San%ni, from Tbn ‘Abbas who said, ‘The
Messenger of God (SAAS) was born on 2 Monday. He received the prophethood
on a Monday, left Mecca for Medina as an emigrant on a Monday, arrived at
Medina on a Monday, died on a Monday, and raised up the stone on a Monday.””

Only Ahmad gives the tradition thus, but ‘Amr b. Bukayr related it from Ibn
Lahi%a with an addition of the words, “The Qurianic siras al-Ma%da (Ch. V)
was revealed on 2 Monday, with the words, “This day have I completed for you
vour religion” (V, v.3).

Seme others relate it thus from Musa b. Dawtid with a further addition, “The
battle of Badr was on a Monday.” Yazid b. Habib was one of those who stated
this. But it is highly objectionable.

According to Ton ‘Asakir what is generally accepted is that the battle of Badr
and the revelation of “This day have I completed for you your religion” both
occurred on a Friday. And Ibn ‘Asakir spoke the truth.

¢Abd Allzh b. ‘Amr recounted, from Kurayb, from Iba ‘Abbas who said, “The
Messenger of God (SAAS) was born and died on a2 Monday.”
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Similar reports from different lines of transmission also have Ibn ‘Abbas saying
that he was born on a Monday.

This, then, is a matter without dispute, namely that he was born on a
Monday. Unlikely, indeed in error, is the view of those who say he was born on
Friday, the 17th day, the month of Rabi¢ a2l-Awwal. This idea was transmitted
by the hifiz Ibn Dihya from what he had read in the book: Ilam al-Ruwa: bi
Alam al-Huda (Informing the Narrators of the Signs of Righteousness) written by
certain Shi4tes. But then Ibn Dihya proceeded to denigrate this account; and it
IS appropriate to criticize it since it contradicts authenticated tradition.

Most people believe that the birth occurred in the month of Rabi¢ al-Awwal,
and, it is said, on the second day thereef. Ibn ‘Abd al-Barr stated this in his
exhaustive study and al-Wagqidi related it from Abéi Ma‘shar Nujayh b. ‘Abd
al-Rahmin al-Madani.

Some say that it occurred on the 8th of the month. Al-Humaydi related it so
from Tbn Hazm. Malik, ‘Uqayl, and Ytnis Ibn Yazid, and others related this
from al-Zuhri, from Muhammad b. Jubayr b. Mut%m.

Ibn “Abd al-Barr recounted that the historians had verified l:hlS, and the great
kafiz Muhammad b. Masa al-Khawarizmi so determined it. The kafiz Aba
al-Khattab b. Dihya considered it likely in his book: al- Tanwir fi Mawlid al-Bashir
al-Nadhir (Enlightenment on the Birth of the Warner and the Bearer of Glad Tidings).

And it is said, in an account transmitted by Ibn Dihya in his book, that it
occurred on the 10th of the month; Ibn ‘Asakir related this from Abu Ja%far
al-Baqir as did Mujalid from al-Shai, as above.

The birth is also said to have come on the 12th of the month. Tbn Ishaq states
this. Ton Abni Shayba relates this too in his compilation, on the authority of
‘Affin, from Sa‘id b. Min#, from Jabir and from Ibn <Abbas, the latter two
having stated, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was born in the ‘year of the
elephant’, on Monday the 12th of Rabi¢al-Awwal. On that same day he received
his mission, was carried up to heaven, emigrated from Mecca, and died. And
this is what is widely known to most people; but God knows best.”

He is also said to have been born on the 17th, as Ibn Dihya reported from
some of the Shi%. But also on the 8th, Ibn Dihya so stating from the writing of
the wazir, the government minister, Aba Rafi¢, son of the %afiz Abu Muhammad
b. Hazm, from his father. What is correct about the account of Ibn Hazm, the
first, that it occurred on the 8th, is as al-Humaydi recounted from him; this is
best established.

There is a second account, namely that he was born in Ramadan. Tbn ‘Abd
al-Barr transmitted this from al-Zubayr b. Bakkir. This is a very strange state-
ment. Its basis is the fact that he doubtless received revelation in Ramadan, at
the beginning of the 40th year of his life. And so his birth should be in Ramadan.
However, this is debatable. But God knows best.
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Khaytham b. Sulayman, the kafiz, related from Khalaf b. Mubammad
Kirdaws al-Wasiti; from al-Mu%lli b. ‘Abd al-Rahman, from ‘Abd al-Hamid b.
Ja‘far, from al-Zuhri, from ‘Ubayd Alldh b. ‘Abd Alfah, from Tbn ‘Abbas who
said, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was born on a Monday in Rabi¢ al-Awwal
and revelation of his prophethood came down to him on Monday, the first of
Rabit al-Awwal, also the Quran chapter al~Bagara (The Cow; 1T} was revealed on
a Monday in Rabi¢al-Awwal.”

This is very strange. It is Ibn ‘Asakir who related it.

Al-Zubayr b. Bakkar stated, “His mother became pregnant with him during
ayyam al-tashrig, the celebratory feast days,”” in the vale of Abu Talib, near
al-jumrat al-wusid, the central stoning pile at Ming. He was born in Mecca in the
house known as that of Muharnmad b. Yusuf, brother of al-Hajjaj b. Yisuf, on
the 12th of Ramadan.”

The hafiz Ton ‘Asakir recounted this from a line through Muhammad b.
Uthmzn b. Ugba b. Makram, from al-Musayyab b. Sharik, from Shu%yb b.
Shuyb, from his father, from his grandfather, who said, “The Messenger of
God {SAAS) was conceived on the day of ‘Askar®, the 9th or 10th day of
Mubharram, and he was born: on Monday, the 12th of Ramadan in the 23rd year
after the attack on Mecca by the troops with elephants.”

Other sources relate that al-Khayzuran, the mother of Hartin al-Rashid, when
she performed the pilgrimage, ordered the conversion of this house into a
mosque. It is known by her name to this day.

Al-Suhayli gave the date of his birth as the 20th of Nisan, April. This was the
most appropriate time and season; and that was in the vear 882 of the era of
Alexander, according to those who use astronomical almanacs, &

And they claim that the ascendant was at twenty degrees from Capricorn, and
that Jupiter and Saturn were joined together at a position within three degrees of
Scorpio, a position in the middle of the heavens. This was in correspondence
with the stages of Aries. The birth occurred as the moon first arose at the begin-
ning of the night. Tbn Dihya transmitted all this; but God knows best.

According to Ibn Ishag, his birth eccurred in the year of the elephant.

And this is what is well known to the people at large. Ibrahim b. al-Mundhir
al-Hizami said, “And this is something about which our scholars have no doubt,
the fact that he was born in the year of the elephant; and that he received his
mission as a prophet at the beginning of the 40th year after the attack with
elephants.”

57. The term was applied to the three days following the Day of Immeolation during the 11ajj
festival.
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Al-Bayhaqi related this as well from a tradition of Abu Ishaq al-Sabi‘i, from
Sa‘id b. Jubayr from Ibn Abbas who said, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was
born in the year of the elephant attack.”

Muhammad b. Ishiq stated, “Al-Muttalib b. ‘Abd Allah b. Qays b.
Makhrama related, from his father, from his grandfather Qays b. Makhrama,
who said, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) and I were born in the year of the ele-
phant attack; our births were contemporaneous.”

Uthmin, may God be pleased with him, asked Qubath b. Ashyam, brother of
Bant Yasmur b. Layth, “Were you the greater™ (in age) or was the Messenger of
God (SAAS)?” He replied, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was ‘greater’ than
me, but I was earlier in birth. I saw the elephants’ droppings when still green
and changing (in colour}.” Al-Tirmidhi related this, as did al-Hakim from a
fadith of Muhammad b. Ishiq.

Ibn Ishdg stated: “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was 20 in the year of
Yekaz.”

He also said, “Al-fijar™ took place 20 years after the elephant attack. The
building of the ka®%a was done 15 years after a/-fifar, and the divine mission
came about 5 years after its building.”

Muhammad b. Jubayr b. Mut%m stated, “Ukaz occurred 15 years after the
‘elephant’ battle, the building of the £2%a 10 years thereafter, and the mission 15
years after that.”

The kafig al-Bavhaqi related from a tradition of ‘Abd al-*Aziz b. AbG Thabit
al-Madini as follows: “Al-Zubayr b. Miisa related to us on the authority of Abu
al-Huwayrith, saying, ‘I heard ‘Abd al-Malik b. Marwin say to Qubath b.
Ashyam al-Kinani al-Laythi, “O Qubith, which of you, you or the Messenger of
God (SAAS) was akbar?” He replied, “The Messenger of (God (SAAS) was
akbar (L.e. greater) than me, but I was asann, older. The Messenger of God
(SAAS) was born during the year of the elephant attack, but T was aware enough
to recall my mother standing with me upon the elephant’s dung while it was stifl
changing (in colour). And the Messenger of God (SAAS) became a Prophet at
the beginning of 40 years thereafter.”””

Ya‘qub b. Sufyan said, “Yahya b. ¢Abd Allah b. Bukayr related to us,
Nufaym, meaning ITbn Maysara, related to us, from certain others, from
Suwayd b. Ghaflz, that the last-mentioned stated, ‘I am contemporary in
birth with the Messenger of God (SAAS); I was born in the year of the elephant
attack.””

Al-Bayhaqi stated, “It is rclated from Suwayd b. Ghafla that he said, ‘I am
younger than the Messenger of God (SAAS) by two years.””

58. The word akbar is used which mzy mean “alder” or “greatet”; hence the exchanges in the
accounts that follow.
59. Battles at <Ukaz beiween Arab tribes during months when warfare was proscribed.
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Ya%qiib said: “And Ibrihim b. al-Mundhir related to us, as did ‘Abd al-‘Aziz
b. Abt Thiabit, (and) ‘Abd Allah b. Uthman b. Abt Sulaymian al-Nawfali
related to me, from his father, from Muhammad b. Jubayr b. Muifim, saying,
“T'he Messenger of God (SAAS) was born in the year of the elephant attack, and
the Ukaz incident cccurred 15 years later. The ka‘%a was built early in the 25th
year after the elephant attack, and the Messenger of God (SAAS) became a
Prophet at the beginning of the 40th vear after that attack.””

The outcome is that the Messenger of God (SAAS) was, according to majority
opinion, born in the yvear of the elephant attack. Some say the birth occurred one
month after that event, others say 40 days, yet others 50 days, which is the most
favoured date.

And according to Abt Ja¥ar al-Baqir, the arrival of the elephants was half-
way through the month of al-Muharram, while the birth of the Messenger of
God (SAAS) occurred 55 days thereafter.

But others say that, on the contrary, the elephant attack occurred ten years
before the birth of the Messenger of God (SAAS). Ibn Abzi stated this.

The attack is also said to have occurred 23 years before his birth; this is what
Shuyb b. Shutayb related from his father from his grandfather, as stated above.
Alternatively, the birth is said to have come 30 years after the attack; Miuisa b.
Ugba stated this, from al-Zuhri, God be pleased with him. And Musa b. Ugba
himself, God be pleased with him also, chose this date.

Abu Zakariyy® al-‘Ijlant stated that the birth came 40 years after the attack;
Ibn “Asakir recounted this, something very strange.

Even stranger is the statement of Khalifa b. Khayyat who said, “Shu‘yb b.
Hibban related te me, from ‘Abd al-Wihid son of Abl ‘Amr, from al-Kalbi,
from Abu Salih, from Ibn ‘Abbas as follows: “The Messenger of God (SAAS)
was born 15 years before the elephant attack.’” This statement is unique,
objectionable, and considered weak as well.

Khalifa b. Khayyat stated, “The consensus is that he was born, peace be upon
him, in the year of the clephants’ attack.”

A DESCRIPTION OF HIS NOBLE BIRTH (SAAS).

it has been told above how ‘Abd al-Muttalib sacrificed the 100 camels, God hav-
ing saved him from fulfilment of his vow to sacrifice his son ‘Abd Allah. This
was in accord with what He had decreed of old, that the #abi al-ummi, the unler-
tered Prophet (SAAS) the “seal of the prophets”, and the lord of all the progeny
of Adam would appear. Thereafier, as explained, He arranged the marriage of
‘Abd Allah to the most noble of the women of Quraysh, Amina, daughter of
Wahb b. ‘Abd Manif'b. Zuhra al-Zuhriyya. And when the groom ok her as his
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wife and consummated the marriage, she became pregnant with the Messenger
of God (SAAS). ‘ .

Umm Qattdl, Ragiqa, daughter of Nawfal, sister of Waraga b. Nawfal, saw the
sign of light appear between ‘Abd Aflah’s eyes before he united with Amina. She
wished for it to be transmitted to herself, because of all the tidings she had heard
from her brother foretelling the coming of Muhammad (SAAS) and that his time
was near; she therefore offered herself to ‘Abd Allzh. Some authorities add “To
have him marry her”. That does seern most likely. But God knows best. But ¢Abd
Allah resisted her and when that dazzling light had gone to Amina after he con-
summated marriage with her, it secems that he regretted not having accepted what
Umm Qattal had offered. And so he approached her to have her repeat her offer.
But she now said she had no need of him and was sad at what she had missed.
She therefore recited on that subject the fine and eloquent poetry we quoted
above. The chaste abstinence of “Abd Allzh was not to his own credit but to that
of the Messenger of God (SAASY; it reflected the words of God Almighty, “God
knows best wherein to place His mission” (sarat al-An‘am, V1, v.124).

The tradition, from 2 geod transmission line, has already been given that the
Prophet (SAAS) stated, “T was born of marriage, not fornication.”

What is intended here is (to say) that after his mother had conceived him his
fathier died and he remained a foetus in his mother’s womb, as it is generally
understood.

Muhammad b. Sadd stated that Muhammad b. ‘Umar, he being al-Wigqidi,
related to him, as did Musa b. Ubayda al-Yazidi, as did Sa%d b. Abn Zayd,
from Ayytub b. ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Abt Sa%a%, as follows: “‘Abd Allah b. ‘Abd
al-Muttalib went off to Ghazza in a Quraysh trading caravan. When they
finished their business they left there and passed through Medina. By then <Abd
Allah was sick and he asked that he be left there in the company of Banti ‘Adi b.
al-Najjar to whom he was related.

“Fe stayed there with them sick for one month while his friends continued
back to Mecca. There ‘Abd al-Muttalib asked them about his son ‘Abd Allah
and they told him of how he was sick and they had left him with his relatives of
Banii ¢Adi b. al-Najjar. ‘Abd al-Muttalib sent to him his oldest son al-Harith,
but the latter found that Abd Allah had died and been buried in the house of
al-Nibigha. And so al-Harith returned to his father and told him this.

‘Abd al-Muttalib and his brothers and sisters all grieved terribly at his loss.

The Messenger of God (SAAS) was at that time still a foetus; Abd Allah, son
of “‘Abd al-Muitalib, was 25 when he died.”

Al-Wigidi asserted, “This is the most firmly based of the accounts of the
death of ‘Abd Allah and of his age that we have.”

Al-Wigqidi also said, “Ma‘mar related to me from al-Zuhri that <Abd
al-Muttalib sent ‘Abd Allah to Medina to purchase dates for them but he died.”
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Mubammad b. Sa‘d said, “Hisham b. Mubammad b. al-Sa4b al-Kalbi told us
from his father as well as from ‘Awana b. al-Hakam that they had both said that
tAbd Allah b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib died after the Messenger of God (SAAS) had
reached 28 months; and it is also said he was 7 months old.”

Muhammad b. Sa‘d stated, “The first account is better established, namely
that when he died the Messenger of God (SAAS) was still a foetus.”

Al-Zubayr b. Bakkir said, “Muhammad b. Ilasan related to me, from ‘Abd
al-Salam, from Ibn Kharbudh, as follows, ‘Abd Allah died in Medina when the
Messenger of God (SAAS) was 2 months old. His mother died when he was 4
years of age, and his grandfather when he was 8. And so he was entrusted to his
uncle, Abt Talib.” 7

What al-Wiqidi considered more probable and the 4afiz Muhammad b. Sad
wrote, was that when his father died the Messenger of God (SAAS) was still a
foetus in his mother’s womb.

And this is the epitome and highest rank of being an orphan.

In the hadith literature occur the words, “and the visions of my mother who saw,
as she bore me, a light came forth from her that lit up the castles of Syria.”

Muhammad b. Ishaq stated that Amina, daughter of Wahb and mother of the
Messenger of God (SAAS), used to say that when she became pregnant with the
Messenger of God (SAAS), a voice told her: “You are pregnant with the lord of
this nation; when he drops to the ground (in birth) say the words, ‘I invoke for
him the protection of the One God, from the evil of all who envy, from everyone
committed to his oath and every prowling slave; may a champion protect me, for
he is with the All-praised and All-glorious One, until I see him come into view.

““And the proof of that is a light accompanying him that will fill the castles of
Busra in Syria. And at his birth, then call him Muhammad, for in the Torah his
name is “Ahmad” and the hosts of earth and heaven give him kamd, praise. In
the Gospels his name is “Ahmad”, the hosts of heaven and earth giving him
hamd, praise. And his name in the Quran is “Mubhammad”, “the praised
one.”””

But these traditions require that she had a vision when she became pregnant
with him, that a light was emanating from her by which the castles of Syria were
illuminated. And then, when she gave birth to him, she actually saw by her eyes
a realization of that, just as she had seen beforchand, as told here. But God
knows best. '

Muhammad b. Sad stated that Muhammad b. Umar, he being al-Wiiqidi,
informed him that Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah b. Muslim related to him, from
al-Zuhri, what follows. Al-Wagqidi also stated that Miisa b. ‘Abda related to him
the following, from his brother and Muhammad b. Ka‘h al-Qurazi; as did ‘Abd
Allah b, Jafar al-Zuhri, from his aunt Umm Bakr, daughter of al-Miswar, from
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her father; as did “Abd al-Rahman b. Ibrahim al-Mazani and Ziyad b. Idashraj,
from AbQ Wajza; as did Ma‘mar from Abt Nujayh, from Mujahid; as did Talha
b. ‘Amr from ‘At® from Ibn ‘Abbas. The accounts of some of these correlate
with those of others. These accounts state that Amina daughter of Wahb said, “I
became pregnant with him (meaning the Messenger of God {SAAS)) and he
caused me no difficulties up to when I gave birth to him. When he was separated
from me a light emerged along with him that lit all between east and west. Then
he dropped to the ground, resting upon his hands, and tock up a bandful of
earth which he gripped tight, raising his head towards heaven.”

Sorne sources word this tradition, “he dropped down resting upon his knees
and there emerged with him a light by which were illuminated the castles and
market-places of Syria, even so that the necks of the camels at Busrd could be
seen, while he raised his head towards heaven.”

The hafiz Aba Bakr al-Bayhagi said that Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah, the jafiz,
informed him, quoting Muhammad b. Isma‘il, quoting Muhammad b. Ishaq,
and Yanus b. Mubashshir b. al-Hasan, quoting Ya‘qiib b. Muhamrnad al-Zuhri,
quoting ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. dmran, quoting ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Uthman b. Abm
Sulayman b. Jubayr b. MutGm, from his father, from Ibn Abin Suwayd
al-Thaqafi, from ‘Uthmin b. Abii al-‘As as follows: “My mother told me that
she witnessed the giving of the birth by Amina daughter of Wahb to the
Messenger of God (SAAS) the night the birth occurred.” She said, “All I could
see in the house was light. As T looked I saw the stars coming so close that I said
that they were going to fall on me!”

The gadi (judge) Lyad recounted, from al-Shaff?, mother of ‘Abd al-Rahman
b. ‘Awf, that she was his midwife and that she said that when he dropped into
her hands and first made a sound, she heard a voice say, “May (God have mercy
on you!” And (she said) that a light shone from him by which the castles of
Byzantium could be seen.

Mubhammad b. Ishiq said that when she gave birth to him she sent her slave
girl to ‘Abd al-Muttalib, his father having died while she was pregnant (it is also
said that ‘Abd Alfih died when the Prophet {SAAS) was 28 months old, and
God knows best which account is true) to say to him, “A boy has been born to
you, so look to him.”

When ‘Abd al-Muttalib came to her she related to him what she had seen
when she bore him, what she had been told about him, and what she had been
ordered to name him.

So ‘Abd al-Muttalib took him in to Hubal; inside the #4%a, and stood and
prayed, thanking God the Almighty and Glorious, and speaking the verses,

“Praise be to God who gave me this fine, wonderful boy,
‘Who already in the cradle leads all boys; I entrust his safety to the pillared House
(ka‘ba),
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Until he becomes the epitome of young men, until I see him fully grown.

1 seek his protection from all who hate, and from the envious and the unstable,

From those with ambition but eyeless, until T see him highly eloquent;

You are he who was named in the Qur’an, in books whose meanings are well
established,

(Your name being) ‘Ahmad, written upon the tongue.”

Al-Bayhaqi stated, “Abu ‘Abd Allah the 4afiz informed us, quoting Abt Bakr
Muhammad b. Ahmad b. Hatim al-Daribardi, of Merv, Abn ‘Abd Allah
al-Buishanji related to us, quoting Abfi Ayyab Sulayman b. Salama al-Khaba*iri,
quoting Yanus b. ‘At® b. ‘Uthman b. Rabi% b. Ziyad b. al-Harith al-Sadda*i, of
Egypt, quoting al-Hakam b. Aban, from Tkrima, from Ibn ‘Abbas, from his
father al-*‘Abbas b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib, God bless him, as follows. “The
Messenger of God (SAAS) was born circumcised and with his umbilical cord
severed. His grandfather <Abd al-Muttalib was amazed at this and found favour
in him, saying, “This son of mine is sure to be importani.” And so he was.”

There is dispute over the veracity of this.

The hafiz Tbn ‘Asakir told it, from an account of Sufyin b. Muhammad
al-Massisi, from Hushaym, from Ytinus b. “Ubayd, from al-Hasan, from Anas,
as follows: The Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “One way God honoured me
was in my being born already circumcised, so that no one saw my private parts.”

He (Ibn ‘Asakir) then related it on a line of transmission from al-Hasan b.
‘Arafa, on the authority of Hushaym.

He thereafter related it from Muhammad b. Muhammad b. Sulayman, he
being al-Baghandi, who said that ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Ayytib al-Himsi related to
him, quoting Musa b. Abt Musa al-Magqdisi, that Khalid b. Salama related to
him, from Nifi¢ from Ibn ®Umar, that the latter said, “The Messenger of God
(SAAS) was born circumcised and with his umbilical cord detached.”

Abti Nuf%ym stated that Abti Ahmad Muhammad b. Ahmad al-Ghitrifi
related to him, quoting al-Husayn b. Ahmad b. <Abd Allah al-Mazliki, quoting
Sulayman b. Salama al-Khabatiri, quoting Ytinus b. ‘At®, quoting al-Hakam b.
Aban, quoting Tkrima, from Ibn ‘Abbis, from his father al-“Abbas, as follows,
“The Messenger of God (SAAS) was born circumcised and with his umbilical
cord detached. This amazed his grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib and he found
favour in him, saying, ‘This son of mine is sure to be important.” And so he
was,”

Some authorities claim authenticity for this tradition for the lines of transmis-
sion it has; some even claim for it the status of mutawatir.5® However, this is
debatable,

60. The term connotes a tradition related by consecutive testimonies and therefore one of
evident suthenticity.
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The word makhtan given in these traditions means “having the foreskin cut
oft”; the word masrir means “having had the umbilical cord from his mother
severed”.

The kafiz Ibn ‘Asakir related from ‘Abd al-Rzhman b. ‘Uyayna al-Basri as
foliows, “cAli b. Muhammad al-Mad#®ini al-Salmi related to us, quoting Salama
b. Muharib b. Muslim b. Ziyad, from his father, from Abii Bakra, that Gabriel
circumcised the Prophet (SAAS) when he cleansed his heart.”

This 1s extremely strange.

It is also said that it was his grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib who circumcised
him and held a celebration for him to which he gathered all Quraysh. But God
knows best.

Al-Bayhaqi said that Abu ‘Abd Allah the hafiz informed us, quoting
Muhammad b. Kamil al-Qadi — verbally — that Mubhammad b. Isma‘il — meaning
al-Salmi - related to him that Abii Salih ‘Abd Alkih b. Salih related to him that
Mu%wiya b. Salih told him, from Abn al-Hakam al-Tantkhi as follows: “When
a child was born to Quraysh they would enirust it to some Quraysh women till
next morning. They would place an upside-down pottery vessel over it. When
the Messenger of God {SAAS) was born, ‘Abd al-Muttalib entrusted him to the
women and they did put over him an upside-down pottery vessel. When they
came to him next morning they discovered that the vessel had split into two
pieces and fallen away from him. They found him there with his eyes wide open
gazing up to heaven! When ‘Abd al-Muttalib arrived they told him, “We never
saw a newborn child like him! We discovered that the vessel had split in two
away from him and found him open-eyed and gazing up to heaven!’ He com-
mented, “T'ake care of him; I hope he will be of importance, or that he will
achieve good.”” :

On the seventh day he made sacrifice for him and invited Quraysh to see him.
When they had feasted, they asked, “O ¢Abd al-Muttalib, what have you
thought of naming this son of yours you have honoured?” “I have named him
Muhammad,” he replied. “Why”, they asked, “have you preferred him not to
have one of the names of his kinsfolk?” “Because I wanted (God to praise him in
heaven and His creatures to praise him on earth,” he replied.

Language scholars say, “All that invites the qualities of good is named
‘Muhammad’.” As the poet said,

To you, blameless as you are, I have urged on my mount, to him who is the glorious
and noble master, the one ‘Mubammad’” (i.e. “the laudable one™).

Some scholars say that God, the Almighty and Glorious, encouraged them to
name him Muhammad for the praiseworthy qualities he possessed; so that word
and deed be joined and that the name and the one named be appropriately
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congruent in form and concept. As his uncle Abt Tilib composed — and the
verse is also attributed to Hassan —

“God teok a part of His own name for him, to honour him; for He of the throne is
named ‘Mahmud’ (i.e. he to whom praise is due) while he is ‘Mubammad’.”

We will report the various names and qualities by which he (SAAS) is known,
these being his evident qualities and pure virtues, the evidences of his prophet-
hood, and the attributes of his status. All these we will give at the end of the
biography, if God wills it so.

The kafiz Aba Bakr al-Bayhaqi said that Abt ‘Abd Allah the kafiz informed
him that Abii al-Abbas Muhammad b. Ya‘qab related to him, quoting Ahmad
b. Shayban al-Ramali, quoting Ahmad b. Ibrahim al-Hubali, quoting
al-Haytham b. Jamil, quoting Zuhayr, from Muharib b. Dithar, from ‘Amr b.
Yathribi, from al-¢Abbids b. tAbd al-Muttalib, as follows: “I said: ‘O Messenger
of God, it was a sign of your prophethood that encouraged me to join your reli-
gion. I saw you in the cradle whispering to the moon and gesturing to it with
your finger. And it would move in the direction you indicated.” He replied, ‘I
would talk to it and it to me and it would distract me from crying. And I would
hear its palpitations when it would prostrate beneath God’s throne.””

He (Abi Bakr al-Bayhaqi) then said, “He (Ahmad b. Ibrahim Hubali) trans-
mitted only this one tradition, and he is not known.”

Section: On the signs that occurred on the night of the birth of the Prophet (SAAS).

In the section on Hawatif al-Jan (The Cries of the Spirits), we told of the down-
cast faces of many of the idols and how they fell from their places on that night,
and of what the Negus, the king of Abyssinia, saw. Similarly we have reported
the appearance of the light that came with him that even lit up the castles of
Syria when he was born, and how he dropped into a knecling position and raised
his head to heaven. We told also how the vessel split asunder from above his
honoured face, what was seen by the light in the house where he was born and
how the stars came down close to them, and other such events.

Al-Suhayli related from the Qurtan commentary of Baqi b. Makhlid, the
hafiz, that Satan let out four cries. One came when he was cursed (by God);
another when he was sent down from heaven; a third when the Messenger of
God (SAAS) was born; and the fourth when s@ras al-Fitiha, the opening verse
of the Qur’an, came down.

Muhammad b. Ishiq said that Hisham b.‘Urwa would tell traditions on the
authority of his father, that came from ‘A’isha, who once said, “There was a Jew
who resided in Mecca and did business there. On the night when the Messenger
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of God (SAAS) was born, the man addressed a gathering of Quraysh with the
words, ‘O Quraysh, did a birth occur among you this night?’ They replied that
they did not know. He then exclaimed, ‘Well, God is very great; if that should
have missed you, then no matter. Do look, and remember what I am telling you.
This night a prephet has been born to this last nation; between his shoulders
there is 2 mark consisting of successive lines of hair looking like a horse’s mane.
He will not suckle for two nights and this is because a spirit will have put his
finger into his mouth and prevented him from suckling.’

“The gathering broke up at this with all amazed at what he had told them.
When they returned to their homes .cach one told his family. And they
responded, ‘By God, a child was born to ‘Abd Allah, son of ‘Abd al-Muttalib, a
boy they named “Mubhammad”.’ The people then gathered and asked one
another, ‘Did you hear what the Jew said, and have you heard of the birth of the
boy?’ They then hurried off to the Jew and told him the news. He asked them to
go with him, so that he could sce the boy. They left together and took him in to
Amina, saying, ‘Bring out your son for us.” She did so and they uncovered his
back. There they saw the mark and the Jew fell down in a faint. When he came
to, they asked him what was the matter with him. He repiied, ‘By God,
prophecy has left Israel’s tribe; are you glad with it, O Quraysh? He will so
empower you that news of it will spread from east and west!””

Mubhammad b. Ishaq said that Salih b. Ibrahim b. ‘Abd al-Rahman b. ‘Awf
related to him, from Yahya b, ‘Abd Allzh b. ¢Abd al-Rahman b. Sa‘d b. Zurara,
as follows, “Certain trustworthy men of my tribe told me that Hassan b. Thabit
once said, ‘I was a mature lad of seven or eight, capable of understanding afl T
saw and heard, when one morning a Jew in Yathrib began shouting for the atten-
tion of his people. When they gathered about him — I heard all that myself — they
asked him what the matter was. He replied, “The star has risen beneath which
‘Ahmad’ will be born this night.”*”

The kazfiz Abt Nuaym related in the book, Dal@il al-Nubuwwmwa (Signs of the
Prophethood), from a tradition of Abul Bakr b. ‘Abd Allah al-‘Amiri, from
Sulayman b. Subaym and Dhurayh b. ‘Abd al-Rahman, both of their accounts
coming from ‘Abd al-Rahmin b. Abtu Sa‘id, from his father, who said that he
heard Abu Malik b. Sinin say: “l came one day to talk with Bant ‘Abd
al-Ashhal, with whom we then had a truce, and heard the Jew Yiishu¢say, ‘The
time approaches for the coming of a prophet named Ahmad who will arise from
the sanctuary.” Khalifa b. Tha9aba al-Ashhali asked him, sarcastically, ‘How
might you describe him?’ He responded, ‘A man neither short nor tall, with
fine, light eves; he wears a full cloak and rides a donkey, carries his sword over
his shoulder and to this land will he migrate.””

Abt Malik went on, “When I returned to my own people and expressed at
that time my surprise at what Yushu® had been saying, I heard one of our own
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men comment, ‘So is it YOshu¢ who alone says that? All the Jews of Yathrib are
saying the same!’”

Abii Malik continued, “I thereafter left and visited the Bant Qurayza whom I
found in assembly discussing the Prophet (SAAS). Al-Zubayr b. Bata said, “The
red star has risen and it only ever rises on the departure or emergence of a
prophet. And the only one left is Ahmad; this will be the place to which he will
migrate.” And Abd Sa‘id said, ‘When the Prophet (SAAS) eventually arrived
my father told him this story, and the Messenger of God (SAAS) commented,
“If al-Zubayr had adopted Istam, then his felow Jewish leaders would also have
done so; but they all followed him.”’”

Aba NuGym said that Umar b. Muhammad related to him, quoting Tbrahim
b. al-Sindi, quoting al-Nadr b. Salama, quoting Isma‘il b. Qays b. Sulayman b.
Zayd b. Thabit, from Ibrahim b. Yahyi b. Thabit, who said that he heard Zayd
b. Thabit say, “The Jewish rabbis of the Banii Qurayza and al-Nadir would
discuss the description of the Prophet (SAAS), and when the red star arose, they
said that it was for a prophet after whom there would be no other, that his name
was Ahmad and that he would migrate to Yathrib. But when the Messenger of
God (SAAS) ultimately arrived in the town they denied him, expressing their
envy and disbelief.”

This story is also given by the £2fiz Abt Nu‘aym in his book from other lines
of transmission, and may God be praised.

Ab@i Nu‘aym and Muhammad b. Hiban said that Abit Bakr b. Abn ‘Asim
related to them, quoting Wahb b. Baqiyya, quoting Khalid, from Muhammad b.
‘Amr, from Abt Salama and Yahya b. ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Fatib, from Usama b.
Zayd who said that Zayd b. ‘Amr b. Nufayl stated, “A priest of Syria once told
me, ‘A prophet has come in your land. While he was arriving, his star arose. So
go home, believe in him and follow him!’”

An Account of the shaking of the palace, and of the falling of the
balconies, the extinguishing of the fires, the visions of the Magian
supreme priest, and other such signs.

The #afiz Abt Bakr Muohammad b. Ja%far b. Sahl al-Khar®@it stated in the book,
Hawatif al-Jan (The Cries of the Spirits), that ‘Ali b. Harb related to him, quot-
ing Abll Ayyib Yadla b. Imran, from the family of Jarir b. ‘Abd Allzh al-Bajali
quoting Makhziim b. Han?® al-Makhziimi, from his father who reached the age
of 150 years, as follows, “When it was the night in which the Messenger of God
(SAAS) was born Chosroe’s domed palace shook and 14 balconies upon it fell
down. Also the ‘fire of Persia’ went out, having not done so for a thousand years
before, and Take Sawa emptied. A Magian priest saw (in a dream) wild camels
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{eading pure-bred horses that had crossed the Tigris river and spread into their
land. This greatly alarmed Chosroe when he told him of it next morning; he put
on a brave front and pretended lack of coneern but then decided not to conceal it
from his governors. He therefore summoned them, put on his crown, and sat
upon his throne. Then he had them brought in and when they gathered around
him he said, ‘Do you know why I have summoned you?’ They replied that ali
they knew was that their king wanted to tell them something. At that point a
message came telling of the extinguishing of the fire, news that further upset the
king. He then told them what he (the priest) had seen and what had alarmed
him.

“The supreme priest explained, ‘Last night | saw, may God save the realm, a
vision.” He then recounted his vision of the camels and the king asked him how
he interpreted it. He replied that it concerned some event occurring over in the
territory of the Arabs who would understand it better than they themselves.

“Thereupon the king wrote a message, saying, ‘From Chosroe, king of kings, to
al-Numin b. al-Mundhir: Greetings. Send me some man learned in what T wish
to question him about.” Al-Nu%mian then dispatched to him ‘Abd al-Masih b. ‘Amr
b. Hayyan b. Bugayla al-Ghassani. When he arrived Chosroe asked him, ‘Do you
have knowledge of what I wish to question you about?’ ‘Abd al-Masih replied,
‘Let the king inform or question me as however he wishes; if I have knowledge
of it {then good), otherwise I will inform him of someone who does know.’

“So Chosroe told him what he had been informed and ‘Abd al-Masth replied,
‘An uncle of mine named Satih who lives in the uplands of Syria will have
knowledge of that.’ Chosroe then told him to go to this man to ask hirn what he
wanted to know and then to return with the explanation.

“Abd al-Masih left but Satih, by the time he reached him, was on his death-
bed. ‘Abd al-Masih greeted him and talked to him, but Satih made no reply. So
¢Abd al-Masih then spoke the following verses:

‘Has the nobie lord of Yemen gone deaf or does he hear; or has he died, the ulti-
mate reins (death) having him in tow.

O he who determines the course, one that would exhaust anyone, your visitor is the
local sheikh of the Sunan family.

His mother is of the family of DhPb (‘wolf’) b. Hajan (crooked of staff, evil-
eyed) vicious of fang, raucous to the ear.

White, full of cloak and body, a messenger from the king of the Persians, travel-
ling by night tll deep slumber.

* Carried over the earth by a strong, large she-camel, tireless, unawed by thunder or

vicissitudes of time.

Lifting me with a bump and dropping me with a crash, bare of breast and lower
back,

Enveloped by a gale of manure dust, as though blasting from the two sides of a
mountain.’
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“When Satth heard those verses he raised his head and said, “Why, it’s ‘Abd
al-Masih, ridden here on 2 tireless mount, who’s come to Satth, looking down at
my death-bed; you’ve been sent by the king of the Sassanians, because of the
shaking of his palace, the extinguishing of the fires, and the visions of the priest
who saw wild camels leading pure-bred horses that had crossed the Tigris and
spread into their lands.

““0 ‘Abd al-Masih, when many recitations have been made and the sceptre-
bearer has appeared, the Samawa valley flooded, Lake Sawa dried up, and the
fires of Persia gone out, then Syria is Syria no more for Satih. Of them there shall
reign kings and queens to the number of their balconies; all that will be, will be.”

“At that Satih died, right then and there. So ‘Abd al-Masih mounted his
camel, saying the following verses:

‘Get going, for you are decisive and expeditious; separation and change do not
alarm you.

1f the rule of the Sassanians is ending (so be it), for man is all stages and periods of
time,

They may have achieved a status whose power mighty lions dread,

Of whom was Bahram of the Tower and his brothers, the al-Hurmuzin, and Sabar
and Sabar.5!

People are indeed changeable; knowing that one of them has become destitute he is
then despised and abandoned,

And many are the people who are (erroncously) influenced by what they hear, asif
distracted by playing flutes.

However, should they see someone with riches and prosperity, then they are to him
closely associated. This has been the secret of life, well preserved and repeatedly
validated (they say), that’s the province and concern of the unknown,

And good and evil stick always as a pair; for good is pursued relentlessly, evil
avoided.’

“When ‘Abd al-Masih came in to Chosroe and told him what Satih had said,
Chosroe replied, ‘So, until 14 of us have ruled, many things can happen!’

“Ten of their kings did rule in a period of four years and the remainder ruled
on until the caliphate of Uthman, God be pleased with him.”

Al-Bayhagqi related this from an account of ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Muhammad b.
Idris, from ‘Ali b. Harb al-Masili in similar form.

The last of their kings, the one from whom rule was wrested, was Yazdajard
b. Shahriyar b. Abrawiz b. Hurmuz b. Antishirwan; it was the last mentioned in
whose era the domed palace shook. His forebears had ruled for 3,164 years. The
first of their kings was fuyumart b. Umaym b. Lawadh b. Sam b. Neah.
Mention of the lives of Shiqq and Satih have been given above.

61. Bahram, Sabitir, and Sibiir were Sassanian kings. Al-Hurmuzin was a famous Persian military
leader.
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Regarding this man Satih, the iz Ibn ‘Asakir stated in his history: “His
name was al-Rabi® b. Rabi‘ b. Mas%ad b. Mazin b. Dhib b. ‘Adi b. Mazin b.
al-Azd. He was known as al-Rabi¢ b. Masd; his mother was Rad% daughter of
Sa‘d b. al-Harith al-Hajori.”

Other accounts of his ancestry also exist. He lived at al-Jabiyya.5?

Moreover, he (Ibn ‘Asakir) related from Abt Hatim al-Sijistani that the latter
heard some sheikhs, among whom were Abu ‘Ubayda and others say, “He
(Satih) came after Lugman b. ‘Ad. He was born at the time of the torrent of
al-<Arim and he lived on to the era of King Dhii Nuwis, a period of some 30 gen-
erations. He dwelt in al-Bahrain. The tribe of ‘Abd Qays claimed him as theirs,
as also did Azd. Most authorities clairn him to have been of Azd; we do not know
from whom he was descended. His descendants, however, say he was from Azd.”

It is related of Ibn “Abbas that he said, “No one in all mankind was like Satih;
he was like flesh on a butcher’s block, devoid of bones or sinew except for his
head, his eyes, and his hands. He folded up from feet to neck like a garment. And
the only part of him that moved was his tongue.”

Others say that when he became angry he would puff up and sit.

Ibn ‘Abbas recounted that when Satih went to Mecca he was met by a group
of their leaders among whom were ‘Abd Shams and ‘Abd Manif, sons of
Qusayy. They questioned him on a variety of matters and he responded to them
frankly. They asked him how it would be at the end of time and he replied,
“Take this from me and as God’s inspiration to me, you are now, Arabs, in an
age of decrepitude in terms of both your vision and that of foreigners. You have
neither knowledge nor understanding. After you there will arise those with
understanding. They will seek after all ranges of knowledge and they will destroy
the idols, pursue the worthless, fight the non-Arabs, and go in search of the
spoils of war. What will happen ultimately and for ever, will be that a right-
guided prophet will surely draw you forth from this land and lead you to the
truth. He will refute Yagtith and the lies, be innocent of worship of the devil, and
pray to one Lord alone. Then God will take him unto Himself, giving him praise
and the best abode, one lost to the world but seen there in heaven. Then
al-Stddig (‘the trusting’, i.e. the first Caliph Abt Bakr) will follow him; when he
gives judgement he will speak aright, and there will be no rush nor rupture in
restoring rights. He will be followed by al-Hanif (“The Sincere’, i.e. the second
Caliph, Umar), the noble and demanding lord. He will be the ‘host supreme’
and best arbiter of the faith.” He then made mention of (the third Caliph)
Uthm3an and his murder, and of the rule thereafter of the Umayyads and the
¢Abbasids and all the disturbances and wars that followed. Tbn “Asakir traces his
line of transmission back to Ibn ‘Abbas, in all its length.

62. Said to have been a man-made ditch filled with drinking-water for the camels.
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‘We stated previously his comment to Rabi% b. Nasr, king of Yemen, and how
Satih described the vision he had had before he was himself told of it. And then
we related how he predicted the disturbances and the changes of government
that would occur in Yemen before reaching Sayf b. Dhti Yazan. Rabi%a b. Nasr
then asked whether that rule would hold or be broken and Satih replied it would
end. The king asked who would end it, and Satih responded, “A pure prophet to
whom inspiration comes from the Almighty.” When asked from which tribe the
prophet would come, he replied, “From the progeny of Ghalib b. Fihr b. Malik
b. al-Nadr; and the rule shall be in his people till the end of time.” “And shall
there be an end to time?” the king asked. “Yes, indeed,” was the reply, “on that
day the first and the last shall be gathered and the good rejoice while the evil
suffer.” “Is what you are telling me really true?” the king asked. “Yes”, Satih
replied, “by the dawn and the dusk and by the moon when it becomes full, what
T have told you is indeed true.” And Shiqq was in complete agreement with all
this, using different phraseology, as we have shown above.

Among the verses of Satih are the lines,

“Act in God’s piety in secret and in public, and never deceitfully pretend good
faith.

And always be a protector and shield for those neighbouring you when fate’s
misfortunes befzall them.” -

That poetry was transmitted by the hafiz Abu ‘Asakir. Al-Mu%fz b.
Zakariyy® al-Tariri, moreover, cited that and stated, “Stories relating to Satih
are many, and several scholars have collected them. What is well known is that
he was a soothsayer and gave information about the Prophet (SAAS) and
described both his qualities and his mission. And it is related to us through a
chain of authorities God alone can judge, that the Prophet (SAAS) was asked
about Satih and responded, “He was a prophet, squandered by his own people.”

Regarding this tradition, my own comment is that it is without foundation in
any of the established works of Islarin. I do not consider its authority chain to be
well founded; one similar to it is given relative to Khalid b. Sinzn al-“Absi and it
too lacks veracity.

What is evident in these expressions points to Satth having had excellent
knowledge, and they do evince believability. But he did not survive on after the
coming of Islam, as al-Jariri maintained. In this regard, he tells us that Satih told
his nephew, “O ‘Abd al-Masih (if} when many recitations have been made, and
the sceptre-bearer has appeared, the Samawa valley has flooded, Lake Sawa
dried up, and the fires of Persia gone out, then Syria is Syria no more for Satih;
then kings and queens will reign to the number of their balconies; and all that
will be, will be.” At that Satik died then and there. This was after the birth of
the Messenger of God (SAAS) by a month or, a shay®a, a portion thereof, that is,
less than that.
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His death occurred in 2 part of Syria contiguious to the land of lraq; and God
alone knows the truth about Satih and what became of him.

Tbn Tardr al-Jariri relates that he lived 700 years. Others say he lived 500; yet
others 300. But God knows best.

Tbn ‘Asikir related that a king once asked Satih about the family origin of a
young man about whom there was some disagreement. He therefore informed
him of the facts at length and with wit and eloguence. The king then asked Satih
to tell him about how he knew all that, Satih replied, “This knowledge of mine
does not come from me, not by guesswork or by thought; I took it from a brother
of mine who heard inspiration on Mt. Sinai.” The king then asked, “Have you
seen your brother, this genie; is he with you and won’t he depart from you?”
Satih replied, “He will cease to exist when I do. I only ever pronounce what he
says.”

As stated previously, he and Shigg b. Mus%b b. Yashkur b. Rahm b. Basr b,
Ugba, the other diviner, were both born on the same day. They were carried to
the fortune-teller, Tarifa, daughter of al-Husayn al-IIamidiyya, and she spat
into their mouths. And so they inherited divination from her. She died that very
same day. Satih was half-human. It is said that Khalid b. <Abd Allah al-Qusri
was of his progeny. Shiqq died a very long time before Satih.

Regarding ‘Abd al-Masih b. *Amr b. Qays b. IHayyan b. Bugayla al-Ghassani,
the Christian, he was very long-lived.

The %afiz Ton ‘Asakir gave his life story in his history, saying therein that it
was he who made the peace treaty for al-Hira with Khilid b. al-Walid; he gave
at length the story of their contact. Also he reported that ‘Abd al-Masih once ate
by his own hand some rapid-acting poison, but that no harm came to him. This
was because as he took it he spoke the words, “In the name of God; and by God,
Lord of the earth and the heaven, who (ensures that) no harm will come when
His name is invoked.” He then ate it, swooned, and beat his hands on his chest.
He poured with sweat and then, God bless him, recovered. Verses other than
those previously quoted are also attributed to ‘Abd al-Masih.

Abt Nuym said that Muhammad b. Ahmad b. al-Hasan related to us, quoting
Muhammad b. Uthman b. Abt Shayba, quoting ‘Ugba b. Makram, quoting
al-Musayyab b. Sharik, quoting Muhammad b. Sharik, all on the authority of
Shufayb b. Shu‘ayb, from his father and from his grandfather, as follows, “At
Marr al-Dhahran there was a certain monk from Syria named ‘Aysa. He was
under the protection of al-“As b. W#’il. God had given him great knowledge and
placed in him many qualities for the people of Mecca, qualities of goodness,
kindness, and learning.

“He kept to a cell he had and came dewn to Mecca every year to meet the
people and to say to them, ‘O people of Mecca, soon there will be born among
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you a child to whom the Arabs will look for guidance and who will hold sway
over the foreigners. This is his time. Whoever has contact with him and follows
him will achieve success, while those in contact with him who oppose him will
experience failure, By God, I did not leave the land of fine wine, leavened bread,
and security and come to live in the land of hunger, poverty, and fear for any
reason other than to seck him.’

“Nao birth in Mecca ever occurred without his asking about it, but he would
always say, ‘He’s not come yet.” When people would ask for a description of
him, ke would decline. He would hide that information because of what he knew
the future leader would experience from his tribe, fearing for himself that it
might some day result in harm, however slight, to him.

“When the morning arrived of the day when the birth of the Messenger of
God (SAAS) occurred, ‘Abd Allah son of ‘Abd al-Muttalib went out to see
‘Aysa. He stood at the foot of the monk’s cell and called out, ‘Halto there, ‘Aysa.’
The response came, ‘Who is therer” ‘I am ‘Abd Allah,’ he replied. Then ‘Aysa
looked down at him and said, ‘Be his father! The child I used to tell you of has
been born, and on a Monday. He shall also receive God’s mission on a2 Monday,
and he will die on a Monday.’

“Abd Allah replied, ‘“Well, this morning a boy was born to me.” ‘And what
have you named him?’ the monk asked. ‘Mubhammad.” ‘By God,” exclaimed
‘Aysd, ‘1 wanted the child to be born among you, the people of the House (the
ka‘ha), because of three factors of which we know. Those were that his star arose
yesterday, that he was born today, and that his name is Muhammad. Go to him,
for he whom I used to foretell is your son.” ‘Abd Allah asked, ‘How do you know
he is my son? Perhaps some other child will be born today.” ‘Your son,’ the
monk replied, ‘has got the right name. And God has never been one to confuse
scholars; it is a proof. And a (further) sign of that is the fact that he is currently
in pain. He will suffer for three days. Then for three days he will show hunger
and after that be cured. So you hold your tongue; for no one ever before has
been the object of the envy (there will be) for him, no one has been the object of
such hatred as he will have. If you live undl his mission appears and he
announces himself, then you will experience from your people what you will
only endure by patience and in humility. So hold your tongue and protect him.’
‘Abd Allah then asked, “What will his life-span be?’ “Whether his life be long or
short, he will not attain seventy. He will die a short span before that, in his
sixties, at age 61 or 63, at an age average for his people.””

The account goes on, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was conceived on the
10th of mukarram and born on Monday, the 12th of Ramadan, 23 years afier the
attack of those with ¢lephants.”

Thus did Abii Nuaym relate it; and there is some strangeness in the
account.
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An Account of the rearing and suckling of the Prophet (SAAS).

Umm Ayman, whose given name was Baraka, reared him. The Prophet (SAAS)
had inherited her from his father. When he grew up he emancipated her and
married her to his mawlz, his freed-slave, Zayd b. Hiritha. She gave birth to
Usama b. Zayd, God be pleased with them all.

The Prophet (SAAS) was suckled, as well as by his mother, by the freed-slave of
his uncle Abt Lahab who was named Thuwayba, and later by Halima al-Sa‘diyya.

Al-Bukhari and Muslim extracted in their two sahik tradition collections from
a hadith of al-Zuhri, from Urwa b. al-Zubayr, from Zaynab daughter of Umm
Salama, from Umm Habiba daughter of Abt Sufyan, as foilows. She said, “0
Messenger of God, marry my sister, Abu Sufyan’s daughter.” According to
Mushim’s account the words used were, “my sister ‘Azza, Abt Sufyan’s daughrer.”

The Messenger of God (SAAS) replied, “Would you like that then?” She
replied, “Yes; Pm not unmarried (and available) for you. And the person who
shares best with me in goodness is my sister.”

The Prophet (SAAS) responded, “But that wouid not be permissible for me.”

She commented, “We are discussing your marrying Abt Salama’s daughter.”
Also in an account the words, “Durra, Abn Salama’s daughter,” are given.

“You mean Umm Salama’s daughter?”

“Yes,” [ replied.

“But”, he explained, “even if she were not under my care in my houschold,
she would not be permitted for me. She is my niece by suckling. Her father Abt
Salama and I were both suckled by Thuwayba. So don’t propose your daughters
or your sisters for me.”

Al-Bukhari’s account adds, “Urwa said, ‘And Thuwayba was a mawlaz, a
freed-stave woman of Abt Lahab whom he had emancipated. So she suckled the
Messenger of God (SAAS).”

And when Abii Lahab was dead, one of his family, greatly disappointed, was
shown him. The man asked him, “What happened to you?” Abii Lahab replied,
“I experienced nothing good after (leaving) you, except for being given to drink
from this for my having emancipated Thuwayba.” And he pointed to the hoflow
between his thumb and adjoining fingers.

Al-Suhayli and others report that the one who saw him was his brother
al-‘Abbias. And this occurred a year after the death of Abt Lahab, after the battle
of Badr. Their account relates that AbTi Lahab said to al-Abbis, “Tt (i.e. the
punishment of hell) is alleviated for me on Mondays.”

This is explained as being because when Thuwayba told him the news of the
birth of his nephew Muhammad, son of ‘Abd Alfah, he emancipated her at once.
And he was rewarded thus for that.
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An Account of the suckling of the Prophet (SAAS) by Halima,
daughter of Abi DlnPayb of the Sa’d tribe, and of the signs of the
prophethood and of blessedness apparent on him.

Muhammad b. Ishaq said, “Ifalima daughter of Abu DhiPayb was asked to
suckie him. Abti Dhw?ayb’s given name was ‘Abd Allah b. al-Harith b. Shijna b.
Jabir b. Rizam b. Nagira b. Fusayya b. Nagr, b. Sa%d b. Bakr b. Hawazin b.
Mangtr b. dkrima b. Khasafa b. Qays ‘Aylan b. Mudar.

“And the name of the foster father of the Messenger of God (SAAS), that is
Halima’s husband, was al-Hirith b. ‘Abd al-Uzza b. Rifs% b. Mallan b. Nisira
b. Sa‘d b. Bakr b. Hawazin.

“His foster-brother was ‘Abd Allah b. al-Harith; and Unaysa and Khidama
daughters of al-Tiarith were his foster-sisters. The last named was known as
‘al-Shayma’; and it is said that she would cradle the Messenger of God (SAAS)
along with her mother while he was with them.”
~ Tbn Ishaq went on to report that Jahm b. Abt Jahm (the mawlz, the freed-
slave, of 2 woman of the Banii Tamim who lived with al-Harith b. Hatib, who
was known as “the mawlz of al-Harith b. Hatib”), told him that someone related
to him from someone who heard ‘Abd Allzah b. Ja%ar b. Aba Talib say that it was
refated to him that Halima, daughter of al-Harith, had said, “I arrived at Mecca
along with other women (al-Wiqidi told, with a chain of authoritics, that they
were ten in number from Banii Sa‘d b. Bakr who acted as foster-mothers along
with her) from Bant Sa‘d looking for babies to suckle; it was a year of famine. |
arrived on a dark grey she-ass worn out from riding. With us I had a boy of our
own, and an old milch camel which, T swear, wasn’t giving a drop of milk. That
whole night, along with that boy of ours, we did not sleep at all. There was nothing
in my breast of use to him and nothing in our milch camel to feed him. We did,
however, have hopes of rain and relief. So on I went on that old ass of mine,
which lagged behind the other riders because of its weakness and its thirst, much
to their annoyance.

“So we arrived in Mecca and, [ swear, I don’t know of one woman of ours
who was not offered the Messenger of God {SAAS); but all refused him when it
was said that he was an orphan. We refused him saying, “What good could his
mother do for us? What we want is some help from the boy’s father; what could
his mother do for us?’ I swear, every single one of my women companions, all
except me, did take a baby to suckle.

“Having found no one except him and being assembled to leave, I said to my
husband, al-Harith b. ‘Abd al-“Uzza, ‘By God, I hate to go back amongst my
companions without having a baby to suckle. I'll go off to that orphan and take
him.” He replied, ‘It’s not your duty to do so; and so perhaps God will bring us
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some blessings through him.” And so T went off and got him; and the fact is, by
God, T only took him because I couldn’t find anyone else.

“No sooner had 1 taken him and brought him back to my baggage than my
breasts welcomed him, giving him all the milk he wanted. He drank till he was
satisfied and his foster-brother drank his fill too. My husband then went over to
that old milch camel of ours and, to his surprise, she was full. He milked her and
we both drank till we were satisfied. We then spent a fine night together.

“Next morning my husband said, ‘Halima, by God I really think you’ve taken
a person who is blessed! You see what a fine, happy night we passed when we
took him? May God Almighty go on bringing us more benefit yet!’

“We then left to return to our own land. And, T swear, my she-ass went off
ahead of all the other riders, with not a single donkey able to catch up with her.
Eventoally my women companions said, ‘Hey there, O daughter of Abu
Dhwayb! Is that the she ass you were riding when you left with us?’ I replied,
“Yes indeed, it’s her.” They commented, ‘Well, by God, something’s really
happened to her!”

“Eventually we were back in Bant Sa‘d territory, and I knew no other part of
God’s earth more barren than it is. But my goats would graze free, then leave the
grazing, satisfied and full of milk and we would mulk them as ever we wished.
And this while no one around us, near or far, had their ewes give so much as a
drop of milk, their ewes always going hungry. Finally the others said to their
shepherds: “Woe on you! Just watch where the flock of Abt Dw’ayb’s daughter
grazes. You graze along with them.” And this they would do, theirs grazing
where mine went, but their flocks remained hungry, not giving a drop of milk,
while mine were satisfied and full so we could milk them as much as we wanted.

“And God went on blessing us this way, and we recognized it. Then he
reached two years of age. He was already growing up a very fine boy, not like the
other children. I swear that by age two he was a sturdy boy, so we took him to
his mother; we were very covetous of him because of having seen the blessings
he had brought. When his mother saw him I told her, ‘Let us bring back this son
of curs some other year. We are concerned he might catch a discase from
Mecca.” We kept on at her until she agreed and sent him off with us and we
stayed with him for two or three months more.

“Then one time he was out behind our dwellings with one of his foster-brothers
with our animals. Suddenly that foster-brother came in greatly agitated and said,
“That Quraysh brother of mine! Two men dressed i white came to him, faid
him down, and split open his abdomen!’

“At this his father and I rushed outside towards him. We found him standing
there, his colour pale. His foster-father hugged him and asked, “What’s wrong,
son?’ He replied, “I'wo men dressed in white came to me. They laid me down
and opened my abdomen. Then they drew something from inside it and threw it
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away . After that they put my abdomen back as before.” So we took the boy back
with us and his foster father said, ‘Halima, I’'m afraid my foster son has become
afflicted; let’s hurry and give him back to his family before what we fear does
develop.” So we did take him back. His mother was very surprised to see him
and when we gave him over to her she said, ‘So why did you bring him back,
nurse? You both wanted to have him so much.” ‘No, it’s nothing,” we replied,
‘it’s just that God has relieved us of our task. We did owr duty. We're afraid
some harm or accident may befall him, so we are returning him to his own people.’
His mother insisted, ‘What’s going on with you both! Tell me truthfully what’s
worrying you!” She would not leave us alone till we told her what had happened.
She asked, ‘Are you afraid for him from Satan? Absolutely not; Satan wonr’t get
to him. By God, this son of mine has a great futare before him. Should I tell you
what happened with him?’ ‘Please do,” we asked. ‘Well,” she explained, ‘when T
was pregnant with him, he was the lightest child T ever bore. And when carrying
him I saw in my sleep a light emanating so bright it lit up the castles of Syria!
And then, when he was born, he came out in a2 manner that babies never do,
drew himself up on his arms and lifted his head up to heaven. So leave him, and
don’t worry.’”

This account has been related through various other lines as well, and it is
one of the best known, and most frequently toid by the biographers and early
historians.

Al-Wigqidi said that Ma%Gdh b. Muhammad related to him, from ‘Ata’ b. Abn
Rabbah, from Ibn ¢Abbas, as follows, “Halima once went out to seek the Prophet
(SAAS) and she found their animals to be sleeping in the sun. Him she found
with his sister. She asked, “‘Why outside in this heat?’ His sister replied, ‘My
brother doesn’t get hot; I saw a cloud shading him that stopped when he did and
moved when he did, till he came to this spot,”

Ibn Tshiq said that Thawr b. Yazid related to him, from Khalid b. Ma‘dan,
from the Companions of the Messenger of God (SAAS) that the Companions
once asked him to tell them about himself. He responded, “I am the one called
for by my father Abraham, the glad tidings foreseen by Jesus, peace be upon
them both. When she bore me my mother saw that a light came from inside her
that illuminated the castles of Syria. T was suckled by the tribe of Sa%d b. Bakr
and while I was among some of our animals two men dressed in white came,
carrying a golden basin filled with ice. They laid me down, cut oper my
abdomen and took out my heart. This they split and extracted from it a black
clot that they threw away. They then washed my heart and insides with that ice
until clean. Having put it back as before, one of them said to his companion,
‘Weigh him against ten of his nation.” He did so, but T outweighed them. He
then said, ‘Weigh him against a hundred of his nation.” This he did but I out-
weighed them. He said, “Weigh him against a thousand.” The other man did, but
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I outweighed them too. The first man then said, ‘Leave him now, for even if vou
weighed him against his entire nation, he would outweigh them!’”

This has a fine, strong chain of authorities.

Ibn Ishaq also narrated that Abol NuQym, the }afiz, related this story in his
work al-Dala%l (The Signs) by way of Umar b. al-Subh, known as Abi Nu‘ym,
from Thawr b. Yazid, from Makhil, from Shaddad b. Aws, in a much lengthened
version. But this Wmar b. Subh should be ignored, for he was a liar who was
accused of invention. For this reason we will not mention the text of the tradition,
for it gives no pleasure.

Ibn Ishaq then said that Abn ‘Amr b. Hamdan related to him, quoting
al-Hasan b. Nafir, quoting ‘Amr b, ‘Uthman, quoting Baqiyya b. al-Walid, from
Buhayr b. Sa%d, from Khalid b. Ma%dan, from ‘Abd al-Rahman b. ‘Amr
al-Salami, from “Utba b. ‘Abd Allah, as follows. A man asked the Prophet
(SAAS), “What was it happened to you first, O Messenger of God?” He replied,
“My wet-nurse was from the Banti Sa‘d b. Bakr. One time a son of hers and 1
went off with our flock without taking any food with us. So 1 said, ‘Hey brother,
go back and get us some food from our mother’s home.” So my brother hurried
away while I stayed with the animals. Then two white birds like eagles came along
and one said to the other, ‘Is that he?’ “Yes,” the other replied. Then they both
swooped down, took hold of me and laid me out on my back. They then split my
abdomen, extracted my heart, cut it open, and took out from it two black clots.
One bird said to his companion, ‘Bring me some ice water.” And with it they
cleaned my insides. The first bird then said, ‘Now get some cold water.” With that
they washed my heart. Then the bird said, ‘Bring me al-sakina (quietude).” This
they sprinkled into my heart. The one said to the other, ‘Sew it up.” So he did that
and then placed on my heart the seal of prophethood. After that one bird said to
the other, ‘Place him in one balance scale and 2 thousand of his people in the
other.” And when I looked up, there were the thousand above me, and T was con-
cerned that some of them might tumble down on to me. Then the bird said, ‘If his
whole nation were balanced against him, he would still outweigh them.” Then
both birds went away, leaving me there. I was tremendously afraid and raced off
to my foster-mother and told her what had happened. She was afraid I’d lost my
mind and exclaimed, ‘God protect you!” Then she got an ass of hers ready for
travel and put me on it. She rode behind me and we travelled till we reached my
mother. She then said, ‘Well, 've fulfilled my pact and agreement.” She then
told my mother what had happened, but it didn’t shock her. She said, “What I
saw was that a light came from inside me that lit up the castles of Syria.””

Ahmad related it from a tradition told by Bagiyya b. al-Walid. ‘Abd Allzh b.
al-Mubarak and others similarly told this from Bagiyya b. al-Walid.

Ibn ‘Asakir related it through Abii Dawtd al-Tayalisi. Jafar b. ‘Abd Allah b.
Uthman al-Qurashi related to him that ‘Umayr b. ‘Umar b. ‘Urwa b. al-Zubayr
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informed him as follows, “I heard ‘Urwa b. al-Zubayr relate from AbG Dharr
al-Ghifiri who said that he asked, ‘O Messenger of God, how were you
informed that you were a prophet and when did you become convinced that you
were one?’ He replied, ‘O Aba Dharr, two angels came te me when I was in one
of the valleys of Mecca. One of them dropped down to the ground, while the
other remained suspended between heaven and earth. One said to the other, “Is
that he?” “Yes, it’s he.” The one said, “Weigh him against another man.” He
did so, and I outweighed him.’”

He then told it till the end, recounting how his chest was opened and sewn up
and the seal was placed between his shoulders. He then said, “Then finally they
turned away from me, as if their work was fully done.”

Moreover Ibn ‘Asakir gave it from Ubayy b. Ka% in similar words, and from
Shaddad b. Aws in a more simple form than that.

And it is established in the sakik collection of Muslim through Hammad b.
Salama, from Thabit, from Anas b. Malik that the Messenger of God (SAAS) was
visited by Gabriel, on whom be peace, while he was playing with the other boys.
(zabriel took him, laid him down, split his heart open, took it out and withdrew a
black clot from inside it, saying, “That’s the devil’s lot!” Then he washed itina
golden basin with water from (the well called) zamzam. He then mended it and
put it back in its place. The other boys raced off o his mother — meaning his nurse
- and told her, “Muhammad has been killed!” When they met him he was very
pale. Anas stated, “And I used to see the mark of the sewing on his chest.”

Ibn ‘Asakir related this through Ibn Wahb, from ‘Amr b. al-Harith, from
‘Abd Rabbihi Ibn Sa‘id, from Thabit al-Banani, from Anas, to the effect that
prayer was prescribed in Medina and that two angels came to the Messenger of
God (SAAS), took him to zamzam, split open his abdomen, took out his insides
and put them in a basin of gold, washed them in zamzam water then filled his
insides with wisdom and knowledge.

And the tradition also comes through Ibn Wahb, from Ya‘qub b. ‘Abd
al-Rahman al-Zuhri, from his father, from ‘Abd al-Rahman b.‘Amir b. Utba b.
Abii Waqqas, from Anas, who said, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was visited
three nights. (A voice) said: “Take him who is the best of them and their leader.’
So they took the Messenger of God (SAAS), conducted him to zamzam, opened
his abdomen, brought a gold bowl, washed out his insides then filled them with
wisdom and faith.”

This is substantiated by the account of Sulayman b. al-Mughira, {from
Thabit, from Anas.

In the two sakik collections it is given through Sharik b. Abua Nimr, from
Anas, and also from al-Zuhri from Anas, from AbT Dharr and Qatada from
Anas, and from Mazlik b. Sa%a%a from the Prophet (SAAS) in the recounting of
al-Isr@ (the ascension to heaven), as the story of the laying open of his chest (as
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occurring) on that night, and its being washed with zamzam water.

There is no denying the probability of that occurring twice, once when he was
young and once on the night of the ascension in preparation for his going to join
the heavenly assemblage of angels, and of conferring with and appearing before
the Lord, the Almighty, Glorious, Blessed, and Exalted one.

Ton Ishaq stated, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) used to tell his
Companions, ‘I am the most Arab of you all; T am of Quraysh and was suckled
by Banti Sa‘d b. Bakr.””

Ibn ishaq reported, “When Halima was returning him to his mother after he
had been weaned, she passed with him by a caravan of Christians. They came up
to him, torned him around in their hands and said, “We must take this boy to
our king; he is a person of great importance.” And Halima managed to evade
them only after great effort.”

He reported also that when Halima was returning him fearing some harm had
come to him, as she approached Mecca she lost him and could not find him. So
she went to his grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib, and he and a group of men went
off to search for him. It was Waraqa b. Nawfal and another man of Quraysh who
found him and brought him to his grandfather. He put him on his shoulders and
circumambulated (the £4#%a), praying te God for the boy’s protection, and then
returned him to his mother Amina.

Al-Umawi related through ‘Uthman b. ‘Abd al-Rahmian al-Waqqasi, a weak
authority, from al-Zuhri, from Sa‘id b. al-Musayyab, the story of the birth of
the Prophet (SAAS), and of his being suckled by Halima with a course different
from that of Muhammad b. Tshiq. He stated that ‘Abd al-Muttalib ordered his
son ‘Abd Allah to take the baby and go around the quarters of the bedouin to
find a foster-mother for him. He did so and eventually hired Halima to suckle
him. He recounted that the boy stayed with her for six years, being brought each
year to visit his grandfather. When the opening of his chest occurred while he
was with them, she took him back and he lived with his mother until he was
eight, when she died. Thereupon his grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib took charge
of him, but he too died when the Prophet (SAAS) was ten. Then his two uncles,
his father’s two brothers al-Zubayr and Aba Tilib, took responsibility for him.
In his early teens his uncle al-Zubayr took him to Yemen. His account states that
on that journey they saw signs (of his prophethood). One of these was that a stal-
lion camel had made its way some distance along a valley through which the
party was passing. When the stallion saw the Messenger of God (SAAS), it knelt
down and rubbed iis chest on the ground and so he mounted it. Another sign
was that they came to a stream in violent flood but God Almighty dried it up so
that they could cross it. Thereafter his uncle al-Zubayr died; at that time he was
fourteen and Aba Tilib alone took charge of him.

What is implied here is that the blessedness of the Prophet (SAAS) came
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down upon Halima al-Sa‘diyya and her family, when he was young and then his
virtues reverted to the people of Hawazin when he took them prisoners after
their battle; that occurred a month following the capture of Mecca. They were
related to him because of his being suckled among them. He therefore released
them, taking pity on them, and treating them with kindness, as will be related in
full in its proper place, if God wills it.-

Concerning the battle with Hawazin, Muhammad b. Ishaq related from ‘Amr
b. Shu‘ayb, from his father, from his grandfather, who said, “We were with the
Messenger of God (SAAS) at the battle of Hunayn and when he seized their
properties and took them prisoners, a delegation from Hawazin who had
accepted Islam came to him at al-Ji%ana®. They said, ‘O Messenger of God, we
are one family and tribe. You know well what misfortune has befallen us, Have
mercy on us, and may God have mercy on you.” Their spokesman Zuhayr b.
Surad then arose and said, ‘O Messenger of God, those prisoners you have in
the stockades are your azunts and your nurses who looked after you. If we had
suckled Ibn Ab@ Shamar or al-Nu‘man b. al-Mundhir and then we were to suf-
fer from them what we have from you, we would have hoped for their help and
kindness. And yet you are the most honourable of men.” He then recited the
verses:

‘Have pity on us, O Messenger of God, in kindness; for you are the man we plead
with and implore.

Have pity on a tribe ruined by fate, their whole divided, their fortune adversely
changed,

Which has left us to cry out in sorrow; a people in whose hearts there is gloom and
tragedy,

Unless you ward it off with kindnesses you spread forth, O most superior of men in
wisdom when it is tested.

Have pity on women you once sucked, your mouth filled with their pure milk,

Have pity on women you once sucked, for then whatever happens will sustain your
reputation. ‘

Do not make us as those who scattered and died; spare us, for we are a tribe of fame.

We give thanks for kindnesses even if not redeemed, and after this day we will have
a store (of good will).””

This story is also related through <Ubayd Allah b, Rumahis al-Kalbi al-Ramli
from Ziyad b. Tariq al-Jashami, from Aba Sarad Zuhayr b. Jarwal, who was the
leader of his people. The last-mentioned stated, “When the Messenger of God
(SAAS) took us prisoners at the battle of Hunayn he was separating the men
from the women. So I jumped up, stood before him and spoke some verses to
him, reminding him of the time when he was a boy and grew up among Hawazin
who suckled him:

63. A place between Mecca and al-T#®if.
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‘Have mercy on us, Messenger of God, in gentleness, for you are the man we hope
for and await.

Have mercy on a people ruined by fate, their whole divided, their fortune adversely
changed,

The fighting left us a war-cry only of sadness; a people in whose hearts there is
gloom and tragedy.

Unless you ward it off with kindness you spread forth, O most superior of men in
wisdom when he is tested

Have pity on women you used to suck, your mouth filled with their pure milk;

When you were a small child you used to suck them and then whatever happens
will sustain your reputation.

Do not make us as those who scattered and died; spare us for we are 2 tribe of fame,

We give thanks for kindness, even if disavowed, for after this day we will have store
(of goodwill);

Dress in forgiveness those you used to suck, your mothers; for acts of forgiveness
become widely known.

We hope for forgiveness from you; dress these people in it, if forgive you will, and
then be triumphant.

So forgive and may God forgive you from whatever you fear on Judgement Day
when victory shall be given you.’

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) then said, “Whatever prizes were due myself
or the family of ‘Abd al-Muttalib, that goes to God and to you all.” Al-anszrs*
then said, ‘And what was to be for us we give to God and to his Messenger
(S AAS).”’

It will be later told how he set them free; they were 6,000, men and women
combined. He gave them many camels and people. Sc that Abti al-Husayn b.
Faris said, “The value of what he gave them that day totalled 500,000 dirhams.”

All this then came from his early blessings on earth: what blessings, then, wili
he bestow on those who follow him in the next world!

Division

After recounting the return of the Prophet (SAAS) to his mother Amina follow-
ing his suckling by Halima, Ibn Ishzq told how the Messenger of God (SAAS)
stayed with his mother Amina, daughter of Wahb, and his grandfather ¢Abd
al-Muitalib in the care and trust of God. And God nurtured him like a fine plant
for the honour He intended for him. When he reached the age of six his mother
Amina daughter of Wahb died.

Tbn Ishaq stated, “<Abd Allah b. Abu Bakr b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr b. Hazam
related to me that Amina, the mother of the Messenger of God (SAAS), died

64. Alansaris a terin denoting the Muslims of Medina who granted the Prophet refuge follow-
ing his migration from Mecca.
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when he was six at al-Abw#, a place between Mecca and Medina. She had taken
him to visit his uncles of the tribe of ‘Adi b. al-Najjar and died when she was
returning with him to Mecca.”

Al-Wagidi related, with chains of authorities, that the Prophet (SAAS) was
taken by his mother to Medina, in the company of Umm Ayman, when he was
six years old and that she visited his uncles.

Umm Ayman said, “One day two Jews of Medina came to me and said, ‘Bring
out Ahmad for us te see.” They then looked at him and turned him around in
their hands. Then one of them said to the other, “This is the Prophet of this
nation. And this shall be the abode of his refuge, where very many will be taken
prisoner and many will be killed.’

“When his mother heard this she was afraid and left. And it was at al-Abw®
that she died, on her way home.”

The Imam Ahmad said that Husayn b. Muhammad related to us, quoting
Ayyib b, Jabir, from Simak, from al-Qasim b. ‘Abd al-Rahman, from Ibn
Burayda, from his father (Burayda) who said, “We left along with the Messenger
of God (SAAS) and travelled until we reached Waddan. Then he told us to wait
there until he returned. He went off and later returned looking grave. Then he
said, ‘I went to the grave of Muhammad’s mother and asked my Lord for inter-
cession for her. But He would not allow me that. I had forbidden you from
visiting graves: do visit them. Similarly I had forbidden you from eating the flesh
of sacrificed animals after three days had passed; do eat and take what you want,
I had forbidden you from drinking from these vessels; do drink as you will.””

Al-Bayhagqi related this tradition through Sufyan al-Thawri, from ‘Algama b.
Yazid, from Sulayman b. Burayda from his father as follows: “The Prophet
(SAAS) went over to the site of a grave and the other men sat down around him.
He began to move his head as though addressing someone, and then he wept.
Umar went over to him and asked, “What is making you weep, O Messenger of
God?* He replied, ‘This is the grave of Amina daughter of Wahb. T asked my
Lord for pertnission to visit her grave and he gave permission. 1 also asked for
forgiveness for her, but this He refused me. Sympathy for her overwhelmed me
and so I wept.” And I never saw an occasion of greater weeping than that.”

He was corroborated by Muharib b. Dithar, from (Ibn) Burayda, from his
father.

Moreover al-Bayhagi related from al-Hakim, from al-Asamm, from Bahr b.
Nasr, from ‘Abd Allih b. Wahb that Tbn Jurayj related to us, from Ayyab b.
Han?, from Masriig b. al-Ajda¥, from ‘Abd Allah b. Mas‘ad as follows, “The
Messenger of God (SAAS) went off to look at graves and we went with him. He
told us to sit down and we did. Then he walked on till he stopped at one grave.
He spoke to it at length and then there arose a lamentation and weeping from the
Messenger of God (SAAS). And we all wept at his crying so.
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“Then the Messenger of God (SAAS) came over to us and was met by ‘Umar
b. al-Khattab who said, ‘O Messenger of God, what made you weep? It made us
weep and scared us.’

“Then he came and sat down with us and asked, ‘My weeping scared you, did
it?” ‘Indeed yes,” we replied. e explained, “The grave you saw me addressing
was that of Amina, daughter of Wahb. T asked my Lord’s permission to visit it
and he allowed me. Then T asked His permission to seek forgiveness for her, but
this He did not permit me. Then there were revealed to me the verses:

“It is not for the Prophet and for those who believe to ask forgiveness for idolaters,
even if related to them, once it has become clear to them that those are going to hell.
Abraham’s seeking pardon for his father resulted only from a promise he had made
him; and when it became clear to Abraham that he (his father) was an enemy of God,
he (Abraham) disowned him. Abraham was certainly soft of heart, long-suffering”
(sarat al-Tawha, IX, v.113, 114). And I was affected by the emotion a son feels for his
mother; that it was made me weep.””

A unique tradition, one they (the major scholars of the traditions) did not
propagate.

Maushim related from Abu Bakr b. Abn Shayba, from Muhammad b, <Ubayd,
from Yazid b. Kaysan, from Abn Hazim, from Abfi Hurayra as follows: “The
Prophet (SAAS) visited his mother’s grave; he wept and this made those with
him weep too. Then he said, ‘T asked my Lord’s permission to visit my mother’s
grave and He allowed me. 1 also asked his permission to seek forgiveness for her,
but he did not permit me. So do visit graves; they will remind you of death.””

Muslim related, from Abu Bakr b. Aba Shayba, from ‘Affan, from Hammad
b. Salama, from Thabit, from Anas, that a man asked, “O Messenger of God,
where is my father?” He replied, “In hell-fire.” Then when the man turned
away, he called out to him: “My father and yours are both in hell.”

Al-Bayhagi related from a tradition of Abit Nu‘aym al-Fadl b. Dukayn, from
Ibrahim b. Satd, from al-Zuhri, from ‘Amir b. Sa’d, from his father as follows,
“A bedouin came to the Prophet (SAAS) and said, ‘My father used to give to
charity, and so on and so forth. So where is he now?’ He replied, ‘In hell-fire.’

“T'he bedouin appeared angered at that and asked, ‘Well, Messenger of God,
and where’s your father?’ He replied, “Whenever you pass by the grave of an
unbeliever, warn him of hell-fire.’

“Thereafter the bedouin accepted Islam and said, “The Messenger of God
(SAAS) put a heavy burden on me; when 1 pass the grave of an unbeliever, 1
never fail to warn him of hell-fire!””

A unique tradition, and one they (the major scholars of the traditions) did not
propagate.

The Imidm Ahmad said, “Abt ‘Abd al-Rahman related to us, as did Sa‘id — he
being Ibn Abt Ayyub — as did Rabi% b. Sayf al-Ma%firi, from Abu ‘Abd
al-Rahman al-Hubl, from ‘Abd Alldh b. ‘Amr as follows, “While we were walk-
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ing with the Messenger of God (SAAS) he noticed a woman he did not think he
recognized. When half-way across the street he stopped until she reached him.
Surprisingly, it was Fiagima, the daughter of the Messenger of God (SAAS). He
said, ‘Fatima what brings you out of your house?’ She replied, ‘1 came to visit
the family in this house, expressing my condolences to them for their dead.” He
commented, ‘Perhaps you went as far as al-Fudi (the grave) with them.” She
replied, “God forbid that I would have gone to that with them, having heard
what you have said about that.” He went on, ‘Well, if you had gone that far with
them you would not see paradise until your father’s grandfather sees paradise!”

Ahmad also related this, as did Abu Dawiid, al-Nas#’1, and al-Bayhaqi from a
hadith of Rabia b, Sayf{b. Mani® al-Ma%firt al-Sanami al-Iskandari. Al-Bukhari
said the tradition has faults. Al-Nas#i said there was nothing wrong with it.
Once he said “it is trustworthy.” But in another account that it was “weak”. Ibn
Habban made mention of it in a/-Thigat and said, “He made a lot of errors.” Al-
Darqutni stated that it was “sound”. Tbn Yunus stated in the Tarikk Misr
(History of Egypt) that “there are faults in his narration.” He died in approxi-
mately 120 AH.

And what is meant by al-kuda is the “grave”. And it is also said to mean
“Jlamentation”.

What the tradition means is that ‘Abd al-Muttalib died while still being a
member of pre-Islamic society; this contrasts with the views of some of the Shi‘
about him and Aba Talib. This will be dealt with in the material on the death of
Abu Tilib. '

Al-Baybaqi stated, after relating these traditions in his work Dal@sl
al-Nubawwa (Signs of the Prophethood), “And how would the father and grand-
father of the Prophet (SAAS) not be in such circumstances regarding the
hereafter when they used to worship idols until they died, and they did not fol-
low the religion of Jesus son of Mary upon whom be peace? Yet their having
been unbelievers did not impair the lineage of the Prophet (SAAS), because
marriages between unbelievers were valid. Did not many men adopt Islam,
along with their wives, but not have either to renew their marriage contracts or
to separate from their wives, since these would similarly be allowed under Islam?
And to God goes all success.” Thus ended his comments.

My own comment is, that the relating by the Prophet (SAAS) that his own
parents and his grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib were in hell does not contradict
the tradition related from him via various authorities that those who lived during
the mterregnum between the emergence of two prophets, children, the insane,
and the deaf would all be put to the test in the assemblies on Judgement Day.
This we laid out with chapter and verse in our Quran exegesis dealing with the
Almighty’s words: “and We have never punished before sending a prophet”
(s@rat al-Isr@, XV, v.15). There will be some among these groups who will
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respond and others who will not. Those people, then, will be among those who
will not respond; there is no inconsistency here, grace and praise be to God.

As for the tradition related by al-Suhayli about which it was mentioned that
there are persons in its lineage who are unknown, traced back to the son of Abn
al-Zinad, from WUrwa from ‘A’isha, God bless her, that the Messenger of God
(SAAS) asked his Lord to bring his parents back to fife and that God did so and
that they expressed faith in him; this is a highly unreliable tradition. Even
though all this would be possible in terms of the power of God Almighty.
However, what is well established in the sakif collections does contradict this
tradition. And God knows best.

Di1visioNn

Ibn Ishaq stated, “When the Messenger of God (SAAS) lived with his grand-
father ‘Abd al-Muttalib b. Hashim — that is, after the death of his mother
Amina daughter of Wahb — a spread would be set out for ‘Abd al-Muttalib in
the shade of the £¢%a. Hissons-would seat themiselves around his spread until
he would come to it. But none of his sons would actually sit upon it, out of
respect for him. The Messenger of God (SAAS), when a young boy, would
come along and sit down on it. "Then his uncles would take him to remove him
from it, but ‘Abd al-Muttalib would say, if he saw them doing that, ‘I.eave my
son (sic) alone; he has great things ahead of him.’ Then he would sit down with
him on his spread, rub his back, and it would please him to watch what he
would do.”

Al-Wigidi said that Muhammad b, ‘Abd Allah related to him, from al-Zuhri,
as did ‘Abd Allah b. Ja‘far from Abd al-Wihid b. Flamza b. ‘Abd Allah, and
Hashim b. ‘Asim al-Aslami from al-Mundhir b. Jahm, and Ma‘mar from Ibn
Abu Najih from Mujahid and ‘Abd al-Rahman b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz from Abl
al-EHluwayrith, and Tbn Abt Sabra from Sulayman b. Sahim, from Nafi¢, from
Ibn Jubayr, the narration of some interfering with that of others, as follows:
“The Messenger of God (SAAS) used to live with his mother Amina-daughter
of Wahb and when she died his grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib took him to
himself, treating him with a closeness and kindness he had not shown to his own
son. He would allow and encourage him to come close to him, and the boy
would go in to him when he was alone or asleep. He would sit down on his
spread, and ‘Abd al-Muttalib would say when he saw him do this, “Leave my
son alone; he will establish a kingdom.””

A group of men from Banii Mudlij said to ‘Abd al-Muttalib, “Take good care
of him; for we have never seen anvone with so noble a lineage as his.” So ‘Abd
al-Mugtalib said to Aba Tilib: “Listen to what these men are saying.” And Abu
Talib did take care of him.
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‘Abd al-Muttalib said to Umm Ayman — who had suckled him — “O Baraka,
do not neglect my son. I found him with some boys close to the lote-tree; and
the People of the Book (i.e. Christians and Jews) claim that my boy will be the
Prophet of this nation,”

‘Abd al-Muttalib used never to eat without saying, “Bring my son.” And he
would be brought to him.

And when death approached ‘Abd al-Muttalib he charged Abt Talib with the
care and safe-keeping of the Messenger of God (SAAS).

- Then ‘Abd al-Muitalib died and was buried at al-Hajun.

Ton Ishaq stated, “And when the Messenger of God (SAAS) was eight, his
grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib died.” He also stated that ‘Abd al-Muttalib had
summoned his daughters and told them that they should compose elegies for
him; these daunghters were called Arwd, Umayma, Barra, Safiyya, ‘Arika, and
Umm Hakim al-Bayda.

Tbn Ishaq mentioned their poems and what they said in mourning their
father, all while he listened, before he in fact died. Their words of mourning
were extremely eloquent. He described that in great detail.

Tbn Hisham said, “I never met any scholar of poetry who knew these verses.”

Tbn Ishag stated, “And when “Abd al-Mutialib b. Hashim died, control over
providing water for the pilgrims and over zamzam went after him to al-‘Abbas
who was the youngest of his brothers.

This control remained his until the coming of Islam, after which the
Messenger of (God (SAAS) confirmed it for al-Abbas.

The Messenger of God (SAAS) was with his uncle Abu Tilib after having
been with his grandfather ‘Abd al-Muttalib. This was because the latter had
placed him in trust of his uncle and because Abti Tilib was the full brother of
his father ‘Abd Allah, the mother of both having been Fatima daughter of ‘Amr
b. A%idh b. Tmran b. Makhzom.”

Ibn Ishaq went on: “Abt Tilib was the one who took charge of the Messenger
of God (SAAS); he cared for him completely.”

Al-Wiqidi stated that Ma‘mar told him, from Ibn Najih, from Mujahid; and
that Ma%dh b. Muhammad al-Ansari related to him from At#, from Ibn
¢Abbis, as did Muhammad b. Salih and ‘Abd Allah b. Ja‘far, as did Ibrihim b.
Ismifil b. Abti Habiba, the account of each of these corresponding with one
another, as follows: “When ‘Abd al-Muttalib died Abu Talib took the
Messenger of God (SAAS) to live with him.

“Abu Talib was not wealthy; he loved the boy very much, more so than his
children. The boy slept always by his side and went wherever he did.

“Abu Talib had very great and unusual depth of affection for him. He would
give the boy’s food special attention. And if his own children ever ate, alone or as
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a group, without the boy’s presence, they would remain unsatisfied, whereas
when the Prophet wounld eat with them they would be well satisfied. When
serving his family a daytime meal he would tell them to wait till the boy’s arrival.
When the Messenger of God would arrive and eat with them, they would get
satisfied, and part of the food would remain uneaten. But if he did not eat with
them they would remain unsatisfied. Abu Talib would say, ‘You are clearly
blessed.’

“In the morning the other boys would arise bleary-eyed and dishevelled while
the Messenger of God (SAAS) would get up bright-eyed and with his hair in
place.”

Al-EHasan b. ‘Arafa stated that ‘Afi b. Thabit related to him from Talha b.
‘Amr that the latter heard ‘Ata® b. Abii Rabbah report having heard Ibn ‘Abbas
say, “Abtu Talib’s family would get up in the morning with bleary, dirty eyes,
while the Messenger of Ged (SAAS) would get up bright-eyed and with his hair
neatly groomed.”

Early each morning Abii Talib would bring to the boys their food platter and
they would all sit down and snatch at it. The Messenger of God (SAAS),
however, would keep his hand away and not grab at the food along with them.
When his uncle saw this he set food aside for him alone.

Ibn Ishag said, “Yah%a b. ‘Abd Allah b. al-Zubayr related to me that his
father told him that there was a certain man of Lihb who could predict the
future. Whenever he came to Mecca the men of Quraysh would take their boys
to him to see and predict their futures.”

He went on, “So Aba Talib brought the Messenger of God (SAAS) to him
when he was still a boy, along with some others. The fortune-teller looked at the
Messenger of God, but then something engaged his attention. When finished
with that, he said, ‘Bring that boy over to me!” When Abu Talib saw how
interested the man was in him, he took him away. Then the man exclaimed,
‘Woe on you! Bring back to me that boy I saw carlier; by God, he has a big
future ahead of him!’

“But Abt Talib hurried away with him.”

Section: The journey of the Prophet (SAAS) with his uncle Abii Talib away to
Syria and on what transpived with the monk Bahird.

Ibn Ishaq stated that thereafter Aba Talib left with a trading caravan for Syria.
As he was preparing to depart and assembling the goods, the Messenger of God
(SAAS) began to miss him badly, ot so they claim. '

So Abii Tilib took pity on him and said words to the effect that, “By Ged, I'll
take him away with me and never be parted from him, just as he will not be
parted from me!”
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He did leave with him. Eventually the caravan made a halt at Busri in Syria,
where there was a monk named Bahira living in a cell. He was very learned in
Christianity; the cell he lived in had always been occupied by some monk who
would acquire their Christian learning from a book, as they claim, which they
had passed down in inheritance from one elder to the next.

They stopped that year near Bahira, as they had often done previously without
his paying them attention. When they halted, then, near his cell, this time he
made a lot of food for them. This, they claim, was because of a vision he had
seen while he was in his cell; he had seen the Messenger of God (SAAS)
approaching in the caravan, with a cloud casting its shade only on him. When
they had arrived they had dismounted in the shade of a tree near the monk.
When he looked up at the cloud he saw it was shading the tree, the branches of
which were extending out over the Messenger of God (SAAS) so that he was
shaded beneath them.

When Bahira saw this he came down from his cell and, having ordered food
which was then prepared, he sent word over to the travellers saying, “O
Quraysh, I have prepared food for you and would like you all to come over, great
and small, and freemen or slaves.”

One Quraysh man commented to him, “By God, Bahira, you’ve put yourself
to much trouble today! You’ve never done this for us, even though we’ve passed
by you here often before. Why today?”

Bahira replied, “You are right; before it was as you say. But you are my
guests, and T wanted to honour you and so have prepared you some food. T want
all of you to eat of it.”

So they gathered around him. But the Messenger of God (SAAS), because of
his youth, was left behind with the baggage, beneath the tree.

When Bahira saw them he did not see the quality he had seen and known to
be the boy’s. So he said, “O Quraysh let not any one of you be left out of my
feast.”

They replied, “O Bahira, the only one left out who ought to have come to you is
a boy; he is the youngest of our party and he remained behind with the baggage.”
Bahira insisted. “Do not do this; call him over and let him attend this feast along
with you.”

One of the Quraysh party exclaimed, “By al-L.at and al-Uzza it really is a
shame on us that Muhammad son of ‘Abd Allah son of ‘Abd al-Muttalib be kept
back from eating the food among us.”

Then he went over to the boy, brought him back, and sat him down among
the rest.

When Bahira saw him he began to scrutinize him very intently, looking at
various parts of his body and finding certain qualities in him. Finally, when all
had finished dining and had dispersed, Bahira went up to the boy and said,
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“Boy, by al-Lat and al-“Uzza I charge you to answer what I will ask you.” Bahira
only used these words because he had heard the boy’s people swearing by these
two gods.

They claim that the Messenger of God (SAAS) teld him: “Don’t ask me
anything by al-Lat and al-“Uzza; for, by God, I hate nothing more than them.”
So Bahira said, “By God, would you tell me about what T ask you?” So the boy
told him to ask whatever he liked.

The monk then asked him various questions about his sleep, habits, circum--
stances, and so on; and the Messenger of God (SAAS) responded. And what
Bahira heard matched the description he expected.

Then he looked at the boy’s back and saw the seal of prophethood between his
shoulders, in the very place according to the description he had.

Having concluded this, he went over to the boy’s uncle Abt Talib and asked,
“What relation is he to you?” “He is my son,” he replied.

Bahira objected, “He’s not your son. This boy can’t have a living father.”

“Well,” Abu Talib replied, “he’s actually my nephew.”

“And what happened to his father?” the monk asked.

“He died while the boy’s mother was still pregnant with him.”

“Now you’re telling the truth,” the monk went on. “Take your brother’s son
back to his own country and guard him from the Jews. For, by God, if they see
him and know what I know, they will do him evil. This nephew of yours has a
great future before him, take him back soon to his own country.”

So his uncle Abii Talib left with him for Mecca quickly, as soon as he had
finished his business in Syria.

Ibn Ishiq stated, “They claim, according to what people said, that Zurayr,
Tammam, and Daris — all believers in the Scriptures — had also seen what
Bahird noticed in the Messenger of God (SAAS) on that trip with his uncle Aba
Tilib. They tried to get him, but Bahira kept them away from him, making
reference to God and to the description of him and mention of him they would
find in the Holy Scripture, as well as the statement that they would not succeed
in getting him. They recognized the reference he was making to them, and since
they believed what he said they let the boy alone and went away.”

Yanus b. Bukayr recalled, on the authority of Ibn Ishaq, that Abt Talib spoke
three odes on this subject.

This is how Ibn Ishiq related this sequence of events, but he gave no chain of
authorities for it. A similar account also came down by way of a musnad marfi.53

The kafiz Abn Bakr al-Khar®iti stated that ‘Abbas b. Muhammad al-Diri
related to him, as did Qarad Abu Nuh, as did Yinus, from Tbn Ishaq, from Abu

65. The term denotes a tradifon attributed to the Prophet that has a complete line of
transmission.
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Bakr b. Abt Musz, from his father, as follows: “Abt Talib went off to Syria
along with the Messenger of God (SAAS) and a number of Quraysh elders.
When they reached 2 point overlooking the monk — meaning Bahiri — they went
down and untied their baggage. The monk then came out to them, whereas
previously when they had passed by he had not come out or even turned towards
them.”

He went on, “He came down, then, as they were untying their baggage, and
walked among them until he came and took the Prophet (SAAS) by the hand
and said, “This is the Lord of all mankind!*”

In the account of al-Bayhaqi the phrase he used was longer, saying also, “This
is the Messenger of the Lord of the worlds; God sent him as a mercy to all
mankind.”

Some of the Quraysh elders then asked him, “What is it you know?” He
replied, “When you looked down from the mountain road every single tree and
every rock bent down in worship. And they would only prostrate themselves
before a prophet. And I know him by the mark of prophethood below the cartilage
of his shoulder blades.”

He then went back and prepared food for them. When he brought it, the boy
was tending to the camels. The monk told them to send for him. As he
approached a cloud was shading him, and as the boy came near the others the
monk exclaimed, “See; there is a cloud above him!” When the boy arrived he
found that the others had preceded him to the shade of the tree, but when he sat
down the shade moved out over him. The monk commented, “Just look how the
tree’s shade moved over him!”

While Bahira was standing there urging them not to take him into Byzantine
territory, saying that when they saw him the Romans would recognize him by
his description and would kill him, he turned around and, to his surprise, saw
seven Romans who had arrived. He greeted them and asked why they had come.
They replied, “We have information that there’s this prophet who will come
forth this month and so we have been sending men along each route; news we
had of him brought us zlong this route of yours.” “Do you”, Bahird asked, “have
anyone superior to you coming along behind your” They rephed, “No; it’s just
the information we had about him brought us along this road of yours.” Bahira
then asked them, “Have you ever known any matter God wished to bring about
that anyone was able to reverse?” They said they had not, and then they pledged
him allegiance and stayed with him there at Bahira’s place.

The account goes on, reporting that the monk then asked, “I abjure you by
God to tell me, which of you is his guardian? ” “Abu Talib,” they replied.

Bahira kept on admonishing him (Aba Talib) until he took the boy back (to
Mecca); Aba Bakr sent Bilal along with him and the monk provisioned him with
cake and oil.
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Thus al-Tirmidhi told it, from Abt al-‘Abbas al-Fadl b. Sahl al-Atraj, from
Qarad Abii Nuh. Al-Hakim, al-Bayhaqi, and Ibn “Asakir derive it through Abu
al-tAbbas Muhammad b. Yatqub al-Asamm from ¢‘Abbis b. Muhammad
al-Dri.

And thus too did more than one fafiz relate it from an account of Abt Nuh
‘Abd al-Rahman b. Ghazwan al-Khuza‘i, their mawla, their freed slave. He was
known as al-PYabbi, and also as Qarad; he lived in Baghdad and was one of those
“trustworthy sources” vouched for by al-Bukhari. A number of legal scholars
and juféz declare him trustworthy, and I never knew anyone who impugned
him. Nevertheless, there are unique aspects to this account of his.

Al-Tirmidhi stated: “The tradition is good, though unusual. We know of it
only from this account.”

¢Abbas al-Duri said, “There is no one in the world who relates it apart from
Qarid Abt Nuh; Ahmad b. Hanbal, God have mercy on him, heard this from
him, and Yahya b. Mu‘in similarly for its unique and unusual quality.”
Al-Bayhagqi and Ibn ‘Asakir related it.

My comment is that one strange aspect to the tradition is its being atiributed
back to the Companions, whereas Abti Musa al-“Ash*ari enly came forward (into
Islam) in the year of the battle of Khaybar, in the seventh year of the Aifra. This
view does not reflect Ibn Ishaq’s statement that includes him amongst those who
emigrated to Abyssinia from Mecca.

By all estimations the story was attributed {back to the Prophet); the incident
occurred, as some sources maintain, when the Messenger of God (SAAS) was 12
years old. Perhaps Aboi Musa received it from the Prophet (SAAS), in which
case it would be very accurate. Or he could have received it from some of the
major Companions, God be pleased with them. Alternatively the incident might
have been well known and often mentioned and the narrator took it from
knowledge widely current.

The second strange aspect is that the cloud was not referred to in any account
more reliable than this one. The third problem relates to the words: “Abii Bakr
sent Bilal along with him.” If the age of the Prophet (SAAS) at that time was
twelve, then Abti Bakr would have been nine or ten. Bilal’s age would have been
less than that. And where was Abii Bakr at that time? And where was Bilal? Both
{being there) would be strange, certainly, unless it be said that this occurred
when the Messenger of God (SAAS) was full grown. This would mean that the
trip took place later than it is supposed, or that the statement that he was twelve
at the time is inaccurate; al-Wiqidi related the incident contingent upon that.
Yet al-Suhayli stated on the authority of certain sources, that the age of the
prophet (SAAS) at the time was nine. So God knows best.

Al-Wigqidi stated that Muhammad b. Salih related to him, as did ‘Abd Alish
b. Ja%far and Ibrahim b. Isma‘il b. Abt Habiba, from Dawid b. al-IHusayn, as
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follows: “When the Messenger of God (SAAS) reached the age of twelve, his
uncle Aba Tahb took him along to Syria in the caravan he was accompanying to
engage in business there. They made a halt with the monk Bahira, who made
some statements in confidence to Abu Talib. Bahira told him to look after the
boy and Aba Talib sent him back to Mecca. The Messenger of God lived as a
youth with Abt Talib, while Ged protected him and preserved him from the
evils of the jakiliyya peried for the honour He wished for him.”

When he grew up he was consequently the most honourable man of his people,
the best in character, the most noble in his relationships, the best neighbour, the
most prudent, trustworthy and truthful, and the man most removed from
immorality or harmfulness. He was never seen to do anyone harm or to quarrel
with anyone, so that his people named him a/-Amin, “the trustworthy one”
because of all the fine qualities God had joined together in him.

Abt Talib protected and cared for him, aided and assisted him until his
death.

Muhammad b. Sa‘d stated, “Khilid b. Ma‘din told us, Mu‘tamir b. Sulaymin
related to us, that he heard his father relate from AbTG Mijliz that ‘Abd
al-Muttalib or Abii Talib — Khalid was unsure which one — said, that when ‘Abd
Allih died he was sorry for Muhammad and never went away on any trip with-
out taking him with him. And when he was on the way to Syria and stopped to
set up camp, a monk came to him there and said, ‘You have a man of goodness
among vou.” Then he said, “Where is the father of this boy?’ The reply was
given, ‘I am his guardian’ (or it was said, ‘he is his guardian’). The monk
commented: ‘Take care of this boy; do not take him to Syria. The Jews are
jealous, and I fear for him from them.’ He was told, ‘It is not you who are saying
that but Ged himself.’ So he did take him back, and said, ‘O God ! place
Mubammad in your care!’ Then he died.”

The Story of Bahiri.

Al-Subayli related, quoting the biographical writings of al-Zuhri, that Bahira
was a Jewish high priest.

My comment is, that it appears from the course of the story that he was a
Christian monk, But God knows best.

From al-Mas%di comes the information that he was a man of the ‘Abd
al-Qays tribe, and that his name was Jirjis.

In the work al-Matarif (Knowledge) of ibn Qutayba it states, “A voice was
heard in the j@hiliyya period, shortly before Islam, calling out the words, ‘O yea,
the finest of men on carth are three: Bahira, RPab b. al-Barr#® al-Shanni, and the
third is still awaited.” The third and one awalted was the Messenger of God
(SAAS).
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Ton Qutayba stated, “Alpish is always seen at the graves of Ri%gb al-Shanni
and of his son who came after him.” This word, a/#ish, means light rain.

Section: On the early upbringing and raising of the Messenger of God (SAAS) and
how God cared for him and protected him, how he had been an orphan and God gave
kim a home and destitute and God enriched him,

Muhammad b. Ishag stated, “And so the Messenger of God (SAAS) became a
youth under the care and protection of God who saved him from the evils of
the jzhiliyya because of the honour and mission e wished for him, When he
grew up he was the finest man among his people, the best of them in character
and repute, the best of neighbours, the most prudent, the most honest in
speech and most trustworthy, and the one most removed from immorality
and those characteristics that corrupt men, which he avoided because of his
nobility.”

Consequently the name by which he was known among Quraysh was none
other than al-Amin, “the trustworthy”, because of the fine qualities God had
joined in him.

The Messenger of God (SAAS), as I was told, used to relate about those
(pre-Islamic) practices, matters from which God had protected him in his youth
and time of ignorance. He said, “Once I happened to be amongst scme Quraysh
boys carrying some stones for those games boys play. Each of us was exposed,
having taken up his shirt and fastened it around his neck to carry stones in. I was
running along with them in this way and having fallen behind I suddenly
received a very painful slap from someone who spoke the words, ‘Put your shirt
on properly!’ So I took it and put it back on properly and began carrying the
stones around my neck with my shirt on, alone among my friends.”

"This anecdote is similar to the one in the sahih collection relating to the building
of the ks%ba, when he and his uncle al-‘Abbas were hauling (stones). If not the
same, it certainly precedes that and is seemingly preparing for it. But God
knows best.

‘Abd al-Razzaq said that Ibn Jurayj informed him, quoting ‘Amr b. Dinar,
that he heard Jabir b. ‘Abd Aliah say, “When the £2%a was being built, the
Messenger of God (SAAS) went off to transport stones. Al-‘Abbas said to the
Messenger of God (SAAS), ‘Put your shirt over your shoulder for the stones.’
He did so, but fell to the ground and his eyes were drawn up to heaven. Then he
got up and said, ‘Tt was my shirt.” So it was put back on him properly.”

The two traditionalists brought this kadith out in the two sahik collections,
from an account of ‘Abd al-Razzaq. They also extrapolated it from an account of
Rawh b. ‘Ubada from Zakariyya® b. Aba Ishaq, from ‘Amr b. Dinar from Jabir to
the same effect.
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Al-Bayhaqi said that the hafiz Abt ‘Abd Allzh and Abii Sa‘id b. Abt ‘Amr
informed him that Abt al-Abbas Muhammad b. Ya‘qob told them that
Muhammad b. Ishaq al-Saghani related to him, quoting Mubammad b. Bukayr
al-Hadrami, quoting ‘Abd al-Rahmian b. ‘Abd Allih al-Dashtaki, quoting ‘Amr
b. Abh Qays, from Simak, from ‘lkrima, who said that Ibn ‘Abbas related to
him from his father that he would carry stones to the k4%« when Quraysh was
building it. Quraysh divided up into two groups, with the men transporting the
stones and the women the mortar mix.

He went on: “I was with my nephew, carrying the rocks, wearing our shirts
around our necks; when we came up to other people we covered up. While I was
walking along with Muhammad in front of me, he fell down and stretched out
flat on his face. T hurried along, threw down my rocks; meanwhile he was looking
up to heaven. “What’s wrong?’ T asked. He got up and took his shirt, saying, ‘I
was forbidden from walking uncovered.’” Tbn “Abbis went on, “I hid this from
the others for fear they would say (he) was mad.”

Al-Bayhagqi related from a tradition of Ytinus b. Bukayr, from Muhammad b.
Ishaq, that Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah b. Qays b. Makhrama related to him, from
al-Hasan b. Muhammad b. ‘Ali b. Abu Talib, from his father and from his
grandfather, ‘Ali b. Aba Talib, who said that he heard the Messenger of God
(SAAS) say, “I wasn’t interested in performing those things with women that
people during the jahiliyya used to do; except, that is, on two nights on which
God, Almighty and Glorious is He, restrained me.

“One evening I and a young man of Mecca were watching some sheep belong-
ing to some people there. 1 said to him, “Would you keep an eye on my sheepso 1
can go into Mecca and spend an evening there like other lads?’ ‘Sure,” he
replied, So [ went into town and stopped at the first house where T heard the
music of tambourines and flutes. I asked what was going on and was told that a
man and woman had married. So I sat down to watch. But God struck my ecars
and, I swear, next thing T knew I was being awakened by the sun’s touch. I went
back to my friend, who asked what I had done. I replied, ‘T didn’t do a thing.’
Then I told him what I had seen.

“Then one other night I asked him to watch my sheep so I could go to a party.
He agreed, so I went off to Mecca and heard the same as I had the previous occa-
sion. Again I was told that there was a marriage and so sat down to watch. But
God again struck my ears and, I swear, I was later awakened by the sun’s touch.

“When I returned to my friend he asked what I had done. ‘Not a thing,” I
replied, and then I told him what had happened. And, by God, I never tried or
returned to anything like that thereafter right up to when Almighty and
Glorious God honoured me with His prophethood.”

This is a very strange tradition. It could be about ‘Ali himself, with the final
words “up to when Almighty and Glorious God honoured me with his prophet-
hood” having been added. But God knows best.
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This scholar Ibn Ishaq is mentioned by Tbn Hibban as being a very reliable
source. Some authorities claim him to be an author of a sakik collection of tradi-
tions. In his supplementary notes, this sheikh of ours commented on this, “I
don’t fully stand behind this.” But God knows best.

The hafiz al-Bayhaqi said that the kafiz ‘Abd Allzh related to him, quoting
Abu al-‘Abbas Muhammad b. YaSub, quoting al-Easan b. <Ali b. ‘Affin
al-‘Amiri, quoting Abti Usama, quoting Muhammad b. ‘Amr, from Abit Salama
and Yahya b. ‘Abd Rahman b. Hatib, from Usama b. Zayd, from Zayd b.
Haritha, who said, “There was a brass idol called Isaf and N#ila which the
polytheists would touch as they performed their circumambulation. The
Messenger of God (SAAS) said ‘Don’t touch it.””

Zayd continued, “Well, as we went round (again) I told myself I would touch
it to see what would happen. When I did so, the Messenger of God (SAAS)
asked me, “Were you not forbidden te do that?””

Al-Bayhaqi said that others added, from Muhammad b. ‘Amr, giving a chain
of authorities, that Zayd said, “By Him who honoured him and revealed to him
the Holy Book, he (the Prophet) never saluted an idol right up to when God
Almighty honoured him as He did and gave revelation to him.”

We carlier made reference to the comment of the Messenger of God (SAAS)
when Bahird put a question to him invoking al-1.4t and al-‘Uzza: “By God, do
not question me by invoking them! I hate nothing so much as them!”

As for the tradition given by the kzfiz Ab@ Bakr a2l-Bayhaqi, Abt Sad
al-Mailini informed us, Abéi Ahmad b. ‘Adi, the Adfiz told us, Tbrahim b. Asbag
related to us, as did ‘Uthman b. Abai Shayba, as did Jarir, from Sufyin
al-Thawri, from Muhammad b. ‘Abd Allah b. Muhammad b. {Uqayl, from Jabir
b. ‘Abd Allah, God bless him, as follows: “The Prophet (SAAS) used to autend
the ceremonies of the polytheists along with them. But once he heard two angels
behind him, one saying to the other, ‘Let’s move up and stand right behind the
Messenger of God (SAAS).” But the other objected, ‘How can we stand right
behind him when he is in the habit of safuting idols?’”

He went on, “And thereafter he never again attended such ceremonies with
the polytheists.”

This is a tradition several authorities deny being attributed to Uthman b.
Abt Shayba. Regarding it Imam Ahmad commented: “His brother would never
speak any such words.”

Al-Bayhaqi related from various sources that his meaning was that he
witnessed those who saluted idols, and that that was before God made revelation
to him. But God knows best.

We previously reported a tradition from Zayd b. FHaritha to the effect that he
abstained from witnessing the ceremonies of the polytheists until God honoured
him with His mission.
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It is established in the tradition that he did not participate in the assembly at
al-Muzdalifa during the night on Mt. ‘Arafat. Indeed he did not assemble with
the people at ‘Arafat.

Similarly Ytinus b. Bukayr said, from Muhammad b. Ishaq, that ‘Abd Allah
b. Abu Bakr related to him, from “Uthmian b. Abt Sulayman, from Nafi¢ b,
Jubayr b. Mut%m, from his father Jubayr who said, “I saw the Messenger of
God (SAAS) while he was a member of his people’s religion. He would sta-
tion himself there on a camel of his at ‘Arafit, among his people until he raced
away with them, God the Almighty and Glorious giving him blessing thereby.”

Al-Bayhagqi stated, “The meaning of the words ‘a member of his people’s
religion’ refers to the remnants of the heritage of Abraham and Ishmael, on both
of whom be peace. The Prophet (SAAS) never at any time associated with Allah
any other god.”

I also comment, that from these words of (al-Bayhaqi} it is to be understood
that he did attend the assembly at ‘Arafit before he received revelation. And it
was this that was a “blessing” to him from God the Almighty and Glorious.

The Imam Ahmad related this tradition from Ya‘qab, from Muhammad b.
Ishaq. The words he used were: “I saw the Messenger of God (SAAS) before he
reccived revelation while he was positioned on a camel of his with his people on
Arafit so that he would move forward with them, this being a blessing from
God.”

The Imam Ahmad said that Sufyan related to him, from ‘Amr, from
Mubhammad b. Jubayr b. Muttim, from his father, saying, “I lost track of a camel
of mine in the @WUrana valley (close to ‘Arafat} and went off to look for it. I found
the Prophet (SAAS) in the assembly there. I said, ‘He’s one of the fums (a word
used for Quraysh). What’s he deing here?’”

They both derived this from a tradition of Sufyan b. Uyayna to that effect.

An Account of how the Prophet (SAAS) witnessed the war known as
al-fijar, the sacrilegious war.

Ibn Ishdq said, “The ‘sacrilegious’ war raged at a time when the Messenger of
God (SAAS) was 20. It was named the fijar (sacrilegious) war because the two
tribes Kindana and Qays ‘Aylan acted as though the sacred month (when warfare
was disallowed) was open for them to fighting. The leader of Quraysh and of
Kinana was Harb b. Umayya b. ‘Abd Shams. Early in the day of the battle, Qays
were defeating Kinana, but by midday the victory had gone to Kiniana over
Qays.”

Ibn Hisham stated, “When the Messenger of God reached 14 — or 15 — as
Abt ‘Ubayda the grammarian related to me, from Abo ‘Amr b. al-‘Al®] the
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‘sacrilegious’ war broke out between Quraysh and its Kindna supporters and
Cays ‘Aylan.

“What started it was that ‘Urwa al-Rabhal b. Utba b. Ja%ar b. Kilab b. Rabi%
b. ‘Amr b. Sa%a% b. Muawiya b. Bakr b. Hawiizin had given a passing permis-
sion to a trading caravan of musk which belonged to al-Nu‘man b. al-Mundhir.
And so al-Barrad b. Qays, one of the tribe of Dumra b. Bakr b. ‘Abd Manat b.
Kinana asked, *Are you going to apply the same against Kinana’s will?* ‘Yes,’
was the reply, ‘and against everyone.’

“So “Urwa al-Rahhal set out with the trading party and al-Barrad left too,
secking to catch him unawares. When the party reached the high ground of
Tayman Dha Tilal, ‘Urwa became careless and al-Barrad fell upon him and
killed him; this was during the sacred month. Consequently the warfare became
known as ‘sacrilegious’.” Al-Barrad spoke the following verses about all this:

“There’s many a tragedy that distressed people before me that I, O Bana Bakr,
stood firm against.

Thereby I destroyed the houses of Bantl Kilab and humbled the freed slaves to
submission.

I raised my fist against him at Dhu Tilal and he dropped like a felled tree.”

Labid b. Rabi% b. Malik b. Ja%ar b. Kilab also composed the lines:

“Tell Bana Kilab, if you chance on them, and ‘A mir, that there are some who can
master disasters,
Tell Banti Numayr, if you chance on them, and the dead man’s uncles of Banii

Hilal,

That the expected al-Rahhal now rests at Tayman Dha Tial.”

Ibn Hishim continued, “A man arrived and told Quraysh of it, saying,
‘Al-Barrad has killed ‘Urwa, and during the sacred month, at ‘Ukaz.” They then
rode off, unbeknown to Hawazin. When Hawazin learned of this they pursued
them and caught up with them before they reached the sacred territory. They
engaged in battle till nightfall but then they went inside the sacred territory and
Hawazin gave up on them.

“They met for several days after that battle, with the people going forth under
various banners with a leader from each of the tribes of Quraysh and Kinana,
and a leader from each of the oribes of Qays.

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) was present at some of these battles, his
uncles having taken him with themselves. The Messenger of God (SAAS) said,
‘T was giving arrows to my uncles.’ That is, he would gather for them the arrows
their enemy had shot at them.”

Ibn Hisham said, “The account of the ‘sacrilegious’ war is very long, longer than
T have recounted. But I have been deterred from recounting it because it would
have interrupted the telling of the biography of the Messenger of God (SAAS).”
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Al-Suhayli said that al-fijar is spelt with an “i” after the “”, in the like form
to gital, fighting. The fijar wars among the Arabs totalled four, and al-Mas%di
gave reference to all of them.

He went on, “The last of them was this one involving al-Barrid. The fighting
in it consisted of four battles: the battle of Shamta, and the battle of ai-Abl#,
both near ‘Ukaz, and the battle of al-Sharb, which was the major battle. It was
this one that the Messenger of God (SAAS) attended. For this battle the
chieftains of Quraysh and Bant Kinana, respectively Farb b. Umayya and his
brother Sufyan, made a pact not to take to flight. On that occasion Qays were
defeated, except for Bani Nadr who held out. The fourth batile was at
al-Harira, near Nakhla. Then they made an agreement to meet the following
year at ‘Ukaz. When they assembled to fulfil this appointment Utba b. Rabi%
rode out on his camel and called out: ‘O tribe of Mudar, what is it you are
fighting for?’> Hawazin replied, “‘What are vou suggesting?’ ‘Peace,” he replied.
‘How,’ they asked. He said, ‘We pay you blood-money for your dead, and will
leave people hostage with you to guarantee payment; and we will forgo our
blood-money you owe.” “Who will guarantee us that?’ ‘T will,” he replied. ‘And
who are you?’ they demanded. ‘T am Utba b. Rabif%,’ he told them.

“On that basis peace was made, and they sent out to them 40 men, including
Hakim b. Hizin. And when Bant ‘Amr b. Sa%a saw the guarantee hostages in
their hands they gave up their claims and the ‘sacrilegious’ war was at an end.”

Al-Umawi gave an account of the “sacrilegious” wars and the battles that
occurred, detailing them at length, his information deriving from al-Athram,
who was al-Mughira b. ‘Ali, from Aba Ubayda Ma‘mar b. al-Muthanna.

CHAPTER: HOW THE MESSENGER OF GOD (SAAS) WITNESSED THE
PACT OF AL-FUDUL.

The kafiz al-Bayhaqi said that Aba Satd al-Malini told him, Abl Ahmad b.
‘Adi, the hifiz, related to him, quoting Yahya b. ‘Ali b. Hashim al-Khaffaf,
quoting Isma‘il b. ‘Aliyya, from ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Ishidq, from al-Zuhri, from
Muhammad b. Jubayr b. Mut@m from his father, that the Messenger of God
(SAAS) said, “I was a witness, with my uncles, to the pact of al-mutayyabin and
I would not have wanted to renege — or some such word — for the very choicest
herd.”

He (al-Bayhaqt) said that this tradition was related in these words also by
Bishr b. al-Mufaddal, from ‘Abd al-Rahman.

He also said that Ab@ Nasr b. Qatada related to him, quoting Ab ‘Amr b.
Matar, quoting Aba Bakr b. Ahmad b. Dawiid al-Samnani, quoting Mu<lla b.
Mahdi, quoting Abi “‘Awina, all from %Umar b. Abi Salama, from his father,
from Abu Hurayra, that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said. “The only pact I
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witnessed Quraysh make was that of al-mutayyabin. And I’d not have abrogated
it in return for the choicest herd.”

He said that almutayyabin referred to Hiashim, Umayya, Zahra, and
Makhzam.

Al-Bayhaqi said, “This explanation is also interpolated within the tradition,
but I do not know who it was who said it.”

Some biographers maintain that he was referring to the fudil pact; for the
Prophet (SAAS) was not yet born at the time of the mugayyabin pact.

In my view, there is no disputing that. The fact is that Quraysh did conclude
a treaty following the death of Qusayy. They disputed the fact of Qusayy having
left to his son ‘Abd al-Dar the right to control provision of food and drink to the
pilgrims, raising the banner at the £atba, its guardianship, and the convening of
the assembly. The tribe of ‘Abd Manaf disputed them these prerogatives and
various of the Quraysh tribes gave alliance and help for victory to one or other
side.

So the partisans of Abd Manaf brought a bowl filled with a/~z#4, nutmeg
powder, into which they placed their hands and swore allegiance to one another.
When they had done so, they wiped their hands over the corners of the house
(the kaba). They were therefore named the mufayyabing, as mentioned above;
this took place long ago.

But what is meant by this alliance, is the treaty of ali-fudil, a word meaning
“the excess” or “remnants”. This was sworn in the home of ‘Abd Allah b.
Jud@n, as al-Humaydi related it, from Sufyan son of ‘Uyayna, from ‘Abd Allah,
from Muhammad and ‘Abd al-Rahman, two sons of Abil Bakr. They stated that
the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “T witnessed in the house of ‘Abd Allzh b.
Jud%n a treaty to which T would have responded positively if, during Islam, I
had been invited to participate in it. They made an agreement to return any
excess to those who had owned it, and that no one should take unfair advantage
over anyone.”

The authorities stated that the fudal pact was concluded 20 years before the
prophethood, in the eleventh month, Dha al-Qa%da, that date being some four
months after the al-fijar war. That was because the a/-fiyar occurred in Sha‘bén,
the eighth month of the same year.

The al-fudal aeaty was reputed the most fair and honourable pact reached
among the Arabs. The first man who suggested and advocated it was al-Zubayr,
son of ‘Abd al-Mauattalib. The cause for it was that a man from Zabid brought
some goods to Mecca and these were brought from him by al-‘As son of Wa4l
who held back some of what was due to him. So the man from Zabid complained
about him to his allies who were the tribes of ‘Abd al-Dar, Makhzim, Jumah,
Sahm, and ‘Adi b. Ka%, but they declined to help him against al-‘As son of
Witil and instead they roughed him up and drove him away. Having experienced
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such ill-treatment, the man from Zabid approached Abu Qubays at daybreak,
while Quraysh were in their assemblies around the ka%a, and called out at the
top of his voice:

“Q) heirs of Fibr, there’s  man being wronged of his goods, right here in the middle
of Mecca, far from his own home and people.

“A man dishevelled and deprived, who has not completed his pilgrimage; fellow
men, I’m right here at the very heart of the kir.*

“The sacrosanct is for those whose nobility is complete; there is nothing sacrosanct
for the robe of the immoral and treacherous.”

At this arose al-Zubayr b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib and said, “This matter can’t be
ignored.”

So the men of Hashim, Zuhra, and Taym b. Murra assembled in the home of
‘Abd Allzh b. Jud%n who prepared food for them. They established their pact in
Dhi al-Qa‘da, a sacrosanct month, agreeing and swearing by God that they
would act in unison with any wronged person against the wrongdoer until his
rights were fulfilled, for so long as the sea makes wool wet and the mountains
Thabir and Hir® remain firmly set in their place and that they would comfort
(people) as long as they are alive.

Quraysh named that pact al~fudil, saying, “Those men went into that
matter fi fadl, i.e. ‘to excess’. Afterwards they walked over to al-‘As b. Wa’il
and took away from him the goods of the man from Zabid and retuwrned them to
him.”

Al-Zubayr b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib spoke the following verses about this pact:

“T swore, Let’s make a pact against them, though we’re all members of one tribe.

We'll call it al-fudil, if we make a pact by it the stranger could overcome those
under local protection,

And those who go around the 2a%as will know that we reject injustice and will
prevent all things shameful.”

Al-Zubayr also spoke the fellowing:

“A1-fudnl made a pact and alliance that no evildoer shall dwell in Mecca’s heart.
This was a matter they firmly agreed and so the protected neighbour and the
unprotected stranger are safe among them.”

Qasim b. Thabit related, in a curious kadith that, “A man of Khath‘am came
to Mecca either as a pilgrim or to perform the umra (the ‘minor pilgrimage’),
and brought with him a daughter of his named al-Qatiil, an exceedingly modest
girl. But Nabih b. al-Hajjaj seized her and took her away from him. So the man
of Khathtm said, “Who will help me against this man?’ He was advised to
invoke the pact of al~fudil.

66. The space on the north-west side of the £a%a enclosed by the curved wall, the kgsim.
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“So he stood at the ka%a and called out, ‘O you who made the pact of
al-fugal!” Men flocked to him from all sides, their swords unsheathed and shout-
ing, ‘Help is here; what’s the matter?” He told them how Nabih had wronged
him by taking his daughter from him by force.

“The men went with him to Nabih’s house and he came out to them. They
told him, ‘Bring the girl out! You know who we are and the pact on which we’ve
agreed!” ‘I'll do it,” he replied, ‘But let me enjoy her tomght!” ‘Certainly not, by
God,’ they insisted, ‘and there will be no intercourse!’ So he brought her out to
them speaking the verses:

“My friends are gone, and I have not greeted al-Qattil; I did not say to them a
pleasant farewell,

For the al-fudal reiterated that they protect her; vet I still see myself not fearing
the al-fudal.

Don’t think, girl, that I, that evening the riders left, did not feel disregarded by
their going.”

And lines other than these were also given.

It has been said that this was known as the “pact of al-fudil” merely because
it was like an agreement reached by the Jurhum tribe that similarly favoured
victims over oppressors. There were those of their leaders who advocated this,
each one of whom bore the name “Fadl”. They were al-Fadl b. Fadala, al-Fadl
b, Wada%, and al-Fadi b. al-Harith. This is what Tbn Qutayba stated. Others
give the names as al-Fadl b. Shara%, al-Fadl b. Bidi% and al-Fadl b. Quda%. It
was al-Suhayli, God be pleased with him, who reported this.

Muhammad b. Ishaq b. Yasar said, “Tribes of Quraysh suggested making a pact
and assembled for that purpose in the house of ‘Abd Allzh b. Jud%n because of
his high reputation and age.

“The pact made there at his house was between Banti Hashim, Bant “Abd
al-Muttalib, Banti Asad b. ‘Abd al-Uzza, Zuhra b. Kilab, and Taym b. Murra.
They made a pact and agreement that they would support any man in Mecca
who was wronged, whether from their own pecple or someone who had merely
come there, against whoever had wronged him, and that they would ensure that
his rights be upheld.

“Quraysh named that agreement the *pact of al-fudai’.”

Muhammad b. Ishaq said that Muhammad b. Zayd b. al-Muhajir b. Qunfudh
of Taym related to him that he heard Talha b. ‘Abd Allih b. ‘Awf al-Zubri say
that the Messenger of God (SAAS) stated, “I witnessed in the house of ‘Abd
Alldh b. Jud%n a pact made that I wouldn’t have exchanged for the choicest
herd; and if it had been suggested after Islam, I would have responded positively
toit.”
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Ibn Ishaq said that Yazid b. ‘Abd Allah b. Usama b. al-Hidi al-Laythi related
to him that Muhammad b. Ibrghim b. al-Harith of Taym told him that there
was between al-Husayn b. ‘Ali b. Aba Talib and al-Walid b. Utba b. Aba
Sufyan — al-Walid being at that time governor of al-Medina, having been
appointed over it by his uncle Mu%Gwiya b. Abu Sufyan — a dispute over some
property they owned at (the village of) Dhu al-Marwa. It seems that al-Walid
was using his power to take advantage of al-Husayn. So al-Husayn told him, “1
swear by God that you will either justly recognize my rights or I will draw my
sword and stand up in the mosque of the Messenger of God {SAAS) and invoke
the pact of al-fudul”

Iba Ishiq continued, “So ‘Abd Allzh b. al-Zubayr, who was with al-Walid
when al-Ffusayn made this statement, said, ‘And I too swear by God that if he
does tnvoke it, I'll draw my sword and stand there with him until he gets his
justice or we'll all die together,””

Ibn Ishag stated that when al-Miswar b. Makhrama b. Nawfal al-Zuhri and
‘Abd al-Rahman b, ‘Uthman b. ‘Ubayd Allah of Taym heard of the incident,
they gave similar responses.,

And when al-Walid b. Utba heard what had been said, he treated al-Husayn
justly and made him content,

SECTION: ON THE MARRIAGE OF THE PROPHET {SAAS) 70 KHADI?A,
DAUGHTER OF KHUWAYLID B. ASAD B. “ABD AL-Uzz4 B. QUSAYY.

Ibn Ishiq stated, “Khadija daughter of Khuwaylid was a merchant woman of
stature and wealth, She would employ men to trade her goods on a profit-sharing
basis.

“When she heard of the truthfulness, trustworthy nature and fine character of
the Messenger of God (SAAS), she sent for him and proposed that he should
take some of her goods on a trading venture to Syria; she offered him better
terms than she did other merchants and suggested he be accompanted by a
youth in her employment whose name was Maysara.

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) accepted this offer and set off with her
goods, in the company of Maysara. When they reached Syria, the Messenger of
God (SAAS) made a halt beneath the shade of a tree near the cell of a certain
monk. This monk looked out at Maysara and said, ‘Who is that man resting
beneath the tree?” Maysara responded, ‘He is of Quraysh, those who guard the
sanctuary.” The menk responded, ‘No one but a prophet has ever stopped
beneath that tree.’

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) then sold his wares, the goods that he had
brought, and bought those things he wanted. Thereafter he set off in a caravan
for Mecca, Maysara accompanying him.
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“At midday when it was fiercely hot, Maysara would see, so they say, two
angels shading him from the sun as he travelled forward on his camiel.

“When he reached Mecca and brought the goods back to Khadija, she sold
them for twice their cost or thereabouts. Maysara related to her what the monk
had said, and how he had seen the angels giving him shade.

“Now Khadija was a decisive, noble, and intelligent lady, as well as possessed
of all the other fine qualities God had endowed her with. When Maysara told
her all this she sent for the Messenger of God (SAAS) and said to him, so they
say, ‘Cousin, T am interested in you because of your being related to me, because
of your high reputation among your people, and because of your trustworthiness,
fine character and truthfulness.” She then offered herself to him in marriage.

“Khadija was the highest-born, most respected and wealthiest woman in
Quraysh. All her people were covetous of all that and would have attained it if
they could.

“When she said this to.the Messenger of God (SAAS), he reported it to his
uncles. One of these, Hamza, went off with him to visit Khuwaylid b. Asad and
made an engagement between them. Thereafter the Prophet (SAAS) did marry
her” '

Tbn Hisham stated, “He gave her 20 young female camels as a dowry. She was
the first woman he married. And he married no other woman until she died.”

Ibn Ishaq said, “It was she who bore all the children of the Messenger of God
(SAAS) except for Ibrahim. His sons from her were al-Qasim, by whose name
he was kneown, as ‘Abii al-Qasim’, ‘father of Qasim’ that is. Al-Tayyib and
al-Tahir were his other sons. His daughters were named Zaynab, Rugayya,
Umm Kulthtim, and Fatima.” '

Ibn Hisham stated, “The first-born of the boys was al-Qasim, then came
al-Tayyib, followed by al-Tahir. The first-born girl was Rugayvya, followed by
Zaynab, Umm Kulthiim, and Fatima, in that order.”

Al-Bayhaqi stated, from al-Hakim that he read, by the hand of Abt Bakr b.
Abt Khaythama, that Mus%b b. ‘Abd Allzh al-Zubayri related to him, saying,
“The eldest of his sons was al-Qasim. Then came Zaynab, followed by ‘Abd
Alah, Umm Kulthtim, Fatima, and Ruqgayya. The first of his children to die was
al-Qasim, followed by ‘Abd Allah. Khadija is said to have died at age 65 or at age
50, the latter being more likely.”

Others say that al-Qasim attained an age when he could ride, even on light,
swift camels but then he died, after the call to prophethood.

Others say he died while still unweaned. The Messenger of God ($AAS) said,
“In heaven there is a place for him where he can complete his suckiing.”

However, it is well known that this statement applied to (his son) Ibrahim.

Yinus b. Bukayr stated that Ibrahim b. {Uthman related to him from al-Qfisim
from Ibn ‘Abbas, who said, “Khadija gave birth from the Messenger of God
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(SAAS) to two boys and four girls. These were al-Qasim, ‘Abd Allah, Fatima,
Umm Kulthtm, Zaynab, and Ruqayya.”

Al-Zubayr b. Bakkar said, “It was ‘Abd Allah who was known as ‘al-Tayyib’
(the good) and ‘al-Tahir’ (the pure). He was given these appellations because he
was born after the call to prophethood. His other sons died before his mission.
All his daughters were born prior to the call to the prophethood; and emigrated
with him (SAAS).”

Ibn Hisham stated, “Ibrahim was born to Maria the Copt who was presented
to the Prophet (SAAS) by al-Mugawqis, governor of Alexandria; she was from
(the Upper Egypt town of) Karat And2’.”

We will discuss the wives and children of the Messenger of God (SAAS)ina
separate section at the end of this biography, if God Almighty wills it; and in
Him we trust.

Ibn Hisham said, “The Messenger of God (SAAS) was 25 years of age when he
married Khadija, according to the account of several scholars, including Abu
‘Amr al-Madani.”

Ya‘qub b. Sufyan stated, “T wrote down, from Ibrahim b. al-Mundhir, the
following: “‘Umar b. Abli Bakr al-Mu‘ammili related to me that more than one
authority related to him that ‘Amr b. Asad married Khadija to the Messenger of
God (SAAS) when he was 25 years of age and Quraysh were building the £a%a.”

Similarly, al-Bayhaqi transmitted from al-Flakim that the age of the
Messenger of God (SAAS) when he married Khadija was 25 and that she was
then 35. It is also said that she was 25.

Al-Bayhagi stated, in a chapter entitled: “The employment the Messenger of
God had before he married Khadija” as follows:

“Abti ‘Abd Allih the }afiz narrated to us, quoting Abti Bakr b. ‘Abd Aliah,
quoting al-Hasan b. Sufyan; and Suwayd b. Sa‘id related to us, quoting ‘Amr b.
Abii Yahya b. Sa‘id al-Qurashi, from his grandfather Sa‘id, from Abii Hurayra
who said that the Messenger of God (SAAS) stated, ‘God never sent anyone to
be a prophet without his having been a shepherd for sheep.” His Companions
asked him, ‘And you too, O Messenger of God?’ He replied, ‘I shepherded them
for Meccans at al-Qararit.””

Al-Bukhari related it from Ahmad b. Muhammad the Meccan, from ‘Amr b.
Yabhya.

Thereafter al-Bayhaqi related the same tradition by way of al-Rabi®b. Badr, a
weak link, from Aba al-Zubayr, from Jabir who said that the Messenger of God
(SAAS) said, “My wage from Khadija for two expeditions was a young she-
camel.”

Al-Bayhaqi related, through Hammad b. Salama, from “Ali b. Zayd, from
‘Ammar b. Abl ‘Ammar, from Tbn ‘Abbas who said, “Khadija’s father married
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the Messenger of God (SAAS) to her at a time when he (her father) was —and I
think this is what he said — drunk!”

Then al-Bayhaqi stated that Abfl al-Ifusayn b. al-Fadl al-Qattan related to
him, as did ‘Abd Allah b. Ja%ar, as did Yaqb b. Sufyan, who said that he was
told by Ibrahim b. al-Mundhir, and by ‘Umar b. Abti Bakr al-Mu‘mmuli and by
‘Abd Allzh b. Aba Ubayd b. Muharnmad b. ‘Ammar b. Yasir, from his father
from Mugsim b. Abt al-Qasim, the mawla of ‘Abd Allah b. al-IIarith b. Nawfal,
that ‘Abd Allah b. al-Harith related to him that ‘Ammar b. Yisir, whenever he
heard people discussing the marriage of the Messenger of God (SAAS) to
Khadija and embeliishing it as they did, would tell them, “I know better than
anyone else about his marriage te her. I was his companion and his close friend.
One day I was out with the Messenger of God (SAAS) and when we came to
al-Hazura we passed by Khadija’s sister who was seated on a fine-coloured
camel she had for sale. She called to me and I went over to her, while the
Messenger of God (SAAS) stood there waiting for me. She said, “Would that
friend of yours like to marry Khadija?’

“So I went back to him and told him and he responded, ‘Indeed 1 certainly
would!’

“I then reported to her what the Messenger of God (SAAS) had said and she
suggested, *Come and visit us tomorrow.” When we did so next day we found
that they had slaughtered a cow and dressed Khadija’s father in ceremonial
clothes; and his beard had been dyed yellow. I spoke with her brother and he
with his father, who had been drinking wine. The brother told him of the
Messenger of God (SAAS) and of his reputation and asked him if he would
conduct his marriage. And so he did marry him to Khadija. They cooked the
cow and we ate from it, after which her father went to sleep. When he woke up
he was sober and he said, “What’s this Pm wearing, what’s this yellow and why
this food?” His daughter who had spoken to ‘Ammir replied, ‘It was your
son-in-law Muhammad son of ‘Abd Allih who gave you the ceremonial outfit
and he who presented the cow to you, and we slaughtered it when you married
him to Khadija.’

“IHe denied having concluded this marriage with him and stormed off,
shouting, to al-Hijr. Bant Hashim brought out the Messenger of God (SAAS)
and they all went off to talk to him. Khadija’s father demanded, “Where’s this
man of yours you claim I married to Khadija?’ The Messenger of God (SAAS)
made his presence known to him. Having looked at him, her father then said,
‘If T already performed his marriage, then so be it. If I didn’t before, T do so

. nowt’”

Al-Zuhri stated in his works of biography that her father married her to him
when he was drunk. His account is similar to the foregoing. Al-Suhavli (similarly)
related it.
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Al-Mu‘%mmili stated, “What is generally agreed upon is that it was her uncle,
‘Amr b. Asad, who married her to him.”

This is what al-Suhayli preferred. He related so on the authority of Ibn
tAbbas and ‘A%isha. The latter said, “Khuwaylid had died before al-fijar, the
‘sacrilegious’ war. It was he who had fought against Tubba‘ when he wanted to
remove the ‘black stone’ to Yemen. Khuwaylid and a group from Quraysh had
prevented lhim from deing so. Then Tubba¢ had a nightmare about it, changed
his mind, and left the ‘black stone’ where it was.”

Ton Ishaq related at the end of his biography that Khadija’s brother, ‘Amr b.
Khuwaylid, was the one who marrted her to the Messenger of God (SAAS), but
(God knows best.

DrvisioN

Ibn Ishaq stated that Khadija, daughter of Khuwaylid, had informed Waraqa b.
Nawfal b. Asad b. ‘Abd al-Uzza b. Qusayy, who was her cousin and a Christian
who had studied the Scriptures and human knowledge, of what her young
employee (Maysara) had told her of what the monk had said, and how he had
seen the two angels shading him. Waraga had then told her, “If this is true,
Khadija, then Muhammad is the Prophet of this nation. I learned that a prophet
was expected for this nation, and this is his time.” These were approximately the
words he used.

Thereafter Waraqa had impatiently awaited his coming, asking how long it
would be. He spoke the following verses on the subiject:

“I persisted, being persistent in recalling both a worry that often inspired my tears,

And a description from Khadija, following (another) description; my waiting has
been long, O Khadija,

In the heart of Mecca, with my hoping because of your words that I would see some
solution.

From what you related as the words of a priest who was a monk whom I would hate
to be wrong, :

That Muhammad will one day prevail and defeat whomever opposes him,

Making a light appear in the land by which he will bring change to all creation.

Those who oppose him will meet defeat, while those who aid him will achieve success.

‘Would that I be there to witness, for I’ll be the first of them in participating.

Participating in that which Quraysh will hate, however much they bluster in their
Meccea,

I aspire, through him whom they all hate, to reach the Enthroned One, even if they
descend, aside.

Is it not folly to disbelieve in Him who chooses, He who raised the stars?

If they and I survive, things will happen at which the disbelievers will be sorely
discomfited.
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Even if 1 perish, so does every man meet from the fates with destruction and
death.”

Waraqa also spoke the following lines, dccording to the account given of him
by Yanus b. Bukayr from Ton Ishaq:

“Will you leave early in the morning, or late tonight, or in the evening, there being
a fire alight in your heart from your concealing your sadness?

At parting from a people whom I do not like to leave, as if after two days’ journey
away they seem very far removed.

And at true information related about Muhammad, told about him when he was
elsewhere by an honest man.

The man came back to you, O best of free women, whom you had sent to the
Ghawr lowland and to the plateaux of the Najd ranges.

To the markets of Bugra with the mounts that left early, bent over with their loads,
slow-moving.

He tells us of things good, through his knowledge; and truth has doors for which
keys exist,

That ¢Abd Allah’s son, Ahmad, is being sent to all people everywhere.

My belief is that he will be sent to tell the truth, just as God’s two servants Hud
and Salih were sent i

And Moses, and Abraham, until his glory shall be witnessed and widely spread
abroad by report, very clear;

And there shall follow him the tribes of Lw’ayy and Ghalib, their young and their
grey leaders alike.

If T survive till his era reaches the people, then I will give glad tidings of love.

If not, O Khadija, then you should know that I shall be travelling the wide earth,
far from your land.”

Al-Umawi added the lines:

“Following the religion of Him who established all things, He who had virtue far
greater than all men.

And erected a secure building in Mecca, whose lamplight ghitters in the dark,

A meeting place for all the various tribes, a place to which the tired, fine mounts
hurry,

Standing tall like arrows of fine wood, the sinews winding around them suspended
above their pastern-joints.”

Other verses of this, as given by Abu al-Qasim al-Suhayli in his work a/-Rawd
(The Gardens) are the following:

“I gave advice to the tribes, telling them ‘I came to warn, so let no one deceive you.’

Do not worship any God other than your creator, and if others call you, then say,
‘We are in conflict with you.’

Glory everlasting be to Him of the throne; both the waters and the dry land
glorified Him before us.
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All things beneath the sky are subjugated before Him; no one should oppose His
dominion.

Nothing that you see has its splendour last, but God remains, though weaith and
progeny perish.

With his treasures, one day Hurmuz did not prevail, and the tribe of ‘Ad sought
eternity, but they did not last.

Nor Solomon either, for the winds biew him away, and all spirits and men too, a
waste land between them.

Where are those kings whose glory was such that delegations would come to them
from all parts?

A great basin is up there where, without falsehood, all must gather one day, just as
they did.”

He then said, “Abu al-Faraj similarly attributed these to Waraga.” He also
commented that some of these verses are also considered to have been by
Umayya b. Abii al-Salt.

I would also add that we have been told that ‘Umar b. al-Khattab, God bless
him, used sometimes to quote some of these verses. But God knows best.

Section: On Quraysh having rebuilt the ka%a five years before the coming of the
prophethood.

Al-Bayhagi recounts the building of the £2%a to have been before the marriage
of the Prophet (SAAS), to Khadjija.

However, it is widely known that the building by Quraysh of the ka%a took
place some ten years following their marriage, as we have stated.

Al-Bavyhaqi begins by relating the ka%a’s construction as having occurred in
the time of Abraham, as we have stated in our earlier account of him. He gives
the kadith of Tbn Abbas recorded in the sehik collection of al-Bukhiri and also
makes reference to some of the accounts attributed to Israeli legends regarding
the construction of the kaz%a in Adam’s lifetime,

But that is not correct, for the plain statement in the Qur’dn establishes that
Abraham was the first person to begin building it, the first to establish it.
Moreover its site was revered before that, honoured, and cared for throughout
time. God Almighty stated,

“The first ‘house’ established for mankind was ; the one in Bekka {Mecca),
blessed and a guidance for the worlds. In it there are clear signs. (There is) the
stone on which Abraham stood. Whoever enters it shall be safe. Men owe it to
God to make pilgrimage to the House, (all) those who can afford to do so™ (siarat
Al-<Imran, 111, v.96, 97).

In the two sahiks it is said of AbT Dharr that he stated, “I asked, ‘O
Messenger of God, which mosque was established first?” He replied, “The
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al-Haram mosque (the “Holy Mosque’ in Mecca) “Which one next?’ I enquired.
“The al-Agsa mosque’ (the ‘further mosque’, in Jerusalem). ‘How many years
intervened?’, T asked. ‘Forty yvears’, he replied.”

We have earlier addressed this issue and the fact that the al-4gsé mosque was
established by (the tribe of) Israel, by Jacob, peace be upon him.

In both sakik collections it is stated: “This land was made sacred by God
when he created the heavens and the earth. It is made sacred by the sanctity of
God until Judgement Day.”

Al-Bayhaqi stated that Abu ‘Abd Allzh, the hafiz, informed him, as did Abu
‘Abd Allah al-Saffar, Ahmad b. Mahran, “Ubayd Allah, and Tsra<l, from Abn
Yahys, from Mujahid, from ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Amr as follows, “FThe house (of
worship) existed 2,000 years before the earth: ‘And lo! the earth was laid out’
(sitrat al-Inshigag, I.XXXIV, v.3). “It was,” he said, “laid out beneath it.”

He said, “And Mangtir traced this account back to Mujahid.”

I consider this very strange. It is as though it comes from the two baggage
camels seized by ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Amr at the battle of Yarmuk which were
transporting Israeli legends, from which he used to relate; they told of strange
and objectionable things.

Then al-Bavhaqi stated that Abu ‘Abd Allah, the Zafiz, informed him,
quoting Abf Jafar Muhammad b. Muhammad b. Muhammad b. ‘Abd Alldh
al-Baghdidi, quoting Yahya b. Uthman b. Salih, as did Aba $Salih al-Juhani,
quoting Tbn Lahi, from Yazid b. Abiui al-Khayr, from ‘Abd Alldh b. ‘Amr b.
al-‘Ag that the Messenger of God (SAAS) said, “God sent down Gabriel to
Adam and Eve, and told them: ‘Build a house of worship for me.” Gabriel
drew it out for them and Adam began digging while Eve transported unti! the
water spoke to him, calling out from beneath him, “That’s encugh, Adam!’
When they had finished building, God revealed to him that he should
circumambulate it. He was told, ‘You are the first man, and this is the first
house.” Thereafter the centuries succeeded one another until Noah made
pilgrimage there. Further centuries went by until Abraham constructed its
foundations.”

Al-Bayhaqi stated, “Ibn Lahi% is the only one transmitting this tradition in
this way.” _

T consider him to be a weak source. If its transmission had stopped directly
with ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Amr it would have been a stronger and more authentic
tradition. But God knows best.

Al-Rabi* stated that al-Shafii informed him, as did Sufyin, from Ibn Abt
Labid, from Muhammad b. XKa‘h al-Qurazi — or someone else — that he (the
Prophet, SAAS) said, “Adam performed the pilgrimage and the angels met him
and told him, ‘Your sacrifice made has been successful. We made pilgrimage
2,000 years before you!’”
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Yunus b. Bukayr stated that Ibn Ishaq said, “Buqayya — or, he said, someone
trustworthy of Medina — related to me, from Urwa b. al-Zubayr that he (the
Prophet) said, “There has never been a prophet who has not made pilgrimage to
the ka%ha — except, that is, for Hud and Salih.””

But I have elsewhere reported their pilgrimage 1o it; by which I meant their
having made pilgrimage to its site, even though it was not yet built. But God
knows best.

After this al-Bayhaqi reported the hadith from Ibn ‘Abbas giving in full the
story of Abraham, upon whom be peace; it is included in the sakik collection of
al-Bukhari.

Al-Bayhaqi then related from the hadith of Simak b. Farb, on the authority of
Khalid b. ‘Arara, as follows: “A man asked ‘Ali about (3od’s statement (in the
Quran): “The first house (of worship) established for mankind was the one in
Bekka (Mecca), blessed and a guidance for the world’ and asked whether it really
was the first house built on earth.

“He replied, “No, but it was the first one in which blessings and guidance for
all mankind were in place, along with the stone on which Abraham stood; and
whoever enters it is safe. And if you like, we can tell you how it was constructed.

“‘Almighty God sent a revelation to Abraham, saying, “Build for me a house on
carth!” This command disturbed him greatly. So God sent down af-sakina, which
is a strong, wind with a head to it. Head and wind pursued one another until finally
stopping. Thereupon the gale whirled around itself at a certain spot, like the coils
of a snake. So Abraham built (there) until he reached the position for the stone.
He then said to his son: “Help me by finding a stone.” He searched for one and
brought it, but found that the ‘black stone’ had already been set in place. He
asked his father, “Where did you get that?” “Someone came who wouldn’t rely
on your building. Gabriel brought it from heaven.” So he fimshed it.

““Time passed and it fell down. So the ‘%emiliga (the giants) rebuilt it and
when it next collapsed it was Jurhum who reconstructed it.

“*Again it collapsed and Quraysh rebuilt it, the Messenger of God (SAAS)
being a young man at that time. When they wanted to lift into place the ‘black
stone’ they fell into a dispute who should do so. They agreed they would let the
first person to come along that street decide. It was the Messenger of God
(SAAS) who came by first, so he decided for them to place it in a piece of cloth,
so that all the tribes would lift it to its place.’”

Abii Dawtd al-Tayalisi said that Hammad b. Salama and Qays and Sallam
related to him, all on the authority of Simak b. Harb, from Khalid b. ‘Artara,
from ¢Ali b. Aba Tilib who said, “When the ka%a fell down after Jurhum,
Quraysh rebuilt it. And when they wanted to position the stone they fell into a
dispute with one another. So they agreed that the first person to come in the
door should do it.
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“The Messenger of God (SAAS) came in through the Bant Shayba door. He
told them to bring 2 robe in the centre of which he placed the stone. Then he
ordered each subtribe to take hold of an edge of the cloth. They then lifted it up
and the Messenger of God (SAAS) took the stone and positioned it.”

Ya%qib b. Sufyin said that Asbugh b. Faraj related to him, as did Ibn Wahb,
from Yanus from Ibn Shihab as follows: “When the Messenger of God (SAAS)
reached puberty a woman set alight to the £4%a. A spark from her fire lit some
of the cloth covering of the ka‘ba and it burned. So they tore it down and rebuilt
it up to that point in the corner where a dispute arose among Quraysh as to
which of the tribes should be entrusted with raising it.

“They agreed tc appoint as arbitrator the first person who came up to
them. It was the Messenger of God (SAAS) who did so, he being a youth,
and he was wearing a leopardskin sash. They asked him to decide the issue
and he told them to get the corner piece, which was placed in a cloth. Then
he asked the leader of each tribe to come forward and gave each one a side of
the cloth while he climbed up. They lifted it up and he put the corner piece
in positien.

“As he increased in age he became only more pleasing, and so they gave him
the sobriquet a/~Amin, ‘the trustworthy’, even before revelation came down to
him. They adopted the practice of never slaughtering a camel for sacrifice without
seeking him, and he would say a prayer over it for them.”

The context of this tradition is good, it being from the biographies written by
al-Zuhri.

One strange element in it is the wording “when he reached puberty”. For it is
well known that this occurred when the Messenger of God (SAAS) was 35. This
is established by Muhammad Tbn Ishiq b. Yasar, God bless him,

Musa b. ‘Uqgba stated that the building of the £2%a occurred 15 years prior to
the prophethood. Similarly, Mujahid agreed, as did ‘Urwa, Muhammad b.
Jubayr b. Mut%m and others. But God knows best.

Mauasa b. Ugba said, “There was a period of 15 vears between the ‘sacrilegious’
war al-fijar and the building of the £4%a.”

I observe that a/-fijar and the pact of al-fudi/ came in one year, when the
Messenger of God (SAAS) was 20. This fact substantiates what Muhammad b.
Ishaq said. But God knows best.

Miisa b. Ugba said: “Quraysh were motivated towards rebuilding the ks%a
because water would flood in from its top, from above the earth roof with which
it was covered and which was in disrepair. Consequently they were concerned
that water might leak inside.

“Also, a man named Mulayh had stolen the ka%a’s incense and they wanted
to rebuild it taller and raise its door so that only those they wished could enter it.
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“They therefore established a fund for the costs and hired workers and then
went there one morning to tear it down, despite their concern and apprehension
that God might prevent them from doing what they wanted.

“The first man to start and to take down a piece of it was al-Walid b.
al-Mughira. When they saw what al-Walid had done the others followed by
doing the same; they levelled it and were pleased to have done so.

“When they wanted to begin rebuilding it, they brought the workmen, but
not one of them would set foot anywhere before it.

“They claimed that they saw a snake encircling the building completely, its
head reaching back to its tail. They were terrified of it and afraid that what they
were doing would destroy them.

The £a‘ha had been their haven and safe refuge from others as well as a source
of their pride. Because of their confusion and worry at what had happened to
them, al-Mughira b. ‘Abd Allah b. ‘Amr b. Makhzim stood up and reminded
them of the advice and orders he had given them, namely that they should not
dispute or envy one another in rebuilding it, but should divide it into quarters
and use no ill-gotten money in its construction.

“When they bad decided to proceed, the snake disappeared up into the sky,
and they could see that this was the work of God, Almighty and All-powerful is
He.”

His account also states that some people maintain that a bird picked it up and
tossed it away towards Ajyad.%

Muhammad b. Ishiq b. Yasar said, “‘When the Messenger of God (SAAS)
reached 35 Quraysh reached an agreement to rebuild the ka‘%bs. They did so
because they were concerned about reroofing it, being afraid its roof would
collapse since it was made only of stones set above its frame. They also wanted to
make it taller as well as reroof it,

“That was because some men had stolen the ke‘ba’s treasure which had been
kept in a well in its middle. The man who was found in possession of the
treasure was Duwayk, a freed-man of Bant Mulayh b. ‘Amr b. KhuzaG.
Consequently Quraysh cut off his hand.

“Quraysh claims that those who stole it planted it with Duwayk.

“The sea had cast ashore at Jidda a ship belonging to a Byzantine trader. The
ship had broken up, so they took its wood to use for the k4%4’s roof.”

Al-Umawi said, “This ship belonged to the emperor of Byzantium and was
carrying building materials, marble, wood, and metal. The emperor had sent
this off with Baqum the Byzantine for the church the Persians had burned
belonging to the Abyssinians. When it had reached its anchorage at Jidda God
had sent a gale which destroyed it.”

67. Ajyad is 2 mountain at Mecca.
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Tbn Ishaq said, “In Mecca there was a Copt who was a carpenter and so they
had available to them some of what was needed to repair it.

“There was a serpent that would emerge from the £a%a’s well into which they
would drop every day the sacrificial offerings. It would emerge and sun itself on
the kaha’s wall. They were all afraid of it, because whenever anyone approached
it, it would raise its head, move its coils audibly and open its mouth. One day as
it lay on the £2%a’s wall as was its habit, God sent down a bird which snatched it
up and flew away with it.

“At this Quraysh said, ‘Now we can hope that God is pleased at our
plan. We have a local carpenter, and wood, and God has taken care of the
serpent.’”

Ail-Suhayli recounted, on the authority of Razin, that a thief had entered the
kgba during the Jurhum era to steal its treasure but that the well had caved in
on him. Some men had come and lifted him out and retrieved what he had
taken. Afier that, a serpent resided in the well, its head as big as that of a young
goat, its belly white and its back black. It had lived there for 500 years. This was
the serpent mentioned by Muhammad b. Ishag.

Muhammad b. Ishaq stated, “When they had agreed on demolishing and
rebuilding it, Abu Wahb b. ‘Amr b. ‘A’idh b. ‘Abd b. Imrin b. Makhzam
(whose name according to Tbn Hisham was ‘A%idh b. Imran b. Makhzlim) went
and removed a stone from the £2%=z but it flew straight out of his hand back to
its position. So he said, ‘O Quraysh, in rebuilding it, use only money that you
have fairly earned. Nothing gained from prostitution, usury, or injustice against
any person must enter it.””

(Some) people attribute this statement to al-Walid b. al-Mughira b. ‘Abd
Allah b, Umar b, Makhzoim. Ibn Ishaq, moreover, was inclined to believe that
the man who said this was Abti Wahb b, ‘Amr. He said that he was the maternal
uncle of the father of the Prophet (SAAS), and a very highly regarded and
honourable man.

i{bn Ishaq said, “Then Quraysh dividéd up the ka%e. The side with the door was
entrusted to the tribes of ‘Abd Manaf and Zuhra, that between the ‘black stone’
corner and the Yemeni corner went to the Bant Makhziim, along with various
other Quraysh tribes. The back of the £a%a went to the tribes of Jumah and
Sahm; the kijr (shrine) side was entrusted to the tribes of ‘Abd al-Dar b. Qusayy
and Asad b. ‘Abd al-Uzzi, while the ‘Adi b. Ka%h were assigned the rahw
al-katim, the enclosed slope around the walls.

“But the people were apprehensive about demolishing it and were very scared
of it. So al-Walid b. al-Mughira said, ‘T shall begin demolishing it.” And he took
up 2 pick-axe and set about it, saying, ‘O God, it is not to be feared. O God,
goad is all we want.’ '



IMAM ABU AL-FIDA® ISMA L IBN KATHIR 201

“He then demolished some of the side where two rubn, the sacred corners,
are. That night everyone expected something bad would happen and said, ‘Let’s
keep watch on him and if he comes to harm we’ll not demolish any more of it
and we’ll repair it just as it was. But if nothing happens to him, then God will
have been pleased by our action in destroying it.

“Early next morning al-Walid recommenced his work of demolition, and the
others joined in with him. Eventually they had demolished it down to the
foundations established by Abraham, peace be upon him. They uncovered some
green rocks interlocking together like teeth.”

In the sakik of al-Bukhari an account from Yazid b. Riimin gives the phrase
“interlocking together like camels’ humps”. And al-Suhayli said, “I consider the
wording in the biography ‘like teeth’ to be imaginary.” But God knows best.

Ibn Ishaq stated, “A certain reciter of traditions related to me as follows, ‘A
man of Quraysh, who were demolishing the £4%a, put his crowbar between two
stones to remove one of them and when the stone moved all Mecca shook, so
they stopped working on that foundation.”” _

Musa b. Ugba stated, “‘Abd Aliah b. ‘Abbas claimed that leaders of Quraysh
refated that when they had assembled to extract stones to set up the (stations of)
Abraham and Ishmael, upon both of whomn be peace, one of their tribesmen
began removing one of the stones from the original foundation. When he lifted it
up, not knowing that it was from the original foundation, the onlookers saw a
light emitting from beneath it that almost dazzled the man’s sight. Then the
stone jumped out of his hand and dropped back into its place. The man and the
other builders were terrified. But when the stone again hid from them what was
beneath it they went back to their building, saying, ‘Don’t move that stone, or
any of those next to it.””

Ibn Ishaq stated, “It was related to me that Quraysh found in the corner a
document with Syriac writing on it and they did not know what it was until a
Jew read it to them. It said, ‘I am God, Lord of Bakka (Mecca). 1 created it the
day I created the heavens and the earth and formed the sun and the moon. I have
set seven trusty angels around it. It will not cease to exist until its akhshabaha
(2 word Tbn Hisham interpreted to mean “its two mountains”) disapppear, a
blessing to its people in their water and their milk.””

Ibn Ishaq stated, “It was related to me that they found in the shrine a document
stating, ‘Mecca is God’s holy House. Its sustenance shall come from three paths;
let it not be first desecrated by its own people.’”

He also stated that Layth b. Aba Sulaym claimed that they had found a stone
in the £a'ha 40 years before the coming of the mission of the Prophet (SAAS) —
if what they said is true — on which was written, “He who plants good shali
harvest joy; he who plants evil shall harvest regret. If you do evil things, shall
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you be rewarded with good things? Indeed so, just as grapes are harvested from
thorns!”

Said b. Yahya al-Umawi stated that al-Mu‘amir b. Sulaymin al-Raqqi
related to him, from ‘Abd Allih b. Bishr al-Zuhri, with a chain of authorities
back to the prophet (SAAS), who said, “In the shrine three slates were found.
On the first was written, ‘It is I, God, Lord of Bakka; | made it when I made the
sun and the moon and I have set seven trusty angels around it. And I have
blessed its people in the meat and in the milk.’

“On the second it said, ‘Tam God, Lord of Bakka. I created a/-rakhim, kinship,
which I derived from my name, (Rahim, (meaning) merciful and compassionate).
He who acts kindly to his kin, so will T treat; he who severs his ties of kinship, so
will I treat.”

“On the third was written: ‘T am God, Lord of Bakka. T created goodness and
evil and I predetermine. Joy shall be for those who bring good, and woe upon
those who bring evil!’”

Tbn [shag continued, “Then the tribes of Quraysh gathered stones to rebuild it,
each one collecting them separately.

“They built it up until it reached the place for the (black) stone but then fell
into dispute about it. Each tribe wanted to raise it into its position, regardless of
the rest. Eventually they breke up, established alliances, and readied to do battle.
Banii ‘Abd al-Dar brought a bowl full of blood and they and Band Adi b, Ka%b
b. Lw’ayy made a pact to fight to the death, placing their hands into that bowl of
blood. And so they were known as the ‘blood-lickers’.

“Quraysh remained in this confrontation for four or five nights, then they met
together in the mosque, debated one another but divided into equal sides.

“Some scholars of the traditions claim that Abii Umayya b. al-Mughira b. ‘Abd
Alizh b. Umar b. Makhztim, who was at that time the oldest man in all Quraysh,
said, ‘O Tribe of of Quraysh, resolve your dispute by agreeing that the first man
who enters by the door of this mosque will decide the issue.” They agreed.

“The first man to enter was the Messenger of God (SAAS) and when they
saw him they said, “This is al~-Amin, “the trustworthy”; we are satisfied. This is
Muhammad.” When he reached them and they told him of the problem, the
Messenger of God (SAAS) said: ‘Bring me a robe.” One was brought to him and
he took the cornerpiece (the ‘black stone’} and placed it on the robe. Then he
said, ‘Let each tribe grasp one side of the cloth. Then all raise it up.” This they
did untl it was at the right spot, whereupon the Messenger of God (SAAS)
himself positioned it. Then they built above it.”

Quraysh used to refer to the Messenger of God (SAAS) as “the trustworthy”.

Tmam Ahmad stated that ‘Abd al-Samad related to him, quoting Thabit —
meaning Aba Yazid — quoting Hilal - meaning Ibn [fabbin — frem Mujahid
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from his mamwli, whose name was al-Sa%b b. ‘Abd Allgh, that the last-mentioned
related to him that he was one of those who built the ka%a before the coming of
Islam. He stated, “T had a stone I had sculpted that T worshipped besides God. 1
used to bring clotted milk unfit for myself and pour it over it. Then a dog would
lick it off, raise its hind leg and urinate on it. We continued building until we
reached the position for the (black) stone, but no one knew where it was. But
then it was secn among our rocks looking like a man’s head with a face almost
distinguishable. A leader of Quraysh said, ‘“We’ll position it.” But others said
they too would do it. People suggested an arbitrator be appointed and they
agreed that he should be the first man to appear from the mountain road. And it
was the Messenger of God (SAAS) who arrived, and those there commented,
‘Well, it’s the “trustworthy” who’s come.” They talked to him and he placed it
on a cloak. He then summoned their head men and they lifted it up while he,
(SAAS) placed it in its position.”

Ibn Ishag stated, “At the time of the Prophet (SAAS), the £4%s measured 18
cubits and was covered by Egyptian-woven Qabati cloth. Later it was covered by
al-buriid® cloths. The first to clothe it with the 4baj silk brocade was al-Hajjaj
b. Yasuf.”

My comment is that they left out of it the £ijr area that was six or seven cubits
long in the direction of Syria. They had insufficient funds for that; that is, they
were not able to rebuild it on Abraham’s foundations. They constructed one
door for the ka%a on the east side, placing it high up so that not everyone could
get inside. This allowed them to permit inside only those they wished.

It has been established in both sakik collections, on the authority of ‘Aisha,
God be pleased with her, that the Messenger of God (SAAS) told her: “Don’t
you know that your people had insufficient funds for the expenses? If it were not
for the fact that your people were only recently unbelievers, I would have torn
down the ka%a and made for it one door on the east and another on the west.
And I would have included the jgr area within it.”

This was how Tbn Zubayr rebuilt it, just as the Messenger of God (SAAS)
had indicated. It was done in the utmost splendour and beauty, one complete
whole on the foundations of al-Khalil (Abraham). It had two doors at ground
level, on the east and west sides, and people would enter through one and exit
through the other.

When he had executed Ibn al-Zubayr, al-Hajjaj wrote to the Caliph of the
time, ‘Abd al-Malik b, Marwan, concerning what Ibn Zubayr had done; and
they believed that he had made the changes on his own authority.

And so it was ordered that it be restored to its original state, They set to work
on the “Syrian” wall, tearing it down and removing the (black) stone, laying out

68. ‘;il*bumd is the name given to striped-cloth sheets.
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its stones on the £e%a floor. Then its door was raised and the western door was
blocked off; the eastern one was left as it was. When it was the time of al-Mahdi
— or his son al-Mansiir — he (the ruler) sought advice from Malik on rebuilding it
as it had been remodeiled by Ibn al-Zubayr. But Malik, God be pleased with
him, said, “I hate for the rulers to treat it like a plaything.”

And so he left it as it was; it remains the same to this day.

As for the massid al-haram, the sacred mosque at Mecca, the first man to
remove the buildings around the 2a%a was Umar b. al-Khattib, God be pleased
with him. He purchased them from their owners and demolished them. When
Uthman ruled he bought other houses which he added to it. When lbn
al-Zubayr succeeded, he reinforced it, improved its walls, and increased the
number of its doors. But he was not able to make any additions to increase its
size.

When ‘Abd al-Malik b. Marwan seized power he made the walls of the sacred
mosque taller and ordered that the ka%a be covered by the dibgj. The one who
carried out this order was al-Hayaj b. Yasuf.

We have elsewhere related the history of the building of the House and the
traditions that came down about that in our exegesis of the sirat al-Bagara
(Quran, IT) in reference to the verse: “When we ordered Abraham to raise the
foundations of the house along with Ishmael” (verse 127). Our explanation of
this is lengthy and exhaustive and whoever wishes could write it down here. And
all praise and power be to God.

Ibn Ishaq stated, “When they had finished the construction, having built it as
they wished, al-Zubayr b. <Abd al-Muttalib spoke the following verses about the
serpent that caused Quraysh to be afraid of rebuilding the ka%a:

“I was amazed at the eagle aiming straight for the serpent when it was in an excited
state.

Tt used to make a rustling sound, and sometimes it would dash out;

When we began the building it increased our awe of the structure and we were
scared.

When we were too afraid to drive it away an eagle came, swooping straight down at
1t,

It grasped it tight, then left the building to us; there being nothing else in its way.

Together we assembled to begin the building, for which we already had the
foundations and the soil;

Next morning its foundations were raised, our men wearing no clothes.

The Lord ennobled Bani Lwayy through it and there’s no denying their founding
1,

Banii “Adt had also assembled there, and Murra who were preceded by Kilab.

The Lord thereby established us in glory, and it is from God that reward is
requested.””
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We carlier treated in a separate passage how God protected the Messenger of
God (SAAS) from the bad practices of the pre-Islamic era. e and his uncle
al-‘Abbas used to transport stones and when he (SAAS) positioned his loincloth
over his shoulder beneath the stones, he was forbidden from doing so and there-
fore reverted to his former practice.

Division

Ibn Ishag related how Quraysh began the practice of calling themselves
al-Hums, a word implying intensity in religion, and intolerance.

This is because they gave extreme veneration to the holy places, to the extent
that they required people not to leave there on the night of the procession to
‘Arafat. They would say, “We are men of the holy places, the haram, and the
Quitan, those who dwell at God’s house.”

They would not make the halt on Mt. ‘Arafat, though they knew that was the
wish of Abraham, peace be upon him, in ¢rder not to abandon the corrupt inno-
vative practices they themselves established. They would not put away for
storage sour cheese made from milk or butter, or clarify fat while they were in a
state of ritual uncleanliness. While in this state, they would not enter any tent
made of hair, and would seek shelter from the sun only under tents made of
leather. Similarly they prevented those making the greater or smaller pilgrimage
from eating any but Quraysh food while in that state, and these people could
only circumambulate wearing Quraysh clothes. If one of these pilgrims could
not find a gown from one of the Hums, who were Quraysh either by birth or by
having joined Quraysh from Kinana and Khuzi%, they would have to circum-
ambulate naked, even if they were women. A woman who happened to go round
in this manner would place her hand over her vagina and recite:

“Today all or part may appear, but visible though it may be, I do not make it avail-
able!”

If anyone who had access to the garment of a Ilusms person were too proud to
use it, then he could go round in his own clothes, but when he had finished he
had to throw them aside; thereafter, they could not be used again, either by them
or by anyone else, nor ever touched. The Arabs used to call such clothes al-/uga,
“cast-offs”. A certain poet spoke the lines:

“How sad it is, my returning to it, it being like a proscribed thing cast off before the
pilgrims.”

Ibn Ishiq stated, “They continued in these practices until God sent
Muhammad (SAAS) and revealed the Qur’an to him, as a retort to them and
their innovations. God said, ‘Hasten forth from the place where people hasten
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from’ (sirat al-Bagara, 11, v.199). By this is meant the masses of the Arabs from
‘Arafit. And also that same verse reads, ‘and ask the forgiveness of God; surely
God is forgiving, merciful.””

As we have previously shown, the Messenger of God (SAAS) would make the
halt at “Arafat before he received his prophethood, this being an award granted
by God to him.

God also revealed to him a respeonse to their practice of forbidding people
certain actions and foods in the words, “O mankind, attend 1o your dress at
every prayer meeting and eat and drink, but do not be extreme. God does not
love extremists. Say, ‘Who made forbidden clothing (from) God that He
brought forth for His worshippers, along with all good provisions?’” (sirat
al-A%af, VII, v.31-2).

Ziyad al-Bakkai stated from Ibn Ishag, “But I don’t know whether their
making these innovations preceded or followed the battle of the elephant.”
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THE BOOK OF THE APOSTLESHIP OF THE
MESSENGER OF GOD (SAAS) AND AN
ACCOUNT OF SOME OF THE PREDICTIVL
SIGNS THEREOQOF.

Muhammad b. Ishag, God bless him, stated: “Jewish Rabbis, Christian priests
and Arab soothsayers all spoke of the Messenger of God (SAAS) before his
miission as the time for it approached.

“The rabbis and the priests found in their books descriptions of him and of
his time along with inferences relating to him from their prophets.”

God Almighty said, “Those who follow the Messenger, the prophet, the
ummi, “the unlettered”, to whom they will find written reference in the Torah
and the Bible requiring them to do good and warning them of evil, allowing
them the good things and forbidding them the bad, removing the burden and
chains formerly upon them; so those who believe in him, honour him and aid
him and follow the light that was sent down with him, those will be successful”
(sitrat al-A%af, VI, v.157).

God Almighty stated, “And when Jesus son of Mary said, ‘O children of
Israel, 1 am God’s messenger to you, bringing affirmation of the Torah before
me and giving tidings of a prophet who will come after me whose name will be
Ahmad’” (sirat al-Saff, LX1, v.6). And God Almighty said, “Muhammad is the
Messenger of God. And those with him are those who are very severe against the
unbelievers, compassionate with one another. You shall see them bowing down,
prostrating themselves, seeking grace from God, and approval. They have marks
on their faces from their prostrations. That is their likeness in the Torah and in
the Bible. (They are) like plants. (God) brings forth their sprouts and then
strengthens them and thickens them so they stand straight on their stalks. He
pleases the planters to discomfort through them the unbelievers. God gave
promise of forgiveness and great reward to those who believe in him and perform
righteous deeds” (siirat al-Fath, XLVII, v.29).

And God Almighty said, “When Ged made the covenant with the Prophets,
saying, ‘I gave you the Scripture and wisdom, then there will come unto you a
messenger confirming what you possess; you shall believe in him and render him
help.” He said, ‘Do you agree and accept my covenant as binding to you?” They
replied, ‘We affirm.” He said, ‘So bear witness and I along with you am a witness’”
(s#rar Al-Imran, 111, v.81).

In the sahik of al-Bukhari there is a fadith from Ibn <Abbas that states, “(God
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never sent down a prophet without entering into a covenant upon him (to the
effect that) if Muhammad were sent down his mission when he was (already)
living, then he (that prophet) would believe in him and aid him. God ordered
him to take a covenant to his people that if Muhammad were given his rission
during their lifetime, then they should believe in him, aid him, and follow
him.”

This confirms that all prophets had talked about him and were commanded to
follow him.

Abraham, upon whom be peace, stated in the prayer he made about the people
of Mecca, “O our Lord! Send among them as a messenger one of their own
people, who will recite to them Your signs and teach them the scriptures and
wisdom and purify them. You are the mighty one, the wise” (siras al-Bagara, 11,
v.129).

Imam Ahmad said that Aba al-Nadr related to him, guoting al-I'araj b.
Fadila, quoting Lugman b. ‘Amir, who said that he heard Ab Umama say,
“T asked the Prophet, ‘O Messenger of God, what was the beginning of your
mission?’

“He replied, ‘The prayer of my father Abraham, the glad tidings from Jesus,
and my mother’s seeing a light emitting from her that illuminated the castles of
Syria.””

Muhammad b. Ishaq said that just such a statement was related to him from
Thawr b. Yazid, from Khalid b. Ma‘dan, from the Companions of the Prophet
(SAAS).

By this is meant his wanting to refer to the beginning of his mission among his
people and the spreading and expanding of his fame. And so he made mention
of the prayer of Abraham, to whom the Arabs trace their descent. Then the
prediction of Jesus, the ‘Seal’ of the prophets of the tribe of Israel, as mentioned
before. This shows that there were other prophets between these two who also
gave tidings of his coming.

Regarding (the assembly of) the archangels, their cognizance of him was wide-
spread and well known befere the creation of Adam, upon whom be prayers
and peace. Imam Ahmad stated that ‘Abd al-Rahman b. Mahdi related to him,
quoting Mu@wiyya® b. Silih, from Sa‘id b. Suwayd al-Kaibi, from <Abd al-Adz
b. Hilal al-Salarni, from al-<Irbad b. Siriyya who stated, “The Messenger of
God (SAAS) said, ‘For God I am the Seal of the prophets; Adam was well made
in His likeness. And I shall tell you of the first of it: my father Abraham’s prayer,
the prediction of Jesus about my coming, and the visions seen by my mether, as
well as by the mothers of the believers.””

Al-Layth related this from Mu@wiyy2 b. Silih who said, “When she deliv-
ered him, his mother saw a light from him that illuminated the castles of Syria.”
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Imim Ahmad also said, ““Abd al-Rahman related to us, as did Manstr b.
Sa‘d, from Badil b. Maysara, from ‘Abd Allzh b. Shagiq, from Maysara al-TFajr,
who stated, ‘T asked, O Messenger of God, when did you become a prophet?’ He
replied, “When Adam was between the spirit and the body.””

Ahmad is the sole source of these.

Umar b. Ahmad b. Shahin related this in the work entitled Dalz’!
al-Nubuwwa (Signs of the Prophethood) from a hadith of Abt Hurayra who
stated, “‘Abd Allah b. Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz — meaning Abt al-Qasim
al-Baghawi — related to us, as did Abi Hammam al-Walid b. Muslim, from
al-Awza‘i, and I was told by Yahya from Abu Salama, from Abu Hurayra, who
said that the Messenger of God (SAAS) was asked, “When was it made your
duty to become a prophet?” He replied, ‘Between the making of Adam and the
breathing of the spirit into him.””

It was related on another line of authorities from al-Awzi‘c who used the
words “and Adam was formed in his likeness”.

It was also related from al-Baghawi, from Ahmad b. al-Migdam, from
Bagiyya b. Sa‘id b. Bashir, from Qatida, from AbG Hurayra, relating to the
words of Almighty God, “And when we made a covenant with the prophets, and
with you, and with Noah” (sitrat al-Akzib, XXXIII, v.7) that the Messenger of
God (SAAS) stated, “I was the first of the prophets to be created and the last of
them to be sent.”

And from a hadith of Abl Muzihim, on the authority of Qays b. al-Rabi€,
from Jabir, from al-Sha%hi, from Ibn ‘Abbas, that someone asked, “O Messenger
of God, when were you a prophet?” He replied, “While Adam was between
spirit and body.”

The Arab soothsayers had been told by the devils from the jiun things overheard
by them while they were still not prevented from so doing by having stars cast at
them. Soothsayers, male and female, continued mentioning such matters, without
the Arabs giving any credence to them, until God Almighty sent him, and there
occurred those things they had talked of and so recognized.

When the time of the Messenger of God and his prophethood approached,
the devils were screened from overhearing and they were prevented from
occupying those seats from which they used to overhear. Stars were hurled at
them, and the devils knew that that was because of an order coming from God,
the Almighty and Glorious.

On this subject God sent down to his messenger (SAAS) the words, “Say: it
has been revealed to me that a group of jin listened and then said, “We heard a
wonderful Quran which guides towards the right, and we believed in it. And we
will never associate any other god with our Lord’” (sirat al-Finn; LXXIE, v.1--2).

We have given prior explanation to all that in our Tafsir, exegesis of the
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Quran, as well as to God’s words, “And when we directed (mention) towards
you (of) a group of jinn who listened to the Quran. And when they came to it,
they said, ‘Tisten silently!” And when it was over they turned back to their people
warning them, and saying: ‘O people ours, we have heard a book sent down afier
Moses verifving what came before it, guiding towards the truth, and to the
straight path’” (sitrat al-Akgaf, XLVI, v.29, 30). All this too we elucidated there.

Muhammad b. Ishiaq stated that Yagib b. Utba b. al-Mughira b. al-Akhnas
related to him that he was told that the first Arabs to be afraid at (secing) the
stars being thrown was the tribe of Thaqif. They consulted one of their men on
the subject, whose name was ‘Amr b. Umayya, one of Banta ql3j, he being the
most shrewd and astute of all Arabs. They asked him, “O ‘Amr, den’t you see
what’s going on in the heavens, all those stars being thrown about?”

He replied, “T certainly do. Keep watch and if the ones being cast are most
prominent stars, the oncs by which men are guided on land and sea, and by the
rising and setting of which the seasons of summer and winter are marked, for
the good of men in their lives, then, by God, it means the end of the world, and
the destruction of all creation. If it is other stars, while the prominent stars
remain firm in their place, then it is occurring for some purpose God intends for
mankind. So what could that be?”

Tbn Ishaq said, “A certain scholar related to me that a woman of Banti Sahm
known as al-(Gihaytala who had been a soothsayer before the coming of Islam was
visited one night by her other world contact who swoeped down beneath her,
then said, ‘I know what I know; a day of slaying and slaughtering.” When she
told Quraysh of this they asked, “What does he mean?’

“When he came to her on another night, swooping down beneath her, he said,
‘Ravines! What ravines? In them, down their sides, Ka% will fall’ When this
reached Quraysh they said, “What does this mean? This is something that will
happen; look to see what it will be.’

“But they could not interpret it until the batties of Badr and Uhud took place
in ‘ravines’; then they knew what it was the spirit had told her.”

Ibn Ishaq stated, “?Ali b. Nafi€ al-Jurashi related to me that Janb, a tribe from
Yemen, had a soothsayer before Islam came. And when news of the Messenger
of God (SAAS) spread among the Arabs, Janb asked their soothsayer, ‘Find
out about this man for us’ and they assembled (to hear him) at the foot of his
mountain.

“When the sun rose he came down to them and stood leaning on a bow he
had. Then, having gazed up for a long time into the sky, he began to leap about.
Then he spoke: ‘O people, God has honoured Muhammad by choosing him. He
has purified his heart and his insides. But, O people, his stay among you will be
short.” He then hurried back up his mountain, returning whence he had come.”
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Thereafter Ibn Ishag mentions the story of Siwad b. Qarib. We have post-
poned giving it until the section on The Cries of the Spirits.

DIVISION

Ibn Ishiq stated that ‘Asim b. ‘Amr b. Qatada related to him, from some of
his tribe, as follows: “One of the things that brought us into Islam — along
with the mercy of God Almighty and His guidance — was what we heard
from a Jew. We were at that time polytheists and worshipped idols, while
they, the Jews, were people with Scriptures who had knowledge we did not.
There was always enmity between us and them and if ever we bested them in
some way they disliked they would tell us, ‘The time is near for a prophet; he
will now be sent, and with him we will kill you just as Ad and Iram were
killed.”

' “We heard that from them often. ,

“So when God sent His messenger (SAAS) we responded positively when he
invited us to God, and became aware of what their threats to us meant. We
therefore hastened to him before them and believed in him, while they disbelieved
in him.

“Concerning us and them this verse was sent down: ‘And when there came to
them a book from God verifying what they had, though they formerly prayed
for victory against those who disbelieved; and when there came to them that
which they knew, they disbelieved in it. And so may God’s curse be upon the
disbelievers’” (sarat al-Bagara, 11, v.89).

Warqa® stated, from Ibn Abni Najih from ‘Ali al-Azdi that the Jews used to
say: “O God send us this prophet who will judge between us and the people who
seek victory by him.” It was al-Bayhaqi who related this.

Thereafter it was related through ‘Abd al-Mailik b. Hartin b. “‘Anbara, from
his father, from his grandfather, from Sa‘id b. Jubayr, from Ibn ‘Abbas, who
said, “The Jews were at Khaybar battling Ghatafan, but whenever battle was
joined the Jews of Khaybar were defeated. So the Jews resorted to this prayer,
saying, ‘O God, we will ask you by Muhammad’s rightness, the Prophet, the
ummi, “the unlettered”, whom you promised us you would send at the end of
time, if you will give us victory over them.’”

The report went on to say that when they met in battle and they spoke this
prayer they defeated Ghatafan.

Yet when the Prophet (SAAS) was sent, they disbelieved in him. And so God,
Almighty and Glorious is He, revealed the words, “they formerly prayed for
victory against those who disbelieved.”

‘Atiyya related approximately the same from Ibn ‘Abbas, and also said that
Ykrima used similar words.
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Ibn Ishag stated that Salih b, Ibrahim b. ¢Abd al-Rahman b. *Awf related to him,
from Mahmuad b. Labid, from Salama b. Salam b. Waqsh, who was at the battle
of Badr, who said, “We had a Jewish neighbour from Bant ‘Abd al-Ashhal and
he came out of his house one day to us. At that time, I was the youngest of my
household; I was wearing a fur gown I had and was Iying in it in the courtyard of
my family’s house.

“The Jew talked of the resurrection, the Day of Judgement, the reckoning,
the scales, paradise, and hell-fire.

“This he told to polytheists, idolaters who did not believe in any life after
death.

“They replied, ‘Come on, now! You really think people can be sent, after
their death, to some place where there is a paradise, and a fire where they will be
punished for their deeds?’

““Yes indeed,’ he replied, ‘and by Him by whom oaths are sweorn, anyone
going into that fire would prefer being placed in the hottest oven in the house,
and having it covered over him, and he being let out of it only next day.’

“‘Good gracious! But what proofis there?’ they asked.

“‘A prophet is being sent from hereabouts in these lands,” he replied, and
gestured over towards Mecca and Yemen.

““When will we see him?’ they enquired.

“He looked over at me, 1 being the voungest one there, and said, ‘If this lad
lives a normal lifespan, he’ll live to his time.””

Salama said, “And a day and 2 night had scarcely passed thereafter until God
sent the Messenger of God (SAAS) who lived among us. And so we believed in
him. But he (the Jew) disbelieved in him out of evil and envy.

“So we asked him, ‘What now then; aren’t you the one who told us certain
things about him?’

““Yes,” he replied, ‘but he’s not the one.””

This anecdote was also related by Ahmad, from Ya‘qb from his father, from
Ibn ‘Abbis. And al-Bayhaqi told it from al-Hakim with a chain of authorities
through Yanus b. Bukayr. '

Abn Nu‘aym related in al-Dal@il (The Signs), from ‘Asim b. Umar b. Qatada,
from Mahmud b. Labid, from Muhammad b. Salama, saying, “In the tribe of
¢Abd al-Ashhal there was only one Jew, whose name was Ytisha®. When I was still
a boy, wearing a waist-wrapper, [ heard him say, “The time is near for a prophet
to be sent to you from somewhere over near this building.” And he pointed over
at God’s temple, saying, ‘And whoever lives till then, let him believe in him.’

“And the Messenger of God {SAAS) was sent and we accepted Islam, while
he, living there among us, did not, out of envy and evil.”

We have already given the account of AbQl Sa‘id, from his father, about this
Yiisha®s having told of the coming of the Messenger of God (SAAS) and of
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having given his description. Also we told of al-Zubayr b. Bata’s account of the
appearance of a star at the birth of the Messenger of God (SAAS).

Al-Hakim related this anecdote from al-Bayhaqi with a chain of authorities
through Yiinus b. Bukayr.

Ibn Ishaq said that ‘Asim b. ‘Umar b. Qatada related to him about a sheikh of
Banii Qurayza who asked him, “Do you know how it came about that Islam was
accepted by Tha%aba b. Sa‘ya and Usayd b. Sa‘ya along with Asad b. Ubayd, all
of Bant Hudal, brothers of Banti Qurayza, with whom they had lived in the days
before Islam but who then became their masters after Islam?”

Asim said, “I do not.” Whereupon the sheikh told him, “A Jew from Syria
cailed Ibn al-Hayyiban came to us some years before the arrival of Islam and
lived among us. And by God, 1 never knew a non-Muslim (one who does not
perform the five daily prayers) better than him. Well, he was living there with us
at a time of drought, so we asked him, ‘Please, Ibn al-Hayyiban, pray for rain for
us!’ But he replied, ‘No, by God, T’ll not do that until you pay me.” ‘How
much?’ we asked. ‘A sa% weight of dates or two mudd weights of barley.” ‘We’ll
pay it,” we agreed.

“He then went out with us to the top of our parched land and prayed for rain
for us. And by God, he no sooner got up but clouds came and it rained! Yet
others had done that once, twice, and thrice!

“Later his death came while he lived with us, When he knew he was dying, he
said, ‘O Jews, what do you think it was that brought me from a land of wine and
bread to one of poverty and hunger?” ‘You know that best,” we replied. He then
said, ‘I only came to this country because I expected the arrival of a prophet
whose time is near. This land is where he will take refuge. And T had hoped that
he would be sent so that I could follow him. His time is near for you. But don’t
hasten to him, O Jews, for he is sent to shed the blood and capture the women
and children of those who oppose him. And that (hurrying to him) will not prevent
him treating you thus.”

“And when the Messenger of God (SAAS) was sent, he besieged Bant
Qurayza. Those grown men who had been young boys at the carlier occasion
addressed their people, saying, ‘O Banti Qurayza, he is, by God, the prophet
foretold to you by Ibn al-IHayyiban.” They replied, ‘He is not.' The men
insisted, saying, “Yes he is. He has just his description.” So they went down
and accepted Islam, and by doing so saved their blood, their property, and their
people.”

Ibn Ishag commented, “This account reached us from Jewish rabbis.”

Earlier we gave an account of the arrival at Medina of the Tubba¢ of Yemen,
Abu Karib Tubban As‘ad, and of his siege of it; and how those two rabbis came
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out to him and told him, *You shall have no path to it. It will be the place of
refuge for a prophet at the end of time”, and how that made him turn away from
the town.

Abn Nu‘aym told in his work, al~-Dal@’il (The Signs), on a line of authorities
through al-Walid b. Muslim, that Muhammad b. Hamza b. Yusuf b. ‘Abd Allah
b. Sallim related to him, from his father and grandfather, the following, “<Abd
Allsh b. Sallim stated that God having wished good guidance for Zayd b. Sa‘ya,
Zayd said, ‘All marks of the prophethood were there as expected for me to
recognize on the face of Muhammad (SAAS) when T looked at him, except that
there were two I had not explored in him: that his patient wisdom preceded his
ignorance, and that the more ignorance was directed at him, the more his patient
wisdom increased.’

“He stated further, ‘I used to be nice to him so that I could mix with him and
get to know his wisdom and his foolishness.’

“He then told a story of his having made an advance payment to the Prophet
{(SAAS) for profit. He went on, ‘And when the time for the loan was due, T went
to him and grabbed him by the closure of his cloak and gown, he being then ata
funeral with some of his Companions. I also glared at him in an ugly fashion and
said, “O Mubammad, aren’t you going to pay me my due? By God, I never knew
you of the tribe of ‘Abd al-Muttalib to be late payers!”

““Umar stared over at me, his eyes rolled like revolving celestial bodies.
Then he said, “You enemy of God! Do you dare say to the Messenger of God
(SAAS) what I am hearing and do what I am seeing? By Him who sent him with
the truth, if I were not wary of his blaming me, I would cut off your head with
my sword!”

““Meanwhile, the Messenger of God (SAAS) was looking at ‘Umar, smiling
quietly with gentleness. Then he said, “Umar, both he and 1 were in need of
something other than that from you; you should have told me to pay up properly,
and him to behave better. Take him away, Umar, and pay him his due. And
give him 20 2% weight of dates as a bonus!™’

“And so Zayd b. Saya, may God be pleased with him, became a Muslim. He
was present with the Messenger of God at all the battles, and he died in the year -
of Tabuk, God bless him.”

Then Tbn Ishag, God be pleased with him, recounted how Salman al-Farisi,
“the Persian”, God bless him, became a Muslim. He stated that ‘Asim b. ‘Umar
b. Qatada the ansari, the “helper”, related to him, from Mahmid b. Labid, from
‘Abd Allah b. ‘Abbas, who said that Salman al-Farisi told him as follows, “I was
2 Persian from Isfzhan and dwelt in a village called Jayy. My father was the
headman of the village and T was the one he most loved of all creatures; his affec-
tion for me was so strong that he kept me closeted in his house like a slave-girl.
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“I took pains to be a good Magian, and became the keeper of the fire, the one
who lights it and never for 4 moment lets it go out.

“My father owned a large farm and one day, when he was busy constructing a
building, he said to me, ‘Son, I’'m too busy to leave here today for the farm, so
you go and look to it.” And he told me certain things he wanted. Then he told
me, ‘Don’t be away from me too long. If you are I’ll be more concerned about
you than about my farm or work, and you'll keep me from everything else.’

“So 1 left for the farm as he had told me and on my way I passed by a church
for Christians and heard their voices as they prayed there. I didn’t know anything
about other people, because my father had kept me shut up at home. So when I
heard their voices I went in to them to find out what they were doing. When
I saw them T was much impressed with their prayers and wanted to join them. [
said to myself, “This, by (God, is better than the religion we have.’

“So I didn’t leave them until sunset and neglected to go to my father’s
farm.

“T asked them, ‘Where is the origin of this religion?’ ‘In Syria,” they
replied.

“I then went back to my father who had sent people to look for me and had
been distracted from all his work, When T arrived he asked, “Well, son, where
were yow? Didn’t 1 ask you to do something?’ ‘O Father,’ I replied, ‘T went by
some people praying in a church of theirs and I was much impressed by what 1
saw of their religion. So I stayed with them till sunset.’

“‘Somn, there’s no good in that religion. Your religion and that of your fore-
fathers is better than it.’

“‘But no,’ I replied, ‘I swear by God theirs is better than ours.’

“My father was afraid for me and set chains on my legs and imprisoned me in
his house. So I sent a message to the Christians saying, ‘If a caravan comes to
you from Syria send word to me about them.’

“A caravan did arrive from Syria and the Christians came and told me about
them. I said to them, ‘When they finish their business and are about to return
home, then tell me.’

“When they were ready to go home they let me know and I threw the shackles
off my legs and left with them. When we arrived in Syria, I asked, “Who is the
most learned man in this religion?” “The bishop in the church,’ they rephied.

“So I went to him and said, ‘I really like this religion, and I want to join you
and to serve you in your church, to learn from you and to pray with you.’

“‘Come on in,’ he invited me.

“So 1 joined him. But he was an evil man, demanding alms from his people
and whatever they collected he would store away for himself and not give to the
poor. Eventually he had gathered seven jars of gold and silver.

“I hated him mightily for what I saw him doing.
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“Then he died, and the Christians assembled to bury him. I told them, “This
was an evil man. He demanded alms from you but when you brought it te him
he stored it away for himself and gave none of it to the poor.’

“They asked me, ‘How do you know that?’ and T replied that I could take
them to his treasure. ‘Do so!’ they told me, so T showed them where it was and
they brought out seven jars filled with gold and silver. When they saw it they
said, “‘We’ll never give him burial!” And so they crucified and stoned him.

“Then they brought another man to take his place. And,” said Salmin, “I
never saw a man whe did not attend the five prayers whe was better than he, nor
more ascetic, nor more enthusiastic about the afterlife, nor more devoted both
day and might. I loved him as I had never loved before.

“Sc I staved with him for a time and then his death approached. T asked him,
‘Since I’ve been with you I've loved you as never before. But now what you
know to be God’s decree is approaching, so to whom do you entrust me? And
what are your orders to me?’

“‘My son,” he replied, ‘I don’t know anyone who has done as | have. People
have either died or changed or abandoned most of their prior practices, except
for one man in Mawsil; he practises as I did. Join him.’

“So when he died and was buried, I joined the leader of al-Mawsil. I told him,
‘So-and-so enjoined me at his death to come to you; he told me you are as he
was.” ‘Stay with me,’ I was invited.

“I did so and found him the best of men, like his friend. But soon he was to
die. And when death was near for him, I told him, ‘So-and-so entrusted me to
vou and told me to join you. Now God’s decree, as you know, is near for you, so
whom do you recommend to me, and what are your orders to me?’ ‘My son,’ he
replied, ‘I don’t know anyone else who is as we were, except one man at Nasibin,
50 join him.’

“When he did die and was buried, 1 joined the bishop at Nasibin and told him
my story and what my two masters had ordered me. ‘Stay with me,” he said. And
50 I did so, finding him extremely good, as lis two colleagues had been, But, I
swear by God, death soen approached him too, so I asked him, ‘So-and-so
recommended one man to me, who recommended me to another, who recom-
mended me to you. Whom do you recommend for me, and what are your
orders?’

“*My son,” he said, ‘I don’t know anyone who is still as we were whom I can
recommend, except for one man at ‘Amiriyya in Byzantium. He is as we were. If
you wish, go to him.’

“When he died and was buried, I joined the bishop of ‘Amiiriyya, and related
to him my story. He said, ‘Stay with me.” So I did stay there, and he was the
best of men, as well-directed and finie in his behaviour as his predecessors had
been.
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“I worked hard and earned well and eventually I had some cows and a small
goat. But then God’s decree came for him too and I told him, ‘So-and-so
recommended someone to me, who recommended me to another, he to another,
then he to another and so on until you were recommended me. To whom do
you recommend me and what are your orders?’

“‘My son,” he replied, ‘I don’t know anyone who is as we were to whom to send
you. But the time is near for a prophet being sent with Abraham’s religion who
will come forth in the land of the Arabs. He will move to refuge to somewhere
with date-palms growing between two scorched, rocky plains. He has signs that
are unmistakable. He eats things given to him as gifts but not alms. And berween
his shoulders there is the seal of prophethood. If you can go there, do so.’

“Then he dieéd and was buried, and T stayed in ‘Amariyya for the length of
time God wished. :

“Ewvéntually a group of merchants of the Kalb tribe passed by and I asked
them to take me to the land of the Arabs and offered them my cows and goat.
They agreed, so I gave them to them and they took me with them as far as Wadi
al-Qura. There they did me evil by selling me as a slave to a Jew. There with
him I saw palm trees and hoped that might be the land my master had described.

“While I was there with him he received a visit from 2 cousin of his of Baniti
Qurayza from Medina. He sold me to him, who bore me off to Medina. And I
swear by God, as soon as I saw it I recognized it as my friend had described it to
me. And there it was [ stayed.

“Then the mission came to the Messenger of God (SAAS), who remained in
Mecca without me hearing any report of him, busy as I was in the toil of slavery.
But then he took refuge in Medina.

“Omne day I was doing some work for my master at the top of a palm tree, with
him sitting there underneath, when a cousin of his came and stopped there. ‘Hey
there, so-and-so,” the cousin said, ‘God damn those ansar of Bant Qayla! They
are assembled at Qiba’ in support of a man come from Mecca whom they claim
to be a prophet.””

Salmin continued, “When I heard this I began to tremble, so much I thought
I would fall down on top of my master! So I climbed down the tree and began
questioning his cousin.

“This angered my master and he slapped me hard. Then he asked, ‘What’s
this to do with you? Get back to your work!’

““It’s nothing,’ I replied, ‘I just wanted to clarify what he said.””

Salman went on: “I had put aside some food, so that evening I took it to the
Messenger of God (SAAS) he being at Qib#, and went in to see him, saying, ‘I
heard you were a good man and that you have with you some companions who
are strangers and needy. This is some food 1 have to give as alms, and I consider
you have more right to it than anyone else.’
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“I then handed it to him and the Messenger of God (SAAS) said to his
companions, ‘Eat it then.” He himself took none,

“This is one test passed,” I told myself.

“Then 1 left him and saved up some more, while the Messenger of God
(SAAS) was moving on towards Medina. I then went to him again and said, ‘1
noticed you didn’t eat from the food I gave as alms. This is a present I wish to
honour you with.’

“The Messenger of God (SAAS) did eat from this and told his companions to
do the same, which they did.

“And again I said to myself: “That makes it two!’

“L then went to the Messenger of God (SAAS) when he was at Bagi¢
al-Ghargad, the cemetery, where he had followed the funeral procession of one
of h